
           

WORKSHOP & REGULAR MEETING
OF THE TOWN COUNCIL

Tuesday, January 5, 2021
6:00 PM

Little Elm Town Hall
100 W Eldorado Parkway, Little Elm, TX 75068

 
           

1. Notice Regarding Public Participation and Town Council/Town Staff Attendance.

Due to the COVID-19 (coronavirus) public health emergency, and in an effort to reduce
in-person meetings that assemble large groups of people, Governor Greg Abbott has
granted a temporary suspension of certain rules to allow for (1) town council members
and town employees to participate in a town council meeting via videoconference call or
other remote electronic means without a physical quorum of council members being
present at the site of the meeting; and (2) the use of videoconferencing and other
remote means to allow the public to observe the meeting and, when required, to
participate in the public meeting.

In an effort to reduce the spread of the virus, for the January 5, 2021, Town Council
meeting, individuals will be able to address the Council on any topic through submission
of the web form below. Forms received will be recorded into the record and be given to
the Town Council. To access the videoconference online, follow these instructions:
  

To join the Zoom meeting, click https://zoom.us/j/99229148458.
To view the live stream meeting, click 
https://www.littleelm.org/1258/Agendas-Minutes-Video

Individuals who wish to speak directly to Town Council may attend the meeting
in-person.

  

 

2. Call to Order Council Workshop at 6:00 p.m.   

 

A. Invocation.   

 

  



B. Pledge to Flags.   

 

C. Items to be Withdrawn from Consent Agenda.   

 

D. Emergency Items if Posted.   

 

E. Request by the Town Council for Items to be Placed on a Future Agenda for Discussion
and Recognition of Excused Absences.

  

 

F. Presentation of Monthly Updates.   

 

G. Town Council to Highlight Items on the Agenda Needing Further Discussion or
Comments Prior to the Regular Session.

  

 

3. Workshop.   

 

A. Present and Discuss Proposed Charter Amendments from the Canceled May 2020 Election.
 

B. Present and Discuss the Planned Development and History of Lakeshore Plaza
Development and Adjacent Properties.

 

4. Roll Call/Call to Order Regular Town Council Immediately Following Council Workshop.   
 

5. Public Comments
Persons may address the Town Council on any issue. This is the appropriate time for
citizens to address the Council on any concern whether on this agenda or not.  In
accordance with the State of Texas Open Meeting Act, the council may not comment or
deliberate such statements during this period, except as authorized by Section 551.072,
Texas Government Code.

  

 

6. Consent Agenda
All matters listed under the Consent Agenda are considered to be routine by the Town
Council and require little or no deliberation. There will not be a separate discussion of
these items and the agenda will be enacted by one vote. If the Council expresses a desire
to discuss a matter listed, that item will be removed from the consent agenda and
considered separately.

  

 

A. Consider Action to Approve the Minutes from the December 15, 2020, Regular Meeting.
 

B. Consider Action to Approve an Agreement between the Town of Little Elm and Paul J.
Liston, as an Independent Contractor in the Position of the Little Elm Municipal Court
Prosecutor for a One Year Term and Shall Automatically Renew on October 1st of Each
Year Thereafter.

 

C. Consider Action to Approve the 2021 Strategic Plan.
 



D. Consider Action to Approve Ordinance No. 1586 Providing for Refuse Rates; Providing for
a Repealing Clause; Providing for a Severability Clause; and, Providing an Effective Date
for Community Waste Disposal for an Annual Market Adjustment per the Current Service
Contract.

 

E. Consider Action to Approve Resolution 0105202101 for the Submission of a Grant
Application to the Office of the Governor, Criminal Justice Division for the Town of Little
Elm Police Department to Receive Grant Funding for Night Vision Devices for the Little
Elm Police Department SWAT Team.

 

F. Consider Action to Approve the Final Acceptance of the French Settlement Road
Construction Project (Contract #2019-163).

 

G. Consider Action to Approve the Final Acceptance of the Bluewater Drive Retaining Wall
Project.

 

H. Consider Action to Approve the Final Acceptance of the Dickson Lane Traffic Signal Project
(Contract #2020-05).

 

I. Consider Action to Approve the Final Acceptance of the Canyon Lake Retaining Wall
Project.

 

J. Consider Action to Award a Construction Contract for the Little Elm Park Swim Beach
Sidewalk Project to GRod Construction and Authorize the Town Manager to Execute the
Contract in an Amount Not to Exceed $170,000.00.

 

7. Public Hearings.   

 

A. Continue the Public Hearing, Present, Discuss, and Consider Action to Approve Ordinance
No. 1581, a Request to Rezone Approximately 4.4 acres of Land from Lakefront (LF) w/
Specific Use Permit for Child Care Center to Planned Development-Lakefront (PD-LF) to
Allow for the Use of Mixed-Use and Commercial with Modified Development Standards,
Generally Located at the Southwest Corner of Eldorado Parkway and Hillside Drive,
within Little Elm’s Town Limits.  

Staff Report:1.
Open Public Hearing:2.
Receive Public Comments:3.
Close Public Hearing:4.
Discuss and Take Action:5.

 

B. Consider Action to Approve a Development Agreement between the Town of Little Elm
and Matt Mahdi Shekari with Lake Shore Plaza Authorize the Town Manager to Execute
Amendment for the Same Subject to the Planned Development Ordinance.

 

C. Conduct a Public Hearing, Present, Discuss, and Consider Action to Approve Ordinance No.



C. Conduct a Public Hearing, Present, Discuss, and Consider Action to Approve Ordinance No.
1587, Proposed Amendments to the Zoning Ordinance.
  

Staff Report:1.
Open Public Hearing:2.
Receive Public Comments:3.
Close Public Hearing:4.
Discuss and Take Action:5.

 

D. Conduct a Public Hearing, Present, Discuss, and Consider Action to Approve Ordinance No.
1588, a Request to Rezone Approximately 4.445 acres of land from Manufactured Home
(MH-1) to Duplex (D), Generally Located Approximately 225 feet to the South and West
of the Misty Way and Woodgrove Drive Intersection, within Little Elm’s Town Limits.
  

Staff Report:1.
Open Public Hearing:2.
Receive Public Comments:3.
Close Public Hearing:4.
Discuss and Take Action:5.

 

E. Conduct a Public Hearing, Present, Discuss, and Consider Action to Approve Ordinance No.
1589, a  Request to Amend Planned Development Ordinance No.1283 on Approximately
35.0 acres of land, Generally Located at the Northwest Corner of U.S. Highway 380 and
FM 2931, within Little Elm’s Town Limits.
  

Staff Report:1.
Open Public Hearing:2.
Receive Public Comments:3.
Close Public Hearing:4.
Discuss and Take Action:5.

 

8. Convene in Executive Session pursuant to Texas Government Code:
  

Section 551.071 for private consultation with the Town Attorney to discuss the
COVID-19 pandemic and municipal authority to respond to the COVID-19 outbreak
and to seek legal advice with respect to pending and contemplated litigation and
including all matters on this agenda to which the Town Attorney has a duty under
the Texas Rules of Discipline and Professional conduct regarding confidential
communication with the Town Council.
Section 551.072 to discuss certain matters regarding real property.
Section 551.074 of the Texas Government Code to discuss and deliberate personal
matters to evaluate performance duties, of a public officer or employee(s). 

Town Secretary
Section 551.076 to discuss security matters.
Section 551.087 to discuss Economic Development.

  

 

9. Reconvene into Open Session   



9. Reconvene into Open Session

Discussion and consideration to take any action necessary as the result of the Executive
Session: 

COVID-19 Pandemic and the Town’s response thereto, including the consideration
of an emergency declaration ordinance.
Section 551.071 for private consultation with the Town Attorney to discuss the
COVID-19 pandemic and municipal authority to respond to the COVID-19 outbreak
and to seek legal advice with respect to pending and contemplated litigation and
including all matters on this agenda to which the Town Attorney has a duty under
the Texas Rules of Discipline and Professional conduct regarding confidential
communication with the Town Council.
Section 551.072 to discuss certain matters regarding real property.
Section 551.074 of the Texas Government Code to discuss and deliberate personal
matters to evaluate performance duties, of a public officer or employee(s). 

Town Secretary
Section 551.076 to discuss security matters.
Section 551.087 to discuss Economic Development.

  

 

10. Adjourn.   

 

 

Pursuant to the Texas Open Meeting Act, (Chapter 551, Texas Government Code), one or more of
the above items will be taken or conducted in open session following the conclusion of the executive
closed session.

Persons with disabilities who plan to attend this meeting and who may need auxiliary aide of service
such as interpreters for the hearing impaired, reader or large print are requested to contact the
secretary at 214-975-0452 two days prior to the meeting so appropriate arrangements can be made.
BRAILLE IS NOT PROVIDED.

Respectfully,

Town Secretary

This is to certify that the above notice was posted on the Town's website this 31st day of December
2020 before 5:00 p.m.



  

Town Council Meeting
 
Date: 01/05/2021
Agenda Item #: 3. A. 
Department: Administrative Services

Strategic Goal: Ensure excellence in public services while keeping up with the growth in the
community

Staff Contact: Caitlan Biggs, Managing Director of Strategic Services

AGENDA ITEM:
Present and Discuss Proposed Charter Amendments from the Canceled May 2020 Election.

DESCRIPTION:
In August 2019, the Town Council appointed a Charter Review Committee to review the
Town'sCharter in accordance with Section 15.02 that requires a review every two years. The
residents appointed to the committee were:
  

Brian Smith
Casey Russell
Jennifer Ward
Jim Manning
Larry Dyer
Michael McClellan
Ron Trees

The committee convened on October 8 and presented two recommendations to Town Council at
the November 5, 2019, regular meeting:
  

Proposal #1: Increasing Mayor and Council Member pay from $25 per meeting to $100 per
meeting for the Mayor and $50 per meeting for Council Members.
Proposal #2: Change the budget adoption date from September 15 to September 30.

In addition, the committee presented three other considerations for Town Council:
  

Proposal #3: Changing the frequency of the Charter Review Committee from two years to
four years.
Proposal #4: Changing one District seat to an At-Large seat.
Proposal #5: Changing the number of consecutive three-year terms to two instead of three.



The full presentation is included as an attachment to this item.

During the November 5, 2019, regular meeting, Town Council discussed all five proposals and
motioned to include the following on the May 2020 election ballot:
  

Proposal #1: Increasing Mayor and Council Member pay from $25 per meeting to $100 per
meeting for the Mayor and $50 per meeting for Council Members, effective June 1, 2021.
Proposal #2: Change the budget adoption date from September 15 to September 30.
Proposal #3: Changing the frequency of the Charter Review Committee from two years to
four years.

However, the May 2020 election was canceled in February 2020 because all places for the
TownCouncil ballot were unopposed.

Staff is bringing forward this item for Town Council to discuss and give direction on the inclusion of
these charter amendment proposals in the May 2021 election. The Charter Review Committee will
need to be appointed again in late summer/early fall 2021. A memo that outlines previous charter
amendments is included as a separate attachment to this item.

BUDGET IMPACT:
There is no budget impact for this item.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends direction from Town Council.

Attachments
Presentation - 2019 Charter Review Committee Recommendations 
Memo - Previous Charter Amendments 



Charter Review 
Committee 2019



 Original charter adopted in May 2001

 Has been amended 2005, 2009, 2011, and 

2015

 Most recent committee met in 2017

– Recommendation to Council did not 

move forward 

Overview



Recommendations



 Mayor and Council Pay

– Currently $25 per meeting

 Recommendation

– $100 per meeting for Mayor

– $50 per meeting for Council MembersProposal #1



 Budget Adoption Date

– Currently must be adopted by September 

15

 Recommendation

– Change date to September 30Proposal #2



Other 
Considerations



 Frequency of Charter Review

– Currently must be reviewed every two 

years

– Consideration of changing frequency to 

every four years

 No change at this time

Proposal #3



 Council Seats

– Currently two elected at-large and four by 

district

– Consideration of changing an at-large 

seat to a potential district seat

 No change at this time

Proposal #4



 Council Terms

– Currently (3) 3-year consecutive terms

– Consideration of changing to (2) 3-year 

consecutive terms

 No change at this timeProposal #5



DISCUSSION















































































  

Town Council Meeting
 
Date: 01/05/2021
Agenda Item #: 3. B. 
Department: Development Services
Strategic Goal: Promote and expand Little Elm’s identity
Staff Contact: Fred Gibbs, Director of Development Services

AGENDA ITEM:
Present and Discuss the Planned Development and History of Lakeshore Plaza Development and
Adjacent Properties.

DESCRIPTION:
At the December 1, 2020, regular Town Council meeting, Council requested to workshop the
Planned Development for Lakeshore Plaza and discuss the adjacent property.  Below is a timeline of
those properties and attached are some additional supporting documents.

Project Summary for Lakeshore Plaza and Benny Properties

Introduction:

In the context of zoning, the current Lakeshore Plaza Planned Development request is viewed by
staff as a sort of “wipe the slate clean and start fresh” project in order to capture what has already
been constructed along with creating a compatible list of PD stipulations that will assure a quality
development for the remainder of the property. 

Per Town Council’s request, staff has taken the time to review relative past Town Council meeting
videos and minutes along with pulling all corresponding plans in order to provide the following
timeline which outlines the series of requests, approvals, denials, and expirations associated with
Lakeshore Plaza, Lots 1 & 2.       
  

April 6, 2013: A Specific Use Permit (SUP) for a temporary concrete batch plant for the
purpose of batching concrete in association with the expansion of Eldorado Parkway was
approved.
 

1.

March 4, 2016: Matt Shekari, the current owner purchased the subject property.
 

2.

August 10, 2016: Matt Shekari recorded a Final Plat with Denton County establishing two lots3.



August 10, 2016: Matt Shekari recorded a Final Plat with Denton County establishing two lots
of record, Lakeshore Plaza, Block A, Lots 1 & 2.  (See Exhibit A showing the Final Plat)
 

3.

September 4, 2016: Matt Shekari sold Lot 2 to “Benny”.
 

4.

February 7, 2017: Council approved a Town-initiated zoning case expanding the Town Center
District which included the Lakeshore Plaza property.
 

5.

February 7, 2017: Council took action on the Specific Use Permit for the Outdoor Commercial
Amusement project with a vote of denial.  Prior to this meeting, the zoning case had been
tabled at the November 1, 2016, December 20, 2016, and the January 17, 2017, Town Council
meetings.  ( See Exhibit B providing the full Town Council report)
   

6.

March 7, 2017: “Benny”, the previous owner of Lot 2, Town Council approved a Major Waiver
request to the (then) Town Center District’s block face1 requirement allowing him to sit the
building back more than the required 15 feet.  This project would be later modified with an
additional Major Waiver request discussed in the next item. (See Exhibit C providing the full
Town Council report)
 

7.

June 20, 2017: “Benny” the owner of Lot 2 made another Major Waiver request to the (then)
Town Center District’s required retail construction2 and residential at-grade3 requirements. 
Town Council approved the request, however the project and associated plans expired on
June 20, 2019 per the lapse of approval4 language contained within the (then) Town Center
District section of the Zoning Ordinance as discussed in Item 13. (See Exhibit D providing the
full Town Council report)
 

8.

June 20, 2017: Matt Shekari, the owner of Lot 1, made a Major Waiver request to the (then)
Town Center District’s block face1 requirements allowing him to sit the building back more
than the required 15 feet.  Note that this item was moved to this meeting so it could be
considered on the same agenda after the request for Lot 2.  Town Council approved the
request, however, the project and associated plans expired on June 20, 2019, per the lapse of
approval4 language contained within the (then) Town Center District section of the Zoning
Ordinance as discussed in Item 14. (See Exhibit E providing the full Town Council report)
 

9.

July 18, 2017: Town Council approved a Specific Use Permit (SUP) for a Child Care Center on
Matt Shekari’s Lot 1 property.  Restrictions were placed on the project creating certain trigger
dates between the proposed child care center and the mixed-use portion of the
development.  This project expired on January 18, 2018, as the applicant did not obtain a
building permit for the project within the allowed SUP timeframe5 and expired after 6
months. ( See Exhibit F providing SUP Ordinance No. 1400)  
 

10.

August 15, 2017: Town Council adopted revisions to the new Zoning Ordinance that included
changing the name from Town Center District to Lakefront District.

11.

August 7, 2018: Town Council approved a Specific Use Permit (SUP) for a Child Care Center on
Matt Shekari’s Lot 1 property.  New restrictions were adopted creating certain trigger dates
between the child care center and retail structure.  In addition, a developer’s agreement for
the construction of Hillside Drive was approved offsetting impact fees for the construction.
( See Exhibit G providing SUP Ordinance No. 1462)
 

12.

June 20, 2019: All previous waiver requests and plans expired4 per ordinance as noted in the13.



relative items above, and the remainder of the project, in the context of zoning, starts over
from square one.
 
April 24, 2020: “Benny” sold Lot 2 and according to Denton County Appraisal District, the
new owner is Tekri Enterprises, Inc.

14.

December 1, 2020: Town Council tabled the Lakeshore Plaza Planned Development (PD)
request.

15.

Conclusions and Options:

If the project wasn’t proposed to be subdivided and needing relief from the dumpster requirement,
the Major Waiver request process in the Lakefront District could have been utilized with restrictions
placed on the property as had been done in past.  However, with the intended subdivision, the
applicant needs relief on the dumpster standards that are required for each lot.  The only way to
accomplish this is through the PD process.  The Town Council has the discretion to act on such
zoning cases for approval or denial.

Footnotes, Terms & Definitions
  

Block Face.  Continuous building frontage will be considered to be met if 80 percent or more
of the primary building facade is located within 15 feet of the right-of-way or build-to line
designated on an approved plan. This shall apply to each phase of development unless
otherwise approved. However, administrative approval of a minor waiver will permit down to
70 percent, provided that the reduction results in an attractive outdoor dining area, building
entry feature or other amenity which contributes to the streetscape. A greater reduction
shall require approval of a major waiver.  See Section 106.04.02 (Lakefront District), Division
3 (General District Standards), Item b (Block Face)
 

1.

Required Retail Construction. ***Not specifically outlined in the District’s language other
than being listed as a major waiver item.  The intent of the District is for every development
to have a retail component.*** See Section 106.04.02 (Lakefront District), Division 3
(General District Standards), Item a (Building and land use)
 

2.

Residential at-grade.  
All buildings which have residential unit floor plates within six feet of grade shall include
a primary front door entrance into the unit which may be accessed from the sidewalk.
Any change to this standard shall be considered a major waiver.

1.

The entry shall be located a minimum of two feet above the sidewalk elevation and
include a minimum 24 square foot stoop. If pre-empted by topographic conditions, the
entry may be lowered in elevation, subject to approval of the director. However, up to
50 percent of units may be ADA accessible from the sidewalk provided there is a
maximum four-foot largely transparent metal fence separating the private area from
the public sidewalk area. Any change to this standard shall be considered a major
waiver.   See Section 106.04.02 (Lakefront District), Division 4 (Buildings), Item 5
(Residential at-grade)
 

2.

3.

Lapse of approval. If a building permit has not been obtained within two years following
approval of a regulating plan or site plan, such plan shall lapse unless the property owner
requests an extension prior to the expiration of the two-year period. The request for

4.



requests an extension prior to the expiration of the two-year period. The request for
extension shall be considered by the original approving authority in the same manner as for
approval of the existing plan. The authority may grant an extension of the time for expiration
of the plan for a period not to exceed two years from the date of expiration of the original
application.  See Section 106.04.02 (Lakefront District), Division 9 (Lakefront Procedures),
Item g (Lapse of Approval)
 
If new construction is required to comply with a specific use permit or to be able to use
property for the use for which a specific use permit is granted, a building permit for the
property described in the specific use permit must be obtained from the town not later than
six months after the effective date of the ordinance granting the specific use permit provided;
however, the director may authorize one or more extensions of such deadline for a period
totaling not more than one additional year after the original deadline. A specific use permit
and the ordinance granting same shall terminate and be of no further effect if: 

A required building permit has not been issued within the timeframe required by this
section, or

1.

A building permit has been issued but has subsequently expired.  See Section 106.02.17
(Specific Use Permit Approval), Item e.1 (Termination of Specific Use Permits)

2.

5.

Additional Lakefront Items to Note:

Loft, mixed-use. A mixed-use building that includes a majority of residential use such as lofts,
apartments, condominiums and offices, but contains nonresidential use in a portion of the ground
floor.  See Section 106.04.02 (Lakefront District), Division 2 (Definitions)

Mixed-use building. A vertical mixed-use building that includes a variety of retail, office, and/or
residential uses such as lofts, live-work units, apartments and condominiums, but contains
nonresidential use in a majority of the ground floor.   See Section 106.01.14 (Land Use Definitions)

Building form (height).  Buildings shall not exceed four stories except where adjacent to Eldorado,
which may be up to seven stories provided that views of the lake are not significantly blocked for
neighboring development. Additional height along Eldorado may be allowed at specific locations by
minor waiver.  See Section 106.04.02 (Lakefront District), Division 4 (Buildings), Item c.1 (Building
Standards/Building Form

BUDGET IMPACT:
There is no budget impact for this item.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff requests direction from Council.

Attachments
Timeline Exhibits - Lakeshore Plaza 
Timeline Graphic - Lakeshore Plaza 



EXHIBIT A





EXHIBIT B



TOWN OF LITTLE ELM 

Town Council 

Staff Report 

PROJECT: 16-SUP-003 Lakeshore Plaza Amusement 

PUBLIC HEARING DATES: Planning & Zoning Commission: 10-20-16

Town Council: 11-1-16 (extended)
12-20-16 (extended)
1-17-17 (extended)
2-7-17

REQUEST: A request for a Specific Use Permit for Commercial Amusement, 
Outdoor on approximately 2.28 acres of land currently zoned Light 
Commercial district (LC) 

PROPOSED USE: Outdoor Amusement Park 

LOCATION: Generally located south of Eldorado Parkway and west of Hillside 
Drive, within the town limits of Little Elm 

SIZE: Approximately 2.28 acres of land 

CURRENT ZONING: Light Commercial district (LC)  

FUTURE LAND USE PLAN 
DESIGNATION: 

Eldorado Corridor District 

EXISTING USE / SITE 
ATTRIBUTES: 

Vacant 

APPLICANT: Toptel 

OWNER: Martin Shekari 

PLANNING ANALYSIS: Chapter 106 of the Little Elm Code of Ordinances requires outdoor 
commercial amusement uses to obtain a Specific Use Permit (SUP) to 
legally operate in Light Commercial (LC) zoning districts.  

An SUP is required of uses that the zoning ordinance may allow, but 
uses that should also be specially approved for situational suitability.  
The purpose of the SUP requirement is to allow the Town to determine 
the appropriateness of a proposal.  Thus, Council has broad 
discretionary approval of the requested SUP.  

The applicant would like to develop an amusement park to enhance 
the family-friendly entertainment in Little Elm. Council asked applicant 



to come back to the next meeting with some new concepts for approval.  
As seen on the concept plan, the applicant is proposing construction of 
a miniature golf course, bumper cars, and batting cages within a 
pirate/lake theme. A parking lot will be poured to service the 
amusement park. Shared parking behind the retail building to the north 
will also be available.  Bumper cars have a potential for noise and bright 
lights. 
 
In addition to the proposed zoning, the applicant has a staff-approved 
site plan package for a retail strip on the northern portion of the 
property, and his civil plans are currently under Town review. The retail 
strip and future indoor commercial amusement business are allowed 
by-right in the Light Commercial (LC) zoning district and will develop 
separately from the outdoor amusement park. It is not included in the 
zoning request and should not be considered for the recommendation. 
 
An important component of this project is that part of it is planned to be 
built in the floodplain. The applicant will have to get approval from the 
United States Army Corps of Engineers (USACE) to construct the 
amusement park. No buildings are being proposed in the floodplain 
which provides for possibility of approval. Thus, the applicant needs 
approval from the Town and USACE to commence construction of the 
amusement park. 
 
The Future Land Use Plan (FLUP) designates the subject property as 
Eldorado Corridor District, which calls for retail and office uses with 
quality, unified aesthetics. While the southern amusement area does 
not conform to this, as the building north of it will, it does link this area 
to the Lakefront district due to creating a playful destination in Little 
Elm. 
 
The subject property is located on approximately 2.28 acres south of 
Eldorado Parkway, near Hillside Drive. It is currently surrounded by 
vacant land, except for one home directly adjacent to the property in 
question. If approved, staff has requested a condition of the SUP to be 
dense evergreen screening along the common property line, as well as 
a wrought iron fence, pending USACE permission, due to much of that 
proposed fencing being built in the floodplain. Lewisville Lake is directly 
south of the subject property and views from the amusement park rides 
are expected to be beautiful. 
 
No waivers from the landscape requirements are being proposed, and 
the natural existing trees will be preserved to fulfill the requirements as 
much as possible. The applicant chose this location so he could really 
make the most of the aesthetics of the lakeside environment. 
 
On October 20th, 2016, the Planning & Zoning Commission 
unanimously recommended approval of the proposed SUP with the 
stipulations that they have semi-annual inspections from community 
integrity, resort-style miniature golf, no flat or linear grading with 
elevation changes and water features. 



On November 1, 2016 and December 20, 2016 Council tabled item to 
be brought back on January 17, 2017 with new proposals.  Applicant 
will present ideas to Council for approval. 
 
 
If approval is granted of the requested SUP, staff proposes the 
following conditions: 

 
1. Approval to construct must be obtained from the United States 

Army Corps of Engineers (USACE). 
 

2. Annual registration with the Town is required, thus mandating 
a semi-annual commercial integrity inspection of the property 
by Town staff. 
 

3. Resort-style miniature golf, no flat or linear grading with 
elevation changes and water features. 
 

4. Construction plans to conform to the concept plans as 
presented. 

 
5. The subject property shall be responsible for installing 

evergreen shrubs of at least 5 feet in height at the time of 
planting along the inside of the common property line with the 
existing residential property to the east. In addition, a 6 foot tall, 
decorative black wrought iron (tubular steel) fence shall be 
installed on the common property line, if permitted by USACE. 
The purpose is to screen the outdoor amusement park from the 
existing adjacent residents and to provide security for the 
residents’ home. 

  
Important to note, the conceptual plans are for reference only and are 
not necessarily an accurate indication of how the final product will 
appear.   
 

TOWN CONTACT: Jason W. Laumer, P.E. – Director of Development Services 

ATTACHMENTS: Location Map 
Conceptual Site Plan 
Presentation 

 



 1 

TOWN OF LITTLE ELM 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 1356 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF LITTLE ELM, TEXAS, 
AMENDING THE COMPREHENSIVE ZONING ORDINANCE OF 
THE TOWN OF LITTLE ELM, TEXAS, AS AMENDED, BY 
ISSUING A SPECIFIC USE PERMIT FOR OUTDOOR 
AMUSEMENT PARK USE ON APPROXIMATELY 2.28 ACRES 
OF LAND CURRENTLY ZONED LIGHT COMMERCIAL 
DISTRICT (LC); GENERALLY LOCATED SOUTH OF 
ELDORADO PARKWAY AND WEST OF HILLSIDE DRIVE; 
PROVIDING THAT THIS SPECIFIC USE PERMIT IS 
ESTABLISHED SUBJECT TO CERTAIN CONDITIONS AS SET 
FORTH HEREIN; PROVIDING A SAVINGS CLAUSE; 
CORRECTING THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP; PROVIDING A 
PENALTY; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; 
PROVIDING A REPEALER CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 

 
 WHEREAS, the Town of Little Elm (“Town”) is a home rule municipal 
corporation organized and existing by virtue of the Constitution and laws of the State of 
Texas and by its Charter adopted on May 1, 2001, and as amended; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Town possesses all the rights, powers, and authorities possessed 
by all home rule municipalities, including the authority to regulate land uses under 
Chapter 211 of the Texas Local Government Code; and 
 

WHEREAS, Martin Shekari (“Shekari”) is the owner of certain property 
(“Property”), being approximately 2.28 acres more specifically described on the Location 
Map attached hereto and incorporated herein, upon which Shekiri desires to operate an 
outdoor amusement park; and 

 
 WHEREAS, Chapter 106 (Zoning) of the Little Elm Code of Ordinances requires 
a Specific Use Permit be granted by Town Council in order to legally operate and occupy 
the Property with an outdoor commercial amusement use while the Property is zoned 
Light Commercial District (LC); and 
 
 WHEREAS, Shekari has requested a Specific Use Permit for an outdoor 
amusement park on the Property, approximately 2.28 acres of land currently zoned 
Commercial District (LC) and more specifically described on the Location Map, attached 
hereto; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Section 106-36 of the Little Elm Code of Ordinances, and as 
amended, provides that in considering and determining the issuance of a specific use 



 2 

permit, the Town may require from an applicant plans, information, operating data, and 
expert evaluation concerning the location and function and characteristics of any building 
or use proposed; and may, in the interest of the public welfare and to assure compliance 
therewith, establish conditions of operation, location, arrangement, and construction of 
any use for which a permit is authorized; and further, that in authorizing the location of 
any of the uses listed as specific use permits, the Town Council may impose such 
development standards and safeguards as the conditions and locations indicate important 
to the welfare and protection of adjacent property from noise, vibration, dust, dirt, smoke, 
fumes, odor, gas, explosion, glare, offensive view, or other undesirable or hazardous 
conditions; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Town Planning and Zoning Commission and the Town Council 
of the Town of Little Elm, Texas, in accordance with the state law and the ordinances of 
the Town, have given the required notices and have held the required public hearings 
regarding the rezoning of the Property hereinafter described, and have afforded and full 
and fair hearing to all property owners generally and to all persons interested in and 
situated in the affected area and the vicinity thereof regarding the requested rezoning 
described herein; and 
 
WHEREAS, after due deliberations and consideration of the recommendation of the 
Town Planning and Zoning Commission, and any other information and materials 
received at the public hearing, the Town Council of the Town of Little Elm, Texas, has 
determined that the rezoning request is in the best interests of the public health, safety, 
and welfare of the residents of the Town and that it is the public interest to grant the 
requested specific use permit for outdoor amusement park use, which use would be in the 
interest of public health, safety and welfare of the citizens of the Town of Little Elm. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF 
THE TOWN OF LITTLE ELM, TEXAS: 
 
SECTION 1. INCORPORATION OF PREMISES.  The above and foregoing 
premises are true and correct and are incorporated herein and made a part hereof for all 
purposes. 
 
SECTION 2. AMENDMENT.  That Ordinance No. 226 of the Town of Little Elm, 
Texas, the same being the Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance of the Town, is hereby 
amended by issuing a Specific Use Permit for outdoor amusement park use to the 
Property generally located south of Eldorado Parkway and west of Hillside Drive, an 
approximately 2.28 acre tract of land more particularly described on the Location Map, 
attached hereto, subject to all of the terms and conditions set forth herein, the terms and 
conditions of the Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance, and all other applicable ordinances, 
laws, rules, regulations, and standards. 
 
 
 



 3 

SECTION 3. CONDITIONS.  The following special ordinance provisions shall apply 
to the Property: 
 
 1. Approval to construct must be obtained from the United States Army Corps of 
Engineers (“USACE”). 
 
 2. Annual registration with the Town is required, thus mandating a semi-annual 
commercial integrity inspection of the property by Town staff. 
 
 3.  Any miniature golf use on the Property must be a resort-style miniature golf 
concept with elevation changes and significant water features; a flat or linear grading 
style concept shall not be permitted. 
 
 4. Construction plans for the Property shall conform to the site plan and 
conceptual use plans attached hereto and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth 
herein. 
 
 5. The Property shall be responsible for installing evergreen shrubs of at least 5 
feet in height at the time of planting along the inside of the common property line with 
the existing residential property to the east. In addition, a 6 foot tall, decorative black 
wrought iron (tubular steel) fence shall be installed on the common property line, if 
permitted by USACE. The purpose is to screen the outdoor amusement park from the 
existing adjacent residents and to provide security for the residents’ home. 
 
SECTION 4. SAVINGS. This Ordinance shall be cumulative of all other ordinances of 
the Town, and shall not repeal any of the provisions of those ordinances except in those 
instances where the provisions of those ordinances are in direct conflict with the 
provisions of this Ordinance; provided, however, that any complaint, notice, action, cause 
of action, or claim which prior to the effective date of this Ordinance has been initiated or 
has arisen under or pursuant to such other ordinance(s) shall continue to be governed by 
the provisions of that ordinance or those ordinances, and for that purpose that ordinance 
or those ordinances shall be deemed to remain and shall continue in full force and effect. 
 
SECTION 5. ZONING MAP.  The official zoning map of the Town shall be amended 
to reflect the changes in zoning made by this Ordinance. 
 
SECTION 6. PENALTY.  Any person, firm, or corporation violating any of the 
provision of this Ordinance shall be punished by a penalty of a fine not to exceed the sum 
of Two Thousand Dollars ($2,000) for each offense and each and every day such offense 
shall continue shall be deemed to constitute a separate offense.  
 
SECTION 7. SEVERABILITY.  The sections, paragraphs, sentences, phrases, and 
words of this Ordinance are severable, and If any section or provision of this ordinance or 
the application of that section or provision to any person, firm, corporation, situation or 
circumstance is for any reason judged invalid or unconstitutional, the adjudication shall 
not affect any other section or provision of this Ordinance or the application of any other 



 4 

section or provision to any person, firm, corporation, situation or circumstance, nor shall 
adjudication affect any other section or provision of the Comprehensive Zoning 
Ordinance of the Town of Little Elm, Texas, and the Town Council hereby declares that 
it would have adopted the valid portions and applications of this Ordinance without the 
invalid parts and to this end the provisions of this Ordinance shall remain in full force and 
effect.    
 
SECTION 8. REPEALER.  That all ordinances of the Town of Little Elm in conflict 
with the provisions of this Ordinance be and the same are hereby repealed to the extent of 
that conflict. 
 

SECTION 9. EFFECTIVE DATE.  That this Ordinance shall take effect immediately 
upon its adoption and publication in accordance with and as provided by law and the Town 
Charter. 
 
PASSED AND APPROVED the 17th day of January 17, 2016. 
 
 
 

 The Town of Little Elm, Texas 
 

                  
___________________________________ 

  David Hillock, Mayor 
ATTEST:  
       
 
   
Kathy Phillips, Town Secretary 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 5 

ATTACHMENTS 
 

1. Location Map 
2. Site Plan 
3. Conceptual Use Plans  
 

 

 

 

 



S H
ills

ide
 D

r

E Eldorado Pkwy

This map is the property of the Town of Little Elm,
and is not to be reproduced by any means, mechanical

or digital, without written consent of the Town.
This product is for informational purposes and may not have

been prepared for or be suitable for legal, engineering, or
surveying purposes.  It does not represent an on-the-ground
survey and represents only the approximate relative location

of property boundaries.

Location MapLakeshore Plaza
Amusement Park

Town of Little Elm
Denton County, TX

Date: 10/5/2016 FM
 42

3

HWY 380 E

TE
EL

 P
KW

Y

FISH TRAP RD

KING RD

FM
 13

85

FM
 29

31

NA
YL

OR
 R

D
FM

 42
4

Rockhill Pkwy

W ELDORADO PKWY

WI
TT

 R
D

HWY 380

LO
BO

 LN

RO
SE

 LN

WALKER LN

WOODLAKE PKWY

GAMMON RD

MARTOP RD
MCC ORMICK RD

DOE CREEK RD

ELDORADO PKWY

HAW
KINS LN

OAK GROVE PKW
Y

W ELDORADO PKWY

FISH TRAP RD

Image Source: Google 2016

Legend
Roads
Amusement Park
ETJ
Town Limit

Subject Property

0 240120
Feet



RAMP RAMP

UP AT 1:12 MAX

RAMP RAMP

UP AT 1:12 MAX

BIKE RACK

LANDSC.

UP AT 1:12 MAX

LANDSC.

RAMP

RAMP

RAMP

100.00

100.00

99.8

99.8

99.3

99.8

99.8

99.3

99.7

99.2

99.8
99.8

99.3

99.9

99.8

99.8

99.3

RAMP

RAMP

UP AT 1:12 MAX

RAMP

UP AT 1:12 MAX

FU
TU

RE
 H

ILL
SID

E D
RIV

E

R.O
.W

.

R.O
.W

.

17

11

12

1514

4

5

9

13

6

7

8

10

2

LOT 1:
78,466 S.F.
1.8 ACRES

1

16

FUTURE

BUILDINGS

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
BA

TT
IN

G
CA

GE
63

F 
X 

94
F

18   
   

 B
um

pe
r C

ar
s

   
   

 8
0F

 X
 6

1.
5F

Resort style" mini golf with water features and elevation changes

GATE

2

 
S

P

A

C

E

S

1

4

 

 

E

Q

.

 

S

P

A

C

E

S

 

A

L

O

N

G

 

A

R

C

BUILDING 'A'

BUILDING 'B'

SCOPE REFERENCE

LOT 1:
78,466 S.F.
1.801 ACRESTOTAL  LOT 2:

179,921 S.F.
4.13 ACRES

11,850 SQ.FT. RETAIL

7,976 SQ.FT. INDOOR

SCOPE REFERENCE

S

C

O

P

E

 

R

E

F

E

R

E

N

C

E

AMUSEMENT

AMUSEMENT AREA
68,713 SQ.FT.

MARTIN
Typewritten text
142



LakeShore Plaza
Located on beautiful lake Lewisville
and Little elm City
Eldorado Parkway at Hillside drive Little elm Texas 75068

www.lakeshoreplaza.us

Just as entertainment is becoming
an essential component of shopping
centers, entertainment is the
backbone of today's urban
redevelopment. Often referred to as
urban or location-based
entertainment centers, these
projects integrate entertainment with
retail, dining and cultural facilities to
create a resident and tourist
destination

With the business boom that is occurring in our local area
and the desire to improve overall profit margins, Mr.
Shekari is planning to shift its target market from
Contractor Company to construct and operate retail,
restaurant, theme park and mini golf in 6.19 Acres
commercial land by the Lewisville Lake.



• General Contractor

TOPTEL LLC is a contractor company
formed from March 2014 in TEXAS. The company
has successfully operated for the past 12 years in
other countries like Canada, working on
communication and construction projects.
TOPTEL has developed a solid reputation for delivering
outstanding service and results.
www.toptelecom.us



TOPTEL purpose is to construct a profitable and well managed retail, resultant, Indoor &
Outdoor theme park and mini golf while at the same time creating an atmosphere of fun and
excitement for the entire family, with activities designed to please the local residents, as well as the
substantial tourist.

This project will be done in 2 phase on 4.5 Acres land

Phase1: 12700 SF retails

Phase2: 8,000 SF indoor Theme park and 67,713 SF outdoor Theme Park and Mini
golf





Pirate Adventure Park
Theme park and Miniature Golf

The park provides visitors of all ages with a full day of indoor
and outdoor fun and adventure.

It is Theme park and mini golf based around Pirates
www.Pirateauradventure.us



8,000 SF indoor theme park



Indoor theme park attractions

Arcade/ Redemption games Redemption games Counter



Indoor theme park attractions

Party Area/RestaurantDino Jump City



Indoor theme park attractions

• Jump Frog • Kiddie rides



Indoor theme park attractions

VR area Air hockey



Indoor theme park attractions

Adult area including Bar and adult games with kids area view to supervise children



What we are going to build in outdoor theme park

• 1) Batting Cage
• 2) Resort style” mini golf with water features and elevation changes.
• 3) Bumper Cars



Pirate Theme Resort Style Miniature golf



Batting Cage



Bumper Car



EXHIBIT C



TOWN OF LITTLE ELM

Town Council Commission 

Staff Report

PROJECT: TC-Site Plan Lakefront on Eldorado

PUBLIC HEARING DATES: Planning & Zoning Commission: 02/16/17

Town Council: 03/07/17

REQUEST: A request for a major waiver to existing Town Center District zoning to 
allow for the construction of a mixed-use development.

PROPOSED USE: Mixed-Use

LOCATION: Located at the southwest corner of Eldorado Parkway and Hillside 
Drive.

SIZE: Approximately 1.7 acres of land

CURRENT ZONING: Town Center District (TC)

PROPOSED ZONING: Town Center District (TC)

FUTURE LAND USE PLAN 
DESIGNATION:

Eldorado Corridor District

EXISTING USE / SITE 
ATTRIBUTES:

Vacant property with 36-inch heritage tree. 

APPLICANT: Ricardo Doi, P.E. – Petitt Barraza, LLC

OWNER: Earaj, LP

PLANNING ANALYSIS: On February 7, 2017, the Town of Little Elm approved Ordinance 1376 
which rezoned approximately 76 acres of property to Town Center 
District zoning.  The previous zoning was a combination of light 
commercial (LC) and single family (SF-1 and SF-2).  The subject 
property, formerly zoned LC, was a part of the overall request.  

The Town of Little Elm adopted the current Comprehensive Plan in 
2008.  The current growth in Lakefront and potential future growth are 
following the plans and concepts that have been in place for nearly 10 
years.  Various projects that push the development forward have been 
ongoing since that time period.  Hula Hut, Palladium and Hydrous 
Water Park are examples of the potential for the area.  Town Council 
has directed staff that the downtown area should be preserved for 
developments that align with the “Lakefront feel” and further perpetuate 
the idea that Little Elm is a “destination” location.  



The 2008 Comprehensive Plan identified the desire to provide a mix of 
housing opportunities, a pedestrian friendly street environment, non-
homogenous residential and commercial developments, and wanted to 
introduce urban design that would promote the implementation of small 
town design guidelines in order to maximize desirability and aesthetic 
appeal throughout the Town.  

The applicant is requesting a major waiver to design standards of the 
TC district.  Approval of the request would allow for a change to the 
relative standards, as identified in the district regulations and requiring 
planning and zoning commission and town council approval. The 
proposed development generally meets the overall intent and design 
standards of the TC district with the following exception:

Block Face – the ordinance requires 80 percent of the primary 
façade to be located within 15 feet of the right-of-way or build-
to line.
Approval would be conditional based on following conditions:

1. Ground floor required to be office/retail
2. Any residential above ground floor must be a condo type unit 

for sale.
3. Property Owner Association Required, copy of bylaws must be 

provided to the Town
4. No owner/entity can own more than 5 units.
5. Power lines along the east property line on Hillside Beach and 

behind the proposed building must be buried.

The proposed site features an existing 36” heritage tree.  In order to 
preserve the existing oak tree, and provide parking in the front for the 
retail while developing the property to the intent of the TC zoning 
district, a major waiver must be requested.

RECOMMENDATION: P&Z recommended approval of the applicant’s request.

TOWN CONTACT: Jason Laumer, P.E., CFM – Director of Development Services
Skye Thibodeaux – Planning & Community Services Manager

ATTACHMENTS: Site Plan
Elevations
Landscape Plan
Conceptual Renderings 



TGS ARCHITECTS
5323 Spring Valley Road, Suite 200, Dallas, Texas 972.788.1945 SITE PLAN

4	STORY	
MIXED	USE	BUILDING

EXISTING	LARGE	
36”	OAK	TO	REMAIN

EL	DORADO	PARKWAY	

20’	SETBACK	LINE

HI
LL
SI
DE
	D
R.

DUMSPTERS

ENTRY
GATE

PROPERTY	LINE

PR
OP
ER
TY
	LI
NE

PROPERTY	LINE

26’	FIRE	LANE

29	GARAGE	SPACES
ENTRY
GATE

FENCE

N

26’	FIRE	LANE

GROSS	AREA	SF

FLOOR	 	 AREA

LEVEL	1		 20,952	SF
LEVEL	2		 20,376	SF
LEVEL	3		 19,766	SF
LEVEL	4		 18,687	SF

	 	 79,781	SF

PARKING	TABULATION
TOWN	CENTER	ZONING	DISTRICT	MIXED	USE

FLOOR	 	 AREA	 	 REQUIRED	 							PROVIDED

LEVEL	1		 10,046	SF	 26	(1:400SF)
LEVEL	2		 13	UNITS	 27	(1:	BEDROOM)
LEVEL	3		 14	UNITS	 27	(1:	BEDROOM)
LEVEL	4		 15	UNITS	 30	(1:	BEDROOM)

	 	 	 	 110	 	 	 105

0’ 20’ 40’

EL DORADO MIXED USE 
LITTLE ELM, TEXAS

NEW	LANDSCAPE



TGS ARCHITECTS
5323 Spring Valley Road, Suite 200, Dallas, Texas 972.788.1945 EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

ENTRY
GATE

PROPERTY	LINE

26’	FIRE	LANE

EL DORADO MIXED USE 
LITTLE ELM, TEXAS

SPANISH	TILE

EXISTING	36”
TREE

SIMULATED	
STONE

EIFS	TRIMS

SPANISH	TILE

STUCCO	WALL
	FINISH

DECORATIVE	GATE	&	
FENCE

STUCCO	WALL	FINISH

SPANISH	TILE

EIFS	TRIM

SIMULATED	STONE

RE
TA
IL

LE
VE

L
CO

N
D
O

LE
VE

LS

MAIN	ENTRANCE	CONDOS TOWER	FEATURE

NORTH	ELEVATION

EAST	ELEVATION

65’	AFF

79’	AFF

57’	AFF

38’	AFF

16’	AFF

14’’	AFF

SPANISH	TILE

ENTRY	AWNING	&	SIGNAGE	

STUCCO	WALL	FINISH

EXISTING	36”	TREE



TGS ARCHITECTS
5323 Spring Valley Road, Suite 200, Dallas, Texas 972.788.1945 EXTERIOR ELEVATIONSEL DORADO MIXED USE 

LITTLE ELM, TEXAS

SPANISH	TILE

SIMULATED	
STONE

EIFS	TRIM
FINISH

SPANISH	TILE

STUCCO	WALL	FINISH

DECORATIVE	GATE	&	
FENCE

SIMULATED	
STONE

STUCCO	WALL	FINISH

SPANISH	TILE

DECORATIVE	GATE	&	FENCE SIMULATED	STONE

SOUTH	ELEVATION

WEST	ELEVATION

79’	AFF

38’	AFF

16’	AFF

14’’	AFF

65’	AFF

57’	AFF

EIFS	TRIM	FINISH

DECORATIVE	GATE	&	FENCE



TGS ARCHITECTS
5323 Spring Valley Road, Suite 200, Dallas, Texas 972.788.1945 LANDSCAPE PLAN

ENTRY
GATE

PROPERTY	LINE

N

26’	FIRE	LANE

0’ 20’ 40’

EL DORADO MIXED USE 
LITTLE ELM, TEXAS



TGS ARCHITECTS
5323 Spring Valley Road, Suite 200, Dallas, Texas 972.788.1945 SITE PLAN

ENTRY
GATE

PROPERTY	LINE

N

26’	FIRE	LANE

0’ 20’ 40’

EL DORADO MIXED USE 
LITTLE ELM, TEXAS

SOUTH	ELEVATION

WEST	ELEVATIONEAST	ELEVATION

NORTH	ELEVATION



TGS ARCHITECTS
5323 Spring Valley Road, Suite 200, Dallas, Texas 972.788.1945 CONCEPTUAL SKETCHEL DORADO MIXED USE 

LITTLE ELM, TEXAS



TGS ARCHITECTS
5323 Spring Valley Road, Suite 200, Dallas, Texas 972.788.1945 CONCEPTUAL SKETCHEL DORADO MIXED USE 

LITTLE ELM, TEXAS



TGS ARCHITECTS
5323 Spring Valley Road, Suite 200, Dallas, Texas 972.788.1945 CONCEPTUAL SKETCHESEL DORADO MIXED USE 

LITTLE ELM, TEXAS



EXHIBIT D



 

TOWN OF LITTLE ELM 

Town Council Report 
 
Staff Report 

 
PROJECT: 17-PD-001 Lakefront on Eldorado 

PUBLIC HEARING DATES: Planning & Zoning Commission: 06/15/17 
 Town Council:  06/20/17 

09/19/17 (Tabled) 
11/21/17 

REQUEST: A request for a major waiver to existing Town Center District zoning to 
allow for the construction of a residential development. 

PROPOSED USE: Stacked flats   

LOCATION: Located at the southwest corner of Eldorado Parkway and Hillside 
Drive. 

SIZE: Approximately 1.78 acres of land.  

CURRENT ZONING: Lakefront District  

FUTURE LAND USE PLAN 
DESIGNATION: 

Eldorado Corridor District  

EXISTING USE / SITE 
ATTRIBUTES: 

Vacant property with 36-inch heritage tree. 

APPLICANT: Ricardo Doi, P.E. – Petitt Barraza, LLC 

OWNER: Earaj, LP   

PLANNING ANALYSIS: This item was tabled at the September 19, 2017 Town Council meeting.  
It must be removed from the table. 
On February 7, 2017, the Town of Little Elm approved Ordinance 1376 
which rezoned approximately 76 acres of property to Town Center 
District zoning. The previous zoning was a combination of light 
commercial (LC) and single family (SF-1 and SF-2). The subject 
property, formerly zoned LC, was a part of the overall request. To note, 
via the adoption of the updated Zoning Ordinance on August 15, 2017, 
the property is now zoned under the moniker of the Lakefront District. 

 
The Town of Little Elm adopted the current Comprehensive Plan in 
2008. The current growth in Lakefront and potential future growth are 
following the plans and concepts that have been in place for nearly 10 
years. Various projects that push the development forward have been 
ongoing since that time period. Hula Hut, Palladium and Hydrous Water 
Park are examples of the potential for the area. Town Council has 
directed staff that the downtown area should be preserved for 



developments that align with the “Lakefront feel” and further perpetuate 
the idea that Little Elm is a “destination” location. 

 
The 2008 Comprehensive Plan identified the desire to provide a mix of 
housing opportunities, a pedestrian friendly street environment, non- 
homogenous residential and commercial developments, and wanted to 
introduce urban design that would promote the implementation of small 
town design guidelines in order to maximize desirability and aesthetic 
appeal throughout the Town. 

 
On March 7, 2017, Town Council approved the applicant’s request for 
a major waiver to design standards of the Town Center District (TC). 
Approval of the request allowed for a significant change to the relative 
standards, as identified in the following district regulation: 

 
 Block Face – the ordinance requires 80 percent of the primary 

façade to be located within 15 feet of the right-of-way or build- 
to line. 

 
The former request was approved because the proposed site features 
an existing 36” heritage tree. In order to preserve the existing oak tree, 
while developing the property to the intent of the TC zoning district, the 
major waiver request was granted. 

 
Since that time, the developer adjacent to the west has been approved 
to construct a development that includes approximately 13,000 – 
20,000 square feet of retail. There is current vacant retail to the east at 
One Elm Place. The Town’s Lakefront District is adding retail to west 
with the Palladium Development. Due to the nature of the peninsula, 
more residential is needed to gain customers. The applicant is 
concerned that future retail on the subject property may no longer be a 
viable option as it would create an overabundance of retail in the 
general area. The applicant’s previously approved planned showed 
10,100 square feet of ground-level retail. With this concern, at the June 
20, 2017 Town Council meeting, the applicant proposed the entire 
structure to contain residential condo units. 

 
The applicant’s recent request required additional major waivers to 
design standards of the, then, TC district. Approval of the request 
allows for a significant change to the relative standards, as identified in 
the district regulations. The proposed development generally meets the 
overall intent and design standards of the TC district with the following 
exceptions: 

 
 Required retail construction - Multiple family residential be 

reserved and constructed for retail uses on the ground floor. 
 

 Residential at-grade - All buildings which have residential unit 
floor plates within six feet of grade shall include a primary front 
door entrance into the unit which may be accessed from the 
(public) sidewalk. 



 
 At the June 20, 2017 Town Council meeting, Town Council agreed with 

the applicant’s concerns in regard to an abundance of retail as over 
23,000 square feet of retail lease space within the general area may 
be difficult to consistently keep occupied. Council approved the 
applicants request to construct the entire building as a residential 
structure with the stipulation that the applicant resubmit an updated site 
plan for approval by Town Council. 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 

 
Staff recommends approval of the applicant’s request per Council 
approval of the updated site plan. 

TOWN CONTACT: Skye Thibodeaux – Planning & Community Services Manager 

ATTACHMENTS: Location Map 
Updated Site Plan 
Elevations 
Floor Plans 

 



Lake
v

ie
w

C
t

S
hady B

end C
ir

L
a
k

e
Trail D

r

O
akridge D

r

H
ills

id
e

B
e

a
c
h

D
r

S
 H

ill
s
id

e
 D

r

Willow Lake Dr

E E
ld

ora
do P

kw
y

µThis map is the property of the Town of Little Elm,
and is not to be reproduced by any means, mechanical

or digital, without written consent of the Town.
This product is for informational purposes and may not have

been prepared for or be suitable for legal, engineering, or
surveying purposes.  It does not represent an on-the-ground
survey and represents only the approximate relative location

of property boundaries.

Location Map
Lakeshore Plaza Block A Lot 2

Town of Little Elm
Denton County, TX

Date: 1/9/2017 F
M

 4
2

3

HWY 380 E

T
E

E
L
 P

K
W

Y

FISHTRAP RD

KING RD

F
M

 1
3

8
5

N
A
Y

L
O

R
 R

D

F
M

 2
9

3
1

Rockhill P
kwy

F
M

 4
2

4

W
 E

LDORADO P
KW

Y

W
IT

T
 R

D

HWY 380

L
O

B
O

 L
N

R
O

S
E

 L
N

WALKER LN

WOODLAKE PKWY

G
A

M
M

O
N

 R
D

MARTOP RD

MCCORMICK RD

D
O
E
 C

R
EE

K R
D

ELDORADO PKWY

H
A

W
K

IN
S

 L
N

O
A

K
 G

R
O

V
E

 P
K

W
Y

W ELDORADO PKWY

FISHTRAP RD

Image Source: Google 2016

Legend
Lakeshore Plaza

Roads

Town Limit

ETJ

0 410205
Feet

Subject Property









TGS ARCHITECTS
5323 Spring Valley Road, Suite 200, Dallas, Texas 972.788.1945 EXTERIOR ELEVATIONS

ENTRY
GATE

PROPERTY	LINE

26’	FIRE	LANE

EL DORADO MIXED USE 
LITTLE ELM, TEXAS

SPANISH	TILE

EXISTING	36”
TREE

SIMULATED	
STONE

EIFS	TRIMS

SPANISH	TILE

STUCCO	WALL
	FINISH

DECORATIVE	GATE	&	
FENCE

STUCCO	WALL	FINISH

SPANISH	TILE

EIFS	TRIM

SIMULATED	STONE

RE
TA
IL

LE
VE

L
CO

N
D
O

LE
VE

LS

MAIN	ENTRANCE	CONDOS TOWER	FEATURE

NORTH	ELEVATION

EAST	ELEVATION

65’	AFF

79’	AFF

57’	AFF

38’	AFF

16’	AFF

14’’	AFF

SPANISH	TILE

ENTRY	AWNING	&	SIGNAGE	

STUCCO	WALL	FINISH

EXISTING	36”	TREE



TGS ARCHITECTS
5323 Spring Valley Road, Suite 200, Dallas, Texas 972.788.1945 EXTERIOR ELEVATIONSEL DORADO MIXED USE 

LITTLE ELM, TEXAS

SPANISH	TILE

SIMULATED	
STONE

EIFS	TRIM
FINISH

SPANISH	TILE

STUCCO	WALL	FINISH

DECORATIVE	GATE	&	
FENCE

SIMULATED	
STONE

STUCCO	WALL	FINISH

SPANISH	TILE

DECORATIVE	GATE	&	FENCE SIMULATED	STONE

SOUTH	ELEVATION

WEST	ELEVATION

79’	AFF

38’	AFF

16’	AFF

14’’	AFF

65’	AFF

57’	AFF

EIFS	TRIM	FINISH

DECORATIVE	GATE	&	FENCE













EXHIBIT E



TOWN OF LITTLE ELM 

Planning & Zoning Commission 

Staff Report 

PROJECT: 17-SP-010 Lakeshore Plaza Mixed Use 

PUBLIC HEARING DATES: Planning & Zoning Commission: 06/15/17 
Town Council: 07/05/17 

REQUEST: A request for a major waiver to existing Town Center District zoning to 
allow for the construction of a mixed-use development. 

PROPOSED USE: Mixed-Use 

LOCATION: Generally located at the southwest corner of Eldorado Parkway and 
Hillside Drive. 

SIZE: Approximately 4.16 acres of land. 

CURRENT ZONING: Town Center District (TC) 

FUTURE LAND USE PLAN 
DESIGNATION: 

Eldorado Corridor District 

EXISTING USE / SITE 
ATTRIBUTES: 

Vacant property 

APPLICANT: Mahdi Shekari – Petitt Barraza, LLC 

OWNER:  Mahdi Shekari – Petitt Barraza, LLC 

PLANNING ANALYSIS: On February 7, 2017, the Town of Little Elm approved Ordinance 1376 
which rezoned approximately 76 acres of property to Town Center 
District zoning.  The previous zoning was a combination of light 
commercial (LC) and single family (SF-1 and SF-2).  The subject 
property, formerly zoned LC, was a part of the overall request.   

The Town of Little Elm adopted the current Comprehensive Plan in 
2008.  The current growth in Lakefront and potential future growth are 
following the plans and concepts that have been in place for nearly 10 
years.  Various projects that push the development forward have been 
ongoing since that time period.  Hula Hut, Palladium and Hydrous 
Water Park are examples of the potential for the area.  Town Council 
has directed staff that the downtown area should be preserved for 
developments that align with the “Lakefront feel” and further perpetuate 
the idea that Little Elm is a “destination” location.   



The 2008 Comprehensive Plan identified the desire to provide a mix of 
housing opportunities, a pedestrian friendly street environment, non-
homogenous residential and commercial developments, and wanted to 
introduce urban design that would promote the implementation of small 
town design guidelines in order to maximize desirability and aesthetic 
appeal throughout the Town.   
 
The applicant is requesting a major waiver to design standards of the 
TC district.  Approval of the request would allow for a significant change 
to the relative standards, as identified in the district regulations and 
requiring planning and zoning commission and town council approval.  
The proposed development generally meets the overall intent and 
design standards of the TC district with the following exception: 
 

 Block Face – the ordinance requires 80 percent of the primary 
façade to be located within 15 feet of the right-of-way or build-
to line. 

 
The structure fronting Eldorado Parkway on the subject property was 
originally approved under LC zoning where it conformed to the relative 
area, yard, and bulk requirements.  Furthermore, the adjacent property 
to the east was granted the same waiver in order to preserve an 
existing 36-inch heritage tree.  Staff is concerned shifting the building 
closer to Eldorado Parkway to meet the TC district standards would 
create an incompatible form of development between the two sites 
potentially disturbing cross traffic flows and the general design 
aesthetic of the area.    

   
Staff recommends approval of the applicant’s request. RECOMMENDATION: 

 
TOWN CONTACT: Skye Thibodeaux – Planning & Community Services Manager 

Jason Laumer, P.E., CFM – Director of Development Services 
John Byrum - Planner 
 

ATTACHMENTS: Location Map 
Site Plan 
Elevations 
Floor Plan 
 

  
 



Crestlake
D

r

L
a

k
e

Trail D
r

P
arkside D

r

O
akridge D

r

S
hady

B
end

C
ir

H
il ls

id
e

B
e

a
c

h
D

r

S
 H

ill
s
id

e
 D

r

W
oodhaven

D
r

Willow Lake Dr

E E
ld

ora
do P

kw
y

This map is the property of the Town of Little Elm,
and is not to be reproduced by any means, mechanical

or digital, without written consent of the Town.
This product is for informational purposes and may not have

been prepared for or be suitable for legal, engineering, or
surveying purposes.  It does not represent an on-the-ground
survey and represents only the approximate relative location

of property boundaries.

Location Map
Lakeshore Plaza Montessori

Town of Little Elm
Denton County, TX
Date: 5/22/2017 F

M
 4

2
3

HWY 380 E

T
E

E
L
 P

K
W

Y

FISH TRAP RD

KING RD

F
M

 1
3
8

5

N
A
Y

L
O

R
 R

D

F
M

 2
9
3

1

Rockhill P
kwy

F
M

 4
2
4

W
 E

LDORADO
 P

KW
Y

W
IT

T
 R

D

HWY 380

L
O

B
O

 L
N

R
O

S
E

 L
N

WALKER LN

WOODLAKE PKWY

G
A

M
M

O
N

 R
D

MARTOP RD

MCC ORMICK RD

D
O
E
 C

R
E
EK

 R
D

ELDORADO PKWY

H
A

W
K

IN
S

 L
N

O
A

K
 G

R
O

V
E

 P
K

W
Y

W ELDORADO PKWY

FISH TRAP RD

Image Source: Google 2016

Legend
Roads

Lakeshore Plaza Montessori

ETJ

Town Limit

0 410205
Feet



L

A

N

D

S

C

.

UP AT 1:12 MAX

RAMP
RAMP

NOTES:

1.  ALL PARKING

STRIPING TO BE

COLORED: WHITE

2. RAMPS TO BE

INTEGRALLY COLORED:

"ADOBE"

LANDSC.

L
A

N
D

S
C

.

SIDEWALK

S

I
D

E

W

A

L

K

RAMP RAMP

UP AT 1:12 MAX

BIKE RACK

UP AT 1:12 MAX

99.8

99.8

99.3

99.7

RAMP

UP AT 1:12 MAX

FU
TU

RE
 H

ILL
SID

E D
RIV

E

R.O
.W

.

R.O
.W

.

GATE

BUILDING 'A'

LOT 2:
1.780 ACRES

TOTAL  LOT 1:
4.159 ACRES

9,970 SQ.FT. RETAIL LEVEL 1

NOTES:

1.  ALL PARKING

STRIPING TO BE

COLORED: WHITE

2. RAMPS TO BE

INTEGRALLY COLORED:

"ADOBE"

EXIST PP

LANDSC.

L
A

N
D

S
C

.

LANDSC.

LANDSC.

SIDEWALK

SIDEWALK

W
A

L
K

.

SIDEWALK

LOT 2, BLK A

1.780 AC.

BEHZAD JAFARRI

#2016-26067

O.P.R.D.C.T.

ZONING:  TC

10' P. U. E.

PROPOSED

10' P. U. E.

PROPOSED

WATERLINE EASEMENT

PROPOSED

W. ELDORADO PARKWAY  -  F. M. ROAD NO. 720

EXISTING USE:

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

&
 
U

.
 
E

.

2
6
'
 
F

.
 
L
.
,
 
M

.
 
A

.

PROPOSED

& U. E.

26' F. L., M. L.

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

&
 
U

.
 
E

.

2
6
'
 
F

.
 
L
.
,
 
M

.
 
A

.

(R. O. W. VARIES)

EXISTING USE:

VACANT

MIXED USE

PROPOSED USE:

APPROVED USE:

VACANT

R.O.W. DEDICATION:
0.182 AC.

LOT 1, BLK A

4.159 AC.

MADHI SHEKARI

#2016-26067

O.P.R.D.C.T.

ZONING:  TC

BUILDING 'B'

LEVL1 :7,500 SQ.FT. RETAIL

+ 433 SQ.FT. CONDO.

PROPOSED USE: MIXED USE

1

0

'

 

B

.

L

.

 

/

 

L

A

N

D

S

C

.

P
O

R
T

E

C
O

C
H

E
R

E

-
C

A

R

E

D

A

Y

-

F

L

O

O

D

 

P

L

A

I

N

F

L

O

O

D

 

P

L

A

I

N

F

L

O

O

D

 

P

L

A

I

N

FLOOD PLAIN

OUTDOOR PLAY AREA  'A' = 1,800 SQ.FT.

D
R

O
P

-O
F

F

C
H

IL
D

F

E

N

C

E

F

E

N

C

E

F

E

N

C

E

F

E

N

C

E

EXIT GATE /

FIRE-ACCESS

E

X

I

T

 

G

A

T

E

 

/

F

I

R

E

-

A

C

C

E

S

S

1

0

'

 

B

.

L

.

 

/

 

L

A

N

D

S

C

.

1

0

'

 

B

.

L

.

 

/

 

L

A

N

D

S

C

.

PLAYGRD.

F

L
O

O

D

 
P

L
A

I
N

F

L
O

O

D

 
P

L
A

I
N

2,000 SQ.F.T RETAIL MEZZANINE

1,000 SQ.F.T PRIVATE OFFICE MEZZANINE

TOTAL = 12,970 SQ.FT.

LEVL 2 :SEVEN (7) CONDO. UNITS

LEVL 3 :SEVEN (7) CONDO. UNITS

LEVL 4 :FOUR (4) CONDO. UNITS

+ AMENITY DECK

 OFFICE / ACCESS

BUILDING 'C'

5,970 SQ.FT. CHILD CARE CENTER

PROPOSED USE:

PRVT. GARAGE

+ STORG.

CONDO.

80 STUDENTS

CONDO.

ENTRANCE

RAMP

B
E

N
C

H

RAMP

TO BE REMOVED

BLDG. 'A'

LOADING / EXIT #1

BLDG. 'A'

LOADING / EXIT #2

NOTE: BLDG. 'A' TO HAVE SHARED

EXIT CORRIDOR AS NEEDED

-
C

A

R

E

D

A

Y

-

C

A

R

E

D

A

Y

C

A

R

E

D

A

Y

C

A

R

E

D

A

Y

C

A

R

E

D

A

Y

C

A

R

E

D

A

Y

C

A

R

E

D

A

Y

C

A

R

E

D

A

Y

C

A

R

E

D

A

Y

C

A

R

E

D

A

Y

C

A

R

E

D

A

Y

CONDOS

(2 SPACES)

CONDOS

(2 SPACES)

CONDOS

(2 SPACES)

CONDOS

(2 SPACES)

CONDOS

(2 SPACES)

CONDOS

(2 SPACES)

CONDOS

(2 SPACES)

CONDOS

(2 SPACES)

CONDOS

(2 SPACES)

RETAIL RETAIL RETAIL RETAIL RETAIL RETAIL RETAIL RETAIL RETAIL RETAIL RETAIL RETAIL

RETAIL RETAIL RETAIL RETAIL RETAIL
RETAIL RETAIL RETAIL RETAIL RETAIL RETAIL RETAIL

RETAIL

RETAIL

RAMP

FENCE

F
E

N
C

E

F
E

N
C

E

G
A

T
E

FENCE

RAMP

RAMP

GATE

CONDO CONDO CONDO CONDO CONDO CONDO CONDO CONDO CONDO CONDO

CONDO CONDO CONDO CONDO CONDO CONDO CONDO CONDO CONDO CONDO CONDO

PRVT. GARAGE

+ STORG.

PRVT. GARAGE

+ STORG.

PRVT. GARAGE

+ STORG.

PRVT. GARAGE

+ STORG.

PRVT. GARAGE

+ STORG.

PRVT. GARAGE

+ STORG.

PRVT. GARAGE

+ STORG.

PRVT. GARAGE

+ STORG.

EXIT GATE /

FIRE-ACCESS

OUTDOOR PLAY AREA  'B' = 5,800 SQ.FT.

20'X20'  GAZEBO

FENCE

RAMP

CONNECT TO CITY

10 X COVERED CONDO. SPACES

11 X COVERED CONDO. SPACES

OUTDOOR CONDO.

AMENITY AREA

ADMIN.

RETAIL RETAIL

RETAIL

RETAIL

RETAIL

R

E

T

A

I
L

RETAIL RETAIL RETAIL RETAIL

D
A

Y
-

RETAIL RETAIL RETAIL RETAIL

C
A

R
E

D
A

Y
-

C
A

R
E

D
A

Y
-

C
A

R
E

D
A

Y
-

C
A

R
E

D
A

Y
-

C
A

R
E

P

A

V

E

D

 

W

A

L

K

P

A

V

E

D

 

W

A

L

K

W
A

L
K

.

B
E

N
C

H

B
E

N
C

H

TRAIL

LANDSC. BUFFER

DUMPSTER TO BE

SCREENED BY 6'

MASONRY WALLS PER

TOWN STANDARDS

DUMPSTER TO BE

SCREENED BY 6'

MASONRY WALLS PER

TOWN STANDARDS

NOTE: ALL PLAYGROUND EQUIPMNET MUST BE

COMMERCIAL GRADE

NOTE: ALL PLAYGROUND EQUIPMNET MUST BE

COMMERCIAL GRADE

LOADING LOADING 

FINAL DESIGN PER CIVIL

PROPOSED NEW TURN LANE

STAMPED  WELCOME  MAT

INTEGRALLY

STAMPED CONC.

INTEGRALLY

STAMPED CONC.

WROUGHT IRON FENCE:

PANEL SIZE: 72" X 72"

PICKETS: 1" X 1"

RAILS:  1.50" X 1.50"

POSTS: 2.25" X 2.25"

SURFACE: PRE-GALVANIZED OR

POWDER-COATED; PAINT BLACK

TYP. PROPERTY FENCES:

FENCE

FENCE

FENCE

F
E

N
C

E

F.D.C. AND    FH PER

CIVIL

F.D.C. PER

CIVIL

F.D.C. PER

CIVIL

FH. PER CIVIL

Project #:  1615.00

Lakeshore Plaza
Mixed Use

'Building B & C'

Eldorado Pkwy.
and Hillside Dr.

Little Elm, TX
75206

06-09-17

City Review 05-16-17

PERMIT ONLY

A0.1

SITE
PLAN

(SP15)



A2.1

EXTERIOR
ELEVATION

3/16" = 1'-0'

01

Front Elevation-Building 'B'

T
 R

 I
 U

 N
 E

  
 a

 r
 c

 h
 i
 t

 e
 c

 t
 u

 r
 e

  
p
l
l
c

9
9
1
2
 S

o
u
t
h
g
a
t
e
 d

r
. 
m
c
k
in

n
e
y
, 
t
x
 7

5
0
7
0

P
: 
9
7
2
-3

6
3
-6

1
5
5
  
F
: 
2
1
4
-4

3
1
-4

2
9
9

w
w
w
.w

e
s
g
u
s
t
in

a
r
c
h
it

e
c
t
u
r
e
.c

o
m

Project #:  1615.00

Lakeshore Plaza
Mixed Use

'Building B & C'

Eldorado Pkwy.
and Hillside Dr.

Little Elm, TX
75206

Rev #1 11-06-14
Rev #2 01-27-15

Design 3  07-27-15

05-16-17

Permit 11-25-15

Rev#1 City Comments
02-05-16

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

OR REGULATORY
APPROVAL

City Review 05-16-17

PERMIT ONLY



A1.1

OVERALL
PLANS

1/8" = 1'-0'

01

Levels 2 and 3 Condominiums

T
 R

 I
 U

 N
 E

  
 a

 r
 c

 h
 i
 t

 e
 c

 t
 u

 r
 e

  
p
l
l
c

9
9
1
2
 S

o
u
t
h
g
a
t
e
 d

r
. 
m
c
k
in

n
e
y
, 
t
x
 7

5
0
7
0

P
: 
9
7
2
-3

6
3
-6

1
5
5
  
F
: 
2
1
4
-4

3
1
-4

2
9
9

w
w
w
.w

e
s
g
u
s
t
in

a
r
c
h
it

e
c
t
u
r
e
.c

o
m

Project #:  1615.00

Lakeshore Plaza
Mixed Use

'Building B & C'

Eldorado Pkwy.
and Hillside Dr.

Little Elm, TX
75206

Rev #1 11-06-14
Rev #2 01-27-15

Design 3  07-27-15

05-16-17

Permit 11-25-15

Rev#1 City Comments
02-05-16

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

OR REGULATORY
APPROVAL

City Review 05-16-17

PERMIT ONLY

1/8" = 1'-0'

02

Levels 4 Condominiums



EXHIBIT F



















EXHIBIT G

































































Lakeshore Plaza and Benny Property Timeline:

2013 2016 2017 2018 2019

2. March 4, 2016 
Matt Shekari purchased 

property

1. April 6, 2013
3 year SUP Approved 

for Batch Plan for 
Eldorado Parkway

3. August 10, 2016
Plat Filed for Lakeshore 

Plaza as two lots
5. Feb. 7, 2017

City initiated zoning 
expanding the Town 
Center District which 

include these properties.

6. Feb. 7, 2017
SUP for Commercial 

Amusement denied by 
Council had been tabled 

3 times.

9. June 20, 2017
Major Waiver request 

approved by Council to 
the Block Face 

requirements Lot 1.  
Request expired per 

ordinance on June 20, 
2019.

10. July 18, 2017
SUP request for child 

care center approved by 
Council.  Expired Jan. 

18, 2018.

8. June 20, 2017
Major Waiver request 

approved by Council to 
the required retail 

construction and the 
residential at-grade 

requirements for Lot 2. 
Request expired per 

ordinance on June 20, 
2019.

11. August 15, 2017
Council amendment the 
zoning ordinance and 

converted Town Center 
to Lakefront District.

7. March 7, 2017
Major Waiver request 

approved by Council to 
the Block Face 

requirement for Lot 2.  

4. Sept. 2, 2016
Benny purchased Lot 2 

from Matt Shekari.

12. August 7, 2018
SUP request for child 

care center approved by 
Council along with the 
Developers Agreement 

for Hillside Beach 
Construction.  

2020

13. June 20, 2019
All previous plans and 

requests expired on this 
date per Lakefront 

District Ord.

14. April 24, 2020
Benny sold Lot 2 to Tekri

Enterprises Inc.

15. Dec. 1, 2020
Council Request to 

tabled Planned 
Development Request.

Lot 2 (“Benny”):

Lot 1 (Matt Shekari):



  

Town Council Meeting
 
Date: 01/05/2021
Agenda Item #: 6. A. 
Department: Administrative Services

Strategic Goal: Ensure excellence in public services while keeping up with the growth in the
community

Staff Contact: Caitlan Biggs, Managing Director of Strategic Services

AGENDA ITEM:
Consider Action to Approve the Minutes from the December 15, 2020, Regular Meeting.

DESCRIPTION:
The minutes from the December 15, 2020, regular meeting are attached for approval.

BUDGET IMPACT:
There is no budget impact for this item.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends approval.

Attachments
Minutes - December 15, 2020 Regular Meeting 



Minutes 

Town of Little Elm 

100 W Eldorado Parkway 

Little Elm, Texas 75068 

214-975-0404 

http://www.littleelm.org 

 

 

VIRTUAL WORKSHOP AND REGULAR TOWN COUNCIL MEETING 

Tuesday December 15, 2020- 6:00 p.m. 

 

Present: David Hillock Mayor, Neil Blais Mayor Pro-tem, Council members Nick 

Musteen, Tony Singh, Lisa Norman, and Michael McClellan. Absent: Council member 

Curtis Cornelious. Staff: Robert Brown, Matt Mueller, Joe Florentino, Caitlan Biggs, Kelly 

Wilson, Dee Dee Hale, Jennette Espinosa, Fred Gibbs, Jason Shroyer, Chad Hyde, Paul 

Rust, Wesley Brandon, Skye Thibodeaux, and Rodney Harrison.  

 

 

1. NOTICE REGARDING PUBLIC PARTICIPATION AND TOWN 

COUNCIL/TOWN STAFF ATTENDANCE.  

 

2. Call to Order Council Work Shop at 6:00 p.m. 

 

a. Invocation: Council Member Curtis Cornelious 

 

b. Pledge to Flags. 

 

c. Items to be withdrawn from Consent Agenda. None 

 

d. Emergency Items if posted. None 

 

e. Request by the Town Council for items to be placed on a future agenda for discussion, 

and recognition of excused absences.   

 

f. Update on Alarm Permit Program. Pulled – no discussion 

g. Discuss the Rebranding of the Little Elm Community Recreation Center to The Rec 

at The Lakefront™. Pulled – no discussion  

h. Presentation of monthly updates from department heads: Matt Mueller gave a recap 

of the Christmas Parade/Christmas at the Beach event with the addition of Magic 

of Lights.  

 

i. Council to highlight items on the agenda needing further discussion or comments prior 

to the regular session. None 

 

3. Roll Call/Call to Order Regular Town Council Immediately Following Council Workshop. 

http://www.littleelm.org/


 

4. Presentation for Ron Trees for his service on the DCTA Board of Directors. Mayor 

Hillock presented a plaque of recognition for Ron Trees for service. 

5. Public Comments:  None 

 

6. Upon motion by Council Member Cornelious and second by Council Member 

Musteen, the members voted 7-0 to approve the Consent Agenda as presented: 

 

a. Approve Minutes from the December 1, 2020, Regular Meeting. 

b. Approve Resolution No. 1215202001 Opposing Any Further Alignment of U.S. 

Hwy 380 that Expands the Right-Of-Way Along the Corridor between F.M. 423 

and F.M. 720, within the Town Of Little Elm, Denton County, Texas; and 

Providing for an Immediate Effective Date. 

c. Consider Action on Resolution Number 1215202002 suspending the January 23, 

2021, effective date of CoServ Gas, LTD. required increase to permit the Town 

time to study the request and to establish reasonable rates; approving cooperation 

with other cities in the CoServ Gas, Ltd. service area; hiring legal and consulting 

services to negotiate with the company and direct any necessary litigation and 

appeals; authorizing intervention in docket OS-20-00005136 at the Railroad 

Commission; requiring reimbursement of Cities’ rate case expenses; finding that 

the meeting at which the resolution is passed is open to the public as required by 

law; requiring notice of this resolution toe the Company and legal counsel. 

d. Approve Resolution 1215202003 approving an amendment to the Town's 

Investment Policy; authorized broker/dealers; recording the annual review; and an 

effective date. 

e. Approve Resolution No. 1215202005 Approving the Resolution of the Board of 

Directors of Little Elm Economic Development Corporation Authorizing the First 

Amendment to Promissory Note and Loan Agreement No. 6863 and Resolving 

other Matters Incident and Related Thereto. 

f. Approve the 2020–2021 Interlocal Cooperation Agreement allowing the Town of 

Little Elm to extend Ambulance Services to Denton County. 

g. Approve the 2020–2021 Interlocal Cooperation Agreement allowing the Town of 

Little Elm to extend Fire Protection Services to Denton County. 

h. Approve an Agreement between the Town of Little Elm and Patricia Adams for 

services as presiding Municipal Judge and Magistrate of the Little Elm Municipal 

Court for a period of two years. 

i. Authorization of Task Order with Parkhill/Schrickel Rollins for the FM 423 

Green Ribbon Landscaping Project 



j. Authorization to execute Change Order #2 to D&S Engineering Labs, LLC for 

Construction Materials Testing associated with the Little Elm Aquatic Center 

Project. 

k. Authorization of Task Order with Teague Nall and Perkins, Inc. for the King 

Road Expansion Project. 

l. Authorization to execute Change Order #1 to Hidell and Associates Architects, 

Inc. for the Town Building Expansion Project. 

7. Public Hearing to consider amending an Ordinance of the Town Council of the Town of 

Little Elm, Texas, Amending Ordinance Nos.1406, 1371, 1310, 1258, 1255 Concerning 

Reinvestment Zone Number Five, Town of Little Elm, Texas, Established Pursuant to 

Chapter 311 of the Texas Tax Code, by Amending and Changing the Boundaries and 

Size of Tax Increment Financing Reinvestment Zone Number Five, Town of Little Elm, 

Texas, by Adding an Approximately 5.001 Acres of Land to Reinvestment Zone Number 

Five, Town of Little Elm, Texas, as Described and/or Depicted in Exhibit A of this 

Ordinance, to Provide that Reinvestment Zone Number Five, Town of Little Elm, Texas 

Now Consists of 948.501 Acres of Land, as Described and/or Depicted in Exhibit B of 

this Ordinance, Which is Attached Hereto and Incorporated Herein for All Purposes; 

Providing a Severability Clause; and Providing for an Effective Date. 

a. Staff Report: EDC Execeutive Director Jennette Espinosa stated that this item 

expands the boundaries of TIRZ #5. 

b. Open Public Hearing: 6:10pm 

c. Receive Public Comments: None 

d. Close Public Hearing: 6:10pm 

e. Upon motion by Mayor Pro Tem Blais and second by Council Member 

Cornelious, the members voted 7-0 to adopt Ordinance No. 1584 of the Town of 

Little Elm, Texas, Amending Ordinance Nos.1406, 1371, 1310, 1258, 1255 

Concerning Reinvestment Zone Number Five, Town of Little Elm, Texas, 

Established Pursuant to Chapter 311 of the Texas Tax Code, by Amending and 

Changing the Boundaries and Size of Tax Increment Financing Reinvestment Zone 

Number Five, Town of Little Elm, Texas, by Adding an Approximately 5.001 

Acres of Land to Reinvestment Zone Number Five, Town of Little Elm, Texas, as 

Described and/or Depicted in Exhibit A of this Ordinance, to Provide that 

Reinvestment Zone Number Five, Town of Little Elm, Texas Now Consists of 

948.501 Acres of Land, as Described and/or Depicted in Exhibit B of this 

Ordinance, Which is Attached Hereto and Incorporated Herein for All Purposes; 

Providing a Severability Clause; and Providing for an Effective Date. 

8. Public Hearing to consider an Ordinance of the Town of Little Elm, Texas, Amending 

Ordinance Nos. 1256, 1259, 1311, And 1410, by Approving an Amendment to the 

Reinvestment Zone Number Five, Town of Little Elm, Texas, Final Project and 



Financing Plan, by Increasing the Size of Tax Increment Financing Reinvestment Zone 

Number Five, Town of Little Elm, to a Total of 948.501 Acres and Making Amendments 

Related Thereto; Providing a Severability Clause; Providing a Repealer Clause; and 

Providing for an Immediate Effective Date. 

a. Staff Report: EDC Execeutive Director Jennette Espinosa stated that this item 

amends the final project and financing plan to include the increase in 

boundaries for TIRZ #5. 

b. Open Public Hearing: 6:12pm 

c. Receive Public Comments: None 

d. Close Public Hearing: 6:12pm 

e. Upon motion by Council Member Singh and second by Council Member 

McClellan, the members voted 7-0 to adopt Ordinance No. 1585 of the Town 

of Little Elm, Texas, Amending Ordinance Nos. 1256, 1259, 1311, And 1410, 

by Approving an Amendment to the Reinvestment Zone Number Five, Town 

of Little Elm, Texas, Final Project and Financing Plan, by Increasing the Size 

of Tax Increment Financing Reinvestment Zone Number Five, Town of Little 

Elm, to a Total of 948.501 Acres and Making Amendments Related Thereto; 

Providing a Severability Clause; Providing a Repealer Clause; and Providing 

for an Immediate Effective Date. 

9. Public Hearing for a Resolution of the Town of Little Elm, Texas Authorizing and 

Creating the Spiritas Ranch Public Improvement District in accordance with Chapter 372 

of the Texas Local Government Code.  

a. Staff Report: EDC Execeutive Director Jennette Espinosa stated that this 

item creates a PID for TIRZ #5. 

b. Open Public Hearing: 6:14pm 

c. Receive Public Comments: None 

d. Close Public Hearing: 6:14pm 

e. Upon motion by Council Member Cornelious and second by Mayor Pro 

Tem Blais, the members voted 7-0 to table Resolution 1215202006 of the 

Town of Little Elm, Texas Authorizing and Creating the Spiritas Ranch 

Public Improvement District in accordance with Chapter 372 of the Texas 

Local Government Code.  

10. Public Hearing regarding a request to rezone approximately 4.4 acres of land from 

Lakefront LF) w/Specific Use Permit for Child Care to Planned Development-Lakefront 

(PD-LF) to allow for the use of Mixed-Use and Commercial with modified development 



standards, generally located at the southwest corner of Eldorado Parkway and Hillside 

Drive, within Little Elm's town limits. 

a. Staff Report:  

b. Continue Public Hearing:  

c. Receive Public Comments: 

d. Close Public Hearing: Upon motion by Council Member McClellan and 

second by Council Member Norman, the members voted 7-0 to continue 

the Public Hearing until January 5, 2021. 

e. Discussion and Action to adopt Ordinance No. 1581 an Ordinance of the Town 

of Little Elm, Texas amending the Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance of the 

Town of Little Elm, Texas, herefore amended, by rezoning approximately 4.4 

acres of land from Lakefront (LF) with Specific Use Permit for Child Care 

Center to Planned Development-Lakefront (PD-LF) with Specific Use Permit 

for Child Care Center to allow for the use of commercial and mixed-use with 

modified development standards, generally located at the southwest corner of 

Hillside Drive and Eldorado Parkway; correcting the official zoning map; 

providing a saving clause; providing a severability clause; providing for a 

penalty; and providing for an effective date. No Action 

f. Discussion and Action to approve the Development Agreement for the 

Lakeshore Plaza Planned Development between the Town of Little Elm and 

Matt Mahdi Shekari with Lakeshore Plaza and authorize the Town Manager to 

execute amendment for the same subject to the Planned Development 

Ordinance being approved. No Action 

11. Public Hearing to Discuss an Ordinance of the Town Of Little Elm, Texas Amending 

the Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance of the Town of Little Elm, Texas, Herefore 

Amended, by Rezoning Approximately 108.0 Acres of Land from Community Facilities 

(Cf) to Planned Development-Community Facilities (Pd-Cf) to Allow for an Expansion 

to the High School Campus and Stadium with Modified Development Standards, 

Generally Located at the Southeast Corner Of US 380 and Navo Road; Correcting the 

Official Zoning Map;  Providing a Savings Clause, Providing a Severability Clause; 

Providing a Penalty; and Providing for an Effective Date. 

a. Staff Report: Director of Development Services Fred Gibbs gave a 

background of the request, an overview of the existing 2014 agreement, 

and reasons for the PD. Additional informatino is included in the attached 

presentation. Mayor Hillock asked to create an exception to the PD that 

accessory structures will not be added in front of the school’s build line 

along 380 or Navo Road. The applicant was present and did not have an 

issue with this condition being added to the motion. Additional 

information is included in the attached presentation. 



b. Open Public Hearing: 6:26pm 

c. Receive Public Comments: None 

d. Close Public Hearing: 6:26pm.  

e. Upon motion by Council Member Musteen and second by Mayor Pro Tem 

Blais, the members voted 7-0 to approve Ordinance No. 1583 of the Town Of 

Little Elm, Texas Amending the Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance of the Town 

of Little Elm, Texas, Herefore Amended, by Rezoning Approximately 108.0 

Acres of Land from Community Facilities (Cf) to Planned Development-

Community Facilities (Pd-Cf) to Allow for an Expansion to the High School 

Campus and Stadium with Modified Development Standards, Generally Located 

at the Southeast Corner Of US 380 and Navo Road; Correcting the Official 

Zoning Map; Providing a Savings Clause, Providing a Severability Clause; 

Providing a Penalty; and Providing for an Effective Date adding language that 

states that no accessory structure shall be placed in front of the build line along 

380 or Navo Road.  

 

12.  Council will convene in Executive Session pursuant to Texas Government Code at 6:27 

p.m. 

 

Executive Session with Town Attorney under Texas Government Code Section 551.071 

(Consultation with Attorney) to discuss the COVID-19 pandemic and municipal authority to 

respond to the COVID-19 outbreak. 

 

 Section 551.071 for private consultation with the Town Attorney to seek legal advice with 

respect to pending and contemplated litigation and including all matters on this agenda to 

which the Town Attorney has a duty under the Texas Rules of Discipline and Professional 

conduct regarding confidential communication with the Town Council. 

 

 Section 551.072 to discuss certain matters regarding real property. 

 

 Section 551.074 of the Texas Government Code to discuss and deliberate personal 

matters to evaluate performance duties, of a public officer or employee(s).  

o Town Secretary 

 Section 551.076 to discuss security matters. 

 

 Section 551.087 to discuss Economic Development. 

 

13. Reconvene into Open Session: Discussion and consideration to take any action necessary 

as the result of the Executive Session. 

 



Reconvene into open session at 7:52 p.m. to discuss and take action, if deemed appropriate, 

on the COVID-19 pandemic and the Town’s response thereto, including the consideration of 

an emergency declaration ordinance. No Action Taken 

 

 Section 551.071 for private consultation with the Town Attorney to seek legal advice with 

respect to pending and contemplated litigation and including all matters on this agenda to 

which the Town Attorney has a duty under the Texas Rules of Discipline and Professional 

conduct regarding confidential communication with the Town Council. No Action Taken 

 

 Section 551.072 to discuss certain matters regarding real property. No Action Taken 

 

 Section 551.074 of the Texas Government Code to discuss and deliberate personal 

matters to evaluate performance duties, of a public officer or employee(s).  

o Town Secretary No Action Taken 

 Section 551.076 to discuss security matters. No Action Taken 

 

 Section 551.087 to discuss Economic Development.   No Action Taken 

 

14. Adjourned Work Shop and Regular Meeting at 7:52 p.m. 

Respectfully, 

 

 

 

________________________  

Town Secretary  

 

Passed and approved this 5th day of January 2021. 



I N T E G R I T Y  | C U S T O M E R  S E R V I C E  | E F F I C I E N C Y  | I N N O V A T I O N

the
Town of Little Elm
D E C E M B E R 1 5 ,  2 0 2 0  

T O W N  C O U N C I L  M E E T I N G



PD REQUEST – 20-PD-
007
Lakeshore Plaza



Recommendation

Staff recommends the item be tabled to the 
January 5, 2020 Town Council meeting.



Development 
Agreement
Lakeshore Plaza



Recommendation

Staff recommends the item be tabled to the 
January 5, 2020 Town Council meeting.



PD REQUEST – 20-PD-009
BRASWELL HIGH SCHOOL 
EXPANSION



Aerial



Current 
Zoning & 
Land Use

Current Zoning:
Community Facilities (CF)

Primary Land Use:
High School & Assembly



2014 
Agreement

2014 Agreement Overview:

• September 16, 2014 – Denton ISD and Town executed a development 
agreement.

• Terms approved concerning the construction of utilities and the 
enhancing Navo Road.

• Agreement adopted a site plan for the campus.  The site plan indicated 
future expansions of both the school and stadium.

• Staff discovered a PD request would be required to include agreement 
details and the current request.

• Future expansion shown in the 2014 agreement does not match the 
current request specifically the stadium expansion



Reasons 
for 
PD 

Request

Create a PD District that conforms the property to the 2014 
Development Agreement.

• Conforms 9’x18’ parking stalls.
• Parking Ratios 
• Conforms parking lot island spacing requirements.
• Permits accessory structures (process the same as with nonresidential 

structures).
• Adopts associated exhibits.

 Additional request not show in 2014 Development Agreement. 

• The request has a larger expansion than originally planned back in 2014 which 
creates a parking shortage per our standards.  Approximately 1,730 spaces due 
to the expansion.  (3,780 required – 2,050 proposed = 1,730 short fall).
• 1 space per four seats.  

• Staff found surrounding cities such as Frisco, Plano, and The Colony do not 
require additional parking for associated “assembly” uses located on school 
campuses.  Required parking totals for school campuses is typically only 
applied to the primary school structure and not stadiums.



Updated 
Site Plan



Updated 
Landscape 

Plan



Elevations 
for the 
School 

Addition



Elevations 
for the 
Stadium 
Expansion



Illustrative
Conceptual 
Renderings



Recommendation

The Planning & Zoning Commission 
recommended approval per staff’s proposed 
stipulations along with providing a 
recommendation that the required amount 
of total parking for the high school campus 
be a minimum of 2050 spaces.



  

Town Council Meeting
 
Date: 01/05/2021
Agenda Item #: 6. B. 
Department: Finance
Strategic Goal: Maintain operational integrity and viability
Staff Contact: Kelly Wilson, Chief Financial Officer

AGENDA ITEM:
Consider Action to Approve an Agreement between the Town of Little Elm and Paul J. Liston, as an
Independent Contractor in the Position of the Little Elm Municipal Court Prosecutor for a One
Year Term and Shall Automatically Renew on October 1st of Each Year Thereafter.

DESCRIPTION:
In an effort to update all contracts, staff has worked with Mr. Liston to provide Town Council a
contract with terms established.  Mr. Liston has served the Town in the capacity of Little Elm
Municipal Court Prosecutor for over 15 years. Mr.Liston agrees to perform services that include
appearing at plea dockets, attorney dockets, juvenile dockets, show cause dockets, code
enforcement dockets, pretrial dockets, trials, trial preparation, witness preparation, subpoena
issuance, filing motions, discovery matters, communications with defendants/attorneys,
communication with town/court staff/police staff, and travel. 

This agreement shall be subject to annual review by Town Council before September 30th and
establishes annual automatic renewals on October 1st of each year until terminated by the Town
or Mr. Liston.

Compensation has been established at the rate of $150.00 per hour plus reasonable expenses with
the ability to amend for compensation adjustments agreed by Town Council in its annual review of
Mr. Liston.

BUDGET IMPACT:
Compensation for services has been budgeted for in the adopted FY 2020-2021 General Fund
operations budget.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends approval.  Brown & Hofmeister, LLP has reviewed contract as to form and
legality.



Attachments
Contract - Little Elm Prosecutor Liston 



  

__________________________________ 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN  

THE TOWN OF LITTLE ELM, TEXAS AND PAUL J. LISTON     Page 1 

THE STATE OF TEXAS  § 

     § PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

§ BETWEEN THE  

§ TOWN OF LITTLE ELM, TEXAS 

§ AND PAUL J. LISTON 

COUNTY OF DENTON  § 

 

 

 This agreement (the “Agreement”) is made by and between the Town of Little Elm, Texas, 

Denton County, Texas (the “Town”), and Paul J. Liston of The Liston Law Firm, P.C. (“Liston”). 
 

RECITALS: 

 

 WHEREAS, the Town desires to engage and retain Liston, as an independent contractor, 

in the position of Little Elm Municipal Court Prosecutor; and 
 

WHEREAS, Liston desires to provide services to the Town as Little Elm Municipal Court 

Prosecutor, on the terms and conditions provided in this Agreement. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in exchange for the mutual covenants set forth herein and other 
valuable consideration, the sufficiency and receipt of which are hereby acknowledged, the Town 
and Liston agree as follows: 

 
SECTION 1.  Scope of Services 

 

The Town hereby engages Liston, and Liston hereby agrees to perform services as the 
Little Elm Municipal Court Prosecutor, for the set fee that appears in Section 3, below, during the 

term herein provided, including appearing at plea dockets, attorney dockets, juvenile dockets, 
show cause dockets, code enforcement dockets, pretrial dockets, trials, trial preparation, witness 

preparation, subpoena issuance, filing motions, discovery matters, communications with 
defendants/attorneys, communication with town/court staff/police staff and travel. 

 

Pursuant to the Texas Code of Criminal Procedure Art. 45.201, Liston shall be designated 
as “Town Attorney” (also referred to as “City Attorney” in said statute) for the Town for purposes 

of prosecution in the municipal court. 
 
Liston agrees to perform all services in accordance with requirements of the State Bar of 

Texas as applicable to court prosecutors in the State of Texas, and to conduct himself in a 
professional demeanor at all times in representing the Town. 

 
Liston agrees not to knowingly undertake any legal matter that would compromise or 

conflict with her duties and responsibilities as the Little Elm Municipal Court Prosecutor or 

otherwise knowingly undertake to represent a client on a legal matter against the Town. 
 

Liston is authorized to employ other attorneys which he deems necessary to perform 
services under this agreement but shall not obligate the Town for any expense in excess of the 
compensation in Section 3 without approval by the Little Elm Town Council. 



  

__________________________________ 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN  

THE TOWN OF LITTLE ELM, TEXAS AND PAUL J. LISTON     Page 2 

 
SECTION 2.  Term 

 
Liston shall provide services to the Town as Little Elm Municipal Court Prosecutor for an 

initial term beginning January 1, 2021 through and including September 30, 2021. This Agreement 
shall be subject to an annual review by the Little Elm Town Council on or before September 30th 
of each year thereafter, and shall automatically renew on October 1st of each year until terminated 

by the Town or Liston. This Agreement and Liston’s appointment herein shall remain at all times 
subject to the Charter and Ordinances of the Town of Little Elm, Texas. The parties recognize that 

Liston, as Little Elm Municipal Court Prosecutor, will serve at the will and pleasure of the Town 
Council. This Agreement shall automatically terminate without notice in the event Liston resigns 
or is removed from office as the Little Elm Municipal Court Prosecutor by the Little Elm Town 

Council.  In the event of resignation or removal from office, Liston shall be paid for his services 
rendered as of the date of termination.  Nothing contained herein shall be construed to limit or 

prohibit the Town Council from removing Liston as the Little Elm Municipal Court Prosecutor or 
terminating this Agreement. 

 

SECTION 3.  Compensation 

 

As an independent contractor, Liston shall not receive any Town benefits which are 
otherwise available to Town of Little Elm employees. 

 

Liston and the Town agree that, in exchange for the services performed and identified in 
the first paragraph of Section 1, above, Liston shall be compensated at the rate of $150.00 per hour, 

plus reasonable expenses billed in 6-minute increments, payable monthly. This Agreement shall 
be automatically amended to reflect any compensation adjustments agreed to by the Little Elm 
Town Council in its annual review of Liston.  

 
SECTION 4.  Notice 

 

Any notice required or permitted to be delivered hereunder shall be deemed received when 
sent by United States mail, postage prepaid, certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to 

the Town or Liston, as the case may be, at the address set forth below the signature of the party. 
 

SECTION 5.  Entire Agreement 

 

This Agreement constitutes the sole and only agreement of the parties and supersedes any 

prior understandings or written or oral agreements between the parties respecting this subject 
matter. 

 
SECTION 6.  Successor and Assigns 

 

This Agreement shall be binding on and inure to the benefit of the parties to it and their 
respective heirs, executors, administrators, legal representatives, successors, and permitted 

assigns. 
 
 



  

__________________________________ 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN  

THE TOWN OF LITTLE ELM, TEXAS AND PAUL J. LISTON     Page 3 

 

SECTION 7.  Governing Law 

 

This Agreement is governed by the laws of the State of Texas, and venue for any action 

concerning this Agreement shall be in Denton County, Texas. 
 
SECTION 8.  Amendment 

 

This Agreement may be amended by the mutual written agreement of the parties. 

 

SECTION 9.  Legal Construction 

 

In the event any one or more of the provisions contained in this Agreement shall for any 
reason be held to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any respect by a court of competent 

jurisdiction, such invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision, and 
the Agreement shall be construed as if such invalid, illegal, or unenforceable provision had never 
been contained in it. 

 
SECTION 10. Independent Contractor 

 

It is understood and agreed by and between the parties that Liston, in satisfying the 
conditions of this Agreement, is acting independently, and that the Town does not assume any 

responsibility or liability to any third party in connection with these actions.  All services to be 
performed by Liston pursuant to this Agreement shall be in the capacity of an independent 

contractor only, and not as an agent or employee of the Town.  Liston shall supervise the 
performance of his services and shall be entitled to control the manner and means by which his 
services are to be performed, subject to the terms of this Agreement.   

 
SECTION 11. Professional Development 

The Town agrees to budget and to pay the reasonable travel and subsistence expenses of 
Liston to enable him to attend ongoing educational courses, institutes, and seminars that pertain to 

his duties as the Town Prosecutor; however, such expenditures shall be approved in advance by 
the Town. 

SECTION 12. Indemnification 

 

The Town shall make such provisions in each annual budget to indemnify Liston from any 

claims or causes of action brought by third parties based on Liston’s performance of his official or 
unofficial duties hereunder, but only in the case wherein Liston is acting in an “official capacity,” 

as such is defined by Texas law. The Town may choose to effectuate such indemnity in the form 
of an official municipal ordinance or through the purchase of public officials’ insurance coverage. 
However, in any case, the Town shall not be required to indemnify Liston for any intentional acts, 

acts outside the course and scope of Liston’s contracted services, or in any amounts in excess of 
the Town’s statutory or constitutional limits, sovereign immunity limits, or tort claims limits. 

 
 



__________________________________ 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN  

THE TOWN OF LITTLE ELM, TEXAS AND PAUL J. LISTON Page 4 

SECTION 13. Effective Date 

This Agreement shall become effective as of January 1, 2021. 

EXECUTED this 5th day of January, 2021. 

PAUL J. LISTON TOWN OF LITTLE ELM, TEXAS 

By: By: 

Paul J. Liston David Hillock, Mayor 
Town of Little Elm, Texas 

The Liston Law Firm, P.C. 
Little Elm Municipal Court Prosecutor 

Address:   PO Box 1882 100 W. Eldorado Parkway 
Rowlett, Texas 75030 Little Elm, Texas 75068 

ATTEST: 

By: 

Caitlan Biggs, Interim Town Secretary 
Town Little Elm, Texas 



  

Town Council Meeting
 
Date: 01/05/2021
Agenda Item #: 6. C. 
Department: Administrative Services

Strategic Goal: Ensure excellence in public services while keeping up with the growth in the
community

Staff Contact: Caitlan Biggs, Managing Director of Strategic Services

AGENDA ITEM:
Consider Action to Approve the 2021 Strategic Plan.

DESCRIPTION:
In 2013, the Town partnered with Strategic Government Resources to create and adopt its first
Strategic Plan. This plan consists of six goals with each goal having its own objectives that measure
progress toward the Town's vision of being a distinct and desirable lakeside destination for all
people to live and play while enjoying a safe, vibrant. and welcoming community. 

At its virtual Strategic Planning Meeting on November 14, 2020, Town Council recommended
various changes to the 2019 strategic plan. Attached to this item is the red-line version with those
changes.

BUDGET IMPACT:
There is no budget impact for this item.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends approval.

Attachments
Draft 2021 Strategic Plan - Redline 
Draft 2021 Strategic Plan - Final 



 

Town of Little Elm 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Strategic Vision, Goals, and Objectives 

 

 

Updated 202119 

 

  

 

 

 

 



Town of Little Elm Approved 02/19/2019 
2019 Strategic Vision and Plan Update 

1 

 

Table of Contents 
 

 

 

Town of Little Elm Mission and Vision     Page 2 
 
 
Town of Little Elm Vision Supporting Statements  Page 3   
 
 
Town of Little Elm SWOT Analysis     Page 4 
 
 
Town of Little Elm Strategic Goals     Page 5   
 
 
Town of Little Elm Strategic Goals      Page 6 – 11   
And Long –Term Objectives 
 
 
 



Town of Little Elm Approved 02/19/2019 
2019 Strategic Vision and Plan Update 

2 

 

TOWN OF LITTLE ELM 
MISSION AND VISION 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 

The Mission of the Town of Little Elm is to build on our 
unique lake opportunities and small town charm, 
encourage diverse housing options and business 

opportunities, and provide an unmatched quality of life.

The Town of Little Elm is a distinct and desirable lakeside 
destination for all people to live and play while enjoying a 

safe, vibrant, and welcoming community.

VISION

MISSION



Town of Little Elm Approved 02/19/2019 
2019 Strategic Vision and Plan Update 

3 

 

TOWN OF LITTLE ELM 
VISION SUPPORTING STATEMENTS 
 
Little Elm provides an environment that is:is… 

• Safe 
• Diverse in housing opportunities 
• Inclusive 
 

In a community that possesses… 
• A strong sense of community identity 
• A strong neighborhood connection 
• A strong sense of aesthetics and attention to detail 
• A destination for recreation and leisure activities via a lakefront district and 

potential to utilize shallow-water activities (fishing, canoeing, kayaking, etc.) 
• Economic and business development that serves our residents and takes 

advantage of our commercial corridors  
• Exemplary schoolsStrong partnership with school districts 

 
And provides…: 

• A full range of housing options 
• Services and amenities that are unique to Little Elm (lake and trail system) and 

encouraging an active lifestyle 
• Multiple entertainment and retail options 
• Services and conveniences to meet the needs of our residents 
• Recreational programming for all residents in quality facilities that are safe, 

visually appealing, and comfortable for spectators and participants 
 
Little Elm operates in a way that is…: 

• Known for being friendly and courteous – demonstrates empathy in all 
interactions 

• Easy to do business with – all processes are streamlined; the telephone is 
answered 

• Financially responsible – controls costs and remains opportunistic in pursuing 
projects that promote the vision 

• Cooperative and encouraging in its relationships with community organizations 
and churches 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Town of Little Elm Approved 02/19/2019 
2019 Strategic Vision and Plan Update 

4 

 

SWOT ANALYSIS 
 

Strengths  

 Location and lake access. 

 Residents, Council, and Town 
management are aligned in their desire 
to provide a high-quality and 
streamlined development process. 

 Efficient procedures, systems, and well- 
developed customer service. 

 Key staff has prior municipal 
experience. 

 Access to regional transportation and 
amenities. 

 Centrally located to employment 
centers. 

 Neighborhoods have created a strong 
sense of community. 

 Friendly, cooperative, and supportive 
staff.  

 Good working relationships within Town 
departments, other municipalities, and 
the development community. 

 Unique lakefront amenities. 

 Reputation of Little Elm as a safe place 
to live 

 Powerful sense of community 
 

Opportunities  
• Maximize lake access to create a 

unique recreation opportunity 
• Location of Little Elm is poised for 

continued development. 
• Undeveloped and underdeveloped 

property provides as “blank slate” for 
new development and recreational 
opportunities. 

• Enhance community involvement and 
connections as the Town grows – 
enhance and create traditions that 
promote our image and feel. 

• Build on positive relationships in the 
region to take advantage of the 
lessons we can learn from others. 

• U.S. 380 represents an opportunity for 
economic development.  

• The ability to use new and available 
technology to streamline service 
delivery. 

• Capitalize on lunchtime traffic of 
teachers and students for restaurants. 

• Potential of redeveloped Hilltown on 
schools and Town. 

• Current development trajectory for 
Town build-out and resulting 
revenues. 

• Emerging redevelopment window in 
some areas of Town. 

•  

Weaknesses 
• Current construction makes 

transportation difficult. 
• High rate of growth presents challenges 

to maintain our expected level of service 
to residents and the development 
community. 

• High rate of growth presents challenges 
to keep up with infrastructure needs. 

• High rate of retail leakage. 
• No immediate access to major 

iInterstate traffic. 
• Geographical connectivity. 
• Known as a “commuter” community. 
• Commercial area competitiveness.  
• Historical geographic challenges and 

location of key intersections. 
• Transportation infrastructure challenges. 
• Lack of patience for development 

projects.  

Threats  
• Growth of community and demand for 

services exceeding staff’s capacity. 
• Other communities are competing for 

development in the region. 
• Slowdown of growth and build-out.  
• Multiple jurisdictions control U.S. 380. 
• Substandard development standards 

in unincorporated areas.  
• Impact of Hilltown left unresolved 
• Recognize the impacts oin public 

safety with growth. 
• Shifting community priorities as Town 

grows.  
• Ability to remain competitive with 

other organizations for talent. 
• Regulatory and other governmental 

agencies impeding Town priorities or 
implementing mandates.    

 



Town of Little Elm Approved 02/19/2019 
2019 Strategic Vision and Plan Update 

5 

 

TOWN OF LITTLE ELM 
 STRATEGIC GOALS 
 

 Provide a safe and welcoming environment for Little Elm residents and 
visitors: Little Elm will be a community that is safe and welcoming to all who live 
here and visit. A safe and welcoming environment is accomplished through 
upholding a strong sense of community with an engaged residents, maintaining 
clean and aesthetically welcoming corridors and neighborhoods, preserving a low 
crime rate, and continuing to ensure that public safety officials are courteous, 
professional, and ethical while providing equitable service to all.   

 Ensure strong relationships within the community and region: Little Elm will 
strive to ensure positive relationships within the community and region. Strong 
and positive relationships are accomplished by conducting business with a high 
level of integrity, promoting open communication, transparency, partnerships, 
and displaying a high level of courteousness in all of our interactions. We will 
operate with a partner mentality with all entities with which we share a common 
interest. 

 Maximize community recreation and leisure activities: Little Elm will 
maximize recreational and leisure activities for the region. Recreational and 
leisure activities will be provided for a broad range of socio-economic and 
interests groups, focusing on maximizing the unique shoreline recreation 
opportunities on Lewisville Lake.  

 Recreational and leisure activities will be provided for a broad range of socio-
economic and interests groups with the focus set on maximizing the unique 
shoreline recreation opportunities that exist on Lewisville Lake.  

 Maintain operational integrity and viability: Little Elm will ensure the Town’s 
financial and operational processes' integrity and long-term viability. Little Elm’s 
operational and financial soundness will be ensured by maintaining a competitive 
tax rate, aggressively recruiting retail and small business economic development 
prospects, planning for long-term financial obligations, and maintaining a level of 
operational efficiency.  

 Little Elm will ensure the integrity and long-term viability of the Town’s financial 
and operational processes. Little Elm’s operational and financial soundness will 
be ensured by maintaining a competitive tax rate, aggressively recruiting retail 
and small business economic development prospects, planning for long-term 
financial obligations, and maintaining a level of operational efficiency.   

 Promote and expand Little Elm’s identity: Maintain Little Elm’s distinctive look 
and high development standards that provide vibrant, high-quality neighborhoods 
and development. Create a sense of place and brand identity that extends 
beyond our borders. 

 Ensure excellence in public services while keeping up with the growth in 
the community: Little Elm will ensure that high-quality public services are 
maintained by addressing growth needs in infrastructure , and by attracting, 
retaining, equipping, and empowering a workforce that delivers excellent service 
for an excellent value.   

 
 
 



Town of Little Elm Approved 02/19/2019 
2019 Strategic Vision and Plan Update 

6 

 

TOWN OF LITTLE ELM 
STRATEGIC GOALS AND LONG-TERM OBJECTIVES 
 
Provide a safe and welcoming environment for Little Elm residents and visitors: 
Little Elm will be a community that is safe and welcoming to all who live here and visit.  A safe and 
welcoming environment is accomplished through upholding a strong sense of community with an 
engaged residents, maintaining clean and aesthetically welcoming corridors and neighborhoods, 
preserving a low crime rate, and continuing to ensure that public safety officials are courteous, 
professional, and ethical while providing equitable service to all.   
 
Long Term Objectives 

 Maintain safe and effective walkways and roadways. 

 Maintain and expand relationships between the Police Department and resident groups. 

 Develop options for a long-term solution to dispatch. 

 Provide quality community events that attract visitors and facilitate a sense of belonging within the 
community.  

 Provide opportunities for residents to volunteer and be involved toward a common goal.  

 Ensure a strong focus on community-oriented policing, public outreach, and servant leadership. 

 Embrace the diversity of the community and operate in a way that provides equitable service to 
all residents.  

 Develop and implement plans to develop the northwest corner of Town. 

 
 
  



Town of Little Elm Approved 02/19/2019 
2019 Strategic Vision and Plan Update 

7 

 

Ensure strong relationships within the community and region: Little Elm will strive to 

ensure positive relationships within the community and region. Strong and positive relationships are 
accomplished by conducting business with a high level of integrity, promoting open communication, 
transparency, partnerships, and displaying a high level of courteousness in all of our interactions. We will 
operate with a partner mentality with all entities with which we share a common interest. 
 
Long Term Objectives 

 Provide opportunities and methods for residents to be involved in the Town. 

 Operate all Town activities in an open, transparent manner. 

 Maintain strong relationships with LOCALE, neighborhood associations and civic groups. 

 Be an equitable partner in mutual aid to neighboring communities. 

 Maintain a culture of friendly customer service. 

 Continually identify opportunities for regional shared services, expanding them when possible. 

 Operate as a service provider for neighboring communities and districts where possible.   

 Participate in meetings and projects with the North Texas Council of Governments, county, and 
neighboring cities. 

 Promote events for regional participation with our neighbors and maximize cross-promotional 
opportunities for development. 

 Participate in leadership in professional organizations. 

 Explore collaborative opportunities with the three school districts that exist within Town limits. 

 Expand digital services to enhance the ability to access Town government functions online. 

 Maximize social media and communications outreach. 
  



Town of Little Elm Approved 02/19/2019 
2019 Strategic Vision and Plan Update 

8 

 

Maximize community recreation and leisure activities: Little Elm will maximize 

recreational and leisure activities for the region. Recreational and leisure activities will be provided for a 
broad range of socio-economic and interest groups, focusing on maximizing the unique shoreline 
recreation opportunities on Lewisville Lake.  
Little Elm will maximize recreational and leisure activities for the region. Recreational and leisure activities 
will be provided for a broad range of socio-economic and interests groups with the focus set on 
maximizing the unique shoreline recreation opportunities that exist on Lewisville Lake.  
 
Long Term Objectives 

 Maintain a Parks Master Plan. 

 Maintain a mutually beneficial relationship with the Corps of Engineers. 

 Continue development of a Town-wide trail system to provide a link between recreational 
amenities. 

 Provide inclusive recreational opportunities for a wide -variety of socio-economic groups, ages, 
and interests.   

 Utilize new technology and products to provide innovative services and amenities in the Parks 
system. 

 Develop and maximize aquatic center project and other lakefront recreation and leisure 
opportunities. 

 Develop and maintain recreation infrastructure unique to North Texas. 

 Ensure quality of youth sports facilities. 

 Ensure quality of parks maintenance. 

 Maintain positive relationships with user groups. 

 Explore partnership opportunities for lodging and Cottonwood Park development. 

 Conduct a feasibility study and develop a long- term plan for the property purchased adjacent to 
the Rrecreation Ccenter. 

 Complete improvements in Cottonwood Park Phase 1 and remaining phases. 

 Create a plan for enhancements for Little Elm Park. 

 Create a plan to develop park space in future annexations. 

 Create a plan for improvements for the leased property with Little Elm ISD. 
 
 
  



Town of Little Elm Approved 02/19/2019 
2019 Strategic Vision and Plan Update 

9 

 

Maintain operational integrity and viability: Little Elm will ensure the Town's financial and 

operational processes' integrity and long-term viability. Little Elm's operating and financial soundness will 
be ensured by maintaining a competitive tax rate, aggressively recruiting retail and small business 
economic development prospects, planning for long-term financial obligations, and maintaining a level of 
operational efficiency.   
Little Elm will ensure the integrity and long-term viability of the Town’s financial and operational 
processes. Little Elm’s operational and financial soundness will be ensured by maintaining a competitive 
tax rate, aggressively recruiting retail and small business economic development prospects, planning for 
long-term financial obligations, and maintaining a level of operational efficiency.   
 
Long Term Objectives 

 Maintain a competitive tax rate. 

 Ensure that the Town is known for being easy and simple to work with in the development 
process. 

 Maintain and leverage knowledge of unique retail and expanding into North Texas market. 

 Recruit new businesses and encourage future development phases in the Lakefront District. 

 Continue to recruit and attract retail to assure our market share in the region. 

 Target commercial office for recruitment to increase the job base in the community. 

 Target retail and small businesses that serve our residents and the surrounding area. 

 Encourage home based businesses and residents working from home to actively engage in the 
business community. 

 Maintain a strong bond rating and review opportunities to improve going forward. 

 Maintain fleet replacement fund. 

 Work to establish a capital replacement fund for large cost facility maintenance items. 

 Maintain strong reserves. 

 Use fund balance for one-time expenses. 

 Promote a culture that is financially responsible and continually looks for operational efficiencies 
that provide high value. 

  



Town of Little Elm Approved 02/19/2019 
2019 Strategic Vision and Plan Update 

10 

 

Promote and expand Little Elm’s identity: Maintain Little Elm’s distinctive look and high 

development standards that provide vibrant, high-quality neighborhoods and development. Create a 

sense of place and brand identity that extends beyond our borders. 
 
Long Term Objectives 

 Continue the visible branding of Little Elm. 

 Continue to grow the brand identity of the Lakefront District’s brand identity and ensure strong 
marketing and outreach efforts of the area.  

 Maintain a “hometown” feel as the Town continues to grow. 

 Update and maintain the Comprehensive Plan. 

 Maintain neighborhood and commercial integrity. 

 Promote a full range of housing options. 

 Maintain high quality aesthetics for corridors and entry ways. 

 Collaborate with other entities to deliver and promote a unified brand message. 

 Expand regional marketing of Little Elm’s activities. 

 Provide funds to continue gateway signage as expansion continues. 

 Establish consistent standards for design and for building inspection. 

 Pursue a wayfinding signage program throughout the community. 

 
  



Town of Little Elm Approved 02/19/2019 
2019 Strategic Vision and Plan Update 

11 

 

Ensure excellence in public services while keeping up with the growth in the 
community:  Little Elm will ensure that high quality public services are maintained by addressing 

growth needs in infrastructure, and by attracting, retaining, equipping, and empowering a workforce that 
delivers excellent service for an excellent value.   
 
Long Term Objectives 

 Maintain a competitive market-based compensation plan. 

 Offer training to provide employees a culture of continuous learning and development 

opportunities. 

 Maintain a fun and friendly work environment. 

 Promote and maintain a values-based culture of servant leadership. 

 Maintain the Town’s multi-year staffing plan to accommodate growth. 

 Implement a capital replacement plan and fund. 

 Maintain annual maintenance program. 

 Ensure adequate planning when adding new infrastructure. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Town of Little Elm 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Strategic Vision, Goals, and Objectives 

 

 

Updated 2021 

 

  

 

 

 

 



Town of Little Elm Approved 02/19/2019 
2019 Strategic Vision and Plan Update 

1 

 

Table of Contents 
 

 

 

Town of Little Elm Mission and Vision     Page 2 
 
 
Town of Little Elm Vision Supporting Statements  Page 3   
 
 
Town of Little Elm SWOT Analysis     Page 4 
 
 
Town of Little Elm Strategic Goals     Page 5   
 
 
Town of Little Elm Strategic Goals      Page 6 – 11   
And Long –Term Objectives 
 
 
 



Town of Little Elm Approved 02/19/2019 
2019 Strategic Vision and Plan Update 

2 

 

TOWN OF LITTLE ELM 
MISSION AND VISION 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 

The Mission of the Town of Little Elm is to build on our 
unique lake opportunities and small town charm, 
encourage diverse housing options and business 

opportunities, and provide an unmatched quality of life.

The Town of Little Elm is a distinct and desirable lakeside 
destination for all people to live and play while enjoying a 

safe, vibrant, and welcoming community.

VISION

MISSION



Town of Little Elm Approved 02/19/2019 
2019 Strategic Vision and Plan Update 

3 

 

TOWN OF LITTLE ELM 
VISION SUPPORTING STATEMENTS 
 
Little Elm provides an environment that is: 

• Safe 
• Diverse in housing opportunities 
• Inclusive 
 

In a community that possesses… 
• A strong sense of community identity 
• A strong neighborhood connection 
• A strong sense of aesthetics and attention to detail 
• A destination for recreation and leisure activities via a lakefront district and 

potential to utilize shallow-water activities (fishing, canoeing, kayaking, etc.) 
• Economic and business development that serves our residents and takes 

advantage of our commercial corridors  
• Strong partnership with school districts 

 
And provides: 

• A full range of housing options 
• Services and amenities that are unique to Little Elm (lake and trail system) and 

encouraging an active lifestyle 
• Multiple entertainment and retail options 
• Services and conveniences to meet the needs of our residents 
• Recreational programming for all residents in quality facilities that are safe, 

visually appealing, and comfortable for spectators and participants 
 
Little Elm operates in a way that is: 

• Known for being friendly and courteous – demonstrates empathy in all 
interactions 

• Easy to do business with – all processes are streamlined; the telephone is 
answered 

• Financially responsible – controls costs and remains opportunistic in pursuing 
projects that promote the vision 

• Cooperative and encouraging in its relationships with community organizations 
and churches 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Town of Little Elm Approved 02/19/2019 
2019 Strategic Vision and Plan Update 

4 

 

SWOT ANALYSIS 
 

Strengths  

 Location and lake access. 

 Residents, Council, and Town 
management are aligned in their desire 
to provide a high-quality and 
streamlined development process. 

 Efficient procedures, systems, and well-
developed customer service. 

 Key staff has prior municipal 
experience. 

 Access to regional transportation and 
amenities. 

 Centrally located to employment 
centers. 

 Neighborhoods have created a strong 
sense of community. 

 Friendly, cooperative, and supportive 
staff.  

 Good working relationships within Town 
departments, other municipalities, and 
the development community. 

 Unique lakefront amenities. 

 Reputation of Little Elm as a safe place 
to live 

 Powerful sense of community 
 

Opportunities  
• Maximize lake access to create a 

unique recreation opportunity 
• Location of Little Elm is poised for 

continued development. 
• Undeveloped and underdeveloped 

property provides a “blank slate” for 
new development and recreational 
opportunities. 

• Enhance community involvement and 
connections as the Town grows – 
enhance and create traditions that 
promote our image and feel. 

• Build on positive relationships in the 
region to take advantage of the 
lessons we can learn from others. 

• U.S. 380 represents an opportunity for 
economic development.  

• The ability to use new and available 
technology to streamline service 
delivery. 

• Capitalize on lunchtime traffic of 
teachers and students for restaurants. 

• Potential of redeveloped Hilltown on 
schools and Town. 

• Current development trajectory for 
Town build-out and resulting 
revenues. 

• Emerging redevelopment window in 
some areas of Town. 

•  

Weaknesses 
• Current construction makes 

transportation difficult. 
• High rate of growth presents challenges 

to maintain our expected level of service 
to residents and the development 
community. 

• High rate of growth presents challenges 
to keep up with infrastructure needs. 

• High rate of retail leakage. 
• No immediate access to major interstate 

traffic. 
• Geographical connectivity. 
• Known as a “commuter” community. 
• Commercial area competitiveness.  
• Historical geographic challenges and 

location of key intersections. 
• Transportation infrastructure challenges. 
• Lack of patience for development 

projects.  

Threats  
• Growth of community and demand for 

services exceeding staff’s capacity. 
• Other communities are competing for 

development in the region. 
• Slowdown of growth and build-out.  
• Multiple jurisdictions control U.S. 380. 
• Substandard development standards 

in unincorporated areas.  
• Impact of Hilltown left unresolved 
• Recognize the impacts on public 

safety with growth. 
• Shifting community priorities as Town 

grows.  
• Ability to remain competitive with 

other organizations for talent. 
• Regulatory and other governmental 

agencies impeding Town priorities or 
implementing mandates.    

 



Town of Little Elm Approved 02/19/2019 
2019 Strategic Vision and Plan Update 

5 

 

TOWN OF LITTLE ELM 
 STRATEGIC GOALS 
 

 Provide a safe and welcoming environment for Little Elm residents and 
visitors: Little Elm will be a community that is safe and welcoming to all who live 
here and visit. A safe and welcoming environment is accomplished through 
upholding a strong sense of community with engaged residents, maintaining 
clean and aesthetically welcoming corridors and neighborhoods, preserving a low 
crime rate, and continuing to ensure that public safety officials are courteous, 
professional, and ethical while providing equitable service to all.   

 Ensure strong relationships within the community and region: Little Elm will 
strive to ensure positive relationships within the community and region. Strong 
and positive relationships are accomplished by conducting business with a high 
level of integrity, promoting open communication, transparency, partnerships, 
and displaying a high level of courteousness in all of our interactions. We will 
operate with a partner mentality with all entities with which we share a common 
interest. 

 Maximize community recreation and leisure activities: Little Elm will 
maximize recreational and leisure activities for the region. Recreational and 
leisure activities will be provided for a broad range of socio-economic and 
interests groups, focusing on maximizing the unique shoreline recreation 
opportunities on Lewisville Lake.  

 Maintain operational integrity and viability: Little Elm will ensure the Town’s 
financial and operational processes' integrity and long-term viability. Little Elm’s 
operational and financial soundness will be ensured by maintaining a competitive 
tax rate, aggressively recruiting retail and small business economic development 
prospects, planning for long-term financial obligations, and maintaining a level of 
operational efficiency.  

 Promote and expand Little Elm’s identity: Maintain Little Elm’s distinctive look 
and high development standards that provide vibrant, high-quality neighborhoods 
and development. Create a sense of place and brand identity that extends 
beyond our borders. 

 Ensure excellence in public services while keeping up with the growth in 
the community: Little Elm will ensure that high-quality public services are 
maintained by addressing growth needs in infrastructure and by attracting, 
retaining, equipping, and empowering a workforce that delivers excellent service 
for an excellent value.   

 
 
 



Town of Little Elm Approved 02/19/2019 
2019 Strategic Vision and Plan Update 

6 

 

TOWN OF LITTLE ELM 
STRATEGIC GOALS AND LONG-TERM OBJECTIVES 
 
Provide a safe and welcoming environment for Little Elm residents and visitors: 
Little Elm will be a community that is safe and welcoming to all who live here and visit.  A safe and 
welcoming environment is accomplished through upholding a strong sense of community with an 
engaged residents, maintaining clean and aesthetically welcoming corridors and neighborhoods, 
preserving a low crime rate, and continuing to ensure that public safety officials are courteous, 
professional, and ethical while providing equitable service to all.   
 
Long Term Objectives 

 Maintain safe and effective walkways and roadways. 

 Maintain and expand relationships between the Police Department and resident groups. 

 Develop options for a long-term solution to dispatch. 

 Provide quality community events that attract visitors and facilitate a sense of belonging within the 
community.  

 Provide opportunities for residents to volunteer and be involved toward a common goal.  

 Ensure a strong focus on community-oriented policing, public outreach, and servant leadership. 

 Embrace the diversity of the community and operate in a way that provides equitable service to 
all residents.  

 Develop and implement plans to develop the northwest corner of Town. 

 
 
  



Town of Little Elm Approved 02/19/2019 
2019 Strategic Vision and Plan Update 

7 

 

Ensure strong relationships within the community and region: Little Elm will strive to 

ensure positive relationships within the community and region. Strong and positive relationships are 
accomplished by conducting business with a high level of integrity, promoting open communication, 
transparency, partnerships, and displaying a high level of courteousness in all of our interactions. We will 
operate with a partner mentality with all entities with which we share a common interest. 
 
Long Term Objectives 

 Provide opportunities and methods for residents to be involved in the Town. 

 Operate all Town activities in an open, transparent manner. 

 Maintain strong relationships with LOCALE, neighborhood associations and civic groups. 

 Be an equitable partner in mutual aid to neighboring communities. 

 Maintain a culture of friendly customer service. 

 Continually identify opportunities for regional shared services, expanding them when possible. 

 Operate as a service provider for neighboring communities and districts where possible.   

 Participate in meetings and projects with the North Texas Council of Governments, county, and 
neighboring cities. 

 Promote events for regional participation with our neighbors and maximize cross-promotional 
opportunities for development. 

 Participate in leadership in professional organizations. 

 Explore collaborative opportunities with the three school districts that exist within Town limits. 

 Expand digital services to enhance the ability to access Town government functions online. 

 Maximize social media and communications outreach. 
  



Town of Little Elm Approved 02/19/2019 
2019 Strategic Vision and Plan Update 

8 

 

Maximize community recreation and leisure activities: Little Elm will maximize 

recreational and leisure activities for the region. Recreational and leisure activities will be provided for a 
broad range of socio-economic and interest groups, focusing on maximizing the unique shoreline 
recreation opportunities on Lewisville Lake.  

 
Long Term Objectives 

 Maintain a Parks Master Plan. 

 Maintain a mutually beneficial relationship with the Corps of Engineers. 

 Continue development of a Town-wide trail system to provide a link between recreational 
amenities. 

 Provide inclusive recreational opportunities for a wide variety of socio-economic groups, ages, 
and interests.   

 Utilize new technology and products to provide innovative services and amenities in the Parks 
system. 

 Develop and maximize aquatic center project and other lakefront recreation and leisure 
opportunities. 

 Develop and maintain recreation infrastructure unique to North Texas. 

 Ensure quality of youth sports facilities. 

 Ensure quality of park maintenance. 

 Maintain positive relationships with user groups. 

 Explore partnership opportunities for lodging and Cottonwood Park development. 

 Conduct a feasibility study and develop a long-term plan for the property purchased adjacent to 
the Recreation Center. 

 Complete improvements in Cottonwood Park Phase 1 and remaining phases. 

 Create a plan for enhancements for Little Elm Park. 

 Create a plan to develop park space in future annexations. 

 Create a plan for improvements for the leased property with Little Elm ISD. 
 
 
  



Town of Little Elm Approved 02/19/2019 
2019 Strategic Vision and Plan Update 

9 

 

Maintain operational integrity and viability: Little Elm will ensure the Town's financial and 

operational processes' integrity and long-term viability. Little Elm's operating and financial soundness will 
be ensured by maintaining a competitive tax rate, aggressively recruiting retail and small business 
economic development prospects, planning for long-term financial obligations, and maintaining a level of 
operational efficiency.   

 
Long Term Objectives 

 Maintain a competitive tax rate. 

 Ensure that the Town is known for being easy and simple to work with in the development 
process. 

 Maintain and leverage knowledge of unique retail and expanding into North Texas market. 

 Recruit new businesses and encourage future development phases in the Lakefront District. 

 Continue to recruit and attract retail to assure our market share in the region. 

 Target commercial office for recruitment to increase the job base in the community. 

 Target retail and small businesses that serve our residents and the surrounding area. 

 Encourage home based businesses and residents working from home to actively engage in the 
business community. 

 Maintain a strong bond rating and review opportunities to improve going forward. 

 Maintain fleet replacement fund. 

 Work to establish a capital replacement fund for large cost facility maintenance items. 

 Maintain strong reserves. 

 Use fund balance for one-time expenses. 

 Promote a culture that is financially responsible and continually looks for operational efficiencies 
that provide high value. 

  



Town of Little Elm Approved 02/19/2019 
2019 Strategic Vision and Plan Update 

10 

 

Promote and expand Little Elm’s identity: Maintain Little Elm’s distinctive look and high 

development standards that provide vibrant, high-quality neighborhoods and development. Create a 

sense of place and brand identity that extends beyond our borders. 
 
Long Term Objectives 

 Continue the visible branding of Little Elm. 

 Continue to grow the Lakefront District’s brand identity and ensure strong marketing and outreach 
efforts of the area.  

 Maintain a “hometown” feel as the Town continues to grow. 

 Update and maintain the Comprehensive Plan. 

 Maintain neighborhood and commercial integrity. 

 Promote a full range of housing options. 

 Maintain high quality aesthetics for corridors and entry ways. 

 Collaborate with other entities to deliver and promote a unified brand message. 

 Expand regional marketing of Little Elm’s activities. 

 Provide funds to continue gateway signage as expansion continues. 

 Establish consistent standards for design and building inspection. 

 Pursue a wayfinding signage program throughout the community. 

 
  



Town of Little Elm Approved 02/19/2019 
2019 Strategic Vision and Plan Update 

11 

 

Ensure excellence in public services while keeping up with the growth in the 
community:  Little Elm will ensure that high quality public services are maintained by addressing 

growth needs in infrastructure, and by attracting, retaining, equipping, and empowering a workforce that 
delivers excellent service for an excellent value.   
 
Long Term Objectives 

 Maintain a competitive market-based compensation plan. 

 Offer training to provide employees a culture of continuous learning and development 

opportunities. 

 Maintain a fun and friendly work environment. 

 Promote and maintain a values-based culture of servant leadership. 

 Maintain the Town’s multi-year staffing plan to accommodate growth. 

 Implement a capital replacement plan and fund. 

 Maintain annual maintenance program. 

 Ensure adequate planning when adding new infrastructure. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  

Town Council Meeting
 
Date: 01/05/2021
Agenda Item #: 6. D. 
Department: Finance
Strategic Goal: Maintain operational integrity and viability
Staff Contact: Kelly Wilson, Chief Financial Officer

AGENDA ITEM:
Consider Action to Approve Ordinance No. 1586 Providing for Refuse Rates; Providing for a
Repealing Clause; Providing for a Severability Clause; and, Providing an Effective Date for
Community Waste Disposal for an Annual Market Adjustment per the Current Service Contract.

DESCRIPTION:
Community Waste Disposal (CWD) has requested a market adjustment in accordance with the
Residential Refuse and Recycling service contract. The market adjustment will become effective on
February 1, 2021, for Commercial customers only.  The Town's current service contract with CWD
allows for commercial rates to have an annual adjustment every year effective February 1 for an
increase in the CPI, landfill increases, and a fuel cost adjustment.  The 2021 Little Elm adjustment
worksheet outlines the detail behind these various service factors:  

CPI increase of 1.20%
Fuel decrease of -8.53%
Landfill increase of 1.34%

CWD and the Town of Little Elm have all rates frozen for residential and multi-family rates for any
and all services provided by CWD over the remaining current contract expiring January 31, 2025. 
CWD may petition the Town for a disposal rate increase effective October 1, 2022 and each 12
months thereafter for residential and multi-families.
Ordinance No. 1586 provides for the refuse rates effective date February 1, 2021 for Commercial
customers.

BUDGET IMPACT:
There is no momentary impact to the Town for this rate adjustment to commercial customers.
CWD bills commercial customers directly.  

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends approval.



Attachments
Ordinance 1586 - Solid Waste Rates 
CWD 12.2020 Cover Letter - Solid Waste Rates 
Schedule A - Solid Waste Rates 
Little Elm Adjustment Worksheet - Solid Waste Rates 
CPI Supporting Documentation - Solid Waste Rates 
Henry Hub Fuel Cost Supporting Documentation - Solid Waste Rates 
Denton landfill letter - Solid Waste Rates 



1 

ORDINANCE NO. 1586 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF LITTLE ELM, TEXAS, PROVIDING FOR 

REFUSE RATES; PROVIDING FOR A REPEALING CLAUSE; PROVIDING FOR A 

SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

BE IT OBTAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LITTLE ELM, 

TEXAS THAT: 

SECTION 1. Refuse Rates:  From and after the effective date hereof the charges to be 
collected for sanitation service are as follows: 

Refuse Rates $ 
Rate 

(Effective 02-01-21)

Residential Customers – garbage (monthly) 14.68 

Residential Customers – recycle (monthly) 3.35 
Additional Refuse Cart (ea.) 7.23 

Additional Recycle Cart (ea.) 2.34 

Replacement of Refuse Cart 75.00 

Multi-family Rates $ 
Rate 

(Effective 02-01-21)

Recycle rates per unit 0.60 

Commercial Customers $ 
Rate 

(Effective 02-01-21)

Front Load Trash  - 2 cubic yard 

  1 x week 81.85 
  2 x week 146.89 

  3 x week 192.69 
  4 x week 255.88 

  5 x week 303.08 
  6 x week 339.65 

Front Load Trash  - 3 cubic yard 
  1 x week 87.46 

  2 x week 165.23 
  3 x week 261.33 

  4 x week 325.67 
  5 x week 381.58 

  6 x week 415.10 
Front Load Trash  - 4 cubic yard 

  1 x week 99.80 
  2 x week 178.26 
  3 x week 237.62 
  4 x week 315.74 
  5 x week 373.54 
  6 x week 418.85 



 

2 

Front Load Trash  - 6 cubic yard   

  1 x week  127.59 

  2 x week  226.08 
  3 x week  313.92 

  4 x week  415.01 
  5 x week  489.15 

  6 x week  530.58 

Front Load Trash  - 8 cubic yard   
  1 x week  161.93 

  2 x week  281.88 
  3 x week  416.35 

  4 x week  548.90 
  5 x week  646.66 

  6 x week  725.64 
Front Load Compactors  - 6 cubic yard   

  1 x week  460.66 
  2 x week  848.04 

  3 x week  1,420.16 
  4 x week  1,773.56 

Front Load Cardboard  - 8 cubic yard   
  1 x week  70.10 

  2 x week  140.22 

  3 x week  210.28 
Front Load Miscellaneous  Charges   

  Casters (per container)  10.57 
  Gates (per pick-up)  8.44 

  Locks (per pick-up)  8.44 
Commercial Collection – 95 Gallon Cart (refuse)   

  1 x week  19.16 
  Each additional Carts ( 1 x week)  14.92 

Commercial Collection – 95 Gallon Cart (recycle)   
  1 x week  12.86 

  Each additional Carts ( 1 x week)  9.61 
Commercial Roll Off Services   

  35SC Weekday Haul * #  322.03 
  35SC Weekend Haul * #  349.46 

  40RC Weekday Haul * #  335.74 
  40RC Weekend Haul * #  363.15 

  # Disposal for payload tons up to 54K pds GVW  47.91 

  # Disposal charge for excess payload over 54K pds  121.47 
6 Yard Recycle Containers   

  Weekday transport  90.09 
   Rental  17.51 

   
 
 

NOTE:  All commercial dumpster customers are charged the monthly rate plus gate charges plus 
any other miscellaneous services required.     

 
The monthly fee for solid waste collection and disposal services shall be set from time to time 
by appropriate written resolution ordinance of the Town Council.  Such fee shall include 



3 

collection and disposal charges, monthly billing charges, franchise fees, and applicable sales 
tax.  The monthly fee for such services shall be charged along with water and sewer charges. 

A penalty for an overdue bill may be charged. 

SECTION 2.  Service Fees:  From and after the effective date hereof the charges to be collected 

for service fees associated with providing refuse services are as follows: 

Service Fees $ Rate 
(Effective 02-01-21)

Disconnect Fee 50.00 
Return Check Fee 30.00 

SECTION 3.   Repeal of conflicting ordinances: All ordinances or parts of ordinances in force 

when the provisions of this ordinance become effective, which are inconsistent or in conflict 
with the terms or provisions contained in this ordinance, are hereby repealed to the extent of 
any such conflict. This Ordinance amends those refuse rates previously established by 

Ordinance Nos. 1089, 1121, 1257, 1307, 1370, 1434, 1476, and 1535.  

SECTION 4.  Severability Clause:  If any clause, phrase, sentence, paragraph or section of this 
ordinance shall be void or unconstitutional for any reason, such invalidity shall not affect any 
other provisions of the ordinance and such clause, phrase, sentence, paragraph or section is 

hereby declared severable. 

SECTION 5.  Saving Clause:  This Ordinance shall be cumulative of all other ordinances of the 

Town and shall not repeal any of the provisions of those ordinances except in those instances 
where the provisions of those ordinances are in direct conflict with the provisions of this 
Ordinance. This Ordinance amends those refuse previously established by Ordinance No. 1089, 

1121, 1257, 1307, 1370, 1434, 1476, and 1535.  

SECTION 6.  Providing for Publication:  Providing for the publication of this caption of this 
ordinance and effective date hereof.  The newspaper having general circulation in the Town 
shall be effective immediately upon its passage and publication. 

SECTION 7.  Effective date: This Ordinance shall take effect immediately following its 
adoption and publication in accordance with and provided by law and the Town Charter. 

PASSED AND APPROVED by the Town Council of the Town of Little Elm, Texas, on the 5th 
day of January, 2021. 

TOWN OF LITTLE ELM, TEXAS 

_______________________________ 
David Hillock, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

__________________________

 Caitlan Biggs, Interim Town Secretary 





Billing Fee CPI Adj Fuel Adj
Landfill 

Adj
Billing Fee

3.75% 1.20% -8.53% 1.34% 3.75%

69% 4% 27%

Residential Trash N/A $10.88 $0.00 $10.88 na na na $0.00 $10.88 $0.00 $10.88 N/A

Each Additional Cart N/A $6.15 $0.00 $6.15 na na na $0.00 $6.15 $0.00 $6.15 N/A

69% 4% 27%

Residential HHW N/A $0.28 $0.00 $0.28 na na na $0.00 $0.28 $0.00 $0.28 N/A

83% 5% 12%

Residential Recycling N/A $2.49 $0.00 $2.49 na na na $0.00 $2.49 $0.00 $2.49 N/A

Each Additional Cart N/A $2.34 $0.00 $2.34 na na na $0.00 $2.34 $0.00 $2.34 N/A

83% 5% 12%

Rate Per Unit $0.60 $0.52 $0.02 $0.50 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.50 $0.02 $0.52 $0.60

65% 5% 30%

2 Cubic Yard

1 X Week $81.24 $70.64 $2.55 $68.09 $0.53 -$0.29 $0.27 $0.51 $68.60 $2.57 $71.17 $81.85

2 X Week $145.79 $126.77 $4.58 $122.19 $0.95 -$0.52 $0.49 $0.92 $123.11 $4.62 $127.73 $146.89

3 X Week $191.25 $166.30 $6.01 $160.29 $1.25 -$0.68 $0.64 $1.21 $161.50 $6.06 $167.56 $192.69

4 X Week $253.95 $220.83 $7.98 $212.85 $1.66 -$0.91 $0.86 $1.61 $214.46 $8.04 $222.50 $255.88

5 X Week $300.81 $261.57 $9.45 $252.12 $1.97 -$1.08 $1.01 $1.90 $254.02 $9.53 $263.55 $303.08

6 X Week $337.11 $293.14 $10.60 $282.54 $2.20 -$1.21 $1.14 $2.13 $284.67 $10.68 $295.35 $339.65

 

3 Cubic Yard  

1 X Week $86.80 $75.48 $2.73 $72.75 $0.57 -$0.31 $0.29 $0.55 $73.30 $2.75 $76.05 $87.46

2 X Week $164.00 $142.61 $5.15 $137.46 $1.07 -$0.59 $0.55 $1.03 $138.49 $5.19 $143.68 $165.23

3 X Week $259.37 $225.54 $8.15 $217.39 $1.70 -$0.93 $0.87 $1.64 $219.03 $8.21 $227.24 $261.33

4 X Week $323.23 $281.07 $10.16 $270.91 $2.11 -$1.16 $1.09 $2.04 $272.95 $10.24 $283.19 $325.67

5 X Week $378.71 $329.31 $11.90 $317.41 $2.48 -$1.35 $1.28 $2.41 $319.82 $11.99 $331.81 $381.58

6 X Week $411.99 $358.25 $12.95 $345.30 $2.69 -$1.47 $1.39 $2.61 $347.91 $13.05 $360.96 $415.10

 

4 Cubic Yard  

1 X Week $99.04 $86.12 $3.11 $83.01 $0.65 -$0.35 $0.33 $0.63 $83.64 $3.14 $86.78 $99.80

2 X Week $176.92 $153.84 $5.56 $148.28 $1.16 -$0.63 $0.60 $1.13 $149.41 $5.60 $155.01 $178.26

3 X Week $235.84 $205.08 $7.41 $197.67 $1.54 -$0.84 $0.79 $1.49 $199.16 $7.47 $206.63 $237.62

4 X Week $313.38 $272.50 $9.85 $262.65 $2.05 -$1.12 $1.06 $1.99 $264.64 $9.92 $274.56 $315.74

5 X Week $370.75 $322.39 $11.65 $310.74 $2.42 -$1.33 $1.25 $2.34 $313.08 $11.74 $324.82 $373.54

6 X Week $415.73 $361.50 $13.07 $348.43 $2.72 -$1.49 $1.40 $2.63 $351.06 $13.16 $364.22 $418.85

 

6 Cubic Yard  

1 X Week $126.63 $110.11 $3.98 $106.13 $0.83 -$0.45 $0.43 $0.81 $106.94 $4.01 $110.95 $127.59

2 X Week $224.37 $195.10 $7.05 $188.05 $1.47 -$0.80 $0.76 $1.43 $189.48 $7.11 $196.59 $226.08

3 X Week $311.55 $270.91 $9.79 $261.12 $2.04 -$1.11 $1.05 $1.98 $263.10 $9.87 $272.97 $313.92

4 X Week $411.91 $358.18 $12.95 $345.23 $2.69 -$1.47 $1.39 $2.61 $347.84 $13.04 $360.88 $415.01

5 X Week $485.50 $422.17 $15.26 $406.91 $3.17 -$1.74 $1.64 $3.07 $409.98 $15.37 $425.35 $489.15

6 X Week $526.60 $457.91 $16.55 $441.36 $3.44 -$1.88 $1.77 $3.33 $444.69 $16.68 $461.37 $530.58

 

8 Cubic Yard  

1 X Week $160.71 $139.75 $5.05 $134.70 $1.05 -$0.57 $0.54 $1.02 $135.72 $5.09 $140.81 $161.93

2 X Week $279.76 $243.27 $8.79 $234.48 $1.83 -$1.00 $0.94 $1.77 $236.25 $8.86 $245.11 $281.88

3 X Week $413.23 $359.33 $12.99 $346.34 $2.70 -$1.48 $1.39 $2.61 $348.95 $13.09 $362.04 $416.35

4 X Week $544.78 $473.72 $17.12 $456.60 $3.56 -$1.95 $1.84 $3.45 $460.05 $17.25 $477.30 $548.90

5 X Week $641.80 $558.09 $20.17 $537.92 $4.20 -$2.29 $2.16 $4.07 $541.99 $20.32 $562.31 $646.66

6 X Week $720.19 $626.25 $22.64 $603.61 $4.71 -$2.57 $2.43 $4.57 $608.18 $22.81 $630.99 $725.64

 

35% 5% 60%

6 Yard

1 X Week $457.00 $397.39 $14.36 $383.03 $1.61 -$1.63 $3.08 $3.06 $386.09 $14.48 $400.57 $460.66

2 X Week $841.34 $731.60 $26.44 $705.16 $2.96 -$3.01 $5.67 $5.62 $710.78 $26.65 $737.43 $848.04

3 X Week $1,408.92 $1,225.15 $44.28 $1,180.87 $4.96 -$5.04 $9.49 $9.41 $1,190.28 $44.64 $1,234.92 $1,420.16

4 X Week $1,759.53 $1,530.03 $55.30 $1,474.73 $6.19 -$6.29 $11.86 $11.76 $1,486.49 $55.74 $1,542.23 $1,773.56

Commercial Special Services

Percent of Adjustment

Percent of Adjustment

Percent of Adjustment

Front Load Commercial Trash Container Services

6 Yard Front Load Compactors

Jan 1, 2020 

City Pricing 

with Franchise 

Fee

Residential Services

Residential Multi-Family Recycling Rate

Percent of Adjustment

Percent of Adjustment

Percent of Adjustment

Town of Little Elm - Schedule "A" 
Effective 02.01.2021

Note: CWD considers this material as proprietary rate information that could affect their competiveness if the waste services contract goes to competitive bid process. Therefore, CWD requests that 

their market adjustment, extension request letters and all associated discussion information to be exempt from public disclosure. CWD request this information is exempt from Public Records, and is 

only allowed to be part of Public Records, after a ruling of the Attorney General of Texas.

Total Adj
Pre Billing 

Fee Rate

Feb 1, 2020  

CWD Rate

Feb 1, 2020 

City Pricing 

with Franchise 

Fee

Rate Minus 

Billing Fee

Jan 1, 2020  

CWD Rate

P:\123DATA\David Dalrymple\Cities\Little Elm\Little Elm Schedule A 2021



Jan 1, 2020 

City Pricing 

with Franchise 

Fee

Town of Little Elm - Schedule "A" 
Effective 02.01.2021

Note: CWD considers this material as proprietary rate information that could affect their competiveness if the waste services contract goes to competitive bid process. Therefore, CWD requests that 

their market adjustment, extension request letters and all associated discussion information to be exempt from public disclosure. CWD request this information is exempt from Public Records, and is 

only allowed to be part of Public Records, after a ruling of the Attorney General of Texas.

Total Adj
Pre Billing 

Fee Rate

Feb 1, 2020  

CWD Rate

Feb 1, 2020 

City Pricing 

with Franchise 

Fee

Rate Minus 

Billing Fee

Jan 1, 2020  

CWD Rate
100% 0% 0%

Casters (per pick-up) $10.44 $9.08 $0.33 $8.75 $0.11 $0.00 $0.00 $0.11 $8.86 $0.33 $9.19 $10.57

Gates (per pick-up) $8.34 $7.25 $0.26 $6.99 $0.08 $0.00 $0.00 $0.08 $7.07 $0.27 $7.34 $8.44

Locks (per pick-up) $8.34 $7.25 $0.26 $6.99 $0.08 $0.00 $0.00 $0.08 $7.07 $0.27 $7.34 $8.44

83% 5% 12%

8 Cubic Yard

1 X Week $69.61 $60.53 $2.19 $58.34 $0.58 -$0.25 $0.09 $0.42 $58.76 $2.20 $60.96 $70.10

2 X Week $139.21 $121.05 $4.38 $116.67 $1.16 -$0.50 $0.19 $0.85 $117.52 $4.41 $121.93 $140.22

3 X Week $208.76 $181.53 $6.56 $174.97 $1.74 -$0.75 $0.28 $1.27 $176.24 $6.61 $182.85 $210.28

 83% 5% 12%     

Weekday Transport $89.44 $77.77 $2.81 $74.96 $0.75 -$0.32 $0.12 $0.55 $75.51 $2.83 $78.34 $90.09

 100% 0% 0%    

Rental $17.31 $15.05 $0.54 $14.51 $0.17 $0.00 $0.00 $0.17 $14.68 $0.55 $15.23 $17.51

69% 4% 27%

First Trash Poly-Cart $19.00 $16.52 $0.60 $15.92 $0.13 -$0.05 $0.06 $0.14 $16.06 $0.60 $16.66 $19.16

Each Additional Cart $14.80 $12.87 $0.47 $12.40 $0.10 -$0.04 $0.04 $0.10 $12.50 $0.47 $12.97 $14.92

83% 5% 12%

First Recycle Poly-Cart $12.77 $11.10 $0.40 $10.70 $0.11 -$0.05 $0.02 $0.08 $10.78 $0.40 $11.18 $12.86

Each Additional Cart $9.55 $8.30 $0.30 $8.00 $0.08 -$0.03 $0.01 $0.06 $8.06 $0.30 $8.36 $9.61

95% 5% 0%

35 SC Weekday Haul * # $319.75 $278.04 $10.05 $267.99 $3.06 -$1.14 $0.00 $1.92 $269.91 $10.12 $280.03 $322.03

35 SC Weekend Haul * # $346.99 $301.73 $10.91 $290.82 $3.32 -$1.24 $0.00 $2.08 $292.90 $10.98 $303.88 $349.46

40 RC Weekday Haul * # $333.36 $289.88 $10.48 $279.40 $3.19 -$1.19 $0.00 $2.00 $281.40 $10.55 $291.95 $335.74

40 RC Weekend Haul * # $360.57 $313.54 $11.33 $302.21 $3.45 -$1.29 $0.00 $2.16 $304.37 $11.41 $315.78 $363.15

   

 0% 0% 100%    

* Disposal for weight up to 27 tons GVW $47.28 $41.11 $1.49 $39.62 $0.00 $0.00 $0.53 $0.53 $40.15 $1.51 $41.66 $47.91

# Excess Payload for trucks over 27 tons GVW $119.86 $104.23 $3.77 $100.46 $0.00 $0.00 $1.35 $1.35 $101.81 $3.82 $105.63 $121.47

   

 95% 5% 0%    

Trip Charge (Dry Run) - weekday $162.08 $140.94 $5.09 $135.85 $1.55 -$0.58 $0.00 $0.97 $136.82 $5.13 $141.95 $163.24

 95% 5% 0%

Delivery N/A N/A $0.00 $135.85 $1.55 -$0.58 $0.00 $0.97 $136.82 $5.13 $141.95 $163.24

Trip Charge (Dry Run) - weekday N/A N/A $0.00 $135.85 $1.55 -$0.58 $0.00 $0.97 $136.82 $5.13 $141.95 $163.24

 

  100% 0% 0%

Weekly Rental N/A N/A $0.00 $50.53 $0.61 $0.00 $0.00 $0.61 $51.14 $1.92 $53.06 $61.02

 

  95% 5% 0%

Haul Weekday (plus disposal) * # N/A N/A $0.00 $350.00 $3.99 -$1.49 $0.00 $2.50 $352.50 $13.22 $365.72 $420.58

Haul Weekend (plus disposal) * # N/A N/A $0.00 $375.00 $4.28 -$1.60 $0.00 $2.68 $377.68 $14.16 $391.84 $450.62

 

  0% 0% 100%

* Disposal for weight up to 27 tons GVW N/A N/A $0.00 $45.07 $0.00 $0.00 $0.60 $0.60 $45.67 $1.71 $47.38 $54.49

# Excess Payload for trucks over 27 tons GVW N/A N/A $0.00 $113.73 $0.00 $0.00 $1.52 $1.52 $115.25 $4.32 $119.57 $137.51

30 Yard Open Top Roll Off Containers

6 Yard Recycle Containers
Percent of Adjustment

Percent of Adjustment

Percent of Adjustment

Percent of Adjustment

Percent of Adjustment

Roll Off Compactors

Percent of Adjustment

Percent of Adjustment

Percent of Adjustment

Percent of Adjustment

Percent of Adjustment

Commercial Special Services
Percent of Adjustment

Commercial Trash Cart Sevice
Percent of Adjustment

Commercial Recycle Cart Sevice

Front Load Cardboard Container (OCC)
Percent of Adjustment

P:\123DATA\David Dalrymple\Cities\Little Elm\Little Elm Schedule A 2021



1.20%

2019 2020

Week 1 2.46 2.16

Week 2 2.64 2.16

Week 3 2.63 1.93

Week 4 2.52 1.68

Week 5 2.33 1.65

Week 6 2.26 1.91

Week 7 2.25 2.17

Week 8 2.25 2.74

Week 9 2.62 3.09

Week 10 2.82 2.78

Week 11 2.73 2.75

Week 12 2.58 2.39

Week 13 2.49 2.39

Average 2.51 2.29

(0.21)

-8.53%

1.34%

CPI% 1.20%

Fuel % -8.53%

Disposal % 1.34%

F/L R/O

R/O 

Excessive 

Weight Resi Trash Resi Rcy

CPI 65% 55% 0% 69% 83%

Fuel 5% 5% 0% 4% 5%

Disposal 30% 40% 100% 27% 12%

 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

F/L R/O

R/O 

Excessive 

Weight Resi Trash Resi Rcy

CPI 0.78% 0.66% 0.00% 0.83% 1.00%

Fuel -0.43% -0.43% 0.00% -0.34% -0.43%

Disposal 0.40% 0.54% 1.34% 0.36% 0.16%

Total 0.76% 0.77% 1.34% 0.85% 0.73%

INDEX CHANGE

LANDFILL ADJUSTMENT

2021  LITTLE ELM  ADJUSTMENT  WORKSHEET

CPI-U LESS ENERGY (NOV)

Fuel worksheet
Henry Hub Natural Gas Spot Price

(Dollars per Million BTU)

(Sept, Oct, and Nov)

Dollar Change

Percent of Change

P:\123DATA\David Dalrymple\Cities\Little Elm\2021 Little Elm adj worksheet





  2013-Nov 11/01 3.55   11/08 3.47   11/15 3.62   11/22 3.68   11/29 3.87   
  2013-Dec 12/06 3.94   12/13 4.31   12/20 4.25   12/27 4.45   

  2014-Jan 01/03 4.36   01/10 4.31   01/17 4.39   01/24 5.08   01/31 5.29   
  2014-Feb 02/07 6.35   02/14 6.55   02/21 6.00   02/28 5.10   
  2014-Mar 03/07 6.24   03/14 4.58   03/21 4.43   03/28 4.46   
  2014-Apr 04/04 4.45   04/11 4.63   04/18 4.65   04/25 4.80   
  2014-May 05/02 4.76   05/09 4.74   05/16 4.46   05/23 4.52   05/30 4.52   
  2014-Jun 06/06 4.61   06/13 4.61   06/20 4.66   06/27 4.52   
  2014-Jul 07/04 4.41   07/11 4.19   07/18 4.11   07/25 3.84   
  2014-Aug 08/01 3.79   08/08 3.92   08/15 3.90   08/22 3.85   08/29 4.01   
  2014-Sep 09/05 3.93   09/12 3.91   09/19 3.95   09/26 3.88   
  2014-Oct 10/03 4.02   10/10 3.87   10/17 3.82   10/24 3.63   10/31 3.65   
  2014-Nov 11/07 3.83   11/14 4.16   11/21 4.34   11/28 4.16   
  2014-Dec 12/05 3.75   12/12 3.66   12/19 3.69   12/26 2.94   

  2015-Jan 01/02 3.09   01/09 3.03   01/16 3.08   01/23 2.95   01/30 2.91   
  2015-Feb 02/06 2.72   02/13 2.75   02/20 2.90   02/27 3.13   
  2015-Mar 03/06 3.04   03/13 2.76   03/20 2.80   03/27 2.79   
  2015-Apr 04/03 2.64   04/10 2.67   04/17 2.61   04/24 2.60   
  2015-May 05/01 2.57   05/08 2.75   05/15 2.88   05/22 2.99   05/29 2.80   
  2015-Jun 06/05 2.65   06/12 2.78   06/19 2.90   06/26 2.80   
  2015-Jul 07/03 2.79   07/10 2.75   07/17 2.89   07/24 2.88   07/31 2.87   
  2015-Aug 08/07 2.80   08/14 2.88   08/21 2.75   08/28 2.69   
  2015-Sep 09/04 2.69   09/11 2.70   09/18 2.70   09/25 2.61   
  2015-Oct 10/02 2.49   10/09 2.38   10/16 2.48   10/23 2.38   10/30 2.12   
  2015-Nov 11/06 2.02   11/13 2.11   11/20 2.09   11/27 2.15   
  2015-Dec 12/04 2.13   12/11 1.96   12/18 1.72   12/25 1.68   

  2016-Jan 01/01 2.27   01/08 2.38   01/15 2.32   01/22 2.20   01/29 2.22   
  2016-Feb 02/05 2.11   02/12 2.16   02/19 1.94   02/26 1.82   
  2016-Mar 03/04 1.57   03/11 1.64   03/18 1.79   03/25 1.79   
  2016-Apr 04/01 1.86   04/08 1.96   04/15 1.90   04/22 1.91   04/29 1.92   
  2016-May 05/06 1.96   05/13 2.00   05/20 1.89   05/27 1.84   
  2016-Jun 06/03 2.15   06/10 2.36   06/17 2.59   06/24 2.75   
  2016-Jul 07/01 2.89   07/08 2.82   07/15 2.81   07/22 2.79   07/29 2.85   
  2016-Aug 08/05 2.88   08/12 2.77   08/19 2.73   08/26 2.82   
  2016-Sep 09/02 2.94   09/09 2.87   09/16 3.02   09/23 3.11   09/30 3.01   
  2016-Oct 10/07 2.91   10/14 3.17   10/21 3.14   10/28 2.72   
  2016-Nov 11/04 2.50   11/11 2.22   11/18 2.44   11/25 2.76   
  2016-Dec 12/02 3.21   12/09 3.69   12/16 3.57   12/23 3.51   12/30 3.69   

  2017-Jan 01/06 3.47   01/13 3.27   01/20 3.29   01/27 3.27   
  2017-Feb 02/03 3.12   02/10 3.04   02/17 2.87   02/24 2.62   
  2017-Mar 03/03 2.52   03/10 2.75   03/17 2.96   03/24 2.99   03/31 3.03   
  2017-Apr 04/07 3.18   04/14 3.05   04/21 3.10   04/28 3.09   
  2017-May 05/05 3.14   05/12 3.12   05/19 3.21   05/26 3.18   
  2017-Jun 06/02 3.03   06/09 2.98   06/16 3.03   06/23 2.89   06/30 3.01   
  2017-Jul 07/07 2.95   07/14 2.96   07/21 3.09   07/28 2.96   
  2017-Aug 08/04 2.80   08/11 2.85   08/18 2.95   08/25 2.97   
  2017-Sep 09/01 2.93   09/08 2.91   09/15 2.96   09/22 3.09   09/29 2.96   
  2017-Oct 10/06 2.84   10/13 2.92   10/20 2.84   10/27 2.91   
  2017-Nov 11/03 2.78   11/10 3.12   11/17 3.10   11/24 3.05   
  2017-Dec 12/01 2.94   12/08 2.84   12/15 2.77   12/22 2.69   12/29 3.03   

  2018-Jan 01/05 5.71   01/12 3.24   01/19 4.12   01/26 3.43   
  2018-Feb 02/02 3.30   02/09 2.75   02/16 2.54   02/23 2.62   
  2018-Mar 03/02 2.64   03/09 2.74   03/16 2.71   03/23 2.66   03/30 2.67   
  2018-Apr 04/06 2.79   04/13 2.78   04/20 2.83   04/27 2.80   
  2018-May 05/04 2.75   05/11 2.76   05/18 2.80   05/25 2.83   
  2018-Jun 06/01 2.88   06/08 2.92   06/15 2.99   06/22 2.99   06/29 2.98   
  2018-Jul 07/06 2.91   07/13 2.89   07/20 2.78   07/27 2.79   
  2018-Aug 08/03 2.80   08/10 2.96   08/17 3.00   08/24 3.01   08/31 2.97   
  2018-Sep 09/07 2.94   09/14 2.93   09/21 3.03   09/28 3.06   
  2018-Oct 10/05 3.23   10/12 3.30   10/19 3.26   10/26 3.32   
  2018-Nov 11/02 3.28   11/09 3.58   11/16 4.23   11/23 4.67   11/30 4.43   
  2018-Dec 12/07 4.49   12/14 4.38   12/21 3.73   12/28 3.26   

  2019-Jan 01/04 2.92   01/11 2.89   01/18 3.50   01/25 3.19   
  2019-Feb 02/01 2.90   02/08 2.59   02/15 2.65   02/22 2.71   
  2019-Mar 03/01 2.91   03/08 3.28   03/15 2.89   03/22 2.86   03/29 2.71   
  2019-Apr 04/05 2.70   04/12 2.72   04/19 2.62   04/26 2.56   
  2019-May 05/03 2.59   05/10 2.60   05/17 2.67   05/24 2.66   05/31 2.66   
  2019-Jun 06/07 2.45   06/14 2.41   06/21 2.40   06/28 2.34   
  2019-Jul 07/05 2.31   07/12 2.47   07/19 2.44   07/26 2.30   
  2019-Aug 08/02 2.24   08/09 2.11   08/16 2.21   08/23 2.27   08/30 2.28   
  2019-Sep 09/06 2.46   09/13 2.64   09/20 2.63   09/27 2.52   
  2019-Oct 10/04 2.33   10/11 2.26   10/18 2.25   10/25 2.25   
  2019-Nov 11/01 2.62   11/08 2.82   11/15 2.73   11/22 2.58   11/29 2.49   
  2019-Dec 12/06 2.38   12/13 2.24   12/20 2.28   12/27 2.03   

  2020-Jan 01/03 2.05   01/10 2.09   01/17 2.06   01/24 1.93   01/31 1.95   
  2020-Feb 02/07 1.89   02/14 1.90   02/21 2.00   02/28 1.88   
  2020-Mar 03/06 1.80   03/13 1.86   03/20 1.82   03/27 1.74   
  2020-Apr 04/03 1.63   04/10 1.77   04/17 1.72   04/24 1.85   
  2020-May 05/01 1.71   05/08 1.84   05/15 1.63   05/22 1.78   05/29 1.76   
  2020-Jun 06/05 1.70   06/12 1.70   06/19 1.52   06/26 1.57   
  2020-Jul 07/03 1.71   07/10 1.78   07/17 1.77   07/24 1.72   07/31 1.82   
  2020-Aug 08/07 2.13   08/14 2.17   08/21 2.39   08/28 2.52   
  2020-Sep 09/04 2.16   09/11 2.16   09/18 1.93   09/25 1.68   
  2020-Oct 10/02 1.65   10/09 1.91   10/16 2.17   10/23 2.74   10/30 3.09   
  2020-Nov 11/06 2.78   11/13 2.75   11/20 2.39   11/27 2.39   
  2020-Dec 12/04 2.69   

Page 4 of 5Henry Hub Natural Gas Spot Price (Dollars per Million Btu)

12/11/2020https://www.eia.gov/dnav/ng/hist/rngwhhdW.htm

ddalrymple
Highlight

ddalrymple
Highlight





  

Town Council Meeting
 
Date: 01/05/2021
Agenda Item #: 6. E. 
Department: Police
Strategic Goal: Provide a safe and welcoming environment for Little Elm residents and visitors
Staff Contact: Rodney Harrison, Police Chief

AGENDA ITEM:
Consider Action to Approve Resolution 0105202101 for the Submission of a Grant Application to
the Office of the Governor, Criminal Justice Division for the Town of Little Elm Police Department
to Receive Grant Funding for Night Vision Devices for the Little Elm Police Department SWAT
Team.

DESCRIPTION:
In an effort to aid the Little Elm Police Department in its endeavor to further protect Little Elm
residents and prevent crime, grant funding is being sought from the State Homeland Security
Program (SHSP) in the amount of $42,000.00. The goal of this program is to aid the Little Elm SWAT
team with crisis response activities, criminal interdiction, and search and rescue efforts through the
purchase of fourteen Night Vision Devices. This grant has no matching funds requirement.

BUDGET IMPACT:
There is no budget impact for this item.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends approval.

Attachments
Resolution 0105202101 - SWAT Night Vision Devices Grant 



TOWN OF LITTLE ELM, TEXAS 

RESOLUTION NO. 0105202101

A RESOLUTION BY THE TOWN OF LITTLE ELM APPROVING THE SUBMISSION  
OF A GRANT APPLICATION TO THE OFFICE OF THE GOVERNOR, FOR THE 
2020 SHSP – LITTLE ELM – SWAT EQUIPMENT ENHANCEMENT PROJECT AND 
ACCEPTANCE OF FY2020 SHSP REALLOCATION FUNDS. 

WHEREAS, The Town Council of the Town of Little Elm finds it is in the best interest of the 
citizens of the Town of Little Elm, that the Little Elm Police Department SWAT Equipment 
Enhancement Project be operated for the 2020-2021 FY; and 

WHEREAS, The Town Council of the Town of Little Elm agrees that in the event of loss or 
misuse of the Office of the Governor funds, the Town Council of the Town of Little Elm assures 
that the funds will be returned to the Office of the Governor in full. 

WHEREAS, The Town Council of the Town of Little Elm designates the Town Manager as the 
grantee’s authorized official. The authorized official is given the power to apply for, accept, reject 
alter, or terminate the grant on behalf of the applicant agency.  

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that The Town Council of the Town of Little Elm, Texas 
approves submission of the grant application for the Little Elm Police Department SWAT 
Equipment Enhancement Project to the Office of the Governor.  

PASSED AND APPROVED this 5th day of January, 2021

_____________________________ 
David Hillock, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

_________________________
Caitlan Biggs, Interim Town Secretary 

Grant Number: 3976301



  

Town Council Meeting
 
Date: 01/05/2021
Agenda Item #: 6. F. 
Department: Development Services

Strategic Goal: Ensure excellence in public services while keeping up with the growth in the
community

Staff Contact: Wesley Brandon, Town Engineer

AGENDA ITEM:
Consider Action to Approve the Final Acceptance of the French Settlement Road Construction
Project (Contract #2019-163).

DESCRIPTION:
In December 2019, Town Council awarded the construction contract for the expansion of French
Settlement Road to GRod Construction. The project included the installation of approximately
10,100 square yards of concrete pavement; 900 feet of storm drains; 2,615 feet of 12” water
mains; and eighty (80) feet of 8” sanitary sewer lines. The project was completed and placed into
service in conjunction with the opening of Walker Middle School in August 2020.

In March 2020, Town Council approved a contract change order to expand the Town Hall parking
lot to include thirty (30) additional parking spaces. This work has also been completed and placed
into service.

BUDGET IMPACT:
Funding for the project was allocated within the capital improvement program budget, with
additional funding provided via agreements between the Town, Little Elm Independent School
District (LEISD), and Denton County.
  
$ 1,643,960.75 Original Contract Amount
$    186,156.94 Approved Change Orders
$       (7,735.00) Pay Item Under runs
$ 1,822,382.69 Final Contract Amount
$      91,119.13 Retainage Due (5%)

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends approval of the final acceptance of the French Settlement Road Construction



Staff recommends approval of the final acceptance of the French Settlement Road Construction
Project (Contract #2019-163) and authorizing the release of $91,119.13 in retainage funds when all
final closeout documents are received.

Attachments
Retainage Pay Application - French Settlement 
Listing of Pay Item Overruns/Underruns - French Settlement 



lZA-V202(   
Date 

1,643,960.75 

186,156.94  

1,830,117.69 

Original Contract Amount 

Approved Change Orders 

Current Contract Amount with Change Orders 

91,119.13  

$ 	1,731,273.06  

94.60% 

F BALANCE DUE THIS STATEMENT 

G PREVIOUS PAYMENTS 

H PERCENTAGE OF CONTRACT PAID TO DATE 

Rancr   
Signatult 

Carlos Rangel  

Printed Name & Title 

day of , 20 Subscribed and sworn to before me this 

PROJECT: 

CONTRACTOR: 

ENGINEER: 

PAYMENT PERIOD: From 	November 1, 2020 to 	November 30, 2020 	PO 

A. Total Value of Work this Estimate - Exhibit A: Column H 	 0.00  

B Total Materials on Hand this Estimate - Exhibit A: Column I 	 0.00  

C Total A + B (Retainage Calculated) 	 0.00  

D. Amount Retained this Period 	 (C x 5%) 	 0.00 

The undersigned Owners Representative for the Contractor listed above certifies that all work, including materials on hand, covered by this Periodical Payment has beer 

completed and delivered and stored in accordance with the Contract Documents, that all amounts have been paid by him for work, materials, and equipment for which 

previous Periodical Payments were issued and received from the Owner, and that the current payment shown herein is now due. 

Notary Public: 
Commission 

Expires 

4niftlA 	hit  ,A,Th  

dl   

Recommended for Payment by: 
Engineer of Record 

Approved for Payment by: 
Inspector 

Department Representative 

Wesley Brandon, P.E., Town Engineer 

Fred Gibbs, Director of Development Services 

Date 

Date 

Date 

Date 

Date 

Pay App # 

11 

• 
SUMMER D. JOHNSON 

ver:.Notary Public, State of Texas 

Comm. Expires 12-15-2021 
• • -)1 C- 

Notary ID 131382966 

IMO 
MI  NI 
rir, TOWN OF LITTLE ELM PAYMENT APPLICATION 

SUBMIT BY THE 10TH OF EACH MONTH WITH EXHIBITS 

wbrandon
Text Box
12



tvi S 

8 
8 

8 
8 
8 8 

8 
a 

8 2 8 

8 

r.
r.
„,t
8.
..
..
..
..
,.
..
 

0
 

i
4
 

t
i
 

 
.: 

i4
 

I 
1
4
 

la
-2

  
3. 

f

-
 13
 

t2
 

!
A
t
 

a,
A

,-- g. 
X I g 

[ 
. 

rice 

It 

.-. 
8
.-

8
rg

E
.T

ii
i.
- 

G
G
g
W
q
 

„
I
g
/
 

,7
..

 

§
§
§

,%1  
4
;4

tg
Z

..
.-

i 
8
8
8
8
 

8
8

8
8

8
8

8
8

 

1 
,1
 

8
$,. 

.(A
z 

.
,
 

L
A
g
g
g
 

g 
P
l
n
 

8
8

8
8

8
8

8
8

 
8
8
8
8
 

8
8
8
8
8
8
8
8
8
8
8
 

 

1
 

g
g

g
 

g 
g

g
 

Ig
g
g
g
g
g
g
g
 

gg
gg

g 

225 .00   

0.00   

MC
 

 

lo
g

 
§
g
r
M

g
 

§
8

8
 

8
8
8

8
8
8

 

;
 

.6.,.
- 

8 
- 
- 

g  
g

.
 

 
8

8
8

 
8 

g 
g
8
 

8 

%
:0

8
8
8
8
8
8
8
8
8
 

i i 
,.
 

Vb
i 

PN
iw

 i
0
i
i
.
 

,., 
i; 

. 
[: 

lg
 

;:
E.
EP
.'
 

Bast BI D 

A B 

III  ITEM DESCRIPTION 

Total   Chang
e 

e  Orden 

Adjust 5'  Sanitary Sewer Manhole 

Tree Removal (3 Large t rees n ot In pl an s) 

202 G rate I nl et 

12"  RCP  Class 3 

i 

Trench  Safety for Wastewater 
Total  Base Bid 

81 n . Wastewater Pi pe I nst all ati on 

5ft . Manhole (Al l  Depths) 

Abandon Existi ng Water Mai n 

Remove and  Selvage Existi ng Fi re H yd rant 

Trench  Safety for Water 

Connect  to Existi ng W ater Main 

tin. Combin ation Air and  Vacuum Valve  

Water Servke M eter Box  

z8 i 1 a g  

Fire Hyd rants 
6I n . Water Pipe I n stallation 

i” R g.g   F 

,1  R 
2 g ' 

O
 i'
l

.0
 

E
.E:
44

,  
za

t,
a 

.
.
.
 

'1
9-
1 

1
.
5
A
 

: 2 .±
  
=
 3 3 3.
.2

 
0?
.4
 

ER
R
 

5
E
E
 i '., 1 

 
a
 

2
3
 

Met al  Beam Guard  Fence  

School  Signals with  Fl asher  

Pavement H eader at E xi sti ng Pavement (i ncludes sawcut)  

Adjust M anh ol e Lid  t o Gr ad e 	  

Solid  Yellow Type  II  Reflectorited  (120-Mg) Pavement M arking  

Bin, Soli d  Wh it e Type II R eflectorixed  (120-MR) Pavement M arking  

Solid  Wh ite Type Ii  ReflectorInd  (120-MI3 Pavement  M arki ng  

i n. Broken Yellow Type II  Refl ectorited  (120-Mil ) Pavement M arki ng  

24l n. Solid  Wh ite Type II R eflectorlaad (120-Mig Pavement M arking - Stop Bar 

4in . Soli d Yellow Type II R effectorited  (120-Mu ) Pavement M arking  

1 

Small  Road side Sign and  Assemblies  

410. R aised  Pavement M arki ng (Type I I -A-A)  

Remove and  Replace Mail box  

Remove Sign  

PPS P05 ilosgol 17311  ',MP  
stfulea  6073   

I6In . Concrete D riveway Approaches  

Bin. Concrete D riveway Approaches  

121n. Type D  Asph alt Pavement  

41n , Type 13  Asph alt Pavement  

RW
 

ig
 

g
m
 

tf
t *- 

101n. Portl and Cement Concrete, Pavement  

12in. Flexible Base (Crushed  Stone)  

Sin. Portl and  Cement Concrete pavement  

81n. F lexible Base (Cr ushed  Stone)  

1, * a 

 3 

Barr caves , Signs Tref  c h anang 

Prepare Right of  Wa y 

Remove Culvert (12i n .-361n .) 

Stormwater P ol l ution Prevention Pl an 

.- 
. 
n
l
i
 
"
 

"
"
"
I
g
"
"
t
E
E
"
P
t
'
e
l
g
 

i
2
"
4
"
 

i
4
5 
W
,
"
'
I
N
 

.
8
 

0 

D 
; 

7.
 c

. 
;
;
 

,;
; 

; 
g
q
-
7
.
;
;
;
q
q
q
;
q
;
q
q
q
q
q
-
7
.
-
7
.
 
;
;
;
;
.

.1
12

 
7
7
V
Q
i
.
 
F
 

g c 

:., § g 

w 
E
g
O
g
'
g

-  
8

8
8

8
1

4
 

P,
..

, 
n
 "!el 8 

u 
r 

§
S

E
E

E
M

S
t 

8
8

8
8

8
8

8
N

8
 

;11
:4
1"
n;
 

r
d
E
g
E
 

8
8
8
8
8
 

..
..
t 

E
tt
rr

rl
g
rE

S
g
E

g
il
lE

S
iE

E
 

8
8
8
8
8
8
8
8
8
8
8
8
8
8
8
8
8
8
8
:4

 

a 
SE

I 
8

8
8

 

4 A 

:. g 
0

8
8

8
0

8
8

 

1: 8 

8
8
8

8 

8
8

8
8

 
i g 

Vi
 

8t
A

 

.. g 8 

wg
P.

..
. 

g
g
g
g
p
 

8
8

8
8

8
8

 

. g 8 

.. g g 
25,740.00   

19,500.00   

Pt
l,
.:
. 

PA
gg
 

8
8

8
8

 

1-
.4
- 

g
n
g
 

8
8

8
8

 
0 8 

t±
.;

 
'
'
gg
 

g
g
g
 

.r g 8 

i'l g 8 

520,850.00  

139,272 .50  

A' 8
8

8
8

8
8

 ; 
gg
 

CONTRACT AMOUNT , 

100,36t-tit  lacro$  lorof   
LOODOSIE 100'0 1000  1000 

8
8

8
8

 
8
8
 

8 
8 

8 
8

8
 

{8
$
8
8
8
$
8
8
8
8
 

Ti
 

fi
T 	

° 
gg
 

P
P

P
 

8
8
8
 

g 
I 

P
g
  g

 

Ig
g
g
g
g
g
g
g
g
g
g
g
g
g
g
g
g
 

g 
g 

gg
gg

gg
g 

i 

gg
gg

gg
 

g
g

g
 

g
g

 
gg

  g
 

ag
g

g
g

g
g

g
g

g
g

g
g

g
g

g
g

g
g

g
g

g
g

ri
g

g
g

g
E

 

M
i
 n

g
; 

g 
ii
E 

Total  Value of  

Work  Com pleted  Materials on 

thi s P eriod 	Hand 

1«17:1 8 
g 

c
o
o
p
 

8
8

8
8

 

gg
 g

g 

“1
..
..
 

W
E
 

88
8t

A
 

5,410.00  

14,40300  

g g 
8 .g
ri

E 
..
.9
. 

8
8
 8

8
 

it-J.
 

gE
 

8:
A

 

..
 

gg
 

8
8
 

SA
P 

gE
 

8 

5,106.00  

9,000.00]  

.P
.8

 
g
O
A
 

8
$

8
$

$
8
8
$
 

e
 gg
 

11,500.00  I 
460.00 

g
g
n
 

8
8

 8
8

 

ocrooest   
ocroorss   

;11
  g 8 

tr
,'
 

.!
.±1
8 

,1
E 8 

7
Y

E
2
5
 2

5
 

T otal Value of Work I 

from Previous 

Applications 

9
p

 p
 

75
 
P

  
.
/
.
 

gg
 

88
 

g
i
l
l
 

8
8
 

g 
gg

 

It' -. .. 01
 

:-
A

gg
 

g
'8

'-
' 

gt
4 

-6
.E

r 
1
§
 

g
g
 

- 8 

6 
8Z

4 . 
g g 

1
4
 

g
g
 

5i
 

8
8

 
io

g 
8
8
8
 
go
 

8
8

 ,; 
1 

88
' 

8
8
 . 	

,.. 8 8 

g
n
 

i
l
 
8
 

E
r
E
i
=
 

7a
. 

"
.
 

0 8 

oa
 

.“
- 

'E 
§ii

 
;5

 
U
 

15
 
Ev
Er
E§
E§
g 

;;
;;
;;
51
0 

!
M
E
M
 

;;
;;
;;
; 

EM
EE
EE
R 

;;
;;
1;
;;
 
sE

§W
E'
E 

0;
;/
;;
; 

§E
RE
RE
E§
gg
 

;;
;;
;;
;;
;;
 

f,,' it
 	

-
 

It
 

,.
..
..
..
 

0
8

8
8

8
8

 

g
M

ll
 

3110321 ..I.N3INA 



French Settlement Reconstruction 12/29/2020

ITEM NO. DESCRIPTION UNIT
OVER / UNDER (-) 
RUN QUANTITY

 UNIT BID 
PRICE 

OVER / UNDER (-) 
RUN COST

BASE BID
1.1 Barricades, Signs  Traffic Handling LS 0 $13,000.00 ‐$                          

1.2 Prepare Right of Way STA 0 $3,100.00 ‐$                          

1.3 Remove Culvert (12in.‐36in.) LF 0 $12.00 ‐$                          

1.4 Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan LS 0 $8,700.00 ‐$                          

1.5 Project Sign EA 0 $650.00 ‐$                          

1.6 Roadway Excavation CY 0 $22.00 ‐$                          

1.7 8in. Portland Cement Concrete Pavement SY 0 $55.00 ‐$                          

1.8 8in. Flexible Base (Crushed Stone) SY 0 $14.50 ‐$                          

1.9 10in. Portland Cement Concrete Pavement SY 0 $103.00 ‐$                          

1.10 12in. Flexible Base (Crushed Stone) SY 0 $22.75 ‐$                          

1.11 5in. Concrete Sidewalk SY 0 $52.00 ‐$                          

1.12 Concrete Median SY 0 $250.00 ‐$                          

1.13 2in. Type D Asphalt Pavement SY 0 $19.00 ‐$                          

1.14 4in. Type B Asphalt Pavement SY 0 $23.00 ‐$                          

1.15 6in. Concrete Driveway Approaches SY 110 $76.00 8,360.00$                

1.16 8in. Concrete Driveway Approaches SY 0 $85.00 ‐$                          

1.17 Curb Ramps EA 0 $1,000.00 ‐$                          

1.18 4in. Thick Topsoil and Sod SY ‐20 $12.50 (250.00)$                  

1.19 Remove and Replace Mailbox EA 2 $250.00 500.00$                    

1.20 Remove Sign EA 0 $75.00 ‐$                          

1.21 Small Roadside Sign and Assemblies EA 0 $575.00 ‐$                          

1.22 4in. Raised Pavement Marking (Type II‐A‐A) EA 0 $5.00 ‐$                          

1.23 24in. Solid White Type II Reflectorized (120‐Mil) Pavement Marking  LF 0 $9.00 ‐$                          

1.24 4in. Solid Yellow Type II Reflectorized (120‐Mil) Pavement Marking LF 0 $1.50 ‐$                          

1.25 4in. Solid White Type II Reflectorized (120‐Mil) Pavement Marking LF 0 $1.50 ‐$                          

1.26 4in. Broken Yellow Type II Reflectorized (120‐Mil) Pavement Markin LF 0 $1.50 ‐$                          

1.27 8in. Solid Yellow Type II Reflectorized (120‐Mil) Pavement Marking LF 0 $2.50 ‐$                          

1.28 8in. Solid White Type II Reflectorized (120‐Mil) Pavement Marking LF 0 $2.50 ‐$                          

1.29 Pavement Header at Existing Pavement (includes sawcut) LF 0 $13.00 ‐$                          

1.30 Adjust Manhole Lid to Grade EA 0 $1,200.00 ‐$                          

1.31 Metal Beam Guard Fence LF 0 $37.00 ‐$                          

1.32 School Signals with Flasher EA 0 $4,500.00 ‐$                          

1.33 18in. Reinforced Concrete Pipe Installation LF 0 $112.00 ‐$                          

1.34 24in. Reinforced Concrete Pipe Installation LF 0 $107.00 ‐$                          

1.35 2ft.X2ft. Reinforced Concrete Box Installation LF 0 $260.00 ‐$                          

1.36 12ft. Curb Inlet EA 0 $3,900.00 ‐$                          

1.37 2ft.X2ft. Safety End Treatment (B‐PD) (6:1) EA 0 $2,250.00 ‐$                          

1.38 4ft.X4ft. Junction Box EA 0 $3,950.00 ‐$                          

1.39 Trench Safety for Drainage LF 0 $2.00 ‐$                          

1.40 12in. Water Pipe Installation LF 40 $43.25 1,730.00$                

1.41 Water Fittings TON 0 $4,150.00 ‐$                          

1.42 6in. Gate Valve & Box EA 0 $1,210.00 ‐$                          

1.43 8in. Gate Valve & Box EA 0 $1,627.00 ‐$                          

1.44 12in. Gate Valve & Box EA 0 $2,638.00 ‐$                          

1.45 Fire Hydrants EA 0 $3,150.00 ‐$                          

1.46 6in. Water Pipe Installation LF 0 $45.00 ‐$                          

1.47 8in. Water Pipe Installation LF ‐20 $100.00 (2,000.00)$               

1.48 1in. Water Service Connections (Short) EA 4 $1,130.00 4,520.00$                

1.49 2in. Combination Air and Vacuum Valve EA 0 $3,950.00 ‐$                          

1.50 Water Service Meter Box EA 4 $250.00 1,000.00$                

1.51 Trench Safety for Water LF 40 $2.00 80.00$                      

1.52 Connect to Existing Water Main EA 1 $3,600.00 3,600.00$                



1.53 Abandon Existing Water Main LF 0 $0.55 ‐$                          

1.54 Remove and Salvage Existing Fire Hydrant LF 0 $900.00 ‐$                          

1.55 8in. Wastewater Pipe Installation LF 0 $150.00 ‐$                          

1.56 5ft. Manhole (All Depths) EA 0 $6,200.00 ‐$                          

1.57 Trench Safety for Wastewater LF 0 $15.00 ‐$                          

Change Order 1 - Town Hall Parking
4.1 Mobilization LS 0 $6,500.00 ‐$                          

4.2 Strip top soil SY 0 $1.00 ‐$                          

4.3 Unclassified excavation SY 0 $9.00 ‐$                          

4.4 6" lime stabalization SY 0 $12.50 ‐$                          

4.5 Lime Slurry @ 42 Lbs/SY TON 0 $200.00 ‐$                          

4.6 5" concrete paving SY 0 $47.00 ‐$                          

4.7 6" concrete paving SY 0 $52.00 ‐$                          

4.8 Pavement header LF 0 $15.00 ‐$                          

4.9 Pavement Striping LS 0 $3,800.00 ‐$                          

4.1 Concrete wheel stops EA ‐7 $75.00 (525.00)$                  

4.11 Landscaping allowance LS ‐1 $14,500.00 (14,500.00)$             

4.12 Irrigation allowance LS ‐0.86 $7,500.00 (6,450.00)$               

4.13 Lighting/Electrical allowance LS ‐0.25 $20,000.00 (5,000.00)$               

Change Order 2
3.1 2X2 GRATE INLET LS 0 $2,000.00 ‐$                          

3.2 12" rcp Class 3 LS 0 $4,500.00 ‐$                          

3.3 adjust 5' SS Manhole EA 0 $3,850.00 ‐$                          

3.4 Tree Removal (3 Large Trees not in plans) LS 0 $1,800.00 ‐$                          

3.5 locate and close additional water services LS 0 $3,500.00 ‐$                          

Change Order 3
5.1 Sign Assemblies (Labor Only) EA 4 $300.00 1,200.00$                

5.2 Manhole Riser LS 0 $3,850.00 ‐$                          

5.3 Additional Striping LS 0 $1,157.94 ‐$                          

5.4 School Flasher (Upgraded) EA 0 $5,300.00 ‐$                          

TOTAL OVER / (-)UNDER (7,735.00)$              



  

Town Council Meeting
 
Date: 01/05/2021
Agenda Item #: 6. G. 
Department: Development Services

Strategic Goal: Ensure excellence in public services while keeping up with the growth in the
community

Staff Contact: Wesley Brandon, Town Engineer

AGENDA ITEM:
Consider Action to Approve the Final Acceptance of the Bluewater Drive Retaining Wall Project.

DESCRIPTION:
In July 2020, Town Council awarded a construction contract to Keller North America for the
replacement of a retaining wall located near Bluewater Drive in the Sunset Pointe Subdivision. The
scope of work included the replacement of a failing retaining wall located on Town-owned
property. This project was exempted from the competitive procurement process under Section
252.022 of the Texas Local Government Code, which provides exemptions for expenditures that
are necessary to protect the public health or safety of the municipality’s residents, or because of
unforeseen damage to property.

BUDGET IMPACT:
Funding for the project was allocated in the Drainage Fund.
$ 62,450.00 Contract Amount
$ 3,122.50 Retainage Due (5%) 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends approval of the final acceptance of the Bluewater Drive Retaining Wall Project
and authorizing the release of $3,122.50 in retainage funds when all final closeout documents are
received.

Attachments
Retainage Pay Application - Bluewater 







  

Town Council Meeting
 
Date: 01/05/2021
Agenda Item #: 6. H. 
Department: Development Services

Strategic Goal: Ensure excellence in public services while keeping up with the growth in the
community

Staff Contact: Wesley Brandon, Town Engineer

AGENDA ITEM:
Consider Action to Approve the Final Acceptance of the Dickson Lane Traffic Signal Project
(Contract #2020-05).

DESCRIPTION:
In March 2020, Town Council awarded the construction contract for the Dickson Lane Traffic Signal
Project to Roadway Solutions, Inc. The scope of work included the installation of a traffic signal,
pedestrian crossing improvements, and striping at the intersection of Eldorado Parkway and
Dickson Lane/Pinnacle Bay Pointe. The project was completed and placed into service in
conjunction with the opening of Walker Middle School in August 2020.

BUDGET IMPACT:
Funding for the project was allocated within the capital improvement program budget, with
additional funding provided via agreements between the Town, Little Elm Independent School
District (LEISD), and Denton County.
  
$ 286,131.00 Original Contract Amount
$     1,505.50 Approved Change Orders
$ 287,636.50 Final Contract Amount
$   14,381.82 Retainage Due (5%)

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends approval of the final acceptance of the Dickson Lane Traffic Signal Project
(Contract #2020-05)and authorizing the release of $14,381.82 in retainage funds when all final
closeout documents are received.

Attachments



Retainage Pay Application - Dickson Lane 





















  

Town Council Meeting
 
Date: 01/05/2021
Agenda Item #: 6. I. 
Department: Development Services

Strategic Goal: Ensure excellence in public services while keeping up with the growth in the
community

Staff Contact: Wesley Brandon, Town Engineer

AGENDA ITEM:
Consider Action to Approve the Final Acceptance of the Canyon Lake Retaining Wall Project.

DESCRIPTION:
In July 2020, Town Council awarded a construction contract to Keller North America for the
replacement of a retaining wall located near Canyon Lake Drive in the Sunset Pointe Subdivision.
The scope of work included the replacement of a failing retaining wall located on Town-owned
property. This project was exempted from the competitive procurement process under Section
252.022 of the Texas Local Government Code, which provides exemptions for expenditures that
are necessary to protect the public health or safety of the municipality’s residents, or because of
unforeseen damage to property.

BUDGET IMPACT:
Funding for the project was allocated in the Drainage Fund.
  
$ 268,098.00 Contract Amount
$   13,404.90 Retainage Due (5%)

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends approval of the final acceptance of the Canyon Lake Retaining Wall Project and
authorizing the release of $13,404.90 in retainage funds when all final closeout documents are
received.

Attachments
Retainage Pay Application - Canyon Lake 







  

Town Council Meeting
 
Date: 01/05/2021
Agenda Item #: 6. J. 
Department: Development Services

Strategic Goal: Ensure excellence in public services while keeping up with the growth in the
community

Staff Contact: Wesley Brandon, Town Engineer

AGENDA ITEM:
Consider Action to Award a Construction Contract for the Little Elm Park Swim Beach Sidewalk
Project to GRod Construction and Authorize the Town Manager to Execute the Contract in an
Amount Not to Exceed $170,000.00.

DESCRIPTION:
Little Elm Park includes a concrete sidewalk that separates the swim beach area and the sand
volleyball courts. Over the past several months, staff has noted severe erosion underneath the
sidewalk due to fluctuations in lake water levels. In order to remedy the erosion and prevent
failures to the sidewalk, an engineering consultant was hired to design a short retaining wall that
could be installed along the downstream side of the sidewalk that would isolate the backfill material
and prevent erosion in the future. Staff has also received a proposal from GRod Construction, LLC, to
construct the wall in accordance with the design.

Section 252.022 of the Texas Local Government Code provides exemptions to the competitive
procurement process for expenditures that are necessary to protect the public health or safety of
the municipality’s residents, or because of unforeseen damage to property. Due to the risk of
further erosion, the potential failure of the sidewalk, and public safety concerns, staff is
recommending approval of the proposed construction contract utilizing these exemptions.

The contractor is ready to perform the work and is expected to be completed in February 2021.

BUDGET IMPACT:
Funding for the project has been allocated in the FY 2020-2021 budget from the Drainage Fund
(Fund 715) for $170,000.
  
$ 159,025.00 Contractor Proposal
$   10,975.00 Contingency



$ 170,000.00 Total Contract Amount

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends approval.

Attachments
Layout and Site Details - Little Elm Park Swim Beach Sidewalk 
Cost Proposal - Little Elm Park Swim Beach Sidewalk 
Standard Form of Agreement - Little Elm Park Swim Beach Sidewalk 



BEGIN WALL AT EDGE
OF RAMP LANDING

(APPROX. 140 L.F.)
RETAINING WALL AND
SIDEWALK TYPE A, REFER TO
A/L2.01, (TYP.)

END WALL AT NEAREST
SIDEWALK JOINT BEYOND
THE ADJ. BENCH PAD

NEAREST SIDEWALK JOINT
BEYOND ADJ. BENCH PAD

EXISTING
BENCH PAD

EXISTING
SIDEWALK

EXISTING
SIDEWALK

EXISTING RAMP
LANDING

LEWISVILLE LAKE

VOLLEYBALL
COURTS PAVILION

(APPROX. 95 L.F.)
RETAINING WALL AND
SIDEWALK TYPE A REFER TO
A/L2.01, (TYP.)

A

A

C

D

E

NOTE:
CONTRACTOR TO VERIFY FINAL
LOCATION OF WALL TERMINATION
WITH CITY PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION

B

WALL TYPE A
WALL TYPE B

WALL TYPE A
WALL TYPE B

(APPROX. 338 L.F.)
RETAINING WALL AND
SIDEWALK TYPE B, REFER TO
B/L2.01, (TYP.) LA

YO
UT

 P
LA

N

L1.01

TDD

APL

TDD

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

F
I
L
E
N
A
M
E
:
 
 
6
0
0
7
-
L
a
y
o
u
t
 
P
l
a
n
.
d
w
g

P
L
O
T
T
E
D
 
B
Y
:
 
 
A
r
r
o
n
 
L
a
w

P
L
O
T
T
E
D
 
O
N
:
 
 
W
e
d
n
e
s
d
a
y
,
 
D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r
 
0
9
,
 
2
0
2
0

P
L
O
T
T
E
D
 
A
T
:
 
 
1
0
:
1
2
:
4
2
 
A
M

P
L
O
T
T
E
D
 
W
I
T
H
:
 
 
_
A
d
o
b
e
 
P
D
F
.
p
c
3

F
U
L
L
 
P
A
T
H
:
 
 
G
:
\
P
r
o
d
u
c
t
i
o
n
4
0
0
0
\
0
0
6
0
0
0
\
6
0
0
7
\
0
0
1
\
P
L
A
\
D
r
a
w
i
n
g
s
\
P
l
o
t
 
S
h
e
e
t
s
G
:
\
P
r
o
d
u
c
t
i
o
n
4
0
0
0
\
0
0
6
0
0
0
\
6
0
0
7
\
0
0
1
\
P
L
A
\
D
r
a
w
i
n
g
s
\
P
l
o
t
 
S
h
e
e
t
s
\
6
0
0
7
-
L
a
y
o
u
t
 
P
l
a
n

JOB NO.

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE:

SHEET:

R
E
V
I
S
I
O
N
S

D
E
S
C
R
I
P
T
I
O
N

D
A
T
E

N
O
.

6007.001

DECEMBER 10, 2020

 
TH

E 
BE

A
C

H 
A

T 
LI

TT
LE

 E
LM

 P
A

RK
 R

EN
O

V
A

TIO
N

S
LI

TT
LE

 E
LM

, T
X

HISTE

C
CT

TE

SA

ET

S
TA

I
RE

G

OF ET
X

RLDRE
CAANDS EP A

TA
NN

ER  DELL  DYSON

3 1 8 0

12/10/2020

NORTH

GRAPHIC SCALE
0

1 inch =

20 40

20'

NOTES:
1) LOCATION OF PROPOSED WALL SHALL BE INSTALLED ADJACENT TO THE

EXISTING SIDEWALK.

2) PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL FIELD VERIFY THE

EXISTING CONDITIONS OF EROSION ALONG THE SIDEWALK EDGE AND SUBMIT

A DRAWING THAT SHOWS THE PROPOSED DEPTH OF RETAINING WALL.

3) CONTRACTOR SHALL COORDINATE WITH THE CITY THE FINAL FINISHED

GRADE OF SAND.

4) REFER TO EROSION CONTROL PLANS.

5) CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE A LINEAR FOOT UNIT PRICE AT BIDDING TO

CLIENT.

A

LEGEND:

RETAINING WALL /

PROPOSED SIDEWALK

SIDEWALK JOINT

DETAIL / IMAGE

REFERENCE L2.01



SI
TE

 D
ET

A
IL

S

L2.01

TDD

APL

TDD

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

F
I
L
E
N
A
M
E
:
 
 
6
0
0
7
-
S
i
t
e
 
D
e
t
a
i
l
s
.
d
w
g

P
L
O
T
T
E
D
 
B
Y
:
 
 
A
r
r
o
n
 
L
a
w

P
L
O
T
T
E
D
 
O
N
:
 
 
W
e
d
n
e
s
d
a
y
,
 
D
e
c
e
m
b
e
r
 
0
9
,
 
2
0
2
0

P
L
O
T
T
E
D
 
A
T
:
 
 
1
0
:
1
2
:
5
2
 
A
M

P
L
O
T
T
E
D
 
W
I
T
H
:
 
 
_
A
d
o
b
e
 
P
D
F
.
p
c
3

F
U
L
L
 
P
A
T
H
:
 
 
G
:
\
P
r
o
d
u
c
t
i
o
n
4
0
0
0
\
0
0
6
0
0
0
\
6
0
0
7
\
0
0
1
\
P
L
A
\
D
r
a
w
i
n
g
s
\
P
l
o
t
 
S
h
e
e
t
s
G
:
\
P
r
o
d
u
c
t
i
o
n
4
0
0
0
\
0
0
6
0
0
0
\
6
0
0
7
\
0
0
1
\
P
L
A
\
D
r
a
w
i
n
g
s
\
P
l
o
t
 
S
h
e
e
t
s
\
6
0
0
7
-
S
i
t
e
 
D
e
t
a
i
l
s

A

JOB NO.

DRAWN BY:

DESIGNED BY:

CHECKED BY:

DATE:

SHEET:

R
E
V
I
S
I
O
N
S

D
E
S
C
R
I
P
T
I
O
N

D
A
T
E

N
O
.

6007.001

DECEMBER 10, 2020

 
TH

E 
BE

A
C

H 
A

T 
LI

TT
LE

 E
LM

 P
A

RK
 R

EN
O

V
A

TIO
N

S
LI

TT
LE

 E
LM

, T
X

12/9/2020

C

D

E

RETAINING WALL AND SIDEWALK - TYPE A SCALE: 1"=1'-0"

3'-6"

2'-4" 8" 6"

12"
MIN

8"

EXISTING
SIDEWALK

1'-6"

PROPOSED 5" SIDEWALK W/ #4 BAR
@ 18" O.C. DOWELED MIN 5"
INTO EXISTING SIDEWALK AND
PROPOSED RETAINING WALL,

3/4" PREFORMED
EXPANSION JOINT,
SEALED

TOOLED EDGE FLUSH
WITH EXISTING SIDEWALK

10
"

18
"

M
IN

FREE DRAIN
GRAVEL FILL

FILTER FABRIC

3/4" CHAMFER

#4 @ 12" O.C.
VERTICAL

#4 @ 12" O.C.
HORIZONTAL

3" Ø PVC PIPE @
10'-0" O.C.

#4 @ 12" O.C.E.W

UNDISTURBED
SOIL

PROPOSED FINISHED
GRADE SAND

(3) #4 CONT.

1.5%

D
EP

TH
 T

O
 E

XI
ST

IN
G

G
RO

UN
D

 V
A

RI
ES

2'
-0

" M
A

X.

3'
-6

" M
A

X.
 H

EI
G

HT

VOIDS TO BE FILLED
WITH C.L.S.M.
(400 PSI MIN.)

RETAINING WALL AND SIDEWALK - TYPE B SCALE: 1"=1'-0"

12"
MIN

8"

EXISTING
SIDEWALK

1'-6"

PROPOSED 5" SIDEWALK W/ #4 BAR
@ 18" O.C. DOWELED MIN 5"
INTO EXISTING SIDEWALK AND
PROPOSED RETAINING WALL,

3/4" PREFORMED
EXPANSION JOINT,
SEALED

TOOLED EDGE FLUSH
WITH EXISTING SIDEWALK

18
"

M
IN

FREE DRAIN
GRAVEL FILL

FILTER FABRIC

3/4"
CHAMFER

#4 @ 12" O.C.
VERTICAL

#4 @ 12" O.C.
HORIZONTAL

3" Ø PVC PIPE @
10'-0" O.C.

PROPOSED FINISHED
GRADE SAND 1.5%

D
EP

TH
 T

O
 E

XI
ST

IN
G

 G
RO

UN
D

 V
A

IR
ES

3'
-0

" M
A

X.

3'
-6

" M
IN

 H
EI

G
HT

VOIDS TO BE FILLED
WITH C.L.S.M.
(400 PSI MIN.)

1'
-0

"

1'-2"

3'-6"

2'-4" 8" 6"

10
"

#4 @ 12" O.C.E.W

UNDISTURBED
SOIL

(3) #4 CONT.

12"
MIN

PERMISSIBLE
CONSTRUCTION

JOINT

B

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOSHUA WRIGHT

AutoCAD SHX Text
125733



12/22/2020 10:06:01AM 

Proposal

Boyd, Texas 76023

889 E.Rock Island Avenue

G Rod Construction, LLC

Guillermo Rodriguez

682 302 3219

682 204 0191

Contact:

Phone:

Fax:

Job Name:Quote To: Wesley Brandon The Beach Renovations At Little Elm Par
Date of Plans:Town Of Little Elm

Phone: Revision Date:
Fax:

AMOUNTITEM DESCRIPTION QUANTITY UNIT UNIT PRICE

MOBILIZATION 6,200.00LS1.00 6,200.00

F&I Type A Wall 235.00LF235.001 55,225.00

F&I Type B Wall 275.00LF340.002 93,500.00

Errosion Controll 3,000.00LS1.003 3,000.00

Concrete Repair 11.00SF100.004 1,100.00

GRAND TOTAL $159,025.00

NOTES: 

EXCLUSIONS & CLARIFICATIONS

Exclusions:
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------, 
-Material Testing, - Trenching/Shoring

Clarifications:
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
Work not listed billed separately
Pricing to be modified if scope removed from bid
Proposal Valid for 30 Days
Please contact me with any questions,

Thank you,

G Rod Construction, LLC
(682) 302-3219
grod@grodconstruction.com

Page 1 of 1



This document is a modified version of EJCDC® C-522. Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, and American Society of Civil Engineers or is 
based in part on excerpts from copyrighted EJCDC documents.  Those portions of the text that originated in copyrighted EJCDC documents remain subject to the copyright.  
 

0522  Page 1 of 15 

 

SECTION 00522 
STANDARD FORM OF AGREEMENT 

 
This Agreement is by and between the Town of Little Elm (Owner) and      (Contractor).  
Owner and Contractor, in mutual consideration agree as follows: 

ARTICLE 1 - THE WORK 

1.01 Work 

A. Work includes all labor, materials, equipment, services, and documentation necessary to construct the 
Project defined herein.  The Work may include related services such as testing, start-up, and 
commissioning, all as required by the Contract Documents. 

B. The Contractor shall complete all Work as specified or indicated in the Contract Documents. The 
Project is generally described as follows: 

1. The Beach Renovations at Little Elm Park:  Includes construction and installation of new 
retaining wall adjacent to the existing sidewalk, 4’ max. depth. Concrete wall to include an 18” 
sidewalk expansion, concrete beam footing, gravel fill, and filling of voids underneath existing 
sidewalk with C.L.S.M. Installation of new sand and fine grading of beach after construction in 
complete.  

a. The Site of the Work includes designated work areas described in detail in the Contract 
Documents generally located around the existing sidewalk near volleyball courts. 

ARTICLE 2 - CONTRACT DOCUMENTS 

2.01 Intent of Contract Documents 

A. It is the intent of the Contract Documents to describe a functionally complete project. The Contract 
Documents do not indicate or describe all of the Work required to complete the Project. Additional 
details required for the correct installation of selected products are to be provided by the Contractor 
and coordinated with the Owner and Engineer. This Contract supersedes prior negotiations, 
representations, and agreements, whether written or oral. The Contract Documents are 
complementary; what is required by one part of the Contract Documents is as binding as if required 
by other parts of the Contract Documents. 

B. During the performance of the Work and until final payment, Contractor and Owner shall submit all 
matters in question concerning the requirements of the Contract Documents, or relating to the 
acceptability of the Work under the Contract Documents to the Engineer. Engineer will be the initial 
interpreter of the requirements of the Contract Documents, and judge of the acceptability of the Work 
thereunder. 

C. Engineer will render a written clarification, interpretation, or decision on the issue submitted, or 
initiate a modification to the Contract Documents. 

D. Contractor, and its subcontractors and suppliers, shall not have or acquire any title to or ownership 
rights to any of the Drawings, Specifications, or other documents (including copies or electronic media 
editions) prepared by Engineer or its consultants. 



This document is a modified version of EJCDC® C-522. Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, and American Society of Civil Engineers or is 
based in part on excerpts from copyrighted EJCDC documents.  Those portions of the text that originated in copyrighted EJCDC documents remain subject to the copyright.  
 

0522  Page 2 of 15 

 

2.02 Contract Documents Defined 

NOTES TO USER:  If any of the items listed are not to be included as Contract Documents, remove such item from 
the list and renumber the remaining items as necessary. 

A. The Contract Documents consist of the following documents: 

1. This Contract. 

2. Performance bond. 

3. Payment bond. 

4. Maintenance bond. 

5. Specifications listed in the Table of Contents. 

6. Drawings as listed on the Drawing Sheet Index. 

7. Addenda. 

8. Exhibits to this Contract (enumerated as follows): 

a. [Exhibit 1 – Name of Exhibit]. 

b. [Exhibit 2 – Name of Exhibit]. 

9. The following which may be delivered or issued on or after the Effective Date of the Contract: 

a. Work Change Directives (EJCDC C-940). 

b. Change Orders (EJCDC C-941). 

c. Field Orders. 

ARTICLE 3 - ENGINEER 

3.01 Engineer 

A. The Engineer for this Project is: 

Dunaway Associates. 

ARTICLE 4 - CONTRACT TIMES 

4.01 Contract Times 

NOTES TO USER:  Use Paragraph A for contracts with an Owner stipulated date for project completion. Write in 
the stipulated dates. Use Paragraph B for contracts for a number of calendar days for construction. Write in the 
stipulated number of days where these are stipulated by the Owner or use the days from the proposal where 
bidder is allowed to submit a proposed number of calendar days for completion of the Project. Delete the 
paragraph not used. Modify the language if working days are used. 

A. The Work will be substantially completed within 60 days after the Effective Date of the Contract and 
completed and ready for final payment within 90 days after the Effective Date of the Contract. 

4.02 Liquidated Damages 

A. Contractor and Owner recognize that time is of the essence in the performance of the Contract, and 
that Owner will incur damages if Contractor does not complete the Work according to the 
requirements of Paragraph 4.01. Because such damages for delay would be difficult and costly to 
determine, Owner and Contractor agree that as liquidated damages for delay (but not as a penalty) 



This document is a modified version of EJCDC® C-522. Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, and American Society of Civil Engineers or is 
based in part on excerpts from copyrighted EJCDC documents.  Those portions of the text that originated in copyrighted EJCDC documents remain subject to the copyright.  
 

0522  Page 3 of 15 

 

Contractor shall pay Owner $500 for each day that expires after the Contract Time for substantial 
completion. 

4.03 Delays in Contractor’s Progress 

A. If Owner, Engineer, or anyone for whom Owner is responsible, delays, disrupts, or interferes with the 
performance or progress of the Work, then Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in 
the Contract Times and Contract Price. Contractor’s entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract 
Times is conditioned on such adjustment being essential to Contractor’s ability to complete the Work 
within the Contract Times. 

B. Contractor shall not be entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times for delay, 
disruption, or interference caused by or within the control of Contractor or their subcontractors or 
suppliers. 

C. If Contractor’s performance or progress is delayed, disrupted, or interfered with by unanticipated 
causes not the fault of and beyond the control of Owner, Contractor, and those for which they are 
responsible, then Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in Contract Times. 

D. Contractor shall not be entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times for any delay, 
disruption, or interference if such delay is concurrent with a delay, disruption, or interference caused 
by or within the control of Contractor or Contractor’s subcontractors or suppliers. 

4.04 Progress Schedules 

A. Contractor shall develop a progress schedule and submit to the Engineer for review and comment 
before starting Work on the Site. The Contractor shall modify the schedule in accordance with the 
comments provided by the Engineer. 

B. The Contractor shall update and submit the progress schedule to the Engineer each month. The Owner 
may withhold payment if the Contractor fails to submit the schedule. 

ARTICLE 5 - CONTRACT PRICE 

5.01 Payment 

NOTES TO USER:  Use Paragraph A for lump sum contracts with no unit price items. Use Paragraph B for unit price 
contracts. Include any lump sum work in unit price contracts as a single item number with a unit quantity of 1. 
Delete the paragraph not used. Verify that prices listed here match those submitted with the proposal. 

A. Owner shall pay Contractor in accordance with the Contract Documents, the lump sum amount of the 
Contract Price for all Work. Payment will be made in an amount equal to the total of all extended 
prices for actual Work completed. The extended price is determined by multiplying the unit price times 
the actual quantity of that Work item completed. Actual quantities installed will be determined by 
Engineer. 

ARTICLE 6 - BONDS AND INSURANCE 

NOTES TO USER:  Requirements for bonds vary significantly between private and public owners, and with Laws 
and Regulations of the Project jurisdiction. Modify Paragraph 6.01 to comply with applicable Laws and 
Regulations. 

6.01 Bonds 

A. Before starting Work, Contractor shall furnish a performance bond and a payment bond from surety 
companies that are duly licensed or authorized to issue bonds in the required amounts in the 
jurisdiction in which the Project is located. Each bond shall be in an amount equal to the Contract Price, 
as security for the faithful performance and payment of all of Contractor’s obligations under the 



This document is a modified version of EJCDC® C-522. Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, and American Society of Civil Engineers or is 
based in part on excerpts from copyrighted EJCDC documents.  Those portions of the text that originated in copyrighted EJCDC documents remain subject to the copyright.  
 

0522  Page 4 of 15 

 

Contract. These bonds shall remain in effect until the completion of the correction period specified in 
Paragraph 7.12 but in any case, not less than one year after the date when final payment becomes 
due. 

6.02 Insurance 

A. Before starting Work, Contractor shall furnish evidence of insurance from companies that are duly 
licensed or authorized in the State of Texas in which the Project is located with a minimum AM Best 
rating of A-VII or better.  Contractor shall provide insurance in accordance with the Town’s Standard 
Insurance Requirements.   

B. The Contractor shall provide property insurance covering physical loss or damage during construction 
to structures, materials, fixtures, and equipment, including those materials, fixtures, or equipment in 
storage or transit. 

C. If Contractor has failed to obtain and maintain required insurance, Owner may exclude the Contractor 
from the Site, impose an appropriate set-off against payment, and exercise Owner’s termination rights 
under Article 15. 

ARTICLE 7 - CONTRACTOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES 

7.01 Supervision and Superintendence 

A. Contractor shall supervise and direct the Work competently and efficiently, devoting such attention 
thereto and applying such skills and expertise as may be necessary to perform the Work in accordance 
with the Contract Documents. Contractor shall be solely responsible for the means, methods, 
techniques, sequences, safety, and procedures of construction. 

B. Contractor shall assign a competent resident superintendent who is to be present at all times during 
the execution of the Work. This resident superintendent shall not be replaced without written notice 
to and approval by the Owner and Engineer except under extraordinary circumstances. 

C. Contractor shall at all times maintain good discipline and order at the Site. 

D. Except as otherwise required for the safety or protection of persons or the Work or property at the 
Site or adjacent thereto, and except as otherwise stated in the Contract Documents, all Work at the 
Site shall be performed during regular working hours, Monday through Friday. 

7.02 Other Work at the Site 

A. In addition to and apart from the Work of the Contractor, other work may occur at or adjacent to the 
Site. Contractor shall take reasonable and customary measures to avoid damaging, delaying, 
disrupting, or interfering with the work of Owner, any other contractor, or any utility owner performing 
other work at or adjacent to the Site. 

7.03 Services, Materials, and Equipment 

A. Unless otherwise specified in the Contract Documents, Contractor shall provide and assume full 
responsibility for all services, materials, equipment, labor, transportation, construction equipment and 
machinery, tools, appliances, fuel, power, light, heat, telephone, water, sanitary facilities, temporary 
facilities, and all other facilities and incidentals necessary for the performance, testing, start up, and 
completion of the Work, whether or not such items are specifically called for in the Contract 
Documents. 

B. All materials and equipment incorporated into the Work shall be new, of good quality and shall be 
stored, applied, installed, connected, erected, protected, used, cleaned, and conditioned in 



This document is a modified version of EJCDC® C-522. Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, and American Society of Civil Engineers or is 
based in part on excerpts from copyrighted EJCDC documents.  Those portions of the text that originated in copyrighted EJCDC documents remain subject to the copyright.  
 

0522  Page 5 of 15 

 

accordance with instructions of the applicable supplier, except as otherwise may be provided in the 
Contract Documents. 

7.04 Subcontractors and Suppliers 

A. Contractor may retain subcontractors and suppliers for the performance of parts of the Work. Such 
subcontractors and suppliers must be acceptable to Owner. 

7.05 Quality Management 

A. Contractor is fully responsible for the managing quality to ensure Work is completed in accordance 
with the Contract Documents. 

7.06 Licenses, Fees and Permits 

A. Contractor shall pay all license fees and royalties and assume all costs incident to performing the Work 
or the incorporation in the Work of any invention, design, process, product, or device which is the 
subject of patent rights or copyrights held by others. 

B. Contractor shall obtain and pay for all construction permits and licenses unless otherwise provided in 
the Contract Documents. 

7.07 Laws and Regulations; Taxes 

A. Contractor shall give all notices required by and shall comply with all local, state, and federal Laws and 
Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. Except where otherwise expressly required by 
applicable Laws and Regulations, neither Owner nor Engineer shall be responsible for monitoring 
Contractor’s compliance with any Laws or Regulations. 

B. Contractor shall bear all resulting costs and losses, and shall indemnify and hold harmless Owner and 
Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and 
subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages if 
Contractor performs any Work or takes any other action knowing or having reason to know that it is 
contrary to Laws or Regulations. 

C. Contractor shall pay all applicable sales, consumer, use, and other similar taxes Contractor is required 
to pay in accordance with Laws and Regulations. 

7.08 Record Documents 

A. Contractor shall maintain one printed record copy of all Drawings, Specifications, Addenda, Change 
Orders, Work Change Directives, Field Orders, written interpretations and clarifications, and approved 
shop drawings in a safe place at the Site. Contractor shall annotate them to show changes made during 
construction. Contractor shall deliver these record documents to Engineer upon completion of the 
Work. 

7.09 Safety and Protection 

A. Contractor shall be solely responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions 
and programs in connection with the Work. 

B. Contractor shall take all necessary precautions for the safety of, and shall provide the necessary 
protection to prevent damage, injury, or loss to: 

1. All persons on the Site or who may be affected by the Work; 

2. All the Work and materials and equipment to be incorporated therein, whether in storage on or 
off the Site; and 



This document is a modified version of EJCDC® C-522. Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, and American Society of Civil Engineers or is 
based in part on excerpts from copyrighted EJCDC documents.  Those portions of the text that originated in copyrighted EJCDC documents remain subject to the copyright.  
 

0522  Page 6 of 15 

 

3. Other property at the Site or adjacent thereto, including trees, shrubs, lawns, walks, pavements, 
roadways, structures, other work in progress, utilities, and underground facilities not designated 
for removal, relocation, or replacement in the course of construction. 

C. All damage, injury, or loss to any property caused, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, by 
Contractor, or anyone for whose acts the Contractor may be liable, shall be remedied by Contractor at 
its expense (except damage or loss attributable to the fault of Contract Documents or to the acts or 
omissions of Owner or Engineer and not attributable, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, to the 
fault or negligence of Contractor). 

D. Contractor shall be responsible for coordinating any exchange of material safety data sheets or other 
hazard communication information required to be made available to or exchanged between or among 
employers at the Site in accordance with Laws or Regulations. 

E. In emergencies affecting the safety or protection of persons or the Work or property at the Site or 
adjacent thereto, Contractor shall act to prevent threatened damage, injury, or loss. Contractor shall 
give Engineer prompt written notice if Contractor believes that any significant changes in the Work or 
variations from the Contract Documents have been caused thereby or are required as a result thereof. 
If Engineer determines that a change in the Contract Documents is required because of the action 
taken by Contractor in response to such an emergency, a Work Change Directive or Change Order will 
be issued. 

7.10 Shop Drawings, Samples, and Other Submittals 

A. Contractor shall review and coordinate the shop drawing and samples with the requirements of the 
Work and the Contract Documents and shall verify all related field measurements, quantities, 
dimensions, specified performance and design criteria, installation requirements, materials, catalog 
numbers, and similar information. 

B. Each submittal shall bear a stamp or specific written certification that Contractor has satisfied 
Contractor’s obligations under the Contract Documents with respect to Contractor’s review of that 
submittal, and that Contractor approves the submittal. 

C. With each submittal, Contractor shall give Engineer specific written notice, in a communication 
separate from the submittal, of any variations that the shop drawing or sample may have from the 
requirements of the Contract Documents. 

D. Engineer will provide timely review of shop drawings and samples. 

E. Engineer’s review and approval will not extend to means, methods, techniques, sequences, or 
procedures of construction or to safety precautions or programs. 

F. Engineer’s review and approval of a separate item does not indicate approval of the assembly in which 
the item functions. 

G. Contractor shall make corrections required by Engineer and shall return the required number of 
corrected copies of shop drawings and submit, as required, new samples for review and approval. 
Contractor shall direct specific attention in writing to revisions other than the corrections called for by 
Engineer on previous submittals. 

H. Shop drawings are not Contract Documents. 

7.11 Warranties and Guarantees 

A. Contractor warrants and guarantees to Owner that all Work will be in accordance with the Contract 
Documents and will not be defective. Engineer and its officers, directors, members, partners, 



This document is a modified version of EJCDC® C-522. Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, and American Society of Civil Engineers or is 
based in part on excerpts from copyrighted EJCDC documents.  Those portions of the text that originated in copyrighted EJCDC documents remain subject to the copyright.  
 

0522  Page 7 of 15 

 

employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors shall be entitled to rely on Contractor’s warranty 
and guarantee. 

7.12 Correction Period 

A. If within one year after the date of substantial completion, any Work is found to be defective, or if the 
repair of any damages to the Site, adjacent areas that Contractor has arranged to use through 
construction easements or otherwise, and other adjacent areas used by Contractor as permitted by 
Laws and Regulations, is found to be defective, then Contractor shall promptly and without cost to 
Owner, correct such defective Work. 

7.13 Indemnification 

A. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, and in addition to any other obligations of 
Contractor under the Contract or otherwise, Contractor shall indemnify and hold harmless Owner and 
Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and 
subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages 
(including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other 
professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to 
the performance of the Work, provided that any such claim, cost, loss, or damage is attributable to 
bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death, or to injury to or destruction of tangible property (other than 
the Work itself), including the loss of use resulting therefrom but only to the extent caused by any 
negligent act or omission of Contractor, any subcontractor, any supplier, or any individual or entity 
directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the Work or anyone for whose acts 
they may be liable. 

ARTICLE 8 - OWNER’S RESPONSIBILITIES 

8.01 Owner’s Responsibilities 

A. Except as otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, Owner shall issue all communications to 
Contractor through Engineer. 

B. Owner shall make payments to Contractor as provided in this Contract. 

C. Owner shall provide Site and easements required to construct the Project. 

D. If Owner intends to contract with others for the performance of other work at or adjacent to the Site, 
unless stated elsewhere in the Contract Documents, Owner shall have sole authority and responsibility 
for such coordination. 

E. The Owner shall be responsible for performing inspections and tests required by applicable codes. 

F. The Owner shall not supervise, direct, or have control or authority over, nor be responsible for, 
Contractor’s means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety 
precautions and programs, or for any failure of Contractor to comply with Laws and Regulations 
applicable to the performance of the Work. Owner will not be responsible for Contractor’s failure to 
perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

G. While at the Site, Owner’s employees and representatives shall comply with the specific applicable 
requirements of Contractor’s safety programs of which Owner has been informed. 

H. Owner shall furnish copies of any applicable Owner safety programs to Contractor. 



This document is a modified version of EJCDC® C-522. Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, and American Society of Civil Engineers or is 
based in part on excerpts from copyrighted EJCDC documents.  Those portions of the text that originated in copyrighted EJCDC documents remain subject to the copyright.  
 

0522  Page 8 of 15 

 

ARTICLE 9 - ENGINEER’S STATUS DURING CONSTRUCTION 

9.01 Engineer’s Status 

A. Engineer will be Owner’s representative during construction. The duties and responsibilities and the 
limitations of authority of Engineer as Owner’s representative during construction are set forth in this 
Contract. 

B. Neither Engineer’s authority or responsibility under this Article 9 or under any other provision of the 
Contract, nor any decision made by Engineer in good faith either to exercise or not exercise such 
authority or responsibility or the undertaking, exercise, or performance of any authority or 
responsibility by Engineer, shall create, impose, or give rise to any duty in contract, tort, or otherwise 
owed by Engineer to Contractor, any subcontractor, any supplier, any other individual or entity, or to 
any surety for or employee or agent of any of them. 

C. Engineer will make visits to the Site at intervals appropriate to the various stages of construction. 
Engineer will not be required to make exhaustive or continuous inspections on the Site to check the 
quality or quantity of the Work. 

D. Engineer has the authority to reject Work if Contractor fails to perform Work in accordance with the 
Contract Documents. 

E. Engineer will render decisions regarding the requirements of the Contract Documents, and judge the 
acceptability of the Work. 

F. Engineer will not supervise, direct, control, or have authority over or be responsible for Contractor’s 
means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions and 
programs, or for any failure of Contractor to comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to the 
performance of the Work. Engineer will not be responsible for Contractor’s failure to perform the Work 
in accordance with the Contract Documents. 

ARTICLE 10 - CHANGES IN THE WORK 

10.01 Authority to Change the Work 

A. Without invalidating the Contract and without notice to any surety, Owner may, at any time or from 
time to time, order additions, deletions, or revisions in the Work. 

10.02 Change Orders 

A. Owner and Contractor shall execute appropriate Change Orders covering: 

1. Changes in the Contract Price or Contract Times which are agreed to by the parties, including any 
undisputed sum or amount of time for Work actually performed in accordance with a Work 
Change Directive; 

2. Changes in the Work which are: (a) ordered by Owner or (b) agreed to by the parties or (c) 
resulting from the Engineer’s decision, subject to the need for Engineer’s recommendation if the 
change in the Work involves the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), 
or other engineering or technical matters; and 

3. Changes in the Contract Price or Contract Times or other changes, which embody the substance 
of any final binding results under Article 12. 

B. If the provisions of any bond require notice to be given to a surety of any change affecting the general 
scope of the Work or the provisions of the Contract Documents (including, but not limited to, Contract 
Price or Contract Times), the giving of any such notice will be Contractor’s responsibility. The amount 
of each applicable bond will be adjusted to reflect the effect of any such change. 



This document is a modified version of EJCDC® C-522. Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, and American Society of Civil Engineers or is 
based in part on excerpts from copyrighted EJCDC documents.  Those portions of the text that originated in copyrighted EJCDC documents remain subject to the copyright.  
 

0522  Page 9 of 15 

 

ARTICLE 11 - DIFFERING SUBSURFACE OR PHYSICAL CONDITIONS 

11.01 Differing Conditions Process 

A. If Contractor believes that any subsurface or physical condition including but not limited to utilities or 
other underground facilities that are uncovered or revealed at the Site either differs materially from 
that shown or indicated in the Contract Documents or is of an unusual nature, and differs materially 
from conditions ordinarily encountered and generally recognized as inherent in Work of the character 
provided for in the Contract Documents then Contractor shall, promptly after becoming aware thereof 
and before further disturbing the subsurface or physical conditions or performing any Work in 
connection therewith (except in an emergency), notify Owner and Engineer in writing about such 
condition. Contractor shall not further disturb such condition or perform any Work in connection 
therewith (except with respect to an emergency) until receipt of a written statement permitting 
Contractor to do so. 

B. After receipt of written notice, Engineer will promptly: 

1. Review the subsurface or physical condition in question; 

2. Determine necessity for Owner obtaining additional exploration or tests with respect to the 
condition; 

3. Determine whether the condition falls within the differing site condition as stated herein; 

4. Obtain any pertinent cost or schedule information from Contractor; 

5. Prepare recommendations to Owner regarding the Contractor’s resumption of Work in 
connection with the subsurface or physical condition in question and the need for any change in 
the Drawings or Specifications; and 

6. Advise Owner in writing of Engineer’s findings, conclusions, and recommendations. 

C. After receipt of Engineer’s written findings, conclusions, and recommendations, Owner shall issue a 
written statement to Contractor regarding the subsurface or physical condition in question, addressing 
the resumption of Work in connection with such condition, indicating whether any change in the 
Drawings or Specifications will be made, and adopting or rejecting Engineer’s written findings, 
conclusions, and recommendations, in whole or in part. 

ARTICLE 12 - CLAIMS AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

12.01 Claims Process 

A. The party submitting a claim shall deliver it directly to the other party to the Contract and the Engineer 
promptly (but in no event later than 10 days) after the start of the event-giving rise thereto. 

B. The party receiving a claim shall review it thoroughly, giving full consideration to its merits. The two 
parties shall seek to resolve the claim through the exchange of information and direct negotiations. All 
actions taken on a claim shall be stated in writing and submitted to the other party. 

C. If efforts to resolve a claim are not successful, the party receiving the claim may deny it by giving 
written notice of denial to the other party. If the receiving party does not take action on the claim 
within 45 days, the claim is deemed denied. 

D. If the dispute is not resolved to the satisfaction of the parties, Owner or Contractor shall give written 
notice to the other party of the intent to submit the dispute to a court of competent jurisdiction unless 
the Owner and Contractor both agree to an alternative dispute resolution process. 



This document is a modified version of EJCDC® C-522. Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, and American Society of Civil Engineers or is 
based in part on excerpts from copyrighted EJCDC documents.  Those portions of the text that originated in copyrighted EJCDC documents remain subject to the copyright.  
 

0522  Page 10 of 15 

 

ARTICLE 13 - TESTS AND INSPECTIONS; CORRECTION OF DEFECTIVE WORK 

13.01 Tests and Inspections 

A. Owner and Engineer will have access to the Site and the Work at reasonable times for their 
observation, inspection, and testing. Contractor shall provide them proper and safe conditions for such 
access. 

B. Contractor shall give Engineer timely notice of readiness of the Work for all required inspections and 
tests, and shall cooperate with inspection and testing personnel to facilitate required inspections and 
tests. 

C. If any Work that is to be inspected, tested, or approved is covered by Contractor without written 
concurrence of Engineer, Contractor shall, if requested by Engineer, uncover such Work for 
observation. Such uncovering shall be at Contractor’s expense. 

13.02 Defective Work 

A. Contractor shall ensure that the Work is not defective. 

B. Engineer has the authority to determine whether Work is defective, and to reject defective Work. 

C. Prompt notice of all defective Work of which Owner or Engineer has actual knowledge will be given to 
Contractor. 

D. The Contractor shall promptly correct all such defective Work. 

E. When correcting defective Work, Contractor shall take no action that would void or otherwise impair 
Owner’s special warranty and guarantee, if any, on said Work. 

F. If the Work is defective or Contractor fails to supply sufficient skilled workers or suitable materials or 
equipment, or fails to perform the Work in such a way that the completed Work will conform to the 
Contract Documents, then Owner may order Contractor to stop the Work, or any portion thereof, until 
the cause for such order has been eliminated. 

ARTICLE 14 - PAYMENTS TO CONTRACTOR 

14.01 Progress Payments 

A. The Contractor shall prepare a schedule of values that will serve as the basis for progress payments. 
The schedule of values will be in a form of application for payment acceptable to Owner and Engineer. 
The unit price breakdown submitted with the bid will be used for unit price work. Break lump sum 
items into units that will allow for measurement of Work in progress. 

14.02 Applications for Payments: 

A. Contractor shall submit an application for payment in a form acceptable to the Owner and Engineer, 
by the tenth (10th) of each month for the prior month (1st – 31st), to Engineer.  Applications for payment 
will be prepared and signed by Contractor. Contractor shall provide supporting documentation 
required by the Contract Documents. Payment will be paid for Work completed as of the date of the 
application for payment. 

B. Beginning with the second application for payment, each application shall include an affidavit of 
Contractor stating that all previous progress payments received on account of the Work have been 
applied on account to discharge Contractor’s legitimate obligations associated with prior applications 
for payment. 



This document is a modified version of EJCDC® C-522. Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, and American Society of Civil Engineers or is 
based in part on excerpts from copyrighted EJCDC documents.  Those portions of the text that originated in copyrighted EJCDC documents remain subject to the copyright.  
 

0522  Page 11 of 15 

 

14.03 Retainage 

A. The Owner shall retain five percent (5%) of each progress payment until the Work is substantially 
complete. 

14.04 Review of Applications 

A. Within 10 days after receipt of each application for payment, the Engineer will either indicate in writing 
a recommendation for payment and present the application for payment to Owner or return the 
application for payment to Contractor indicating in writing Engineer’s reasons for refusing to 
recommend payment. The Contractor will make the necessary corrections and resubmit the 
application for payment. 

B. Engineer will recommend reductions in payment (set-offs) which, in the opinion of the Engineer, are 
necessary to protect Owner from loss because the Work is defective and requires correction or 
replacement. 

C. The Owner is entitled to impose set-offs against payment based on any claims that have been made 
against Owner on account of Contractor’s conduct in the performance of the Work, incurred costs, 
losses, or damages on account of Contractor’s conduct in the performance of the Work, or liquidated 
damages that have accrued as a result of Contractor’s failure to complete the Work. 

14.05 Contractor’s Warranty of Title 

A. Contractor warrants and guarantees that title to all Work, materials, and equipment furnished under 
the Contract will pass to Owner free and clear of (1) all liens and other title defects, and (2) all patent, 
licensing, copyright, or royalty obligations, no later than seven days after the time of payment by 
Owner. 

14.06 Substantial Completion 

A. The Contractor shall notify Owner and Engineer in writing that the Work is substantially complete and 
request the Engineer issue a certificate of substantial completion when Contractor considers the Work 
ready for its intended use. Contractor shall at the same time submit to Owner and Engineer an initial 
draft of punch list items to be completed or corrected before final payment. 

B. Engineer will inspect the Work with the Owner and Contractor to determine the status of completion. 
If Engineer does not consider the Work substantially complete, Engineer will notify Contractor and 
Owner in writing giving the reasons therefor. 

C. If Engineer considers the Work substantially complete or upon resolution of all reasons for non-
issuance of a certificate identified in 14.06.B, Engineer will deliver to Owner a certificate of substantial 
completion, which shall fix the date of substantial completion and include a punch list of items to be 
completed or corrected before final payment. 

14.07 Final Inspection 

A. Upon written notice from Contractor that the entire Work is complete, Engineer will promptly make a 
final inspection with Owner and Contractor and will notify Contractor in writing of all particulars in 
which this inspection reveals that the Work, or agreed portion thereof, is incomplete or defective. 
Contractor shall immediately take such measures as are necessary to complete such Work or remedy 
such deficiencies. 

14.08 Final Payment 

A. Contractor may make application for final payment after Contractor has satisfactorily completed all 
Work defined in the Contract, including providing all maintenance and operating instructions, 



This document is a modified version of EJCDC® C-522. Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, and American Society of Civil Engineers or is 
based in part on excerpts from copyrighted EJCDC documents.  Those portions of the text that originated in copyrighted EJCDC documents remain subject to the copyright.  
 

0522  Page 12 of 15 

 

schedules, guarantees, bonds, certificates or other evidence of insurance, certificates of inspection, 
annotated record documents and other documents. 

B. The final application for payment shall be accompanied (except as previously delivered) by: 

1. All documentation called for in the Contract Documents; 

2. Consent of the surety to final payment; 

3. Satisfactory evidence that all title issues have been resolved such that title to all Work, materials, 
and equipment has passed to Owner free and clear of any liens or other title defects, or will so 
pass upon final payment; 

4. A list of all disputes that Contractor believes are unsettled; and 

5. Complete and legally effective releases or waivers (satisfactory to Owner) of all lien rights arising 
out of the Work and of liens filed in connection with the Work. 

C. The Work is complete (subject to surviving obligations) when it is ready for final payment as established 
by the Engineer’s written recommendation of final payment. 

14.09 Waiver of Claims 

A. The making of final payment will not constitute a waiver by Owner of claims or rights against 
Contractor. 

B. The acceptance of final payment by Contractor will constitute a waiver by Contractor of all claims and 
rights against Owner other than those pending matters that have been duly submitted. 

ARTICLE 15 - SUSPENSION OF WORK AND TERMINATION 

15.01 Owner May Suspend Work 

A. At any time and without cause, Owner may suspend the Work or any portion thereof for a period of 
not more than 60 consecutive days by written notice to Contractor and Engineer. Such notice will fix 
the date on which Work will be resumed. Contractor shall resume the Work on the date so fixed. 
Contractor shall be entitled to an adjustment in the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract 
Times, or both, directly attributable to any such suspension. 

15.02 Owner May Terminate for Cause 

A. Contractor’s failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents or other failure 
to comply with a material term of the Contract Documents will constitute a default by Contractor and 
justify termination for cause. 

B. If Contractor defaults in its obligations, then after giving Contractor and any surety ten days written 
notice that Owner is considering a declaration that Contractor is in default and termination of the 
Contract, Owner may proceed to: 

1. Declare Contractor to be in default, and give Contractor and any surety notice that the Contract 
is terminated; and 

2. Enforce the rights available to Owner under any applicable performance bond. 

C. Owner may not proceed with termination of the Contract under Paragraph 15.02.B if Contractor within 
seven days of receipt of notice of intent to terminate begins to correct its failure to perform and 
proceeds diligently to cure such failure. 

D. Subject to the terms and operation of any applicable performance bond, if Owner has terminated the 
Contract for cause, Owner may exclude Contractor from the Site, take possession of the Work, 



This document is a modified version of EJCDC® C-522. Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, and American Society of Civil Engineers or is 
based in part on excerpts from copyrighted EJCDC documents.  Those portions of the text that originated in copyrighted EJCDC documents remain subject to the copyright.  
 

0522  Page 13 of 15 

 

incorporate in the Work all materials and equipment stored at the Site or for which Owner has paid 
Contractor but which are stored elsewhere, and complete the Work as Owner may deem expedient. 

E. In the case of a termination for cause, if the cost to complete the Work, including related claims, costs, 
losses, and damages, exceeds the unpaid contract balance, Contractor shall pay the difference to 
Owner. 

15.03 Owner May Terminate for Convenience 

A. Upon seven days written notice to Contractor, Owner may, without cause and without prejudice to 
any other right or remedy of Owner, terminate the Contract. In such case, Contractor shall be paid for, 
without duplication of any items: 

1. Completed and acceptable Work executed in accordance with the Contract Documents prior to 
the effective date of termination, including fair and reasonable sums for overhead and profit on 
such Work; 

2. Expenses sustained prior to the effective date of termination in performing services and furnishing 
labor, materials, or equipment as required by the Contract Documents in connection with 
uncompleted Work, plus fair and reasonable sums for overhead and profit on such expenses; and 

3. Other reasonable expenses directly attributable to termination, including costs incurred to 
prepare a termination for convenience cost proposal. 

B. Contractor shall not be paid because of loss of anticipated overhead, profits, or revenue, or other 
economic loss arising out of or resulting from such termination. 

15.04 Contractor May Stop Work or Terminate 

A. If, through no act or fault of Contractor, (1) the Work is suspended for more than 90 consecutive days 
by Owner or under an order of court or other public authority, or (2) Owner fails for 30 days to pay 
Contractor any sum finally determined to be due, then Contractor may, upon seven days written notice 
to Owner, and provided Owner does not remedy such suspension or failure within that time, either 
stop the Work until payment is received, or terminate the Contract and recover payment from the 
Owner. 

ARTICLE 16 - CONTRACTOR’S REPRESENTATIONS 

16.01 Contractor Representations 

A. Contractor makes the following representations when entering into this Contract: 

1. Contractor has examined and carefully studied the Contract Documents, and any data and 
reference items identified in the Contract Documents. 

2. Contractor has visited the Site, conducted a thorough visual examination of the Site and adjacent 
areas, and become familiar with and is satisfied as to the general, local, and Site conditions that 
may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work. 

3. Contractor is familiar with and is satisfied as to all Laws and Regulations that may affect cost, 
progress, and performance of the Work. 

4. Contractor has considered the information known to Contractor itself; information commonly 
known to contractors doing business in the locality of the Site; information and observations 
obtained from visits to the Site; the Contract Documents; and the Site-related reports and 



This document is a modified version of EJCDC® C-522. Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, and American Society of Civil Engineers or is 
based in part on excerpts from copyrighted EJCDC documents.  Those portions of the text that originated in copyrighted EJCDC documents remain subject to the copyright.  
 

0522  Page 14 of 15 

 

drawings identified in the Contract Documents, with respect to the effect of such information, 
observations, and documents on: 

a. The cost, progress, and performance of the Work; 

b. The means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction to be 
employed by Contractor; and 

c. Contractor’s safety precautions and programs. 

5. Based on the information and observations referred to in the preceding paragraph, Contractor 
agrees that no further examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, or data are 
necessary for the performance of the Work at the Contract Price, within the Contract Times, and 
in accordance with the other terms and conditions of the Contract. 

6. Contractor is aware of the general nature of work to be performed by Owner and others at the 
Site that relates to the Work as indicated in the Contract Documents. 

7. Contractor has given Engineer written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or discrepancies 
that Contractor has discovered in the Contract Documents, and the written resolution thereof by 
Engineer is acceptable to Contractor. 

8. The Contract Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding of all terms 
and conditions for performance and furnishing of the Work. 

9. Contractor’s entry into this Contract constitutes an incontrovertible representation by Contractor 
that, without exception, all prices in the Contract are premised upon performing and furnishing 
the Work required by the Contract Documents. 

ARTICLE 17 - MISCELLANEOUS 

17.01 Cumulative Remedies 

A. The duties and obligations imposed by this Contract and the rights and remedies available hereunder 
to the parties hereto are in addition to, and are not to be construed in any way as a limitation of, any 
rights and remedies available to any or all of them which are otherwise imposed or available by Laws 
or Regulations, by special warranty or guarantee, or by other provisions of the Contract. The provisions 
of this paragraph will be as effective as if repeated specifically in the Contract Documents in connection 
with each particular duty, obligation, right, and remedy to which they apply. 

17.02 Limitation of Damages 

A. Neither Owner, Engineer, nor any of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, 
consultants, or subcontractors, shall be liable to Contractor for any claims, costs, losses, or damages 
sustained by Contractor on or in connection with any other project or anticipated project. 

17.03 No Waiver 

A. A party’s non-enforcement of any provision shall not constitute a waiver of that provision, nor shall it 
affect the enforceability of that provision or of the remainder of this Contract. 

17.04 Survival of Obligations 

A. All representations, indemnifications, warranties, and guarantees made in, required by, or given in 
accordance with the Contract, as well as all continuing obligations indicated in the Contract, will survive 
final payment, completion, and acceptance of the Work or termination or completion of the Contract 
or termination of the services of Contractor. 



This document is a modified version of EJCDC® C-522. Copyright © 2016 National Society of Professional Engineers, American Council of Engineering Companies, and American Society of Civil Engineers or is 
based in part on excerpts from copyrighted EJCDC documents.  Those portions of the text that originated in copyrighted EJCDC documents remain subject to the copyright.  
 

0522  Page 15 of 15 

 

17.05 Contractor’s Certifications 

A. Contractor certifies that it has not engaged in corrupt, fraudulent, collusive, or coercive practices in 
competing for or in executing the Contract. 

17.06 Controlling Law 

A. This Contract is governed by the laws of the state of Texas. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Owner and Contractor have signed this Contract. 

This Contract will be effective on     (which is the Effective Date of the Contract). 

OWNER:  CONTRACTOR: 

 

   

By: Matthew Mueller  By:  

Title: Town Manager  Title:  

  

(If Contractor is a corporation, a partnership, or a 
joint venture, attach evidence of authority to sign.)   

Attest:   Attest:  

Title:   Title:  

Address for giving notices:  Address for giving notices: 

Town of Little Elm   

100 West Eldorado Pkwy   

Little Elm, TX 75068   

contracts@littleelm.org   

  License No.:  

   
(where applicable) 

   

 



  

Town Council Meeting
 
Date: 01/05/2021
Agenda Item #: 7. A. 
Department: Development Services
Strategic Goal: Promote and expand Little Elm’s identity
Staff Contact: Skye Thibodeaux, Planning Manager

AGENDA ITEM:
Continue the Public Hearing, Present, Discuss, and Consider Action to Approve Ordinance No. 1581,
a  Request to Rezone Approximately 4.4 acres of Land from Lakefront (LF) w/ Specific Use Permit
for Child Care Center to Planned Development-Lakefront (PD-LF) to Allow for the Use of
Mixed-Use and Commercial with Modified Development Standards, Generally Located at the
Southwest Corner of Eldorado Parkway and Hillside Drive, within Little Elm’s Town Limits.  

Staff Report:1.
Open Public Hearing:2.
Receive Public Comments:3.
Close Public Hearing:4.
Discuss and Take Action:5.

DESCRIPTION:
This public hearing was originally opened at the December 1, 2020, regular Town Council meeting
and was continued at the December 15, 2020 meeting.

Location
The subject property is generally located at the southwest corner of Eldorado Parkway and Hillside
Drive, within Little Elm’s town limits. 

Planning Analysis
This request is for the purpose of establishing a Planned Development District that conforms the
subject property based on recent changes proposed to the intended remaining development on
site. To briefly recap the history of development on the subject property, on July 5, 2017, the
applicant received Major Waiver approval to the Block Face Requirement as regulated by
the Lakefront District for the proposed mixed-use structure.  The requirement approved to be
waived from states the following: 

“Continuous building frontage will be considered to be met if 80 percent or more of the primary
building facade is located within 15 feet of the right-of-way or build-to line designated on an



building facade is located within 15 feet of the right-of-way or build-to line designated on an
approved plan.” 

The mixed-use structure has not been proposed to be relocated since receiving Major Waiver
approval to the Lakefront District’s Block Face Requirement.    

On August 7, 2018, Town Council approved Ordinance No. 1462 which approved a request for a
Specific Use Permit (SUP) for a Child Care Center to be permitted on site.  One of the conditions
associated with the approval of Ordinance No. 1462 stated that “the development be oriented on
the site as shown on the approved site plan” associated with the Ordinance.   Since that time, the
applicant has proposed to subdivide the property while also proposing changes to the remaining
development of the project that requires zoning approval per the existing condition noted above.  
  
With this request, the PD needs to address the following items: 

1. Changes to the adopted site plan - The applicant is requesting to develop the remainder of the
property per the attached updated site & landscape plans.  Zoning approval is required for the
proposed changes.  P&Z recommends maintaining similar language with this request to read as
follows:    

The project shall develop according to the updated site plan, landscape plan, and mixed-use
structure elevations adopted within this ordinance.

2. Lakefront District Waivers of Design Standards - Similar to what was done with the Palladium PD,
P&Z recommended proposing the following language carrying over previous Major Waiver
approvals:    

Block Face – as approved by Town Council on July 5, 2017, development within this PD
District shall be exempt from this requirement.

3. Dumpsters – The applicant is proposing a lot configuration that creates a challenge in designing
and constructing a conforming 14’ x 25’ dumpster to serve and be located on proposed Lot 3.  The
applicant has proposed an additional dumpster enclosure on proposed Lot 1R to serve Lot 3. P&Z
recommended the following language:    

An off-site dumpster for proposed Lot 3 is permitted as shown on proposed Lot 1R on the site
plan exhibit adopted with this PD.  A shared use dumpster agreement shall be executed and
noted on the plat associated with the future proposed subdivision prior to the plat being
recorded with Denton County.

4. Accessory Structures – P&Z recommended that the following language be stipulated as a
condition within the PD to read as follows:    

Proposed accessory structures within this District shall be reviewed at the discretion of the
Development Services Director.  Appeals to the Director’s decision shall go before both the
Planning & Zoning Commission and Town Council for final consideration.

5. Future Building & Construction Permits – P&Z recommended the following language as it relates
to future building and construction permit requests:    

Interior layouts associated with this PD are conceptual and are subject to change.   
Future construction and building permit applications are subject to meeting relative
International Codes and Engineering Design Standards, as amended.   
Potential changes to plans may also be subject to additional review and approval by USACE
and/or TxDoT.

To note, the existing Specific Use Permit and restrictions associated with Ordinance No. 1462
remain in place in order to maintain the existing child care center as a conforming use.



BUDGET IMPACT:
There is no budget impact for this item.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
The Planning & Zoning Commission recommend approval of the requested Planned Development
per the following stipulations: 

The permitted uses and standards shall be in accordance with the Lakefront (LF) zoning district, and
other applicable site development standards as laid out in the Town’s Zoning Ordinance, as
amended, unless otherwise specified herein:  

Changes to the adopted plans – the project shall develop according to the updated site plan,
landscape plan, and mixed-use structure elevations adopted within this ordinance.

1.

Block Face Requirement - as approved by Town Council on July 5, 2017, development within
this PD District shall be exempt from this requirement.

2.

Dumpsters - an off-site dumpster for proposed Lot 3 is permitted as shown on proposed Lot
1R on the site plan exhibit adopted with this PD.  A shared use dumpster agreement shall be
executed and noted on the plat associated with the future proposed subdivision prior to the
plat being recorded with Denton County.

3.

Accessory Structures – proposed accessory structures within this District shall be reviewed at
the discretion of the Development Services Director.  Appeals to the Director’s decision shall
go before both the Planning & Zoning Commission and Town Council for final consideration.

4.

Future Building & Construction Permits5.

                 a. Interior layouts associated with this PD are conceptual and are subject to change.
                 b. Future construction and building permit applications are subject to meeting relative
International Codes and Engineering Design Standards, as amended.
                 c. Potential changes to plans may also be subject to additional review and approval by
USACE and/or TxDoT.

Attachments
Ordinance 1581 - Lakeshore Plaza PD 
Exhibits - Lakeshore Plaza PD 



ORDINANCE NO. 1581 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF LITTLE ELM, TEXAS AMENDING 
THE COMPREHENSIVE ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF 
LITTLE ELM, TEXAS, HEREFORE AMENDED, BY REZONING 
APPROXIMATELY 4.4 ACRES OF LAND FROM LAKEFRONT (LF) 
WITH SPECIFIC USE PERMIT FOR CHILD CARE CENTER TO 
PLANNED DEVELOPMENT-LAKEFRONT (PD-LF) WITH SPECIFIC 
USE PERMIT FOR CHILD CARE CENTER, TO ALLOW FOR THE USE 
OF COMMERCIAL AND MIXED USE WITH MODIFIED DEVELOPMENT 
STANDARDS, GENERALLY LOCATED AT THE SOUTHWEST 
CORNER OF HILLSIDE DRIVE AND ELDORADO PARKWAY; 
CORRECTING THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP;  PROVIDING A 
SAVINGS CLAUSE, PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; 
PROVIDING A PENALTY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Town of Little Elm (“Town”) is a home rule municipal corporation 
organized and existing by virtue of the Constitution and laws of the State of Texas and 
by its Charter adopted on May 1, 2001; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Town possesses all the rights, powers, and authorities possessed by all 
home rule municipalities, including the authority to regulate land uses under Chapter 211 
of the Texas Local Government Code; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Town Council, in 2003, reclassified the base zoning district and rezoned 
the property for commercial uses; and 

 
WHEREAS, the applicant, Matt Mahdi Shekari, has requested to rezone the subject 
property, more specifically described on the attached Location Map, to allow for 
commercial and mixed use with modified development standards; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Town Council and the Planning and Zoning Commission, in accordance 
with state law and the applicable ordinances of the Town, have given the required 
notices and held the required public hearings regarding the request to rezone the subject 
property contained in this Ordinance; and 

 
WHEREAS, and after due deliberations and consideration of the recommendation of the 
Planning and Zoning Commission and any other information and materials received at 
the public hearing, the Town Council of the Town of Little Elm, Texas, has determined 
that the requested zoning would be in the interest of public health, safety and welfare of 
the citizens of the Town of Little Elm. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE 
TOWN OF LITTLE ELM, TEXAS: 
 
SECTION 1. INCORPORATION OF PREMISES.  The above and foregoing premises 
are true and correct and are incorporated herein and made a part hereof for all 
purposes. 
 



SECTION 2. ZONING AMENDMENT.  The Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance of the 
Town, is hereby amended by providing for a Planned Development district (PD) on 
approximately 4.4 acres of land, to allow for the use of commercial and mixed use with 
modified development standards, generally located at the southwest corner of Hillside 
Drive and Eldorado Parkway, a tract of land more particularly described on Location 
Map, attached hereto, subject to all of the terms and conditions set forth herein, and all 
other applicable ordinances, laws, rules, regulations, and standards. 
 
SECTION 3. CONDITIONS.  The following special ordinance provisions shall apply to 
the subject property: 
 
The permitted uses and standards shall be in accordance with the Lakefront (LF) zoning 
district, and other applicable site development standards as laid out in the Town’s 
Zoning Ordinance, as amended, unless otherwise specified herein: 
 

1) Changes to the adopted plans – the project shall develop according to the 

updated site plan, landscape plan, and mixed-use structure elevations adopted 

within this ordinance. 

 

2) Block Face Requirement - as approved by Town Council on July 5, 2017, 

development within this PD District shall be exempt from this requirement. 

 
3) Dumpsters - an off-site dumpster for proposed Lot 3 is permitted as shown on 

proposed Lot 1R on the site plan exhibit adopted with this PD.  A shared use 

dumpster agreement shall be executed and noted on the plat associated with the 

future proposed subdivision prior to the plat being recorded with Denton County. 

 

4) Accessory Structures – proposed accessory structures within this District shall 

be reviewed at the discretion of the Development Services Director.  Appeals to 

the Director’s decision shall go before both the Planning & Zoning Commission 

and Town Council for final consideration. 

 

5) Future Building & Construction Permits 

 

a. Interior layouts associated with this PD are conceptual and are subject to 

change. 

b. Future construction and building permit applications are subject to 

meeting relative International Codes and Engineering Design Standards, 

as amended. 

c. Potential changes to plans may also be subject to additional review and 

approval by USACE and/or TxDoT. 

SECTION 4. SAVINGS. This Ordinance shall be cumulative of all other ordinances of 
the Town, and shall not repeal any of the provisions of those ordinances except in those 
instances where the provisions of those ordinances are in direct conflict with the 



provisions of this Ordinance; provided, however, that any complaint, notice, action, 
cause of action, or claim which prior to the effective date of this Ordinance has been 
initiated or has arisen under or pursuant to such other ordinance(s) shall continue to be 
governed by the provisions of that ordinance or those ordinances, and for that purpose 
that ordinance or those ordinances shall be deemed to remain and shall continue in full 
force and effect. 

SECTION 5. ZONING MAP.  The official zoning map of the Town shall be amended to 
reflect the change in zoning made by this ordinance. 

SECTION 6. PENALTY.  Any person, firm, or corporation violating any of the provision 
of this ordinance shall be punished by a penalty of a fine not to exceed the sum of Two 
Thousand Dollars ($2,000) for each offense and each and every day such offense shall 
continue shall be deemed to constitute a separate offense.  

SECTION 7. SEVERABILITY.  The sections, paragraphs, sentences, phrases, and 
words of this Ordinance are severable, and If any section or provision of this ordinance 
or the application of that section or provision to any person, firm, corporation, situation or 
circumstance is for any reason judged invalid or unconstitutional, the adjudication shall 
not affect any other section or provision of this ordinance or the application of any other 
section or provision to any person, firm, corporation, situation or circumstance, nor shall 
adjudication affect any other section or provision of the Comprehensive Zoning 
Ordinance of the Town of Little Elm, Texas, and the Town Council hereby declares that it 
would have adopted the valid portions and applications of the ordinance without the valid 
parts and to this end the provisions of this ordinance shall remain in full force and effect.   

SECTION 8. REPEALER.  That all ordinances of the Town of Little Elm in conflict with 
the provisions of this ordinance be and the same are hereby repealed to the extent of 
that conflict. 

SECTION 9.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  Upon adoption, this Ordinance shall take effect 
immediately upon its adoption and publication in accordance with and as provided by law 
and the Town Charter. 

PASSED AND APPROVED by the Town Council of the Town of Little Elm, Texas on the 
5th day of January, 2021. 

ATTEST: The Town of Little Elm, Texas 

_______________________  _____________________________ 
Caitlan Biggs, Interim Town Secretary David Hillock, Mayor 



Parkside Dr

Clearwater Ct

Tanglewood Pl

Crestlake Dr

Woodhaven Dr

Willow Lake Dr

Hillside Beach Dr

S H
ills

ide
 D

r

E Eldorado Pkwy

Subject PropertySubject Property

Town of Little Elm
Denton County, Tx

0 0.050.025
Miles

Location Map

Date: 10/22/2020

Legend
Subject Property
Town Limits

Lakeshore Plaza
Block A/Lot 1

Sources: Esri, HERE, Garmin,
USGS, Intermap,

This map is the property of the Town of Little Elm,
and is not to be reproduced by any means, mechanical
or digital, without written consent of the Town.

This product is for informational purposes and may not have
been prepared for or be suitable for legal, engineering, or
surveying purposes.  It does not represent an on-the-ground
survey and represents only the approximate relative location
of property boundaries.

Source: Google Imagery Date 9/7/2019



NOTES:

1.  ALL PARKING

STRIPING TO BE

COLORED: WHITE

2. RAMPS TO BE

INTEGRALLY COLORED:

"ADOBE"

LANDSC.

L
A

N
D

S
C

.

R.O
.W

.

R.O
.W

.

GATE

NOTES:

1.  ALL PARKING

STRIPING TO BE

COLORED: WHITE

2. RAMPS TO BE

INTEGRALLY COLORED:

"ADOBE"

LOT 2, BLK A

1.780 AC.

BEHZAD JAFARRI

#2016-26067

O.P.R.D.C.T.

ZONING:  TC

10' P. U. E.

PROPOSED

W. ELDORADO PARKWAY  -  F. M. ROAD NO. 720

EXISTING USE:

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

&
 
U

.
 
E

.

2
6
'
 
F

.
 
L
.
,
 
M

.
 
A

.

PROPOSED

& U. E.

26' F. L., M. L.

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

&
 
U

.
 
E

.

2
6
'
 
F

.
 
L
.
,
 
M

.
 
A

.

(R. O. W. VARIES)

MIXED USE

VACANT

APPROVED USE:

1

0

'

 

B

.

L

.

 

/

 

L

A

N

D

S

C

.

P
O

R
T

E

C
O

C
H

E
R

E

F

L

O

O

D

 

P

L

A

I

N

F

L

O

O

D

 

P

L

A

I

N

F

L

O

O

D

 

P

L

A

I

N

FLOOD PLAIN

D
R

O
P

-O
F

F

C
H

IL
D

F

E

N

C

E

F

E

N

C

E

F

E

N

C

E

1

0

'

 

B

.

L

.

 

/

 

L

A

N

D

S

C

.

1

0

'

 

B

.

L

.

 

/

 

L

A

N

D

S

C

.

F

L
O

O

D

 
P

L
A

I
N

F
L
O

O

D

 
P

L
A

I
N

PROPOSED USE:

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

EXIT GATE /

FIRE-ACCESS

OUTDOOR PLAY AREA  'B' = 8,000 SQ.FT.

20'X20'  GAZEBO

CONNECT TO CITY

OUTDOOR CONDO.

AMENITY AREA

RETAIL 'C' RETAIL 'A'

RETAIL 'A'

P

A

V

E

D

 

W

A

L

K

P

A

V

E

D

 

W

A

L

K

TRAIL

DUMPSTER

TO BE

SCREENED

BY 6'

MASONRY

WALLS PER

TOWN

STANDARDS

DUMPSTER(S) TO BE

SCREENED BY 6'

MASONRY WALLS PER

TOWN STANDARDS

NOTE: ALL PLAYGROUND EQUIPMNET MUST BE

COMMERCIAL GRADE

INTEGRALLY

STAMPED CONC.

INTEGRALLY

STAMPED

 CONC.

WROUGHT IRON FENCE:

PANEL SIZE: 72" X 72"

PICKETS: 1" X 1"

RAILS:  1.50" X 1.50"

POSTS: 2.25" X 2.25"

SURFACE: PRE-GALVANIZED OR

POWDER-COATED; PAINT BLACK

TYP. PROPERTY FENCES:

FH. PER CIVIL

PATIO

RAMP RAMP

UP AT 1:12 MAX

BIKE RACK

UP AT 1:12 MAX

99.8

99.8

99.7

LANDSC.

LANDSC.

SIDEWALK

W
A

L
K

.

SIDEWALK

RETAIL 'A'

W
A

L
K

.

B
E

N
C

H

B
E

N
C

H

LOADING 

CIVIL

RETAIL RETAIL

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

10' LANDSC.

'A' 'A'

RAMP

UP AT 1:12 MAX

20' LANDSC.

C
O

L
.

C
O

L
.

FENCE

F
E

N
C

E

5
' S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

F
IR

E
-A

C
C

E
S

S

W
/4

2
" H

IG
H

 G
U

A
R

D
 R

A
IL

5
' S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

F
E

N
C

E
F

E
N

C
E

BUILDING 'B' 6,234 SQ.FT. CHILD

CARE CENTER 105 STUDENTS

OUTDOOR PLAY AREA  'A' =

1,840 SQ.FT. (MIN. REQD.) +/- 2,300

PROVIDED NOTE: ALL PLAYGROUND

EQUIPMENT MUST BE COMMERCIAL

GRADE

5
' S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

5
'
 
 
S

I
D

E
W

A
L
K

BUILDING 'A'

TOTAL BUILDING =  9,820 SQ.FT.

9,820 SQ.FT. RETAIL

5
'
 
S

I
D

E
W

A
L
K

F
E

N
C

E

F
E

N
C

E

F
E

N
C

E

F

E

N

C

E

1,100 SQ.FT. ADDITION

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

VAN VAN

CONDO.

(UNITS)

'C'

RETAIL

'C'

RAMP

CARE

CHILD

CARE

CHILD

CARE

CHILD

CARE

CHILD

CARE

CHILD

CARE

CHILD

CARE

CHILD

CARE

CHILD

C

A

R

E

C

H

I
L

D

V

A

N

CARE

CHILD

CARE

CHILD

CONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDO

RETAIL 'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

CONDO CONDO

C
O

N
D

O
C

O
N

D
O

C
O

N
D

O
C

O
N

D
O

C

O

N

D

O

C

O

N

D

O

C

O

N

D

O

BUILDING 'C'

TOTAL FOOT-PRINT = 10,363 sq.f.t

LEVEL 1  (Re: A1.1)

3,250 SQ.F.T LEVEL 1  RETAIL 'C' /

16 PRIVATE CONDO. GARAGES /

PRIVATE CONDO. LOBBY & PRIVATE GYM.

25 TOTAL CONDOMINIUM UNITS (L2-L5)

F

L

O

O

D

 

P

L

A

I

N

CONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDO

16 X COVERED CONDO. SPACES

CONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDO

CONDO

R

E

T

A

I
L

'
C

'

R

E

T

A

I
L

'
C

'

R

E

T

A

I
L

'
C

'

R

E

T

A

I
L

'
C

'

R

E

T

A

I
L

'
C

'

C

O

N

D

O

C

O

N

D

O

C

O

N

D

O

C

O

N

D

O

C

O

N

D

O

RETAIL

'A'

SEATING

DUMPSTER(S) TO

BE

SCREENED BY 6'

MASONRY WALLS

PER

TOWN STANDARDS

EXIST. STAMPED SIDEWALK

E

X

I
S

T

.
 
S

T

A

M

P

E

D

 
S

I
D

E

W

A

L

K

OUTDOOR PLAY AREA  'C' 

NOTE:

THE PLAYGROUND EQUIPMENT

 WILL NEED TO BE SECURED TO

THE GROUND TO PREVENT IT

FLOATING INTO THE LAKE 

DURING PERIOD OF HIGH WATER.

NOTE:

ALL PLAYGROUND EQUIPMENTS 

MUST BE COMMERCIAL GRADE

'LOT 3' FOR RETAIL
BUILDING

'A'
APPROX. 35,803 S.F.

'LOT 1-R'  FOR RETAIL &
CONDOMINIUM
BUILDING

'C'
APPROX. 91,633 S.F.

'LOT 4'  FOR
CHILD CARE BUILDING

'B'
APPROX. 53,730 S.F.

LOT 2:
1.780 ACRES

PROPERTY KEY MAP

A0.1

PLAN NORTH

SITE
MASTER

PLAN

PLAN NORTH 10-23-20

Project #:  2003.0

Lakeshore Plaza
Building 'A'

Eldorado Pkwy.
and Hillside Dr.

Little Elm, TX
75206

Project #:  2003.00

Lakeshore Plaza
Mixed Use

Eldorado Pkwy.
and Hillside Dr.

Little Elm, TX
75206

ANY MATERIALS OR METHODS
CONTAINING OR USING ASBESTOS
ARE PROHIBITED

R1:  06-29-18
R2:  09-19-18
R3:  12-19-18 (MSTR.-SITE)
R4:  01-17-20 ('B'-SITE)

PERMIT ONLY
11-11-20

R1:  06-29-18
R2:  09-19-18
R3:  12-19-18 (MSTR.-SITE)
R4:  01-17-20 ('B'-SITE)

ANY MATERIALS OR METHODS
CONTAINING OR USING ASBESTOS
ARE PROHIBITED

PD SUBMITTAL 05-20-20
PD SUBMITTAL 11-20-20



NOTES:

1.  ALL PARKING

STRIPING TO BE

COLORED: WHITE

2. RAMPS TO BE

INTEGRALLY COLORED:

"ADOBE"

LANDSC.

L
A

N
D

S
C

.

R.O
.W

.

R.O
.W

.

GATE

NOTES:

1.  ALL PARKING

STRIPING TO BE

COLORED: WHITE

2. RAMPS TO BE

INTEGRALLY COLORED:

"ADOBE"

LOT 2, BLK A

1.780 AC.

BEHZAD JAFARRI

#2016-26067

O.P.R.D.C.T.

ZONING:  TC

10' P. U. E.

PROPOSED TO

10' P. U. E.

PROPOSED

W. ELDORADO PARKWAY  -  F. M. ROAD NO. 720

EXISTING USE:

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

&
 
U

.
 
E

.

2
6

'
 
F

.
 
L

.
,
 
M

.
 
A

.

PROPOSED

& U. E.

26' F. L., M. L.

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

&
 
U

.
 
E

.

2
6

'
 
F

.
 
L

.
,
 
M

.
 
A

.

(R. O. W. VARIES)

MIXED USE

VACANT

APPROVED USE:

1

0

'

 

B

.

L

.

 

/

 

L

A

N

D

S

C

.

P
O

R
T

E

C
O

C
H

E
R

E

F

L

O

O

D

 

P

L

A

I

N

F

L

O

O

D

 

P

L

A

I

N

F

L

O

O

D

 

P

L

A

I

N

FLOOD PLAIN

D
R

O
P

-O
F

F

C
H

IL
D

F

E

N

C

E

F

E

N

C

E

F

E

N

C

E

1

0

'

 

B

.

L

.

 

/

 

L

A

N

D

S

C

.

1

0

'

 

B

.

L

.

 

/

 

L

A

N

D

S

C

.

F
L
O

O

D

 
P

L
A

I
N

F
L
O

O

D

 
P

L
A

I
N

PROPOSED USE:

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

EXIT GATE /

FIRE-ACCESS

OUTDOOR PLAY AREA  'B' = 8,000 SQ.FT.

20'X20'  GAZEBO

CONNECT TO CITY

OUTDOOR CONDO.

AMENITY AREA

RETAIL 'C' RETAIL 'A'

RETAIL 'A'

P

A

V

E

D

 

W

A

L

K

P

A

V

E

D

 

W

A

L

K

TRAIL

DUMPSTER

TO BE

SCREENED

BY 6'

MASONRY

WALLS PER

TOWN

STANDARDS

DUMPSTER(S) TO BE

SCREENED BY 6'

MASONRY WALLS PER

TOWN STANDARDS

NOTE: ALL PLAYGROUND EQUIPMNET MUST BE

COMMERCIAL GRADE

INTEGRALLY

STAMPED CONC.

INTEGRALLY

STAMPED

 CONC.

WROUGHT IRON FENCE:

PANEL SIZE: 72" X 72"

PICKETS: 1" X 1"

RAILS:  1.50" X 1.50"

POSTS: 2.25" X 2.25"

SURFACE: PRE-GALVANIZED OR

POWDER-COATED; PAINT BLACK

TYP. PROPERTY FENCES:

FH. PER CIVIL

PATIO

RAMP RAMP

UP AT 1:12 MAX

BIKE RACK

UP AT 1:12 MAX

99.8

99.8

99.7

LANDSC.

LANDSC.

SIDEWALK

W
A

L
K

.

SIDEWALK

RETAIL 'A'

W
A

L
K

.

B
E

N
C

H

B
E

N
C

H

LOADING 

CIVIL

RETAIL RETAIL

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

10' LANDSC.

'A' 'A'

RAMP

UP AT 1:12 MAX

20' LANDSC.

C
O

L
.

C
O

L
.

FENCE

F
E

N
C

E

5
' S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

FIRE-ACCESS

W
/42" H

IG
H

 G
U

A
R

D
 R

A
IL

5' S
ID

E
W

A
LK

F
E

N
C

E
F

E
N

C
E

BUILDING 'B' 6,234 SQ.FT. CHILD

CARE CENTER 105 STUDENTS

OUTDOOR PLAY AREA  'A' =

1,840 SQ.FT. (MIN. REQD.) +/- 2,800

PROVIDED NOTE: ALL PLAYGROUND

EQUIPMENT MUST BE COMMERCIAL

GRADE

5
' S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

5
'
 
 
S

I
D

E
W

A
L
K

BUILDING 'A'

TOTAL BUILDING =  9,820 SQ.FT.

9,820 SQ.FT. RETAIL

5
'
 
S

I
D

E
W

A
L
K

F
E

N
C

E

F
E

N
C

E

F
E

N
C

E

F

E

N

C

E

1,100 SQ.FT. ADDITION

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

VAN VAN

CONDO.

(UNITS)

'C'

RETAIL

'C'

RAMP

CARE

CHILD

CARE

CHILD

CARE

CHILD

CARE

CHILD

CARE

CHILD

CARE

CHILD

CARE

CHILD

CARE

CHILD

C

A

R

E

C

H

I
L

D

V

A

N

CARE

CHILD

CARE

CHILD

CONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDO

RETAIL 'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

CONDO CONDO

C
O

N
D

O
C

O
N

D
O

C
O

N
D

O
C

O
N

D
O

C

O

N

D

O

C

O

N

D

O

C

O

N

D

O

BUILDING 'C'

TOTAL 10,600 sq.f.t

LEVEL 1

3,250 SQ.F.T RETAIL 'C' /

16 PRIVATE CONDO. GARAGES /

PRIVATE CONDO. LOBBY & PRIVATE GYM.

F

L

O

O

D

 

P

L

A

I

N

CONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDO

16 X COVERED CONDO. SPACES

CONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDO

CONDO

ABANDON

R

E

T

A

I
L

'
C

'

R

E

T

A

I
L

'
C

'

R

E

T

A

I
L

'
C

'

R

E

T

A

I
L

'
C

'

R

E

T

A

I
L

'
C

'

C

O

N

D

O

C

O

N

D

O

C

O

N

D

O

C

O

N

D

O

C

O

N

D

O

C

O

N

D

O

C

O

N

D

O

RETAIL

'A'

SEATING

145 - Mexican Feathergrass

1G @ 24"oc (50 SF)

2 - Shumard Red Oak

4"cal @ 10' Ht.

5 - Cedar Elm

4"cal @ 10' Ht.

87- Dwarf Wax Myrtle

5G @ 36" oc

Colorado River Rock Band

24" wide over Filter Fabric

49 - Mexican Feathergrass

1G @ 24"oc (70 SF)

Bermuda Grass

( 888 SF)

1- Cedar Elm

4"cal @ 10' Ht.

Bermuda Grass

(5317 SF)

Turf

179 - Mexican Feathergrass

1G @ 24"oc (62 SF)

129 - Mexican Feathergrass

1G @ 24"oc (150 x 3- SF)

10' WIDE LANDSCAPE BUFFER

Turf

T
u

r
f

Turf

Turf

Bermuda Grass

Bermuda Grass Bermuda Grass

Bermuda Grass

1- Cedar Elm

4"cal @ 10' Ht.

1- Cedar Elm

4"cal @ 10' Ht.

1- Cedar Elm

4"cal @ 10' Ht.

1- Cedar Elm

4"cal @ 10' Ht.

living screen bushes and flowers can

grow to 8 feet within 2 years and they

should run parallel with the fence

between the Montessori school and the

residential home

LANDSCAPE PLAN

LA.1

LANDSCAPE REQUIREMENTS
INTERIOR LANDSCAPE REQUIREMENTS:

GROSS VEHICULAR USE AREA(PAVEMENT) = 40,254.0  SF
10% OF GROSS VEHICULAR USE AREA =  4,025.40 SF 

(PROVIDE 1 LARGE CANOPY TREE/400 SF OF INTERIOR LANDSCAPE REQUIRED)

REQUIRED TREES:  10 TREES

(PARKING LOTS SHALL CONTAIN PLANTED ISLANDS AT MINIMUM OF 9'x 18' OR 162 SF)
(PLANTED ISLANDS SHALL CONTAIN 1 LARGE CANOPY TREE.  THESE TREES CAN BE COUNTED
TOWARDS THE REQUIRED NUMBER OF INTERIOR TREES.)
REQUIRED TREES/ISLANDS:  13

PERIMETER LANDSCAPE REQUIREMENTS:

REQUIRED: 20' LANDSCAPE BUFFER ADJACENT TO PUBLIC R.O.W.
PROVIDED: 20' LANDSCAPE BUFFER ADJACENT TO PUBLIC R.O.W.  (5,890 SF)
REQUIRED: 10' LANDSCAPE BUFFER BETWEEN ADJACENT PROPERTIES

REQUIRED TREES IN 20' LANDSCAPE BUFFER: (1 CANOPY TREE/30 LF) 316'/30 = 11 TREES
PROVIDED TREES IN 20' LANDSCAPE BUFFER: (1 CANOPY TREE/30 LF)  = 12 TREES

PROVIDED TREES/ISLANDS:  13

PROVIDED: 10' LANDSCAPE BUFFER ALONG WEST PROPERTY LINE (1.917 SF)

REQUIRED TREES IN 10' LANDSCAPE BUFFER: (1 CANOPY TREE/50 LF) 237'/50 = 5
PROVIDED TREES IN 10' LANDSCAPE BUFFER: (1 CANOPY TREE/50 LF) = 6 TREES

A. The owner, tenant, and their agent, if any, shall be jointly and severally

responsible for the maintenance of all landscaping. All required landscaping

shall be maintained in a neat and orderly manner at all times. This shall

include mowing, edging, pruning, fertilizing, watering, weeding, and such

activities common to the maintenance of landscaping.

B. Landscape areas shall be kept free of trash, litter, weeds and other such

material or plants not a part of the landscaping.

C. No substitutions for plant materials is allowed, without written and stamped

approval by the Director on a revised landscape plan.

D. The right-of-way adjacent to required landscape areas shall be maintained by

the adjacent property owner in the same manner as the required landscape

area. All driveways will maintain visibility as approved by the Director. All

plantings intended for erosion control will be maintained. The Town may

require revegetation to prevent erosion or slippage.

E. All plant material shall be maintained in a healthy and growing condition as is

appropriate for the season of the year. Plant materials which die shall be

replaced with plant material of similar variety and size, within thirty (30) days

or a date approved by the Director, based on current seasons and weather

conditions (i.e. drought or freeze).

F. When power lines are present, trees shall not be planted underneath and

should be oriented in a manner to avoid conflict. Substitution of plant material

is not allowed without prior written authorization from the Director.

G. All required landscape areas shall be provided with an automatic

underground irrigation system with rain and freeze sensors and

evapotranspiration (ET) weather based controllers and said irrigation system

shall be designed by a qualified professional and installed by a licensed

irrigator.

H. Required landscaped open areas and disturbed soil areas shall be completely

covered with living plant material, per the Landscape Ordinance.

I. All streetscape furniture (benches, bollards, lampposts, trash receptacles,

patio furniture, bike racks, etc) shall be a chip and flake resistant metal,

decorative, and generally black “storm cloud” in color.

V. General Standards.

A. Quality. Plant materials used in conformance with the provisions of this

ordinance shall conform to the standards of the American Standard for

Nursery Stock, or equal thereto. Grass seed, sod and other material shall be

clean and reasonably free of weeds and noxious pests and insects.

B. Quantity. The quantity of plant material required by this Ordinance must equal

or exceed the minimum number of plants required by this Ordinance. Unless

otherwise noted on the approved Landscape Plan, required plant material can

be placed in groupings or utilized in appropriate planting designs that are

proposed by the Landscape Architect and approved by the Town. All

required landscaped open areas shall be completely covered with living plant

material. Mulch and rock can be used in conjunction with shrub and tree

plantings in smaller areas.

C. Trees. Trees required by this ordinance shall be from the Recommended

Plant Materials list or a species recommended by the Landscape Architect

and approved on the landscape plan. All required trees shall be common to

this area of Texas, and shall have a single trunk limbed up to 6 feet. Trees

shall be of a minimum of two and a half (2.5) to three (3) caliper inches when

measured twelve (12) inches above ground at time of planting. When the

type of tree required is unclear, it is assumed that a Large Canopy tree is

required, unless otherwise approved by the Director.

1. No more than twenty-five (25%) percent of the required trees shall be of

the same species for any tree type (Large, Small, Urban) in order to

discourage mono-cultures.

2. Three (3) trees from the Small Ornamental tree list may be substituted for

one (1) Large Canopy tree, not to exceed twenty-five (25) percent of the

required large trees.

3. Large Canopy trees must be planted four feet (4') or greater from curbs,

sidewalks, utility lines, screening walls and/or other structures. Small

trees can be placed closer than four feet (4'), with approval on landscape

plan. Utility installation that includes common trench and conduit banks is

exempt from the Large Canopy tree planting distance requirements.

4. Trees and shrubs shall not overhang or encroach upon walkways, drives,

parking areas, and traffic signs to the extent that they interfere with the

intended use of these facilities.

5. Tree wells shall be a minimum 20 square feet in size with generally similar

lengths and widths.

6. No landscaping shall be required for the interior of structured parking

facilities.

D. Shrubs and Hedges. Evergreen screening plants shall be at least twenty-four

inches (24”) high at time of planting and shall be a type and species on the

recommended plant list that will attain a minimum height of three feet (3')

within eighteen (18) months of planting and will form a continuous hedge.

Sporadic breaks in the hedge row may be approved to achieve unique

designs.

E. Vines. Vines shall be a minimum of two feet (2') in height immediately after

planting and may be used in conjunction with fences, screens, or walls to

meet screening requirements as specified.

F. Ground cover. Ground covers used in lieu of grass in whole and in part shall

be planted in such a manner as to present a finished appearance and

reasonably complete coverage within one year of planting.

G. Lawn grass. Grass areas shall be sodded, except that large, expansive lawn

areas may be hydromulched, plugged, sprigged, or seeded with approval

from the Director, as long as the edges, adjacent to the curb, are sodded.

H. Hardscape. Horizontal hardscape elements, where required, should utilize

smooth cobble river stone, where appropriate.

I. Credit for existing trees. Any protected trees preserved on a site meeting the

herein specifications shall be credited toward meeting the tree requirement of

landscaping provisions that apply to the area where the tree is preserved.

Trees of exceptional quality due to size, large canopy cover, trunk diameter,

rareness, age or species may, at the discretion of the Director, be credited as

two trees under the minimum Landscape Area requirements.

J. Compliance Letter. Prior to issuance of a CO, a letter must be submitted to

the Director from the Landscape Architect indicating the site is in compliance

with the approved landscape plan.

CITY LANDSCAPE NOTES

Burr Oak

Cedar Elm

Chinese Pistachio

Shumard Red Oak

Mexican Feathergrass

Dwarf Wax Myrtle

PLANT LEGEND

Lantana

Pond Cypress

Ulmus parvifolia 'Drake'

LANDSCAPE POINT SYSTEM
REQUIRED POINTS FOR THIS SITE

5 POINTS
5 POINTS

20 POINTS

Enhanced Hardscape Paving
Enhanced Landscaping

5 POINTSEnhanced Site Canopy
5 POINTSEnhanced Streetscape Elements

Vitex Tree

Spanish Lavender

Bush

Santolina chamaecyparissus

Spineless Prickly Pear Cactus

Large Moss Boulders

Yucca filamentosa 'Gold Sword'

Red Yucca

Maiden Grass

'Morning Light'

INTERIOR LANDSCAPE REQUIRED =    4,025.40 SF
INTERIOR LANDSCAPE PROVIDED =  24,240 SF  (BUFFERS N.I.C.) 
SURPLUS INTERIOR LANDSCAPE PROVIDED =  20,214.6 SF  ( 20  %)

(13-13-13) at the rate of 1.5# actual nitrogen per 1000 square feet.

lawn roller upon installation and fertilize with a complete fertilizer

joints and with all joints staggerd.  Roll all sod with a water ballast

be pinned with 1"x1"x12" wooden stakes.  All sod is to be laid with tight

to the contour of the land.  All sod on slopes greater than 1:4 is to 

7. All sodded areas are to receive common bermuda sod laid parallel

stats installed as per manufacturer's recommendations.

ends with extensions protruding 18" above proposed finish grade.

irrigation contractor as per the plan.

to be SDR (class 200) pipe.

Rainbird or approved equal.

8. All irrigation meter(s) are to be by utility contractors as per 

local codes.  Irrigation sleeves to be installed by licensed 

9. All irrigation controllers are to have mini-click freeze and rain

10. All irrigation sleeves to be by licensed irrigation contractor.  

All sleeves to be PVC schedule 40 with 90 degree elbows on both 

11. All turf and planting beds to be zoned separately.  All planting

bed heads to be on 12" pop-up risers.  All turf heads to be on 4" 

pop-up risers.  All valves to be plastic valves. All equipment to be 

12. All mainline and lateral line to have a minimum of 12" of cover and

system capable of providing the proper amount of water for the

IRRIGATION NOTES:

2.  Automatic underground irrigation system shall be equipped with 

irrigated if the City Arborist determines irrigation would be harmful

3.  Areas of open space which contain preserved trees need not be 

by an underground sprinkler system, or a subterranean drip 

1.  All landscaped areas shall be irrigated with an automatic irrigation

Water all sod thoroughly.

freeze guard set at 38 degrees F.

GENERAL LANDSCAPE NOTES

shall be required to re-hydromulch with Bermudagrass the following

growing season.

particular type of plant material used.  Irrigation will be provided

 system as approved by the City Arborist.

to the preserved trees.

only and should be verified prior to bidding.  Contractor shall be

spacing designated for bed sizes and configurations shown on the 

13.  Quantities shown on plant list are landscape architect's estimate

responsible for bidding and providing quantity of plants required at

plans regardless of quantities designated on plant list.

and / or guy trees only at the direction of the landscape architect.

fertilizer tablets at the manufacturer's recommended rates of 

Technology and till into the top 3" of the existing soil.  Install all

above proposed finish grade.

the top of the edging is to be no less than 1" and no more than 1.5"

equal.  All edging stakes are to be placed to the inside of the bed and 

edged with Steel Edging (1/8"x4" painted green) or an approved

4.  All planting beds not formed by a concrete curb or sidewalk are to

application.  Top dress all planting beds with a 2" layer of shredded

shrubs 1" above finish grade and fertilize with Agri-form slow release

of 6".  Add a 3" layer of premium compost as supplied by Living Earth

3. Rotovate the existing soil of all planting beds to a minimum depth

hardwood mulch.

finish grade and free from all trash and debris.

be top dressed with a 2" layer of shredded hardwood mulch.  Stake 

saucer formed around the perimeter of the pit.  All tree pits are to

slightly above finish grade.  All tree pits are to have a 3" watering

sides prior to planting.  All trees are to be planted plumb and at or

ball and no deeper than the depth of the ball.  Scarify all tree pit

2. All trees are to be planted in pits twice the diameter of the tree

1.  All landscape areas are to be received within .1' of proposed 

5.  All turf areas are to be hydromulch Bermudagrass, unless

otherwise noted on the plan.

at a rate of four (4) pounds per thousand square feet.  Contractor

September 1 and April 1, all hydromulch areas to be Winter Ryegrass

one thousand (1,000) square feet.  If installation occurs between

6.  Hydromulch with Bermudagrass seed at a rate of two (2) pounds per 

LANDSCAPE PLAN

QUANTITY COMMON NAME BOTANICAL NAME SIZE NOTES

CHINESE PISTACHIO

Pistacia chinensis

PLANT TABULATION

Quercus macrocarpa

BURR OAK

1 GAL

Hesperaloe parviflora 3 GAL.RED YUCCA

Yucca filamentosa 'Gold Sword'
3 GAL.

4" CAL.

GOLDEN SWORD YUCCA

MEXICAN FEATHERGRASS

Nassella tenuissima

NOTES:

1) ALL QUANTITIES ARE ESTIMATED AND ARE TO BE VERIFIED BY THE CONTRACTOR

2) THE CENTRAL LEADER SHALL BE INTACT.

FULL - 24"OC

FULL - 24"OC  (631 SF ALL OTHER BEDS)

FULL - 24"OC (2494 SF)

SINGLE TRUNK

SINGLE TRUNK

SHUMARD RED OAK

Quercus shumardii

CEDAR ELM

Ulmus crassifolia

SINGLE TRUNK

SINGLE TRUNK

Santolina chamaecyparissus

GREY SANTOLINA

5 GAL

DWARF WAX MYRTLE

Myrica pusilla

FULL - 36"OC (2117 SF)

POND CYPRESS

Taxodium ascendens

SINGLE TRUNK

VITEX

Vitex agnus-castus

MULTI-TRUNK; 3 CANES MINIMUM; 6'Ht.

Ulmus parvifolia 'Drake'

DRAKE ELM 4" CAL.
SINGLE TRUNK

Santolina rosmarinifolia 1 GAL.GREEN SANTOLINA

Opuntia ellisiana
5 GAL.

SPINELESS PRICKLY PEAR CACTUS

FULL - 30"OC

Miscanthus sinensis 'Morning Light' 5 GAL

MAIDEN GRASS 'MORNING LIGHT'

1 GAL.

FULL - 18"OC

FULL - 18"OC

Cynodon dactylon SQ FT HYDROMULCH (if season allows)

BERMUDA GRASS

FULL - 36"OC

SQ FT

COLORADO RIVER ROCK

4" CAL.

4" CAL.

4" CAL.

4" CAL.

4" CAL.

sthibodeaux
Image



ENTRY

2 H
R 

FI
RE

-W
AL

L
BL

DG
. 'A

'
2 H

R 
FI

RE
-W

AL
L

BL
DG

. 'A
'

2 H
R 

FI
RE

-W
AL

L
BL

DG
. 'A

' BLDG.
'A'

EXIT

LOBBY

6'X6'
STORG.

6'X6'
STORG.

6'X6'
STORG.

6'X6'
STORG.

6'X6'
STORG.

6'X6'
STORG.

6'X6'
STORG.

6'X6'
STORG.

6'X6'
STORG.

6'X6'
STORG.

6'X6'
STORG.

6'X6'
STORG.

6'X6'
STORG.

6'X6'
STORG.

EXIT

STAIR 2

STAIR 1

RETAIL 'C'
3,250 SQ.FT.

ENTRY

PRIVATE
GYM.

600 SQ.FT.

ADMIN. OFFICE
90 SQ.FT.

PATIO
W/ FENCE

ELEV. 1

RATED CORRIDOR

RATED CORRIDOR
RA

TE
D 

CO
RR

ID
OR

EXIT

6'X9'
STORG.

CONDO
HVAC /
STORG.

RETAIL

'A'

SEATING

FOR

RETAIL

'A'

SUITE

600

ELEC.

RISER
/

FDC

BUILDING 'C' LEVEL 1 - FLOOR PLAN (MIXED USE):

TOTAL SQ.FT. = 10,363
15 TOTAL PRIVATE PARKING GARAGES (16 TOTAL SPACES).
APPROX. 600 SQ.F.T PRIVATE GYM.
APPROX.  3,250 SQ.FT. COMMERCIAL RENTAL SPACE.

PR
OP

. L
IN

E
PR

OP
. L

IN
E

PUBLIC
R/R

PLAN NORTH

A1.1

Level 1
Overall

Floor Plan

Project #:  2003.00

Lakeshore Plaza
Mixed Use

Eldorado Pkwy.
and Hillside Dr.

Little Elm, TX
75206

Rev #2 01-27-15

Design 3  07-27-15
Permit 11-25-15

Rev#1 City Comments
02-05-16

PRELIMINARY
NOT FOR

REGULATORY
APPROVAL OR

COPNSTRUCTION

PERMIT ONLY
09-19-1810-26-20

R1:  06-29-18
R2:  09-19-18
R3:  12-19-18 (MSTR.-SITE)
R4:  01-17-20 ('B'-SITE)

ANY MATERIALS OR METHODS
CONTAINING OR USING ASBESTOS
ARE PROHIBITED

PD SUBMITTAL 05-20-20

97
2-

36
3-

61
55

ww
w.

triu
ne

ar
ch

ite
ctu

re
pll

c.c
om



A2.4

EXTERIOR
ELEVATION

3/16" = 1'-0'

01

Side Elevation-Building 'C' (East)

Project #:  2003.0

Lakeshore Plaza
Building 'A'

Eldorado Pkwy.
and Hillside Dr.

Little Elm, TX
75206

Rev #2 01-27-15

Design 3  07-27-15
Permit 11-25-15

Rev#1 City Comments
02-05-16

Project #:  2003.00

Lakeshore Plaza
Mixed Use

Eldorado Pkwy.
and Hillside Dr.

Little Elm, TX
75206

PRELIMINARY
NOT FOR

REGULATORY
APPROVAL OR

COPNSTRUCTION

ANY MATERIALS OR METHODS
CONTAINING OR USING ASBESTOS
ARE PROHIBITED

R1:  06-29-18

PERMIT ONLY

R2:  09-19-18

09-19-18

R3:  12-19-18 (MSTR.-SITE)
R4:  01-17-20 ('B'-SITE)

01-17-20

Rev #2 01-27-15

Design 3  07-27-15
Permit 11-25-15

Rev#1 City Comments
02-05-16

PRELIMINARY
NOT FOR

REGULATORY
APPROVAL OR

COPNSTRUCTION

PERMIT ONLY
09-19-1805-15-20

R1:  06-29-18
R2:  09-19-18
R3:  12-19-18 (MSTR.-SITE)
R4:  01-17-20 ('B'-SITE)

ANY MATERIALS OR METHODS
CONTAINING OR USING ASBESTOS
ARE PROHIBITED

PD SUBMITTAL 05-15-20

97
2-

36
3-

61
55

ww
w.

triu
ne

ar
ch

ite
ctu

re
pll

c.c
om

97
2-

36
3-

61
55

ww
w.

triu
ne

ar
ch

ite
ctu

re
pll

c.c
om



A2.1

EXTERIOR
ELEVATION

3/16" = 1'-0'

01

Front Elevation-Building 'C' (North)

Project #:  2003.0

Lakeshore Plaza
Building 'A'

Eldorado Pkwy.
and Hillside Dr.

Little Elm, TX
75206

Rev #2 01-27-15

Design 3  07-27-15
Permit 11-25-15

Rev#1 City Comments
02-05-16

Project #:  2003.00

Lakeshore Plaza
Mixed Use

Eldorado Pkwy.
and Hillside Dr.

Little Elm, TX
75206

PRELIMINARY
NOT FOR

REGULATORY
APPROVAL OR

COPNSTRUCTION

ANY MATERIALS OR METHODS
CONTAINING OR USING ASBESTOS
ARE PROHIBITED

R1:  06-29-18

PERMIT ONLY

R2:  09-19-18

09-19-18

R3:  12-19-18 (MSTR.-SITE)
R4:  01-17-20 ('B'-SITE)

01-17-20

Rev #2 01-27-15

Design 3  07-27-15
Permit 11-25-15

Rev#1 City Comments
02-05-16

PRELIMINARY
NOT FOR

REGULATORY
APPROVAL OR

COPNSTRUCTION

PERMIT ONLY
09-19-1805-15-20

R1:  06-29-18
R2:  09-19-18
R3:  12-19-18 (MSTR.-SITE)
R4:  01-17-20 ('B'-SITE)

ANY MATERIALS OR METHODS
CONTAINING OR USING ASBESTOS
ARE PROHIBITED

PD SUBMITTAL 05-15-20

97
2-

36
3-

61
55

ww
w.

triu
ne

ar
ch

ite
ctu

re
pll

c.c
om

97
2-

36
3-

61
55

ww
w.

triu
ne

ar
ch

ite
ctu

re
pll

c.c
om



A2.3

EXTERIOR
ELEVATION

3/16" = 1'-0'

01

Rear Elevation-Building 'C' (South)

Project #:  2003.0

Lakeshore Plaza
Building 'A'

Eldorado Pkwy.
and Hillside Dr.

Little Elm, TX
75206

Rev #2 01-27-15

Design 3  07-27-15
Permit 11-25-15

Rev#1 City Comments
02-05-16

Project #:  2003.00

Lakeshore Plaza
Mixed Use

Eldorado Pkwy.
and Hillside Dr.

Little Elm, TX
75206

PRELIMINARY
NOT FOR

REGULATORY
APPROVAL OR

COPNSTRUCTION

ANY MATERIALS OR METHODS
CONTAINING OR USING ASBESTOS
ARE PROHIBITED

R1:  06-29-18

PERMIT ONLY

R2:  09-19-18

09-19-18

R3:  12-19-18 (MSTR.-SITE)
R4:  01-17-20 ('B'-SITE)

01-17-20

Rev #2 01-27-15

Design 3  07-27-15
Permit 11-25-15

Rev#1 City Comments
02-05-16

PRELIMINARY
NOT FOR

REGULATORY
APPROVAL OR

COPNSTRUCTION

PERMIT ONLY
09-19-1805-15-20

R1:  06-29-18
R2:  09-19-18
R3:  12-19-18 (MSTR.-SITE)
R4:  01-17-20 ('B'-SITE)

ANY MATERIALS OR METHODS
CONTAINING OR USING ASBESTOS
ARE PROHIBITED

PD SUBMITTAL 05-15-20

97
2-

36
3-

61
55

ww
w.

triu
ne

ar
ch

ite
ctu

re
pll

c.c
om

97
2-

36
3-

61
55

ww
w.

triu
ne

ar
ch

ite
ctu

re
pll

c.c
om



A2.2

EXTERIOR
ELEVATION

3/16" = 1'-0'

01

Rear Elevation-Building 'B' (South)

Project #:  2003.0

Lakeshore Plaza
Building 'A'

Eldorado Pkwy.
and Hillside Dr.

Little Elm, TX
75206

Rev #2 01-27-15

Design 3  07-27-15
Permit 11-25-15

Rev#1 City Comments
02-05-16

Project #:  2003.00

Lakeshore Plaza
Mixed Use

Eldorado Pkwy.
and Hillside Dr.

Little Elm, TX
75206

PRELIMINARY
NOT FOR

REGULATORY
APPROVAL OR

COPNSTRUCTION

ANY MATERIALS OR METHODS
CONTAINING OR USING ASBESTOS
ARE PROHIBITED

R1:  06-29-18

PERMIT ONLY

R2:  09-19-18

09-19-18

R3:  12-19-18 (MSTR.-SITE)
R4:  01-17-20 ('B'-SITE)

01-17-20

Rev #2 01-27-15

Design 3  07-27-15
Permit 11-25-15

Rev#1 City Comments
02-05-16

PRELIMINARY
NOT FOR

REGULATORY
APPROVAL OR

COPNSTRUCTION

PERMIT ONLY
09-19-1805-15-20

R1:  06-29-18
R2:  09-19-18
R3:  12-19-18 (MSTR.-SITE)
R4:  01-17-20 ('B'-SITE)

ANY MATERIALS OR METHODS
CONTAINING OR USING ASBESTOS
ARE PROHIBITED

PD SUBMITTAL 05-15-20

97
2-

36
3-

61
55

ww
w.

triu
ne

ar
ch

ite
ctu

re
pll

c.c
om

97
2-

36
3-

61
55

ww
w.

triu
ne

ar
ch

ite
ctu

re
pll

c.c
om



  

Town Council Meeting
 
Date: 01/05/2021
Agenda Item #: 7. B. 
Department: Development Services
Strategic Goal: Promote and expand Little Elm’s identity
Staff Contact: Skye Thibodeaux, Planning Manager

AGENDA ITEM:
Consider Action to Approve a Development Agreement between the Town of Little Elm and Matt
Mahdi Shekari with Lake Shore Plaza Authorize the Town Manager to Execute Amendment for
the Same Subject to the Planned Development Ordinance.

DESCRIPTION:
Town staff has worked with the developer, Matt Mahdi Shekari with Lake Shore Plaza, with the
proposed Planned Development (PD) as shown in PD Ordinance No. 1581.  This agreement is
intended to lock in the exhibits associated with the PD.

BUDGET IMPACT:
There is no budget impact for this item.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends approval.

Attachments
Development Agreement - Lakeshore Plaza PD 



 

STATE OF TEXAS  §   DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT   

    §   FOR LAKESHORE PLAZA PD  

COUNTY OF DENTON §     
 

 This Development Agreement for the Lakeshore Plaza Planned Development 

(“Agreement”) is entered into between Matt Mahdi Shekari with Lake Shore Plaza 

(“Developer”), whose address for purposes of this Agreement is 3899 Adams Lane, Frisco, TX,   

and the Town of Little Elm, Texas (“Town”), whose address for purposes of this Agreement is  

100 W. Eldorado Parkway, Little Elm, TX 75068. Developer and the Town are sometimes 

referred herein together as the “Parties” and individually as a “Party.” 

 

Recitals: 

 

 1. Developer is the owner of approximately 4.4 acres located at the southwest corner 

of Hillside Drive and Eldorado Parkway, in the Town of Little Elm, Texas (the “Property”), 

which Property is more particularly described in Exhibit A attached hereto.        

 

 2. In furtherance of the development of the Property, the Parties have negotiated 

certain matters regarding the Property as set forth in this Agreement.    

  

3. The Parties seek to memorialize these negotiated matters and to include them in 

this contractually-binding Agreement. 

 

   NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the above and foregoing premises, the 

benefits to each of the Parties from this Agreement, and other good and valuable consideration, 

the sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged and agreed, the Parties do hereby agree as 

follows: 

 

 Section 1. Incorporation of Premises.  The above and foregoing Recitals are true 

and correct and are incorporated herein and made a part hereof for all purposes.    

 

 Section 2. Term.  This Agreement shall be effective as of the date of execution of this 

Agreement by the last of the Parties to do so (“Effective Date”).  This Agreement shall remain in 

full force and effect from the Effective Date until terminated by the mutual agreement of all of the 

Parties in writing, or until all obligations in the Agreement have been fulfilled (“Term”). 

 

 Section 3. Agreements. The Parties agree as follows: 

  

A. The negotiated and agreed upon zoning and development standards contained in 

the Lakeshore Plaza PD Ordinance, which incorporate by reference the general 

zoning regulations of the Town’s zoning ordinance, are hereby adopted and 

incorporated into this Agreement as contractually-binding obligations of the 

Developer.           
   

 Section 4. Miscellaneous. 

 

A. Applicability of Town Ordinances. When the Property is developed, Developer shall 

construct all structures on the Property, in accordance with all applicable Town ordinances and 



 

building/construction codes, whether now existing or arising prior to such construction in the 

future. 

 

B. Default/Mediation. No Party shall be in default under this Agreement until notice of the 

alleged failure of such Party to perform has been given (which notice shall set forth in reasonable 

detail the nature of the alleged failure) and until such Party has been given a reasonable time to 

cure the alleged failure (such reasonable time determined based on the nature of the alleged 

failure, but in no event less than thirty (30) days after written notice of the alleged failure has 

been given).  In addition, no Party shall be in default under this Agreement if, within the 

applicable cure period, the Party to whom the notice was given begins performance and 

thereafter diligently and continuously pursues performance until the alleged failure has been 

cured.  If either Party is in default under this Agreement, the other Party shall have the right to 

enforce the Agreement in accordance with applicable law, provided, however, in no event shall 

any Party be liable for consequential or punitive damages. In the event of any disagreement or 

conflict concerning the interpretation of this Agreement, and such disagreement cannot be 

resolved by the signatories hereto, the signatories agree to submit such disagreement to non-

binding mediation. 

 

C. Venue. This Agreement and any dispute arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall 

be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, without reference 

to its conflict of law rules.  In the event of any dispute or action under this Agreement, venue for 

any and all disputes or actions shall be instituted and maintained in Denton County, Texas. 

 

D. Relationship of Parties. It is acknowledged and agreed by the Parties that the terms 

hereof are not intended to and shall not be deemed to create a partnership, joint venture, joint 

enterprise, or other relationship between or among the Parties. 

 

E. Severability. In the event any one or more of the provisions contained in this Agreement 

shall for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any respect, such invalidity, 

illegality, or unenforceability shall not affect other provisions, and it is the intention of the 

Parties to this Agreement that in lieu of each provision that is found to be illegal, invalid, or 

unenforceable, a provision shall be added to this Agreement which is legal, valid and enforceable 

and is as similar in terms as possible to the provision found to be illegal, invalid or 

unenforceable. 

 

F. Cumulative Rights and Remedies. The rights and remedies provided by this Agreement 

are cumulative and the use of any one right or remedy by either Party shall not preclude or waive 

its right to use any or all other remedies.  Said rights and remedies are given in addition to any 

other rights the Parties may have by law statute, ordinance, or otherwise.  The failure by any 

Party to exercise any right, power, or option given to it by this Agreement, or to insist upon strict 

compliance with the terms of this Agreement, shall not constitute a waiver of the terms and 

conditions of this Agreement with respect to any other or subsequent breach thereof, nor a 

waiver by such Party of its rights at any time thereafter to require exact and strict compliance 

with all the terms hereof.  Any rights and remedies any Party may have with respect to the other 

arising out of this Agreement shall survive the cancellation, expiration or termination of this 

Agreement, except as otherwise expressly set forth herein. 

 



 

G. Exhibits. All exhibits to this Agreement are incorporated herein by reference for all 

purposes wherever reference is made to the same. 

 

H. Surviving Rights. Any of the representations, warranties, covenants, and obligations of 

the Parties, as well as any rights and benefits of the parties, pertaining to a period of time 

following the termination or expiration of this Agreement shall survive termination or expiration. 

 

I. Applicable Laws. This Agreement is made subject to the existing provisions of the 

Charter of the Town of Little Elm, its present rules, regulations, procedures and ordinances, and 

all applicable laws, rules, and regulations of the State of Texas and the United States. 

 

J. Authority to Execute. The undersigned officers and/or agents of the Parties hereto are 

the properly authorized persons and have the necessary authority to execute this Agreement on 

behalf of the Parties hereto. 

 

K. Amendments. This Agreement may be only amended or altered by written instrument 

signed by the Parties. 

 

L. Headings. The headings and captions used in this Agreement are for the convenience of 

the Parties only and shall not in any way define, limit or describe the scope or intent of any 

provisions of this Agreement. 

 

M. Entire Agreement. This Agreement is the entire agreement between the Parties with 

respect to the subject matters covered in this Agreement.  There are no other collateral oral or 

written agreements between the Parties that in any manner relates to the subject matter of this 

Agreement, except as provided or referenced in this Agreement. 

 

N. Filing in Deed Records. This Agreement shall be recorded in the real property records of 

Denton County, Texas.  This Agreement and all of its terms, conditions, and provisions is and 

shall constitute a restriction and condition upon the development of the Property  and all portions 

thereof and a covenant running with the Property and all portions thereof, and is and shall be 

binding upon Developer and all of Developer’s heirs, successors, and assigns and the future 

owners of the Property and any portion thereof; provided, however, this Agreement shall not 

constitute an obligation of or be deemed a restriction or encumbrance with respect to any final 

platted residential lot upon which a completed home has been constructed. 

 

O. Notification of Sale or Transfer; Assignment of Agreement. Developer shall notify the 

Town in writing of any sale or transfer of all or any portion of the Property, within ten (10) 

business days of such sale or transfer.  Developer has the right (from time to time without the 

consent of the Town, but upon written notice to the Town) to assign this Agreement, in whole or 

in part, and including any obligation, right, title, or interest of Developer under this Agreement, 

to any person or entity (an “Assignee”) that is or will become an owner of any portion of the 

Property or that is an entity that is controlled by or under common control with Developer.  Each 

assignment shall be in writing executed by Developer and the Assignee and shall obligate the 

Assignee to be bound by this Agreement with respect to the portion of the Property transferred to 

Assignee.  If the Property is transferred or owned by multiple parties, this Agreement shall only 

apply to, and be binding on, such parties to the extent of the Property owned by such successor 

owner, and if the Developer or any Assignee is in default under this Agreement, such default 



 

shall not be an event of default for any non-defaulting Assignee which owns any portion of the 

Property separate from the defaulting Developer or Assignee.   A copy of each assignment shall 

be provided to the Town within ten (10) business days after execution. Provided that the 

successor developer assumes the liabilities, responsibilities, and obligations of the assignor under 

this Agreement with respect to the Property transferred to the successor developer, the assigning 

party will be released from any rights and obligations under this Agreement as to the Property 

that is the subject of such assignment, effective upon receipt of the assignment by the Town. No 

assignment by Developer shall release Developer from any liability that resulted from an act or 

omission by Developer that occurred prior to the effective date of the assignment.  Developer 

shall maintain true and correct copies of all assignments made by Developer to Assignees, 

including a copy of each executed assignment and the Assignee’s Notice information. 

 

P. Sovereign Immunity. The Parties agree that the Town has not waived its sovereign 

immunity from suit by entering into and performing its obligations under this Agreement. 

 

Q. Exactions/Infrastructure Costs. Developer has been represented by legal counsel, or 

has had an opportunity to do so, in the negotiation of this Agreement, and been advised, or has 

had the opportunity to have legal counsel review this Agreement and advise Developer, 

regarding Developer’s rights under Texas and federal law.  Developer hereby waives any 

requirement that the Town retain a professional engineer, licensed pursuant to Chapter 1001 of 

the Texas Occupations Code, to review and determine that the exactions required by the Town in 

this Agreement are roughly proportional or roughly proportionate to the proposed development’s 

anticipated impact.  Developer specifically reserves its right to appeal the apportionment of 

municipal infrastructure costs in accordance with § 212.904 of the Texas Local Government 

Code; however, notwithstanding the foregoing, Developer hereby releases the Town from any 

and all liability under § 212.904 of the Texas Local Government Code, as amended, regarding or 

related to the cost of those municipal infrastructure requirements imposed by this Agreement. 

 

R. Waiver of Texas Government Code § 3000.001 et seq.  With respect to the 

improvements constructed on the Property pursuant to this Agreement, Developer hereby waives 

any right, requirement or enforcement of Texas Government Code §§ 3000.001-3000.005. 

 

S. Rough Proportionality. Developer hereby waives any federal constitutional claims and 

any statutory or state constitutional takings claims under the Texas Constitution with respect to 

infrastructure requirements imposed by this Agreement.  Developer and the Town further agree 

to waive and release all claims one may have against the other related to any and all rough 

proportionality and individual determination requirements mandated by the United States 

Supreme Court in Dolan v. City of Tigard, 512 U.S. 374 (1994), and its progeny, as well as any 

other requirements of a nexus between development conditions and the projected impact of the 

terms of this Agreement, with respect to infrastructure requirements imposed by this Agreement.  

 

T. No Israel Boycott. In accordance with Chapter 2270, Texas Government Code, a Texas 

governmental entity may not enter into a contract with a company for the provision of goods or 

services unless the contract contains a written verification from the company that it: (1) does not 

boycott Israel; and (2) will not boycott Israel during the term of the contract.  Chapter 2270 does 

not apply to (1) a company that is a sole proprietorship; (2) a company that has fewer than ten 

(10) full-time employees; or (3) a contract that has a value of less than One Hundred Thousand 

Dollars ($100,000.00).  Unless the company is not subject to Chapter 2270 for the reasons stated 



herein, the signatory executing this contract on behalf of Developer verifies by Developer’s 

signature on this Agreement that the company does not boycott Israel and will not boycott Israel 

during the term of this contract 

EXECUTED by the Parties on the dates set forth below, to be effective as of the date 

first written above. 

DEVELOPER 

a _________________ company  

By: 

Date: 

TOWN OF LITTLE ELM, TEXAS 

By: 

Matt Mueller 

Town Manager 

Date: 

ATTEST: 

By: 

Caitlan Biggs 
Interim Town Secretary 



 

STATE OF TEXAS  § 

    § 

COUNTY OF DENTON § 

 

 Before me, the undersigned authority, on this _____ day of _____________, 202_, 

personally appeared MATT MUELLER, Town Manager of the Town of Little Elm, Texas, 

known to me to be the person whose name is subscribed to the foregoing instrument and 

acknowledged to me that he executed the same for the purposes and consideration therein 

expressed. 

 

 

[Seal]       By:      

        Notary Public, State of Texas 

 

       My Commission Expires:   

 

 

STATE OF TEXAS   § 

     § 

COUNTY OF ______________ § 

 

 Before me, the undersigned authority, on this _____ day of _____________, 202_, 

personally appeared _____________________, known to me to be the person whose name is 

subscribed to the foregoing instrument and acknowledged to me that he executed the same for 

the purposes and consideration therein expressed and in  the capacity of a duly authorized 

representative of _____________________________________. 

 

 

[Seal]       By:      

        Notary Public, State of Texas 

 

       My Commission Expires:   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



EXHIBIT A 

Property Description 



Parkside Dr

Clearwater Ct

Tanglewood Pl

Crestlake Dr

Woodhaven Dr

Willow Lake Dr

Hillside Beach Dr

S H
ills

ide
 D

r

E Eldorado Pkwy

Subject PropertySubject Property

Town of Little Elm
Denton County, Tx

0 0.050.025
Miles

Location Map

Date: 10/22/2020

Legend
Subject Property
Town Limits

Lakeshore Plaza
Block A/Lot 1

Sources: Esri, HERE, Garmin,
USGS, Intermap,

This map is the property of the Town of Little Elm,
and is not to be reproduced by any means, mechanical
or digital, without written consent of the Town.

This product is for informational purposes and may not have
been prepared for or be suitable for legal, engineering, or
surveying purposes.  It does not represent an on-the-ground
survey and represents only the approximate relative location
of property boundaries.

Source: Google Imagery Date 9/7/2019



NOTES:

1.  ALL PARKING

STRIPING TO BE

COLORED: WHITE

2. RAMPS TO BE

INTEGRALLY COLORED:

"ADOBE"

LANDSC.

L
A

N
D

S
C

.

R.O
.W

.

R.O
.W

.

GATE

NOTES:

1.  ALL PARKING

STRIPING TO BE

COLORED: WHITE

2. RAMPS TO BE

INTEGRALLY COLORED:

"ADOBE"

LOT 2, BLK A

1.780 AC.

BEHZAD JAFARRI

#2016-26067

O.P.R.D.C.T.

ZONING:  TC

10' P. U. E.

PROPOSED

W. ELDORADO PARKWAY  -  F. M. ROAD NO. 720

EXISTING USE:

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

&
 
U

.
 
E

.

2
6
'
 
F

.
 
L
.
,
 
M

.
 
A

.

PROPOSED

& U. E.

26' F. L., M. L.

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

&
 
U

.
 
E

.

2
6
'
 
F

.
 
L
.
,
 
M

.
 
A

.

(R. O. W. VARIES)

MIXED USE

VACANT

APPROVED USE:

1

0

'

 

B

.

L

.

 

/

 

L

A

N

D

S

C

.

P
O

R
T

E

C
O

C
H

E
R

E

F

L

O

O

D

 

P

L

A

I

N

F

L

O

O

D

 

P

L

A

I

N

F

L

O

O

D

 

P

L

A

I

N

FLOOD PLAIN

D
R

O
P

-O
F

F

C
H

IL
D

F

E

N

C

E

F

E

N

C

E

F

E

N

C

E

1

0

'

 

B

.

L

.

 

/

 

L

A

N

D

S

C

.

1

0

'

 

B

.

L

.

 

/

 

L

A

N

D

S

C

.

F

L
O

O

D

 
P

L
A

I
N

F
L
O

O

D

 
P

L
A

I
N

PROPOSED USE:

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

EXIT GATE /

FIRE-ACCESS

OUTDOOR PLAY AREA  'B' = 8,000 SQ.FT.

20'X20'  GAZEBO

CONNECT TO CITY

OUTDOOR CONDO.

AMENITY AREA

RETAIL 'C' RETAIL 'A'

RETAIL 'A'

P

A

V

E

D

 

W

A

L

K

P

A

V

E

D

 

W

A

L

K

TRAIL

DUMPSTER

TO BE

SCREENED

BY 6'

MASONRY

WALLS PER

TOWN

STANDARDS

DUMPSTER(S) TO BE

SCREENED BY 6'

MASONRY WALLS PER

TOWN STANDARDS

NOTE: ALL PLAYGROUND EQUIPMNET MUST BE

COMMERCIAL GRADE

INTEGRALLY

STAMPED CONC.

INTEGRALLY

STAMPED

 CONC.

WROUGHT IRON FENCE:

PANEL SIZE: 72" X 72"

PICKETS: 1" X 1"

RAILS:  1.50" X 1.50"

POSTS: 2.25" X 2.25"

SURFACE: PRE-GALVANIZED OR

POWDER-COATED; PAINT BLACK

TYP. PROPERTY FENCES:

FH. PER CIVIL

PATIO

RAMP RAMP

UP AT 1:12 MAX

BIKE RACK

UP AT 1:12 MAX

99.8

99.8

99.7

LANDSC.

LANDSC.

SIDEWALK

W
A

L
K

.

SIDEWALK

RETAIL 'A'

W
A

L
K

.

B
E

N
C

H

B
E

N
C

H

LOADING 

CIVIL

RETAIL RETAIL

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

10' LANDSC.

'A' 'A'

RAMP

UP AT 1:12 MAX

20' LANDSC.

C
O

L
.

C
O

L
.

FENCE

F
E

N
C

E

5
' S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

F
IR

E
-A

C
C

E
S

S

W
/4

2
" H

IG
H

 G
U

A
R

D
 R

A
IL

5
' S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

F
E

N
C

E
F

E
N

C
E

BUILDING 'B' 6,234 SQ.FT. CHILD

CARE CENTER 105 STUDENTS

OUTDOOR PLAY AREA  'A' =

1,840 SQ.FT. (MIN. REQD.) +/- 2,300

PROVIDED NOTE: ALL PLAYGROUND

EQUIPMENT MUST BE COMMERCIAL

GRADE

5
' S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

5
'
 
 
S

I
D

E
W

A
L
K

BUILDING 'A'

TOTAL BUILDING =  9,820 SQ.FT.

9,820 SQ.FT. RETAIL

5
'
 
S

I
D

E
W

A
L
K

F
E

N
C

E

F
E

N
C

E

F
E

N
C

E

F

E

N

C

E

1,100 SQ.FT. ADDITION

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

VAN VAN

CONDO.

(UNITS)

'C'

RETAIL

'C'

RAMP

CARE

CHILD

CARE

CHILD

CARE

CHILD

CARE

CHILD

CARE

CHILD

CARE

CHILD

CARE

CHILD

CARE

CHILD

C

A

R

E

C

H

I
L

D

V

A

N

CARE

CHILD

CARE

CHILD

CONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDO

RETAIL 'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

CONDO CONDO

C
O

N
D

O
C

O
N

D
O

C
O

N
D

O
C

O
N

D
O

C

O

N

D

O

C

O

N

D

O

C

O

N

D

O

BUILDING 'C'

TOTAL FOOT-PRINT = 10,363 sq.f.t

LEVEL 1  (Re: A1.1)

3,250 SQ.F.T LEVEL 1  RETAIL 'C' /

16 PRIVATE CONDO. GARAGES /

PRIVATE CONDO. LOBBY & PRIVATE GYM.

25 TOTAL CONDOMINIUM UNITS (L2-L5)

F

L

O

O

D

 

P

L

A

I

N

CONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDO

16 X COVERED CONDO. SPACES

CONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDO

CONDO

R

E

T

A

I
L

'
C

'

R

E

T

A

I
L

'
C

'

R

E

T

A

I
L

'
C

'

R

E

T

A

I
L

'
C

'

R

E

T

A

I
L

'
C

'

C

O

N

D

O

C

O

N

D

O

C

O

N

D

O

C

O

N

D

O

C

O

N

D

O

RETAIL

'A'

SEATING

DUMPSTER(S) TO

BE

SCREENED BY 6'

MASONRY WALLS

PER

TOWN STANDARDS

EXIST. STAMPED SIDEWALK

E

X

I
S

T

.
 
S

T

A

M

P

E

D

 
S

I
D

E

W

A

L

K

OUTDOOR PLAY AREA  'C' 

NOTE:

THE PLAYGROUND EQUIPMENT

 WILL NEED TO BE SECURED TO

THE GROUND TO PREVENT IT

FLOATING INTO THE LAKE 

DURING PERIOD OF HIGH WATER.

NOTE:

ALL PLAYGROUND EQUIPMENTS 

MUST BE COMMERCIAL GRADE

'LOT 3' FOR RETAIL
BUILDING

'A'
APPROX. 35,803 S.F.

'LOT 1-R'  FOR RETAIL &
CONDOMINIUM
BUILDING

'C'
APPROX. 91,633 S.F.

'LOT 4'  FOR
CHILD CARE BUILDING

'B'
APPROX. 53,730 S.F.

LOT 2:
1.780 ACRES

PROPERTY KEY MAP

A0.1

PLAN NORTH

SITE
MASTER

PLAN

PLAN NORTH 10-23-20

Project #:  2003.0

Lakeshore Plaza
Building 'A'

Eldorado Pkwy.
and Hillside Dr.

Little Elm, TX
75206

Project #:  2003.00

Lakeshore Plaza
Mixed Use

Eldorado Pkwy.
and Hillside Dr.

Little Elm, TX
75206

ANY MATERIALS OR METHODS
CONTAINING OR USING ASBESTOS
ARE PROHIBITED

R1:  06-29-18
R2:  09-19-18
R3:  12-19-18 (MSTR.-SITE)
R4:  01-17-20 ('B'-SITE)

PERMIT ONLY
11-11-20

R1:  06-29-18
R2:  09-19-18
R3:  12-19-18 (MSTR.-SITE)
R4:  01-17-20 ('B'-SITE)

ANY MATERIALS OR METHODS
CONTAINING OR USING ASBESTOS
ARE PROHIBITED

PD SUBMITTAL 05-20-20
PD SUBMITTAL 11-20-20



NOTES:

1.  ALL PARKING

STRIPING TO BE

COLORED: WHITE

2. RAMPS TO BE

INTEGRALLY COLORED:

"ADOBE"

LANDSC.

L
A

N
D

S
C

.

R.O
.W

.

R.O
.W

.

GATE

NOTES:

1.  ALL PARKING

STRIPING TO BE

COLORED: WHITE

2. RAMPS TO BE

INTEGRALLY COLORED:

"ADOBE"

LOT 2, BLK A

1.780 AC.

BEHZAD JAFARRI

#2016-26067

O.P.R.D.C.T.

ZONING:  TC

10' P. U. E.

PROPOSED TO

10' P. U. E.

PROPOSED

W. ELDORADO PARKWAY  -  F. M. ROAD NO. 720

EXISTING USE:

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

&
 
U

.
 
E

.

2
6

'
 
F

.
 
L

.
,
 
M

.
 
A

.

PROPOSED

& U. E.

26' F. L., M. L.

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

&
 
U

.
 
E

.

2
6

'
 
F

.
 
L

.
,
 
M

.
 
A

.

(R. O. W. VARIES)

MIXED USE

VACANT

APPROVED USE:

1

0

'

 

B

.

L

.

 

/

 

L

A

N

D

S

C

.

P
O

R
T

E

C
O

C
H

E
R

E

F

L

O

O

D

 

P

L

A

I

N

F

L

O

O

D

 

P

L

A

I

N

F

L

O

O

D

 

P

L

A

I

N

FLOOD PLAIN

D
R

O
P

-O
F

F

C
H

IL
D

F

E

N

C

E

F

E

N

C

E

F

E

N

C

E

1

0

'

 

B

.

L

.

 

/

 

L

A

N

D

S

C

.

1

0

'

 

B

.

L

.

 

/

 

L

A

N

D

S

C

.

F
L
O

O

D

 
P

L
A

I
N

F
L
O

O

D

 
P

L
A

I
N

PROPOSED USE:

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

EXIT GATE /

FIRE-ACCESS

OUTDOOR PLAY AREA  'B' = 8,000 SQ.FT.

20'X20'  GAZEBO

CONNECT TO CITY

OUTDOOR CONDO.

AMENITY AREA

RETAIL 'C' RETAIL 'A'

RETAIL 'A'

P

A

V

E

D

 

W

A

L

K

P

A

V

E

D

 

W

A

L

K

TRAIL

DUMPSTER

TO BE

SCREENED

BY 6'

MASONRY

WALLS PER

TOWN

STANDARDS

DUMPSTER(S) TO BE

SCREENED BY 6'

MASONRY WALLS PER

TOWN STANDARDS

NOTE: ALL PLAYGROUND EQUIPMNET MUST BE

COMMERCIAL GRADE

INTEGRALLY

STAMPED CONC.

INTEGRALLY

STAMPED

 CONC.

WROUGHT IRON FENCE:

PANEL SIZE: 72" X 72"

PICKETS: 1" X 1"

RAILS:  1.50" X 1.50"

POSTS: 2.25" X 2.25"

SURFACE: PRE-GALVANIZED OR

POWDER-COATED; PAINT BLACK

TYP. PROPERTY FENCES:

FH. PER CIVIL

PATIO

RAMP RAMP

UP AT 1:12 MAX

BIKE RACK

UP AT 1:12 MAX

99.8

99.8

99.7

LANDSC.

LANDSC.

SIDEWALK

W
A

L
K

.

SIDEWALK

RETAIL 'A'

W
A

L
K

.

B
E

N
C

H

B
E

N
C

H

LOADING 

CIVIL

RETAIL RETAIL

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

10' LANDSC.

'A' 'A'

RAMP

UP AT 1:12 MAX

20' LANDSC.

C
O

L
.

C
O

L
.

FENCE

F
E

N
C

E

5
' S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

FIRE-ACCESS

W
/42" H

IG
H

 G
U

A
R

D
 R

A
IL

5' S
ID

E
W

A
LK

F
E

N
C

E
F

E
N

C
E

BUILDING 'B' 6,234 SQ.FT. CHILD

CARE CENTER 105 STUDENTS

OUTDOOR PLAY AREA  'A' =

1,840 SQ.FT. (MIN. REQD.) +/- 2,800

PROVIDED NOTE: ALL PLAYGROUND

EQUIPMENT MUST BE COMMERCIAL

GRADE

5
' S

ID
E

W
A

L
K

5
'
 
 
S

I
D

E
W

A
L
K

BUILDING 'A'

TOTAL BUILDING =  9,820 SQ.FT.

9,820 SQ.FT. RETAIL

5
'
 
S

I
D

E
W

A
L
K

F
E

N
C

E

F
E

N
C

E

F
E

N
C

E

F

E

N

C

E

1,100 SQ.FT. ADDITION

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

C

A

R

E

C

H

I

L

D

VAN VAN

CONDO.

(UNITS)

'C'

RETAIL

'C'

RAMP

CARE

CHILD

CARE

CHILD

CARE

CHILD

CARE

CHILD

CARE

CHILD

CARE

CHILD

CARE

CHILD

CARE

CHILD

C

A

R

E

C

H

I
L

D

V

A

N

CARE

CHILD

CARE

CHILD

CONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDO

RETAIL 'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

RETAIL

'A'

CONDO CONDO

C
O

N
D

O
C

O
N

D
O

C
O

N
D

O
C

O
N

D
O

C

O

N

D

O

C

O

N

D

O

C

O

N

D

O

BUILDING 'C'

TOTAL 10,600 sq.f.t

LEVEL 1

3,250 SQ.F.T RETAIL 'C' /

16 PRIVATE CONDO. GARAGES /

PRIVATE CONDO. LOBBY & PRIVATE GYM.

F

L

O

O

D

 

P

L

A

I

N

CONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDO

16 X COVERED CONDO. SPACES

CONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDOCONDO

CONDO

ABANDON

R

E

T

A

I
L

'
C

'

R

E

T

A

I
L

'
C

'

R

E

T

A

I
L

'
C

'

R

E

T

A

I
L

'
C

'

R

E

T

A

I
L

'
C

'

C

O

N

D

O

C

O

N

D

O

C

O

N

D

O

C

O

N

D

O

C

O

N

D

O

C

O

N

D

O

C

O

N

D

O

RETAIL

'A'

SEATING

145 - Mexican Feathergrass

1G @ 24"oc (50 SF)

2 - Shumard Red Oak

4"cal @ 10' Ht.

5 - Cedar Elm

4"cal @ 10' Ht.

87- Dwarf Wax Myrtle

5G @ 36" oc

Colorado River Rock Band

24" wide over Filter Fabric

49 - Mexican Feathergrass

1G @ 24"oc (70 SF)

Bermuda Grass

( 888 SF)

1- Cedar Elm

4"cal @ 10' Ht.

Bermuda Grass

(5317 SF)

Turf

179 - Mexican Feathergrass

1G @ 24"oc (62 SF)

129 - Mexican Feathergrass

1G @ 24"oc (150 x 3- SF)

10' WIDE LANDSCAPE BUFFER

Turf

T
u

r
f

Turf

Turf

Bermuda Grass

Bermuda Grass Bermuda Grass

Bermuda Grass

1- Cedar Elm

4"cal @ 10' Ht.

1- Cedar Elm

4"cal @ 10' Ht.

1- Cedar Elm

4"cal @ 10' Ht.

1- Cedar Elm

4"cal @ 10' Ht.

living screen bushes and flowers can

grow to 8 feet within 2 years and they

should run parallel with the fence

between the Montessori school and the

residential home

LANDSCAPE PLAN

LA.1

LANDSCAPE REQUIREMENTS
INTERIOR LANDSCAPE REQUIREMENTS:

GROSS VEHICULAR USE AREA(PAVEMENT) = 40,254.0  SF
10% OF GROSS VEHICULAR USE AREA =  4,025.40 SF 

(PROVIDE 1 LARGE CANOPY TREE/400 SF OF INTERIOR LANDSCAPE REQUIRED)

REQUIRED TREES:  10 TREES

(PARKING LOTS SHALL CONTAIN PLANTED ISLANDS AT MINIMUM OF 9'x 18' OR 162 SF)
(PLANTED ISLANDS SHALL CONTAIN 1 LARGE CANOPY TREE.  THESE TREES CAN BE COUNTED
TOWARDS THE REQUIRED NUMBER OF INTERIOR TREES.)
REQUIRED TREES/ISLANDS:  13

PERIMETER LANDSCAPE REQUIREMENTS:

REQUIRED: 20' LANDSCAPE BUFFER ADJACENT TO PUBLIC R.O.W.
PROVIDED: 20' LANDSCAPE BUFFER ADJACENT TO PUBLIC R.O.W.  (5,890 SF)
REQUIRED: 10' LANDSCAPE BUFFER BETWEEN ADJACENT PROPERTIES

REQUIRED TREES IN 20' LANDSCAPE BUFFER: (1 CANOPY TREE/30 LF) 316'/30 = 11 TREES
PROVIDED TREES IN 20' LANDSCAPE BUFFER: (1 CANOPY TREE/30 LF)  = 12 TREES

PROVIDED TREES/ISLANDS:  13

PROVIDED: 10' LANDSCAPE BUFFER ALONG WEST PROPERTY LINE (1.917 SF)

REQUIRED TREES IN 10' LANDSCAPE BUFFER: (1 CANOPY TREE/50 LF) 237'/50 = 5
PROVIDED TREES IN 10' LANDSCAPE BUFFER: (1 CANOPY TREE/50 LF) = 6 TREES

A. The owner, tenant, and their agent, if any, shall be jointly and severally

responsible for the maintenance of all landscaping. All required landscaping

shall be maintained in a neat and orderly manner at all times. This shall

include mowing, edging, pruning, fertilizing, watering, weeding, and such

activities common to the maintenance of landscaping.

B. Landscape areas shall be kept free of trash, litter, weeds and other such

material or plants not a part of the landscaping.

C. No substitutions for plant materials is allowed, without written and stamped

approval by the Director on a revised landscape plan.

D. The right-of-way adjacent to required landscape areas shall be maintained by

the adjacent property owner in the same manner as the required landscape

area. All driveways will maintain visibility as approved by the Director. All

plantings intended for erosion control will be maintained. The Town may

require revegetation to prevent erosion or slippage.

E. All plant material shall be maintained in a healthy and growing condition as is

appropriate for the season of the year. Plant materials which die shall be

replaced with plant material of similar variety and size, within thirty (30) days

or a date approved by the Director, based on current seasons and weather

conditions (i.e. drought or freeze).

F. When power lines are present, trees shall not be planted underneath and

should be oriented in a manner to avoid conflict. Substitution of plant material

is not allowed without prior written authorization from the Director.

G. All required landscape areas shall be provided with an automatic

underground irrigation system with rain and freeze sensors and

evapotranspiration (ET) weather based controllers and said irrigation system

shall be designed by a qualified professional and installed by a licensed

irrigator.

H. Required landscaped open areas and disturbed soil areas shall be completely

covered with living plant material, per the Landscape Ordinance.

I. All streetscape furniture (benches, bollards, lampposts, trash receptacles,

patio furniture, bike racks, etc) shall be a chip and flake resistant metal,

decorative, and generally black “storm cloud” in color.

V. General Standards.

A. Quality. Plant materials used in conformance with the provisions of this

ordinance shall conform to the standards of the American Standard for

Nursery Stock, or equal thereto. Grass seed, sod and other material shall be

clean and reasonably free of weeds and noxious pests and insects.

B. Quantity. The quantity of plant material required by this Ordinance must equal

or exceed the minimum number of plants required by this Ordinance. Unless

otherwise noted on the approved Landscape Plan, required plant material can

be placed in groupings or utilized in appropriate planting designs that are

proposed by the Landscape Architect and approved by the Town. All

required landscaped open areas shall be completely covered with living plant

material. Mulch and rock can be used in conjunction with shrub and tree

plantings in smaller areas.

C. Trees. Trees required by this ordinance shall be from the Recommended

Plant Materials list or a species recommended by the Landscape Architect

and approved on the landscape plan. All required trees shall be common to

this area of Texas, and shall have a single trunk limbed up to 6 feet. Trees

shall be of a minimum of two and a half (2.5) to three (3) caliper inches when

measured twelve (12) inches above ground at time of planting. When the

type of tree required is unclear, it is assumed that a Large Canopy tree is

required, unless otherwise approved by the Director.

1. No more than twenty-five (25%) percent of the required trees shall be of

the same species for any tree type (Large, Small, Urban) in order to

discourage mono-cultures.

2. Three (3) trees from the Small Ornamental tree list may be substituted for

one (1) Large Canopy tree, not to exceed twenty-five (25) percent of the

required large trees.

3. Large Canopy trees must be planted four feet (4') or greater from curbs,

sidewalks, utility lines, screening walls and/or other structures. Small

trees can be placed closer than four feet (4'), with approval on landscape

plan. Utility installation that includes common trench and conduit banks is

exempt from the Large Canopy tree planting distance requirements.

4. Trees and shrubs shall not overhang or encroach upon walkways, drives,

parking areas, and traffic signs to the extent that they interfere with the

intended use of these facilities.

5. Tree wells shall be a minimum 20 square feet in size with generally similar

lengths and widths.

6. No landscaping shall be required for the interior of structured parking

facilities.

D. Shrubs and Hedges. Evergreen screening plants shall be at least twenty-four

inches (24”) high at time of planting and shall be a type and species on the

recommended plant list that will attain a minimum height of three feet (3')

within eighteen (18) months of planting and will form a continuous hedge.

Sporadic breaks in the hedge row may be approved to achieve unique

designs.

E. Vines. Vines shall be a minimum of two feet (2') in height immediately after

planting and may be used in conjunction with fences, screens, or walls to

meet screening requirements as specified.

F. Ground cover. Ground covers used in lieu of grass in whole and in part shall

be planted in such a manner as to present a finished appearance and

reasonably complete coverage within one year of planting.

G. Lawn grass. Grass areas shall be sodded, except that large, expansive lawn

areas may be hydromulched, plugged, sprigged, or seeded with approval

from the Director, as long as the edges, adjacent to the curb, are sodded.

H. Hardscape. Horizontal hardscape elements, where required, should utilize

smooth cobble river stone, where appropriate.

I. Credit for existing trees. Any protected trees preserved on a site meeting the

herein specifications shall be credited toward meeting the tree requirement of

landscaping provisions that apply to the area where the tree is preserved.

Trees of exceptional quality due to size, large canopy cover, trunk diameter,

rareness, age or species may, at the discretion of the Director, be credited as

two trees under the minimum Landscape Area requirements.

J. Compliance Letter. Prior to issuance of a CO, a letter must be submitted to

the Director from the Landscape Architect indicating the site is in compliance

with the approved landscape plan.

CITY LANDSCAPE NOTES

Burr Oak

Cedar Elm

Chinese Pistachio

Shumard Red Oak

Mexican Feathergrass

Dwarf Wax Myrtle

PLANT LEGEND

Lantana

Pond Cypress

Ulmus parvifolia 'Drake'

LANDSCAPE POINT SYSTEM
REQUIRED POINTS FOR THIS SITE

5 POINTS
5 POINTS

20 POINTS

Enhanced Hardscape Paving
Enhanced Landscaping

5 POINTSEnhanced Site Canopy
5 POINTSEnhanced Streetscape Elements

Vitex Tree

Spanish Lavender

Bush

Santolina chamaecyparissus

Spineless Prickly Pear Cactus

Large Moss Boulders

Yucca filamentosa 'Gold Sword'

Red Yucca

Maiden Grass

'Morning Light'

INTERIOR LANDSCAPE REQUIRED =    4,025.40 SF
INTERIOR LANDSCAPE PROVIDED =  24,240 SF  (BUFFERS N.I.C.) 
SURPLUS INTERIOR LANDSCAPE PROVIDED =  20,214.6 SF  ( 20  %)

(13-13-13) at the rate of 1.5# actual nitrogen per 1000 square feet.

lawn roller upon installation and fertilize with a complete fertilizer

joints and with all joints staggerd.  Roll all sod with a water ballast

be pinned with 1"x1"x12" wooden stakes.  All sod is to be laid with tight

to the contour of the land.  All sod on slopes greater than 1:4 is to 

7. All sodded areas are to receive common bermuda sod laid parallel

stats installed as per manufacturer's recommendations.

ends with extensions protruding 18" above proposed finish grade.

irrigation contractor as per the plan.

to be SDR (class 200) pipe.

Rainbird or approved equal.

8. All irrigation meter(s) are to be by utility contractors as per 

local codes.  Irrigation sleeves to be installed by licensed 

9. All irrigation controllers are to have mini-click freeze and rain

10. All irrigation sleeves to be by licensed irrigation contractor.  

All sleeves to be PVC schedule 40 with 90 degree elbows on both 

11. All turf and planting beds to be zoned separately.  All planting

bed heads to be on 12" pop-up risers.  All turf heads to be on 4" 

pop-up risers.  All valves to be plastic valves. All equipment to be 

12. All mainline and lateral line to have a minimum of 12" of cover and

system capable of providing the proper amount of water for the

IRRIGATION NOTES:

2.  Automatic underground irrigation system shall be equipped with 

irrigated if the City Arborist determines irrigation would be harmful

3.  Areas of open space which contain preserved trees need not be 

by an underground sprinkler system, or a subterranean drip 

1.  All landscaped areas shall be irrigated with an automatic irrigation

Water all sod thoroughly.

freeze guard set at 38 degrees F.

GENERAL LANDSCAPE NOTES

shall be required to re-hydromulch with Bermudagrass the following

growing season.

particular type of plant material used.  Irrigation will be provided

 system as approved by the City Arborist.

to the preserved trees.

only and should be verified prior to bidding.  Contractor shall be

spacing designated for bed sizes and configurations shown on the 

13.  Quantities shown on plant list are landscape architect's estimate

responsible for bidding and providing quantity of plants required at

plans regardless of quantities designated on plant list.

and / or guy trees only at the direction of the landscape architect.

fertilizer tablets at the manufacturer's recommended rates of 

Technology and till into the top 3" of the existing soil.  Install all

above proposed finish grade.

the top of the edging is to be no less than 1" and no more than 1.5"

equal.  All edging stakes are to be placed to the inside of the bed and 

edged with Steel Edging (1/8"x4" painted green) or an approved

4.  All planting beds not formed by a concrete curb or sidewalk are to

application.  Top dress all planting beds with a 2" layer of shredded

shrubs 1" above finish grade and fertilize with Agri-form slow release

of 6".  Add a 3" layer of premium compost as supplied by Living Earth

3. Rotovate the existing soil of all planting beds to a minimum depth

hardwood mulch.

finish grade and free from all trash and debris.

be top dressed with a 2" layer of shredded hardwood mulch.  Stake 

saucer formed around the perimeter of the pit.  All tree pits are to

slightly above finish grade.  All tree pits are to have a 3" watering

sides prior to planting.  All trees are to be planted plumb and at or

ball and no deeper than the depth of the ball.  Scarify all tree pit

2. All trees are to be planted in pits twice the diameter of the tree

1.  All landscape areas are to be received within .1' of proposed 

5.  All turf areas are to be hydromulch Bermudagrass, unless

otherwise noted on the plan.

at a rate of four (4) pounds per thousand square feet.  Contractor

September 1 and April 1, all hydromulch areas to be Winter Ryegrass

one thousand (1,000) square feet.  If installation occurs between

6.  Hydromulch with Bermudagrass seed at a rate of two (2) pounds per 

LANDSCAPE PLAN

QUANTITY COMMON NAME BOTANICAL NAME SIZE NOTES

CHINESE PISTACHIO

Pistacia chinensis

PLANT TABULATION

Quercus macrocarpa

BURR OAK

1 GAL

Hesperaloe parviflora 3 GAL.RED YUCCA

Yucca filamentosa 'Gold Sword'
3 GAL.

4" CAL.

GOLDEN SWORD YUCCA

MEXICAN FEATHERGRASS

Nassella tenuissima

NOTES:

1) ALL QUANTITIES ARE ESTIMATED AND ARE TO BE VERIFIED BY THE CONTRACTOR

2) THE CENTRAL LEADER SHALL BE INTACT.

FULL - 24"OC

FULL - 24"OC  (631 SF ALL OTHER BEDS)

FULL - 24"OC (2494 SF)

SINGLE TRUNK

SINGLE TRUNK

SHUMARD RED OAK

Quercus shumardii

CEDAR ELM

Ulmus crassifolia

SINGLE TRUNK

SINGLE TRUNK

Santolina chamaecyparissus

GREY SANTOLINA

5 GAL

DWARF WAX MYRTLE

Myrica pusilla

FULL - 36"OC (2117 SF)

POND CYPRESS

Taxodium ascendens

SINGLE TRUNK

VITEX

Vitex agnus-castus

MULTI-TRUNK; 3 CANES MINIMUM; 6'Ht.

Ulmus parvifolia 'Drake'

DRAKE ELM 4" CAL.
SINGLE TRUNK

Santolina rosmarinifolia 1 GAL.GREEN SANTOLINA

Opuntia ellisiana
5 GAL.

SPINELESS PRICKLY PEAR CACTUS

FULL - 30"OC

Miscanthus sinensis 'Morning Light' 5 GAL

MAIDEN GRASS 'MORNING LIGHT'

1 GAL.

FULL - 18"OC

FULL - 18"OC

Cynodon dactylon SQ FT HYDROMULCH (if season allows)

BERMUDA GRASS

FULL - 36"OC

SQ FT

COLORADO RIVER ROCK

4" CAL.

4" CAL.

4" CAL.

4" CAL.

4" CAL.

sthibodeaux
Image



ENTRY

2 H
R 

FI
RE

-W
AL

L
BL

DG
. 'A

'
2 H

R 
FI

RE
-W

AL
L

BL
DG

. 'A
'

2 H
R 

FI
RE

-W
AL

L
BL

DG
. 'A

' BLDG.
'A'

EXIT

LOBBY

6'X6'
STORG.

6'X6'
STORG.

6'X6'
STORG.

6'X6'
STORG.

6'X6'
STORG.

6'X6'
STORG.

6'X6'
STORG.

6'X6'
STORG.

6'X6'
STORG.

6'X6'
STORG.

6'X6'
STORG.

6'X6'
STORG.

6'X6'
STORG.

6'X6'
STORG.

EXIT

STAIR 2

STAIR 1

RETAIL 'C'
3,250 SQ.FT.

ENTRY

PRIVATE
GYM.

600 SQ.FT.

ADMIN. OFFICE
90 SQ.FT.

PATIO
W/ FENCE

ELEV. 1

RATED CORRIDOR

RATED CORRIDOR
RA

TE
D 

CO
RR

ID
OR

EXIT

6'X9'
STORG.

CONDO
HVAC /
STORG.

RETAIL

'A'

SEATING

FOR

RETAIL

'A'

SUITE

600

ELEC.

RISER
/

FDC

BUILDING 'C' LEVEL 1 - FLOOR PLAN (MIXED USE):

TOTAL SQ.FT. = 10,363
15 TOTAL PRIVATE PARKING GARAGES (16 TOTAL SPACES).
APPROX. 600 SQ.F.T PRIVATE GYM.
APPROX.  3,250 SQ.FT. COMMERCIAL RENTAL SPACE.

PR
OP

. L
IN

E
PR

OP
. L

IN
E

PUBLIC
R/R

PLAN NORTH

A1.1

Level 1
Overall

Floor Plan

Project #:  2003.00

Lakeshore Plaza
Mixed Use

Eldorado Pkwy.
and Hillside Dr.

Little Elm, TX
75206

Rev #2 01-27-15

Design 3  07-27-15
Permit 11-25-15

Rev#1 City Comments
02-05-16

PRELIMINARY
NOT FOR

REGULATORY
APPROVAL OR

COPNSTRUCTION

PERMIT ONLY
09-19-1810-26-20

R1:  06-29-18
R2:  09-19-18
R3:  12-19-18 (MSTR.-SITE)
R4:  01-17-20 ('B'-SITE)

ANY MATERIALS OR METHODS
CONTAINING OR USING ASBESTOS
ARE PROHIBITED

PD SUBMITTAL 05-20-20

97
2-

36
3-

61
55

ww
w.

triu
ne

ar
ch

ite
ctu

re
pll

c.c
om



A2.4

EXTERIOR
ELEVATION

3/16" = 1'-0'

01

Side Elevation-Building 'C' (East)

Project #:  2003.0

Lakeshore Plaza
Building 'A'

Eldorado Pkwy.
and Hillside Dr.

Little Elm, TX
75206

Rev #2 01-27-15

Design 3  07-27-15
Permit 11-25-15

Rev#1 City Comments
02-05-16

Project #:  2003.00

Lakeshore Plaza
Mixed Use

Eldorado Pkwy.
and Hillside Dr.

Little Elm, TX
75206

PRELIMINARY
NOT FOR

REGULATORY
APPROVAL OR

COPNSTRUCTION

ANY MATERIALS OR METHODS
CONTAINING OR USING ASBESTOS
ARE PROHIBITED

R1:  06-29-18

PERMIT ONLY

R2:  09-19-18

09-19-18

R3:  12-19-18 (MSTR.-SITE)
R4:  01-17-20 ('B'-SITE)

01-17-20

Rev #2 01-27-15

Design 3  07-27-15
Permit 11-25-15

Rev#1 City Comments
02-05-16

PRELIMINARY
NOT FOR

REGULATORY
APPROVAL OR

COPNSTRUCTION

PERMIT ONLY
09-19-1805-15-20

R1:  06-29-18
R2:  09-19-18
R3:  12-19-18 (MSTR.-SITE)
R4:  01-17-20 ('B'-SITE)

ANY MATERIALS OR METHODS
CONTAINING OR USING ASBESTOS
ARE PROHIBITED

PD SUBMITTAL 05-15-20

97
2-

36
3-

61
55

ww
w.

triu
ne

ar
ch

ite
ctu

re
pll

c.c
om

97
2-

36
3-

61
55

ww
w.

triu
ne

ar
ch

ite
ctu

re
pll

c.c
om



A2.1

EXTERIOR
ELEVATION

3/16" = 1'-0'

01

Front Elevation-Building 'C' (North)

Project #:  2003.0

Lakeshore Plaza
Building 'A'

Eldorado Pkwy.
and Hillside Dr.

Little Elm, TX
75206

Rev #2 01-27-15

Design 3  07-27-15
Permit 11-25-15

Rev#1 City Comments
02-05-16

Project #:  2003.00

Lakeshore Plaza
Mixed Use

Eldorado Pkwy.
and Hillside Dr.

Little Elm, TX
75206

PRELIMINARY
NOT FOR

REGULATORY
APPROVAL OR

COPNSTRUCTION

ANY MATERIALS OR METHODS
CONTAINING OR USING ASBESTOS
ARE PROHIBITED

R1:  06-29-18

PERMIT ONLY

R2:  09-19-18

09-19-18

R3:  12-19-18 (MSTR.-SITE)
R4:  01-17-20 ('B'-SITE)

01-17-20

Rev #2 01-27-15

Design 3  07-27-15
Permit 11-25-15

Rev#1 City Comments
02-05-16

PRELIMINARY
NOT FOR

REGULATORY
APPROVAL OR

COPNSTRUCTION

PERMIT ONLY
09-19-1805-15-20

R1:  06-29-18
R2:  09-19-18
R3:  12-19-18 (MSTR.-SITE)
R4:  01-17-20 ('B'-SITE)

ANY MATERIALS OR METHODS
CONTAINING OR USING ASBESTOS
ARE PROHIBITED

PD SUBMITTAL 05-15-20

97
2-

36
3-

61
55

ww
w.

triu
ne

ar
ch

ite
ctu

re
pll

c.c
om

97
2-

36
3-

61
55

ww
w.

triu
ne

ar
ch

ite
ctu

re
pll

c.c
om



A2.3

EXTERIOR
ELEVATION

3/16" = 1'-0'

01

Rear Elevation-Building 'C' (South)

Project #:  2003.0

Lakeshore Plaza
Building 'A'

Eldorado Pkwy.
and Hillside Dr.

Little Elm, TX
75206

Rev #2 01-27-15

Design 3  07-27-15
Permit 11-25-15

Rev#1 City Comments
02-05-16

Project #:  2003.00

Lakeshore Plaza
Mixed Use

Eldorado Pkwy.
and Hillside Dr.

Little Elm, TX
75206

PRELIMINARY
NOT FOR

REGULATORY
APPROVAL OR

COPNSTRUCTION

ANY MATERIALS OR METHODS
CONTAINING OR USING ASBESTOS
ARE PROHIBITED

R1:  06-29-18

PERMIT ONLY

R2:  09-19-18

09-19-18

R3:  12-19-18 (MSTR.-SITE)
R4:  01-17-20 ('B'-SITE)

01-17-20

Rev #2 01-27-15

Design 3  07-27-15
Permit 11-25-15

Rev#1 City Comments
02-05-16

PRELIMINARY
NOT FOR

REGULATORY
APPROVAL OR

COPNSTRUCTION

PERMIT ONLY
09-19-1805-15-20

R1:  06-29-18
R2:  09-19-18
R3:  12-19-18 (MSTR.-SITE)
R4:  01-17-20 ('B'-SITE)

ANY MATERIALS OR METHODS
CONTAINING OR USING ASBESTOS
ARE PROHIBITED

PD SUBMITTAL 05-15-20

97
2-

36
3-

61
55

ww
w.

triu
ne

ar
ch

ite
ctu

re
pll

c.c
om

97
2-

36
3-

61
55

ww
w.

triu
ne

ar
ch

ite
ctu

re
pll

c.c
om



A2.2

EXTERIOR
ELEVATION

3/16" = 1'-0'

01

Rear Elevation-Building 'B' (South)

Project #:  2003.0

Lakeshore Plaza
Building 'A'

Eldorado Pkwy.
and Hillside Dr.

Little Elm, TX
75206

Rev #2 01-27-15

Design 3  07-27-15
Permit 11-25-15

Rev#1 City Comments
02-05-16

Project #:  2003.00

Lakeshore Plaza
Mixed Use

Eldorado Pkwy.
and Hillside Dr.

Little Elm, TX
75206

PRELIMINARY
NOT FOR

REGULATORY
APPROVAL OR

COPNSTRUCTION

ANY MATERIALS OR METHODS
CONTAINING OR USING ASBESTOS
ARE PROHIBITED

R1:  06-29-18

PERMIT ONLY

R2:  09-19-18

09-19-18

R3:  12-19-18 (MSTR.-SITE)
R4:  01-17-20 ('B'-SITE)

01-17-20

Rev #2 01-27-15

Design 3  07-27-15
Permit 11-25-15

Rev#1 City Comments
02-05-16

PRELIMINARY
NOT FOR

REGULATORY
APPROVAL OR

COPNSTRUCTION

PERMIT ONLY
09-19-1805-15-20

R1:  06-29-18
R2:  09-19-18
R3:  12-19-18 (MSTR.-SITE)
R4:  01-17-20 ('B'-SITE)

ANY MATERIALS OR METHODS
CONTAINING OR USING ASBESTOS
ARE PROHIBITED

PD SUBMITTAL 05-15-20

97
2-

36
3-

61
55

ww
w.

triu
ne

ar
ch

ite
ctu

re
pll

c.c
om

97
2-

36
3-

61
55

ww
w.

triu
ne

ar
ch

ite
ctu

re
pll

c.c
om



ORDINANCE NO. 1581 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF LITTLE ELM, TEXAS AMENDING 
THE COMPREHENSIVE ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF 
LITTLE ELM, TEXAS, HEREFORE AMENDED, BY REZONING 
APPROXIMATELY 4.4 ACRES OF LAND FROM LAKEFRONT (LF) 
WITH SPECIFIC USE PERMIT FOR CHILD CARE CENTER TO 
PLANNED DEVELOPMENT-LAKEFRONT (PD-LF) WITH SPECIFIC 
USE PERMIT FOR CHILD CARE CENTER, TO ALLOW FOR THE USE 
OF COMMERCIAL AND MIXED USE WITH MODIFIED DEVELOPMENT 
STANDARDS, GENERALLY LOCATED AT THE SOUTHWEST 
CORNER OF HILLSIDE DRIVE AND ELDORADO PARKWAY; 
CORRECTING THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP;  PROVIDING A 
SAVINGS CLAUSE, PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; 
PROVIDING A PENALTY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Town of Little Elm (“Town”) is a home rule municipal corporation 
organized and existing by virtue of the Constitution and laws of the State of Texas and 
by its Charter adopted on May 1, 2001; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Town possesses all the rights, powers, and authorities possessed by all 
home rule municipalities, including the authority to regulate land uses under Chapter 211 
of the Texas Local Government Code; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Town Council, in 2003, reclassified the base zoning district and rezoned 
the property for commercial uses; and 

 
WHEREAS, the applicant, Matt Mahdi Shekari, has requested to rezone the subject 
property, more specifically described on the attached Location Map, to allow for 
commercial and mixed use with modified development standards; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Town Council and the Planning and Zoning Commission, in accordance 
with state law and the applicable ordinances of the Town, have given the required 
notices and held the required public hearings regarding the request to rezone the subject 
property contained in this Ordinance; and 

 
WHEREAS, and after due deliberations and consideration of the recommendation of the 
Planning and Zoning Commission and any other information and materials received at 
the public hearing, the Town Council of the Town of Little Elm, Texas, has determined 
that the requested zoning would be in the interest of public health, safety and welfare of 
the citizens of the Town of Little Elm. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE 
TOWN OF LITTLE ELM, TEXAS: 
 
SECTION 1. INCORPORATION OF PREMISES.  The above and foregoing premises 
are true and correct and are incorporated herein and made a part hereof for all 
purposes. 
 



SECTION 2. ZONING AMENDMENT.  The Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance of the 
Town, is hereby amended by providing for a Planned Development district (PD) on 
approximately 4.4 acres of land, to allow for the use of commercial and mixed use with 
modified development standards, generally located at the southwest corner of Hillside 
Drive and Eldorado Parkway, a tract of land more particularly described on Location 
Map, attached hereto, subject to all of the terms and conditions set forth herein, and all 
other applicable ordinances, laws, rules, regulations, and standards. 
 
SECTION 3. CONDITIONS.  The following special ordinance provisions shall apply to 
the subject property: 
 
The permitted uses and standards shall be in accordance with the Lakefront (LF) zoning 
district, and other applicable site development standards as laid out in the Town’s 
Zoning Ordinance, as amended, unless otherwise specified herein: 
 

1) Changes to the adopted plans – the project shall develop according to the 

updated site plan, landscape plan, and mixed-use structure elevations adopted 

within this ordinance. 

 

2) Block Face Requirement - as approved by Town Council on July 5, 2017, 

development within this PD District shall be exempt from this requirement. 

 
3) Dumpsters - an off-site dumpster for proposed Lot 3 is permitted as shown on 

proposed Lot 1R on the site plan exhibit adopted with this PD.  A shared use 

dumpster agreement shall be executed and noted on the plat associated with the 

future proposed subdivision prior to the plat being recorded with Denton County. 

 

4) Accessory Structures – proposed accessory structures within this District shall 

be reviewed at the discretion of the Development Services Director.  Appeals to 

the Director’s decision shall go before both the Planning & Zoning Commission 

and Town Council for final consideration. 

 

5) Future Building & Construction Permits 

 

a. Interior layouts associated with this PD are conceptual and are subject to 

change. 

b. Future construction and building permit applications are subject to 

meeting relative International Codes and Engineering Design Standards, 

as amended. 

c. Potential changes to plans may also be subject to additional review and 

approval by USACE and/or TxDoT. 

SECTION 4. SAVINGS. This Ordinance shall be cumulative of all other ordinances of 
the Town, and shall not repeal any of the provisions of those ordinances except in those 
instances where the provisions of those ordinances are in direct conflict with the 



provisions of this Ordinance; provided, however, that any complaint, notice, action, 
cause of action, or claim which prior to the effective date of this Ordinance has been 
initiated or has arisen under or pursuant to such other ordinance(s) shall continue to be 
governed by the provisions of that ordinance or those ordinances, and for that purpose 
that ordinance or those ordinances shall be deemed to remain and shall continue in full 
force and effect. 

SECTION 5. ZONING MAP.  The official zoning map of the Town shall be amended to 
reflect the change in zoning made by this ordinance. 
 
SECTION 6. PENALTY.  Any person, firm, or corporation violating any of the provision 
of this ordinance shall be punished by a penalty of a fine not to exceed the sum of Two 
Thousand Dollars ($2,000) for each offense and each and every day such offense shall 
continue shall be deemed to constitute a separate offense.  
 
SECTION 7. SEVERABILITY.  The sections, paragraphs, sentences, phrases, and 
words of this Ordinance are severable, and If any section or provision of this ordinance 
or the application of that section or provision to any person, firm, corporation, situation or 
circumstance is for any reason judged invalid or unconstitutional, the adjudication shall 
not affect any other section or provision of this ordinance or the application of any other 
section or provision to any person, firm, corporation, situation or circumstance, nor shall 
adjudication affect any other section or provision of the Comprehensive Zoning 
Ordinance of the Town of Little Elm, Texas, and the Town Council hereby declares that it 
would have adopted the valid portions and applications of the ordinance without the valid 
parts and to this end the provisions of this ordinance shall remain in full force and effect.   
 
SECTION 8. REPEALER.  That all ordinances of the Town of Little Elm in conflict with 
the provisions of this ordinance be and the same are hereby repealed to the extent of 
that conflict. 

SECTION 9.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  Upon adoption, this Ordinance shall take effect 
immediately upon its adoption and publication in accordance with and as provided by law 
and the Town Charter. 

 

PASSED AND APPROVED by the Town Council of the Town of Little Elm, Texas on the 
5th day of January, 2021. 
 
 
ATTEST:      The Town of Little Elm, Texas 

 
 
 

 _______________________                    _____________________________ 
Kathy Phillips, Town Secretary   David Hillock, Mayor 

 
 
 



  

Town Council Meeting
 
Date: 01/05/2021
Agenda Item #: 7. C. 
Department: Development Services
Strategic Goal: Promote and expand Little Elm’s identity
Staff Contact: Skye Thibodeaux, Planning Manager

AGENDA ITEM:
Conduct a Public Hearing, Present, Discuss, and Consider Action to Approve Ordinance No. 1587,
Proposed Amendments to the Zoning Ordinance.
  

Staff Report:1.
Open Public Hearing:2.
Receive Public Comments:3.
Close Public Hearing:4.
Discuss and Take Action:5.

DESCRIPTION:
Staff is proposing additions and modifications to various sections of the Zoning Ordinance that
contain language associated with the former MH-2 District and current MH-1 District.  The
proposed changes are shown in the attached exhibit and reflect the November 17, 2020, work
session discussion and direction between staff and Town Council.  To briefly recap, the following
elements were discussed in the work session: 

Staff provided a brief zoning history of the MH-1 & former MH-2 Districts in regard to the
following:

1.

MH Districts prior to the August 2017 Zoning Ordinance Update
MH Districts post the August 2017 Zoning Ordinance Update
Differences between standards and regulations between each district 

Staff provided information pertaining to the use of manufactured housing as it relates to the
Comprehensive Plan and the Zoning Ordinance regarding the following:

2.

The Town's vision for the subject use related to the Comprehensive Plan's Visual Character
Survey and Future Land Use Plan
What the Zoning Ordinance states in regard to establishing a compatible base zoning district



when rezoning property

Staff related the above information to relative areas in Town (Castleridge Area & Preston on
the Lakes).
 

3.

Council directed staff to initiate a case to rezone an undeveloped tract in the Castleridge area
from MH-1 to Duplex and to add a note to the MH-1 District's development standards
intended to generally prohibit future manufactured housing developments. 

4.

BUDGET IMPACT:
There is no budget impact for this item.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
The Planning & Zoning Commission recommended approval of the proposed Zoning Ordinance text
amendments.

Attachments
Ordinance 1587 - Zoning Amendments (MH Districts) 



TOWN OF LITTLE ELM 

ORDINANCE NO. 1587 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF LITTLE ELM, TEXAS, 

AMENDING CHAPTER 106, “ZONING,” OF THE TOWN’S CODE 

OF ORDINANCES THROUGH TEXTURAL CHANGES TO 

VARIOUS SECTIONS OF THE ZONING ORDINANCE; PROVIDING 

A PENALTY; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; 

PROVIDING A REPEALER CLAUSE; AND PROVIDING AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 

WHEREAS, the zoning ordinance (“Zoning Ordinance”) of the Town of Little 

Elm, Texas (“Town”), is contained in Chapter 106 of the Town of Little Elm’s Code of 

Ordinances (“Code”); and 
 

WHEREAS, Town staff has recommended that the Zoning Ordinance be 

amended in various section via proposed textual changes to the Zoning Ordinance; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Town's Planning and Zoning Commission and the Town Council of 

the Town of Little Elm, Texas, in accordance with the state law and the ordinances of the 

Town, have given the required notices and have held the required public hearings regarding 

the adoption of the proposed Zoning Ordinance amendments; and 

 

WHEREAS, after due deliberations and consideration of the recommendation of the 

Town’s Planning and Zoning Commission, and any other information and materials received 

at the public hearing, the Town Council of the Town of Little Elm, Texas, has determine the 

various amendments to the Zoning Ordinance are in the best interest of public health, safety, 

and welfare of the residents of the Town. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE 

TOWN OF LITTLE ELM, TEXAS: 

 

SECTION 1. INCORPORATION OF PREMISES. The above and foregoing premises are 

true and correct and are incorporated herein and made a part hereof for all purposes. 

 

SECTION 2. ADOPTION OF AMENDED ZONING ORDINANCE SECTIONS. That 

Ordinance No. 250 of the Town of Little Elm, Texas, as amended, is hereby repealed and amended 

by and through the adoption of the amended sections of the Zoning Ordinance, attached hereto, 

which amended Zoning Ordinance is hereby adopted. 



SECTION 3. SAVINGS. This Ordinance shall be cumulative of all other ordinances of the Town, 

and shall not repeal any of the provisions of those ordinances except in those instances where the 

provisions of those ordinances are in direct conflict with the provisions of this Ordinance; 

provided, however, that any complaint, notice, action, cause of action, or claim which prior to the 

effective date of this Ordinance has been initiated or has arisen under or pursuant to such other 

ordinance(s) shall continue to be governed by the provisions of that ordinance or those ordinances, 

and for that purpose that ordinance or those ordinances shall be deemed to remain and shall 

continue in full force and effect. 

SECTION 4. PENALTY. Any person, firm, or corporation violating any of the provision of this 

Ordinance shall be punished by a penalty of a fine not to exceed the sum of Two Thousand Dollars 

($2,000) for each offense and each and every day such offense shall continue shall be deemed to 

constitute a separate offense. 

SECTION 5. SEVERABILITY. The sections, paragraphs, sentences, phrases, and words of this 

Ordinance are severable, and if any section or provision of this ordinance or the application of that 

section or provision to any person, firm, corporation, situation or circumstance is for any reason 

judged invalid or unconstitutional, the adjudication shall not affect any other section or provision 

of this Ordinance or the application of any other section or provision to any person, firm, 

corporation, situation or circumstance, nor shall adjudication affect any other section or provision 

of the Zoning Ordinance of the Town of Little Elm, Texas, and the Town Council hereby declares 

that it would have adopted the valid portions and applications of this Ordinance without the 

invalid parts and to this end the provisions of this Ordinance shall remain in full force and effect. 

SECTION 6. REPEALER. That all ordinances of the Town of Little Elm in conflict with the 

provisions of this Ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent of that conflict. 

SECTION 7. EFFECTIVE DATE. This Ordinance shall take effect immediately upon its adoption 

in accordance with and as provided by law and the Town Charter. 

PASSED AND APPROVED by the Town Council of the Town of Little Elm, Texas on the 5th  day of 

January, 2021. 

The Town of Little Elm, Texas 

David Hillock, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

Caitlan Biggs, Interim Town Secretary 



ATTACHMENT – AMENDED SECTIONS OF THE ZONING ORDINANCE 



(m)  MH-1 Manufactured Home Single-Family District. 

(1)  Purpose. Providing for certain manufactured and modular dwellings with specific reference to 
the seal of approval granted by appropriate state agencies and meeting federal standards and 
providing for single-family and two-family dwelling units. 

(2)  Use regulations. No building, structure, land or premises will be used, and no building or 
structure shall hereafter be erected, constructed, reconstructed, or altered, except for one or more 
of the uses specified in section 106.05.01(a), "schedule of uses - residential." 

(3)  Building materials. Duplex and single-family residences located within this district may use 
cementitious fiberboard to fulfill the masonry building requirements. 

(4)  Base district note. The MH-1 District standards remain only for the purpose of establishing a 
base zoning district to support existing planned developments in Town with a base MH-1 district 
that were approved before January 5, 2021.       

(4) (5)  Height and area regulations. In said MH-1 Manufactured Home Single-Family District the 
height of buildings, the minimum dimensions of lots and yards, and the minimum lot area per 
family permitted on any lot, shall be as follows: 

 

Note 1. Where interior lots have been planned or sold fronting on the side street, may project not 
more than ten feet in front of the line established for buildings by the front yard requirements for 
the interior lots on the side street, provided this regulation shall not be interpreted to reduce the 
buildable width of a corner lot in separate ownership at the time of the passage of this chapter, to 
less than 28 feet, and provided that the side yard regulations above shall be observed. 

Note 2. The minimum width of a lot shall be measured at the front building line provided that where 
a lot has less width than herein required, in separate ownership at the time of the passage of this 
chapter, this regulation will not prohibit the erection of a single-family dwelling. Lots bordering 
streets on curves or contours shall be 80 feet in width at the building line. 

Note 3. Each dwelling unit hereafter erected, constructed, reconstructed or altered in said 
Manufactured Home Single-Family District shall have a floor area, excluding basements, open and 
screened porches and garages, of not less than 1,000 square feet. 

(Ord. No. 1407, § 2, 8-15-2017; Ord. No. 1501, § 2, 6-18-2019; Ord. No. 1527, § 2, 10-15-2019) 

https://library.municode.com/tx/little_elm/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_CH106ZO_ARTVUSRE_S106.05.01SCUS


Sec. 106.01.06 - Zoning districts established.  

The following zoning districts are established and are applied to property with the town as set forth 
on the official zoning district map.  

ARTICLE I, TABLE A - Current Zoning Districts 

SF-RE  Ranchette Estate  

SF-1  Single-Family 1  

SF-2  Single-Family 2  

SF-3  Single-Family 3  

SF-4  Single-Family 4  

SF-X  Single-Family Mixed  

A-1  Single-Family A-1  

A-2  Single-Family A-2  

TH  Townhouse  

PH  Patio Homes  

MH-1  Manufactured Home District  

MH-2  Manufactured Home Park  

D  Duplex  

MF  Multifamily  

AG  Agricultural  

O  Office  

CF  Community Facilities  



NS  Neighborhood Services  

LC  Light Commercial  

HC  Heavy Commercial  

TC  Town Center  

LI  Light Industrial  

HI  Heavy Industrial  

  

(Ord. No. 1407, § 2, 8-15-2017)  



Sec. 106.02.11. - Map amendments to the zoning ordinance.  

(a)  Purpose. The zoning ordinance official zoning map may be changed from time-to-time due to 
changes in market forces, development opportunities, or individual requests for development other 
than what is designated on the official zoning map. This section describes the process by which the 
official zoning map may be changed.  

(b)  Authority. Any person or corporation having a legal or equitable ownership interest in any real 
property may petition the town council for a change or amendment to the official zoning map or the 
regulations relating to a specific tract of land located within the town. In addition, the planning and 
zoning commission may on its own motion or on request from the town council institute a study and 
proposal for such changes and amendments in the public interest.  

(c)  City initiation. The town council may, from time to time, amend or change by ordinance the 
boundaries of the various zoning districts or the use and development regulations relating to a 
specific property in accordance with the manner provided by state law.  

(d)  Procedure and approval.  

(1)  Compliance with comprehensive future land use map (FLUP). Before taking action on any 
proposed amendment or change, staff shall determine that the proposed amendment is 
consistent with the goals and vision of the comprehensive plan. If it is not, the staff 
recommendation shall be for denial unless or until a comprehensive plan change has been 
effected that would bring the request into compliance with the comprehensive plan.  

ARTICLE II, TABLE A 

Future Land Use Plan/Zoning District Conversion Table 

Future Land Use Plan Designation  Supported Zoning Districts*  

Estate Residential  AG, SF-RE, CF  

Low Density Residential  A-1, A-2, SF-1, SF-2, SF-3, SF-4, SF-X  

Medium Density Residential  TH, D, PH, SF-X  

High Density Residential  MF, TH, PH  

Manufactured Home Area  MH-1, MH-2, D  

Public/Semi-Public  CF  

Parks and Open Space  AG, CF  

Private Recreation  CF  

Town Center  LF, CF  



Retail/Office  O, NS, LC, CF  

Business Commercial  LC, HC, LI, HI, CF  

Lakefront District  N/A  

Eldorado Corridor District  N/A  

  

*PD zoning may be supported in any of the FLUP designations  

(2)  Comprehensive plan and zoning amendment considered concurrently. A future land use plan 
amendment and a zoning change may be requested together, noticed together, and be 
considered at the same planning and zoning commission and town council meetings. If 
processed together there will not be an additional application fee. However, if a future land use 
plan amendment is requested separate from a zoning request, an application fee is required to 
be paid. The amount shall be equal to the zoning application fee.  

(3)  Notification prior to the planning and zoning commission public hearing. The commission must 
hold a public hearing on any application for a zoning map amendment or change prior to making 
its recommendations and report to the town council. The following state mandated regulations 
must be met before the public hearing may be convened:  

a.  Written notice of all public hearings before the commission on a proposed amendment or 
change to the official zoning map, including an amendment or change to the use and 
development regulations governing a specific tract of land, must be sent to all owners of 
real property located within 200 feet of the property on which the change is requested. 
Notice must be given a minimum of ten days prior to the date set for the public hearing by 
mailing such notice properly addressed and postage-paid to each taxpayer as the 
ownership appears on the last approved town tax roll. A certificate of mailing shall be 
obtained from the postal service and copy of same shall be retained in the case records.  

b.  Notice of such hearing by the planning and zoning commission must be given by 
publication in the official newspaper of the Town of Little Elm stating the time and place of 
such public hearing a minimum of ten days prior to the hearing.  

c.  Public notification signs must be posted, per subsection (e), below, a minimum of ten days 
prior to the hearing and remain in place until the public hearing by the commission and 
must remain in place until the hearing before the town council.  

d.  Notice of the public hearing must be posted at town hall a minimum of 72 hours prior to the 
commission hearing.  

(4)  Commission recommendation. The town council shall not take action on a proposed zoning 
amendment without a recommendation from the planning and zoning commission.  

(5)  Town council notification and approval. A public hearing must be held by the town council 
before adopting any proposed zoning map amendment or development regulation change 
relating to a specific tract of land. The following state mandated regulations must be met before 
the public hearing may be convened:  

a.  Notice of the town council public hearing must be given by publication in the official 
newspaper of the Town of Little Elm stating the time and place of such public hearing a 
minimum of 15 days prior to the hearing.  



b.  Public notification signs posted, per subsection (e), below, must remain in place until the 
public hearing by town council.  

c.  Notice of the town council public hearing must be posted at town hall a minimum of 72 
hours prior to the hearing.  

(6)  If a written protest against such change is submitted in accordance with section 106.02.13, 
"zoning amendment protest procedure," by the owners of 20 percent or more of either (i) the 
area of the lots or land covered by the proposed change or (ii) the area of the lots or land 
immediately adjoining the area covered by the proposed change and extending 200 feet from 
that area, such map amendment shall not become effective except by the favorable vote of 
three-fourths of all the members of the town council.  

(7)  In computing the percentage of land area under subsection (6), above, the area of streets and 
alleys shall be included.  

(e)  Public notification signage.  

(1)  Any person, firm or corporation requesting a change in zoning from one zoning classification to 
another zoning classification on a specific site or other amendments to the use and 
development regulations governing such property shall erect and maintain a notification sign, 
provided by the town upon said property. Such sign shall be:  

a.  Sized a standard four-foot by four-foot;  

b.  Located within 15 feet of the closest, adjacent, most heavily traveled thoroughfare;  

c.  Located perpendicular to the street so as to be clearly visible and both sides of the sign are 
clearly readable from the thoroughfare and not obstructed in any manner;  

d.  Located so as not to create a hazard to traffic on, entering or leaving public rights-of-way 
abutting the property; and  

e.  Erected on the subject property at least ten days prior to the public hearing of such request 
by the planning and zoning commission, and to remain continuously on said property until 
final action by the town council or withdrawal of the request by the applicant. Removal of 
the required public notification sign by the applicant prior to final action of the town council 
shall constitute a withdrawal of the request. Photographic proof (with time stamp) must be 
provided to staff to ensure that the notification signs have been placed on the property 
within the required timeframe.  

(2)  It shall be unlawful for anyone to remove, destroy, deface or obstruct the view of a required 
sign which gives notice that a zoning hearing has been requested, however, it shall be an 
affirmative defense to prosecution of the underlying zoning request has been finally approved or 
denied by the town council or if such request has been withdrawn by the applicant.  

(3)  In the event the applicant should fail to erect or maintain any required signs in accordance with 
any appropriate standard in this section, then the public hearing before the planning and zoning 
commission and/or town council must be postponed to a date in the future that allows adequate 
time for compliance.  

(4)  The sign shall be two-sided and state that a zoning change is requested and shall list a phone 
number of an appropriate town department that may be contacted for information regarding this 
request.  

(5)  There shall be a cost attributed to the receiving of each sign by the applicant and such cost 
shall be listed in the schedule of fees.  

(6)  Failure to comply with the posting of the signs required by this section 106.02.11(e), "map 
amendments to the zoning ordinance, public notification signage" or to otherwise strictly comply 
with the manner in which such signs are posted, shall not invalidate any public hearing or action 
taken by either the commission or the town council relating to a request to amend the zoning 
regulations relating to the property.  



(Ord. No. 1407, § 2, 8-15-2017)  



Sec. 106.04.05 - Manufactured Home District.                    ***THIS SECTION TO BE DELETED ENTIRELY*** 

(a)  Use regulations. No building, structure, land or premises will be used, and no building or structure 
shall hereafter be erected, constructed, reconstructed, or altered, except for one or more of the uses 
specified in section 106.05.01(a), "schedule of use - residential."  

(1)  Permit required. Mobile home parks and recreational vehicle parks shall be permitted with a 
zoning change as defined in section 106.02.11, "map amendments to the zoning ordinance."  

(2)  Screening from other uses. Each mobile home or recreational vehicle park boundary, except 
those adjacent to a street or highway right-of-way, shall be provided with a continuous natural or 
artificial barrier.  

(3)  Water supply. Mobile home parks and recreational vehicle parks shall provide an adequate 
supply of pure water to all mobile home or recreational vehicle spaces within said parks in 
accordance with applicable ordinances. Each individual mobile home space shall be provided 
with a cold water tap not less than four inches above the ground. All plumbing work performed 
within a mobile home or recreational vehicle park shall comply in all respects with the 
requirements of the plumbing code, as revised.  

(4)  Sewage disposal.  

a.  Wastewater from showers, bathtubs, flush toilets, lavatories, and laundry facilities within 
the service and/or other buildings within the mobile home or recreational vehicle park, in 
addition to dump station facilities, shall be discharged into a public sewer system in 
compliance with applicable ordinances.  

b.  Each mobile home or recreational vehicle space located within a mobile home or 
recreational vehicle park facility shall be provided a trapped sewer not less than four inches 
in diameter. The trapped sewer in each mobile home or recreational vehicle space shall 
discharge wastewater into a public sewer system in compliance with applicable 
ordinances.  

(5)  Electrical service. Electrical service to individual mobile home spaces and recreational vehicle 
spaces, in addition to any service and/or office buildings, shall conform to those requirements 
specified in the most recently adopted edition of the National Electrical Code.  

(6)  Garbage receptacles.  

a.  Within mobile home or recreational vehicle parks, trash dumpsters and/or garbage cans 
possessing secure covers shall be provided in quantities adequate to permit disposal of all 
garbage and rubbish. Such garbage receptacles shall be located not farther than 300 feet 
from any mobile home or recreational vehicle space. These receptacles shall be 
maintained in sanitary conditions at all times. Garbage and rubbish shall be collected and 
disposed of as frequently as may be necessary to ensure that said receptacles shall not 
overflow.  

b.  Fees for collection and disposal of garbage shall be in accordance with the applicable 
ordinance governing and regulating residential refuse services.  

(7)  Fire protection.  

a.  Fire extinguishing equipment required. Each mobile home or recreational vehicle park shall 
be equipped at all times with fire extinguishing equipment in good working order, of such 
type, size and number located within the park as to satisfy applicable regulation as stated 
in the fire code. No open fires shall be permitted in any place which may endanger life or 
property. No open fires shall be unattended at any time.  

b.  Fire hydrants required. Standard fire hydrants, in workable condition, shall be located 
within 500 feet of each mobile home or recreational vehicle space. All such fire hydrants 
shall be connected to not less than a six-inch diameter water line.  



c.  Individual mobile home or recreational vehicle space numbering system required. Within all 
mobile home and recreational vehicle parks, each mobile home or recreational vehicle 
space shall be assigned a unique letter and/or number description. Such numbering or 
lettering shall be not less than three inches in size and of a reflective and shall be 
displayed on the mobile home or recreational vehicle space in a conspicuous location, 
visible from the internal circulation road which abuts the front yard of the mobile home or 
recreational vehicle space.  

d.  Park directory required. All mobile home or recreational vehicle parks, as herein defined, 
shall provide in a conspicuous location at each entrance to a public right-of-way a diagram 
displaying the location of each mobile home or recreational vehicle space within the park. 
The location of such diagram shall be identified by a blue light which will be clearly visible 
to anyone entering the park. The diagram of the park layout shall be enclosed in a 
weatherproof facility.  

(b)  Definitions. For purposes of this section, the following definitions shall apply:  

Licensee means any person licensed to operate and maintain a manufactured home or recreational 
vehicle park under the provisions of this chapter.  

Manufactured home park means and includes any area used, owned or operated by any person, 
association of persons, firm or corporation for the purpose of locating thereon any mobile or HUD-Code 
manufactured home.  

Manufactured home space means a plot of land within a manufactured home park designed for the 
accommodation of one manufactured home in accordance with the requirements of this chapter.  

Natural or artificial barrier means any embankment, fence, hedge, or other feature that serves to 
block direct pedestrian access or visibility.  

Owner is to include the person in whose name the title to the lot, block, tract, or parcel of land is 
shown to be.  

Operator is defined to include the person in charge of operating any manufactured home, either 
under written or verbal lease, or any other arrangements whereby he exercises control over the premises.  

Person means any natural individual, firm, trust, partnership, association, or corporation.  

Recreational vehicle may be constructed as including any of the following:  

Camping trailer is a canvas, folding structure mounted on wheels and designed for travel, 
recreation and vacation use.  

Motor home is a portable, temporary dwelling to be used for travel, recreation, and vacation, 
constructed as an integral part of a self-propelled vehicle.  

Pick-up coach is a structure designed to be mounted on a truck chassis for use as a temporary 
dwelling for travel, recreation, and vacation.  

Recreational vehicle park means any lot or tract of land designed to accommodate two or more 
recreational vehicles as defined and which exists as a privately owned/operated enterprise for the 
purpose of realizing a monetary profit.  

Recreation vehicle space means a plot of land within a recreational vehicle park designed for the 
accommodation of one recreational vehicle in accordance with the requirements of this chapter.  

Travel trailer means a vehicular structure build on a chassis with body width less than eight feet and 
body length less than 32 feet, said structure designed to be transported and intended for human 
occupancy as a dwelling for short periods of time and containing limited or no kitchen or bathroom 
facilities.  

(c)  Mobile home park district regulations. In the Manufactured Home Park District (MH-2) a park 
storage building, office, caretaker's quarters, laundry house, or other support structure or building for 



the mobile home park in general shall comply with the minimum setback requirements for the main 
building.  

(1)  Special permit requirement.  

a.  Application for special permit. In the event that a special permit shall be required, 
application for said permit shall be made to the council, such application to be filed with a 
complete plan (in triplicate) of the mobile home or recreational vehicle park facility in 
conformity with this chapter, development plans and specifications. Plans and 
specifications of all buildings, improvements, and facilities constructed or to be constructed 
within the mobile home or recreational vehicle park shall be provided in triplicate. Such 
application for special permit shall be subject to the review and approval procedure as 
determined by the town.  

b.  Transfer of special permit. An existing special permit may be transferred from one 
individual or corporation to another individual or corporation without a public hearing, upon 
application to the town council.  

(2)  License. It shall be unlawful for any person to maintain or operate a mobile home or recreational 
vehicle park within the limits of the town, unless such person shall first obtain a license as issued by 
the building official. Such license shall be valid for a period not to exceed one year and is subject to 
renewal upon expiration.  

(3)  License fees. Refer to the town's schedule of fees for current license fees.  

(4)  Application for license.  

a.  Application for initial license. An application for initial development of a mobile home park 
or recreational vehicle park shall be filed with and issued by the building official. The 
application shall be in writing, signed by the applicant, and shall include the following:  

b.  The name and address of the applicant.  

c.  The location and legal description of the mobile home or recreational vehicle park.  

d.  A complete plan of the subject park in conformity with the requirements of this chapter.  

e.  Plans and specifications of all buildings, improvements, and facilities constructed or to be 
constructed within the mobile home or recreational vehicle park.  

f.  Evidence of special permit approval, if required.  

g.  Such additional information as may be required by the building official to facilitate a 
determination as to compliance of the proposed park with established legal requirements. 
The application and all accompanying plans and specifications shall be filed in triplicate. 
The building official shall inspect the application and the proposed plans and specifications. 
In the event that the proposed mobile home or recreational vehicle park will, when 
constructed or altered in accordance with such plans and specifications, be in compliance 
with all provisions of this chapter and all other applicable ordinances and statutes, the 
building official shall approve the application, and upon completion of the park according to 
the plans, shall issue the license.  

h.  In those instances in which a mobile home or recreational vehicle park is proposed for 
development which fails to reasonably satisfy particular requirements as herein prescribed, 
a variance to certain of these requirements may be requested of the board of adjustment. 
Those requirements for which a variance may be granted, in addition to the procedure 
governing the operation of the board of adjustment are delineated in the board of 
adjustment, zoning ordinance of the town.  

i.  Application for renewal license. Upon application in writing by a licensee for renewal of a 
license and upon payment of the annual license fee, the building official, shall conduct an 
on-site inspection of the subject mobile home or recreational vehicle park to ascertain 
compliance with the requirements established in this chapter. Subsequent to a 



determination of compliance, the building official shall issue a certificate renewing such 
license for another year.  

j.  Transfer of license. Upon application in writing for a transfer of license, the provision of 
evidence of special permit transfer, if required, and payment of the license transfer fee, the 
building official shall issue a transfer of license.  

k.  Expiration date of license. All licenses issued under the terms and conditions of this 
chapter shall expire on December 31 following the issuance date.  

l.  Nonconforming mobile home or recreational vehicle parks. Such mobile home or 
recreational vehicle parks lawfully in operation on the effective date of the ordinance from 
which this chapter is derived and not in compliance with those regulations established 
herein, may, upon application to the building official for license renewal be permitted to 
continue that operation as a nonconforming mobile home or recreational vehicle park 
facility. Any expansion and/or extension of said nonconforming mobile home or 
recreational vehicle park, however, is subject to and shall be in compliance with the 
regulations established in this chapter.  

m.  Mobile home plats. Mobile home plats shall not be constructed in phases, but shall be 
completed as one unit.  

(5)  Location. Mobile home parks may be located only in conformity with the comprehensive zoning 
ordinance of the town and, in addition to the requirements contained herein, each boundary of 
the park must be at least 200 feet from any permanent residential building located outside the 
park, unless separated therefrom by a natural or artificial barrier, or unless a majority of the 
property owners according to area within said 200 feet consent in writing to the establishment of 
the park, provided, however, that the provisions of this section shall not apply to mobile home 
parks already in existence and operation at the time of the passage of this chapter.  

(6)  Mobile home park regulations. The regulations described herein govern the development, 
operation, and maintenance of those mobile home parks which exclusively accommodate 
mobile home uses as previously defined and do not provide facilities to accommodate 
recreational vehicles, as defined below:  

a.  The park shall be located on a well-drained site, properly graded to ensure rapid drainage 
and freedom from stagnant pools of water.  

b.  Mobile home spaces shall be provided consisting of a minimum of 2,500 square feet for 
each space which shall be at least 40 feet wide and clearly defined; provided, however, 
that mobile home parks in existence on the effective date of the ordinance from which this 
chapter is derived which provide mobile home spaces having a width or area less than that 
hereinabove prescribed may continue to operate with spaces of the existing width and 
area, but in no event shall any mobile home space be less than 25 feet wide and have an 
area of less than 1,250 square feet.  

c.  Mobile homes shall be so harbored on each space that there shall be at least a 25-foot 
clearance between mobile homes, provided, however, that with respect to mobile homes 
parked end-to-end, the end-to-end clearance may be less than 15 feet but shall not be less 
than ten feet. No mobile home shall be located closer than 15 feet from any building within 
the park or from any property line bounding the park.  

d.  All mobile home spaces shall abut upon a driveway of not less than 20 feet in width, which 
shall have unobstructed access to a public street, alley or highway.  

e.  Concrete walkways not less than five feet in width shall be provided from the mobile home 
spaces to the service buildings.  

f.  All driveways and walkways within the park shall be constructed of concrete and be 
illuminated at night with electric lamps. See article VI, part five, lighting, for more 
information.  



g.  It shall be unlawful for any person operating a mobile home park or occupying a mobile 
home to construct or permit to be constructed within such park any site-built addition to a 
mobile home. Manufactured components and awnings of canvas or metal, suitably 
constructed, may be attached to a mobile home.  

h.  One accessory building per mobile home space shall be permitted, provided that said 
building is located within a rear or side yard and is not placed within 20 feet of any mobile 
home space lot line.  

i.  The distance from any part of a mobile home to an internal road or street shall be at 
minimum ten feet.  

j.  Not less than eight percent of the gross land area within the mobile home park site is to be 
utilized for common recreation purposes. No recreation areas shall be comprised of less 
than 2,500 square feet.  

k.  All site-built structures located within the mobile home park shall be constructed and/or 
placed in compliance with the building code.  

l.  The mobile home park development plan shall comply with all applicable requirements as 
stated in the subdivision ordinance.  

m.  Each park shall provide service buildings to house such toilet, bathing and other sanitation 
facilities and such laundry facilities as are hereinafter more particularly prescribed.  

n.  An electrical outlet supplying at least 110 volts shall be provided for each mobile home 
space.  

(7)  Service buildings for mobile home parks (laundry and sanitation facilities).  

a.  The provision of common laundry facilities is not required in mobile home parks exclusively 
serving mobile home uses, as previously defined. In the event that common laundry 
facilities are to be provided within a mobile home park, toilet and lavatory accommodations 
are to be afforded in accordance with the building code.  

b.  The provision of sanitation facilities (i.e., showers, dressing accommodations, toilets, 
lavatories) is not required in mobile home parks exclusively serving mobile home uses as 
previously defined.  

(8)  Foundation requirements. All mobile home foundations shall be adequately enclosed or skirted 
and tied down within 60 days of permit date.  

(9)  Completion bonds. Mobile home builders/developers are to post completion bonds equal to 
100 percent of the value of the roads for the entire mobile home park.  

(d)  Recreational vehicle (RV) park regulations. The regulations described herein govern the 
development, operation, and maintenance of recreational vehicle parks, as previously defined.  

(1)  RV park development requirements. Recreational vehicle parks shall be developed to conform 
to those requirements as herein delineated:  

a.  Recreational vehicle parks shall be designed so as not to exceed a maximum of 20 units 
per acre.  

b.  No minimum area is established for a recreational vehicle space except that utility hookups 
shall be located such that a ten-foot clearance shall be maintained between recreational 
vehicle when parked.  

c.  Not less than eight percent of the gross land area within the park site is to be utilized for 
common recreational purposes.  

d.  Internal streets shall be paved and shall exhibit the appropriate dimension as required in 
the following:  

1.  One-way, no parking, 11 feet, (acceptable only if park provides less than 25 spaces);  



2.  One-way, parking on one side only, 18 feet, (acceptable only if park provides less than 
50 spaces);  

3.  Two-way, no parking, 24 feet;  

4.  Two-way, parking on one side only, 27 feet;  

5.  Two-way, parking on either side, 34 feet.  

(2)  RV parking. Spaces shall be provided at the park office that will accommodate five recreational 
vehicles. Each recreational vehicle space shall afford parking and maneuvering space sufficient 
such that the parking, loading, etc., of recreational vehicles shall not necessitate the use of any 
public right-of-way or privately owned property, which may abut the park.  

a.  Each recreational vehicle space provided with electrical service shall be so served through 
an underground distribution system. The park office and/or service building may receive 
electrical service as provided through overhead facilities.  

b.  Each recreational vehicle park shall provide, at minimum, one sanitary disposal site (i.e. 
dump station) which discharges into the town sewage system.  

c.  All site-built structures located within the recreational vehicle park shall be constructed 
and/or placed in compliance with the building code.  

d.  The recreational vehicle park development plan shall comply with all applicable 
requirements as stated in the subdivision ordinance.  

(3)  Service buildings for RV parks (laundry and sanitation facilities). Each recreational vehicle park 
shall provide one or more service buildings for the use of park patrons. Said service buildings 
shall provide for:  

a.  One flush toilet for women;  

b.  One flush toilet for men;  

3.  One lavatory for each sex;  

4.  One shower and dressing accommodation for each sex, provided in an individual 
compartment or stall;  

5.  One washing machine;  

6.  One slop sink, not less than 14 by 14 inches square and 14 inches deep.  

7.  The aforementioned amenities shall accommodate not more than 12 recreational vehicle 
spaces. For each additional ten recreational vehicle spaces or fraction thereof, one flush 
toilet, one shower with individual dressing accommodations, and one lavatory shall be 
provided for each sex, with laundry and slop sink facilities as described in subsections (e) 
and (f) of this section to be provided for each additional 12 recreational vehicle spaces.  

(4)  Service buildings providing the afore noted facilities shall satisfy such requirements as include:  

a.  Service buildings housing sanitation and/or laundry facilities shall be permanent structures 
which comply with all applicable statutes regulating buildings, electrical installation, 
plumbing, and sanitation systems.  

b.  Service buildings shall afford appropriate illumination, shall be well ventilated with screened 
openings, shall be constructed of such moisture-proof material, to include painted 
woodwork, as shall permit frequent cleaning and washing, and shall be maintained at a 
temperature not less than 68 degrees during the period October 1 through May 1. Floors 
shall be constructed of concrete or other equally impervious material, easily cleanable, and 
provided with floor drains which are connected to the sanitary sewer.  

3.  The toilet and other sanitation facilities for males and females shall be either in separate 
buildings or shall be separated, if in the same building, by a soundproof wall.  



4.  All service buildings and park grounds shall be maintained in a clear, slightly condition and 
kept free of any condition that will menace the health of any occupant or the public or 
constitute a nuisance.  

5.  Service buildings housing sanitation facilities shall be located not closer than 15 feet nor 
farther than 200 feet from any recreational vehicle space within the park.  

(5)  RV combined accommodations. In the event a mobile home park is proposed to provide 
facilities to accommodate recreational vehicles, the following regulations shall apply:  

a.  Those accommodations serving the recreational vehicles and mobile homes shall be 
physically separate and distinct, with the recreational vehicle facilities provided separate 
access to a public right-of-way such that recreational vehicle traffic does not intrude into 
the residential portion of the park occupied by mobile homes.  

b.  Within those portions of the mobile home park proposed for recreational vehicle use, those 
requirements as specified in recreational vehicle park regulations, shall apply.  

c.  Within those portions of the mobile home park proposed for mobile home use, those 
requirements as specified in mobile home park regulations, shall apply.  

(6)  Animals and other pets in RV parks. No owner or person in charge of any dog, cat or other pet 
animal shall permit such animal to run at large or commit any nuisance within the limits of any 
mobile home or recreational vehicle park.  

(7)  Registration of occupants in RV parks. It shall be the duty of each licensee to maintain a 
register containing a record of all mobile home or recreational vehicle owner/occupants located 
within mobile home or recreational vehicle parks. The register shall contain the following 
information:  

a.  The name and address of each mobile home or recreational vehicle occupant.  

b.  The name and address of the owner of each mobile home or recreational vehicle within the 
park.  

c.  The make, model, year, and license number of each mobile home or recreational vehicle 
located within the park.  

d.  The state, territory, or country issuing such licenses as noted in subsection (c) of this 
section.  

v.  The date of arrival and of departure of each mobile home or recreational vehicle.  

(8)  RV park registration list inspection. The park shall keep the register available for inspection at 
all times by law enforcement officers, public health officials, and other officials whose duties 
necessitate acquisition of the information contained in the register. The register record for each 
occupant registered shall not be destroyed for a period of three years following the date of 
departure of the registrant from the park.  

(9)  RV park supervision. The licensee, or duly authorized attendant or caretaker, shall be in charge 
at all times to maintain the RV park, its facilities, and equipment in a clean, orderly, and sanitary 
condition. The attendant or caretaker shall be answerable, with the licensee, for the violation of 
any provision of this chapter to which the licensee is subject.  

(10)  RV park violations.  

a.  Where the building official, or his agent, determines that the operation of a RV park violates 
some provision of this chapter, or any other provision in the Code of Ordinances of the 
town, a complaint may be filed in the municipal court for the town against either the owner 
or the operator of the park or both.  

b.  Where the building official, or his agent, determines that the operation of a RV park violates 
some provision of this chapter, he may suspend the park's license to operate until such 
time as the park complies with the ordinance. The licensee may appeal this suspension to 



the zoning board of adjustment, as provided for in the zoning ordinance of the town as 
amended. Operation of a park while the license is suspended shall constitute a violation of 
this chapter for the purposes of subsection (a) of this section.  

(11)  Posting of license. The license certificate shall at all times be conspicuously posted in the 
office of or on the premises of the RV park.  

(Ord. No. 1407, § 2, 8-15-2017)  



Sec. 106.05.01 - Schedule of uses.  

Land and buildings in each of the following classified districts may be used for any of the following 
listed uses but no land shall hereafter be used, and no building or structure shall hereafter be erected, 
altered or converted which is arranged or designed or used for other than uses specified for the district in 
which it is located as set forth by the use schedule located in section 106.05.01(a) and (b), "Schedule of 
uses - residential" and "schedule of uses - nonresidential," respectively. 

(a)  Residential zoning districts uses. P=permitted by right; C=conditional use; S=specific use permit 
required. A blank space indicates the use is prohibited in that district.  

ARTICLE V, 

TABLE 

A 

 Residential 

Zoning 

Districts 

SF-RE  
SF-

1  

SF-

2  

SF-

3  

SF-

4  
A-1  A-2  

SF-

X  
TH  MH-1  MH-2  D  MF  

Ranc

hette 

Estat

e  

Sin

gle-

Fa

mil

y 1 

Sin

gle-

Fa

mil

y 2  

Sin

gle-

Fa

mil

y 3  

Sin

gle-

Fa

mil

y 4  

Sin

gle-

Fa

mil

y 

A1  

Sin

gle-

Fa

mil

y 

A2  

Sin

gle-

Fa

mil

y 

Mix  

Town

home  

Manufa

ctured 

Home 

District  

Manufa

ctured 

Home 

Park  

Dup

lex  

Multif

amily  

Primary Residential Uses 

Amenity center  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  > P  P  P  P  P  P  

Dwelling, 

accessory  
P              

Dwelling, 

assisted living 

facility  

            S  

Dwelling, 

assisted living 

home  

            > S  

Dwelling, 

boarding house 

or rooming 

house  

            P  

Dwelling, 

duplex  
         P   P  P  



Dwelling, group 

home  
P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  

Dwelling, HUD 

Code man. 

home  

         P  P    

Dwelling, listed 

family home  
P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  

Dwelling, live-

work unit  
See nonresidential uses  

Dwelling, 

mobile home  
         P  P  C  C  

Dwelling, model 

home  
C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C    C   

Dwelling, 

multifamily  
            P  

Dwelling, single-

family detached  
P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P   P  P  

Dwelling, 

townhome  
        P  P   P  P  

Senior living 

facility  
            S  

Mixed use 

building  
        C  C  C  C  C  

Accessory and Incidental Uses 

Accessory 

structure  
C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  

Automated 

dispenser 
             



machine  

Automated 

intake machine  
             

Automated 

teller machine 

(ATM), off-site  

             

Caretaker/guar

d's Residence  
             

Construction 

yard, field office 

temporary  

C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  

Farm accessory 

building  
C              

Home 

occupation  
C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  

Open storage, 

permanent  
             

Open storage, 

temporary  
             

Seasonal sales               

Solar panels or 

devices  
C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  

Vending kiosk, 

commercial  
             

Vending kiosk, 

not-for-profit  
C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  

Wind energy 

conversion 
C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  



system (WECS)  

Institutional and Special Uses 

Assembly uses  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  

Athletic stadium 

or field  
S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S    S  S  

Cemetery or 

mausoleum  
S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S    S  S  

College, 

university, or 

trade school  

S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S    S  S  

Farm, ranch, 

stable, garden, 

or orchard  

             

Fraternal 

organization, 

lodge, civic club, 

fraternity, or 

sorority  

             

Golf course, 

tennis club, 

polo club, or 

country club 

(private)  

S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S    S  S  

Gun or archery 

range, indoor  
             

Hospital              S  

Municipal uses  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P    P  P  

Museum/art              



gallery  

Park or 

playground  
P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  

Recreation 

center  
S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S    S  S  

Religious facility  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  

School, private, 

charter or 

parochial  

S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S    S  S  

School, public  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P    P  P  

Infrastructure Type Uses 

Airport/landing 

field/heliport  
             

Communication 

tower  
S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  

Electric power 

generating plant  
             

Electric 

substation  
S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  

Private utility, 

other than 

listed  

P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  

Sewage 

pumping station  
P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  

Sewage 

treatment plant  
S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  



Telephone 

exchange  
S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  

Transit 

center/bus 

terminal  

             

Utility line  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  

Water reservoir, 

water pumping 

station, water 

well  

P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  

Water 

treatment plant  
S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  

Retail Uses 

Antique shop 

and used 

furniture 

(inside)  

             

Arcade               

Bakery, candy 

or ice cream 

shop  

             

Bar/brewpub               

Building 

material and 

hardware sales, 

major  

             

Building 

material and 

hardware sales, 

             



minor  

Commercial 

amusement,  

indoor  

             

Commercial 

amusement,  

outdoor  

             

Farmers market               

Greenhouse or 

nursery for 

retail plant sales  

             

Heavy 

machinery sales 

and storage  

             

Portable 

building sales  
             

Private club               

Restaurant, 

dine-in  
             

Restaurant, 

drive-in  
             

Restaurant, 

drive-thru  
             

Restaurant, 

with brewpub  
             

Restaurant, 

pick-up only  
             



Smoking 

Establishment 
             

Store, big box               

Store, 

convenience  
             

Store, discount, 

variety, or 

department 

store  

             

Store, drugstore 

or pharmacy  
             

Store, feed               

Store, florist               

Store, grocery               

Store, hardware 

& home imp.  
             

Store, incidental               

Store, liquor               

Store, pet shop               

Store, shopping 

center  
             

Store, other 

than listed 

above  

             

Theatre, indoor               



Theatre, drive-

in  
             

Winery/brewer

y retail sales  
             

Service Uses 

Alternative 

financial 

services  

             

Bank, savings 

and loan, or 

credit union  

             

Bed and 

breakfast inn  
S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  

Body art studio               

Business Service              

Campground or 

RV park  
          S   S  

Catering 

service/commis

sary  

             

Child care 

center  
       S      S  

Child care 

center, in-home  
C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  

Clinic/medical 

lab  
             

Clinic, animal, 

with no outside 
             



runs  

Clinic, animal, 

with outside 

runs  

             

Contractor's 

shop with 

outside storage  

             

Contractor's 

shop inside only  
             

Custom 

personal service  
             

Day Service, 

Adult 
             

Fairgrounds/exh

ibition area  
             

Funeral 

home/cremator

ium  

             

Funeral 

home/mortuary  
             

Gunsmith               

Gymnastics/dan

ce studio/ 

martial arts  

             

Health/fitness 

center  
             

Hotel, extended 

stay  
             



Hotel, full 

service  
             

Hotel, limited 

service  
             

Household 

appliance 

service  

             

Incidental retail 

and service uses  
             

Kennel, no 

outside runs  
             

Kennel, with 

outside runs  
             

Laundry/dry 

cleaning, 

commercial  

             

Laundry/dry 

cleaning, pickup 

station  

             

Laundry/dry 

cleaning, self-

service  

             

Laundry/dry 

cleaning, small 

shop  

             

Motel               

Office, 

professional 

and general 

             



administrative  

Personal service 

(other than 

listed)  

             

Print shop, 

minor retail 

shop  

             

Sexually 

oriented 

businesses  

             

Studio, 

photography, 

music, artistic, 

etc.  

             

Studio, media               

Automobile and Related Uses 

Auto/boat 

repair, major  
             

Auto/boat 

repair, minor  
             

Auto/boat sales, 

accessories only  
             

Auto/boat 

sales/leasing, 

new, outside 

display  

             

Auto/boat sales, 

used, outside 

display  

             



Auto/boat/RV 

storage  
             

Auto parking, 

lot or garage  
            P  

Auto wash, 

automated  
             

Auto wash, full-

service  
             

Auto wash, self-

serve  
             

Gas pumps/fuel 

sales  
             

Manufactured/

mobile home 

display and 

sales  

         S     

Motorcycle 

sales/service  
             

Truck, trailer, 

heavy 

equipment, RV 

and bus, repair  

             

Truck, trailer, 

heavy 

equipment, RV 

and bus, sales 

and leasing  

             

Truck terminal               

IndustriaL and Manufacturing Uses 



Concrete batch 

plant, 

permanent  

             

Concrete batch 

plant, 

temporary  

C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C      C  

Machine/weldin

g shop  
             

Manufacturing 

or industrial 

uses, heavy  

             

Manufacturing 

or industrial 

uses, light  

             

Mini-

warehouse/self-

storage  

             

Office/showroo

m  
             

Print shop, 

industrial plant  
             

Research and 

development 

center  

             

Salvage yard, 

wrecking yard  
             

Warehouse/dist

ribution center  
             

Winery/brewer

y/distillery 
             



manufacturing  

  

(b)  Nonresidential zoning districts uses. P=permitted by right; C=Conditional Use; S=Specific Use 
Permit required.  

ARTICLE V, TABLE 

B  

Nonresidential  

Zoning  

Districts  

AG  O  NS  CF  LC  HC  LF  LI  HI  

Agricult

ural 

Offi

ce 

Neighborh

ood 

Services 

Commu

nity 

Facilitie

s 

Light 

Commer

cial  

Heavy 

Commer

cial  

Lakefr

ont  

Light 

Indust

rial  

Heavy 

Indust

rial  

Primary Residential Uses 

Amenity center        P    

Dwelling, 

accessory  
P          

Dwelling, assisted 

living facility  
 S    S  S     

Dwelling, assisted 

living home  
         

Dwelling, boarding 

house or rooming 

house  

         

Dwelling, duplex           

Dwelling, group 

home  
         

Dwelling, HUD 

Code man. home  
         

Dwelling, listed          



family home  

Dwelling, live-work 

unit  
      P    

Dwelling, mobile 

home  
         

Dwelling, model 

home  
         

Dwelling, 

multifamily  
         

Dwelling, single-

family detached  
P          

Dwelling, 

townhome  
      P  S  S  

Senior living 

facility  
 S    S   S    

Mixed use building      C  C  P  C  C  

Accessory and Incidental Uses 

Accessory 

structure  
C  C  C  C C  C  C  C  C  

Automated 

dispenser machine  
  P   P  P   P  P  

Automated intake 

machine  
  S   S  S   S  S  

Automated teller 

machine, off-site  
  S   S  S   S  S  

Caretaker's/guard'      C   C  C  



s residence  

Construction yard, 

field office, 

temporary  

C  C  C   C  C  C  C  C  

Farm accessory 

building  
C          

Home occupation  C     C  C  C    

Open storage, 

permanent/ongoin

g  

S     S  S   S  S  

Open storage, 

temporary  
    C  C   C  C  

Seasonal sales  C     C  C   C  C  

Solar panels, 

devices, 

commercial  

 C    C  C  C  C  C  

Vending kiosk, 

commercial  
 C    C  C  C  C  C  

Vending kiosk, not-

for-profit  
C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  

Wind energy 

conversion system  

(WECS)  

C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  

Assembly uses  S  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  

Athletic stadium or 

field  
S  S  S  P  S  S   S  S  

Cemetery or S  S  S   S  S   S  S  



mausoleum  

Institutional and Special Uses  

College, university, 

or trade school  
S  P  S  P  P  P  S  P  P  

Farm, ranch, 

stable, garden, or 

orchard  

P          

Fraternal 

organization, 

lodge, civic club, 

fraternity, or 

sorority  

 P  P   P  P  P  P  P  

Golf course, tennis 

club, polo club, or 

country club 

(private)  

S  S  S  P  P  P   P  P  

Gun or archery 

range, indoor  
   S  S  S   S  S  

Hospital   S  S  P  P  P   P  P  

Municipal uses 

operated by the 

Town of Little Elm  

P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  

Museum/art 

gallery  
 S  S  P  P  P  P  P  P  

Park or playground  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  

Recreation center  S  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  

Religious facility  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  



School, private, 

charter or 

parochial  

S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  

School, public  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  

Infrastructure Type Uses 

Airport/landing 

field/heliport  
 C   C  C  C  C  C  C  

Alternate energy 

system  
C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  C  

Communication 

tower  
C  C  C  C  C  C  S  C  C  

Electric power 

generating plant  
S    S  S  S   S  P  

Electric substation  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  S  

Helipad           

Private utility, 

other than listed  
P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  

Sewage pumping 

station  
P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  P  

Sewage treatment 

plant  
S  S  S  S  S  S   S  S  

Telephone 

exchange  
S  S  P   P  P  P  P  P  

Transit center/bus 

terminal  
 P  P   P  P  P  P  P  

Utility S  S  S   S  S  S  S  S  



distribution/trans

mission line  

Water Reservoir, 

water pumping 

station, water well  

P  P  P   P  P  P  P  P  

Water treatment 

plant  
S  S  S   S  S   S  S  

Retail Uses 

Antique shop and 

used furniture, 

inside only  

    P  P  P  P  P  

Arcade      S  S  S  S  S  

Bakery, candy or 

ice-cream shop  
  P   P  P  P  P  P  

Bar/brewpub      S  S  P  S  S  

Building material 

and hardware 

sales, major  

    P  P  P  P  P  

Building material 

and hardware 

sales, minor  

    P  P  P  P  P  

Commercial 

amusement, 

indoor  

    P  P  P  P  P  

Commercial 

amusement, 

outdoor  

    S  S  S  P  P  

Farmers market      S  S  S  S   



Florist    P   P  P  P  P  P  

Greenhouse/nurse

ry for plant sales  
 S    P  P  P  P  P  

Heavy machinery 

sales and storage  
     P   P  P  

Portable building 

sales  
    S  P   P  P  

Private club      S  S     

Restaurant, dine-in   S  P   P  P  P  P  P  

Restaurant, drive-

in  
  S   P  P  P  P  P  

Restaurant, drive-

thru  
  S   P  P  P  P  P  

Restaurant, with 

brewpub  
    P  P  P  P  P  

Restaurant, pick-

up only  
    P  P  P  P  P  

Smoking 

Establishment 
 S S  S S S S S 

Store, big box      P  P  P  P  P  

Store, convenience    P   P  P  P  P  P  

Store, discount, 

variety, or 

department store  

    P  P  P  P  P  

Store, drugstore or 

pharmacy  
    P  P  P  P  P  



Store, feed      P  P   P  P  

Store, florist    P   P  P  P  P  P  

Store, grocery      P  P  P  P  P  

Store, hardware 

and home imp.  
    P  P  P  P  P  

Store, incidental 

(within another 

use)  

    P  P  P  P  P  

Store, liquor      S  S  S  S  S  

Store, pet shop      S S  S S S 

Store, shopping 

center  
    P P  P P P 

Store, other than 

listed above  
    P  P  P  P  P  

Theatre, indoor   S    P  P  P  P  P  

Theatre, drive-in      S  P   P  P  

Winery/brewery 

retail sales  
    P  P  P  P  P  

Service Uses 

Alternative 

financial services  
    C  C   C  C  

Bank, savings and 

loan, or credit 

union  

 P    P  P  P  P  P  

Bed and breakfast S  P  P   P   P    



inn  

Body art studio       S  S  S  S  

Business Service S S S  S S S S S 

Campground or RV 

park  
S          

Catering service      P  P  P  P  P  

Child care center   S  S   S  S  S  S  S  

Child care center, 

in-home  
C          

Cleaning and 

pressing (small 

shop/pickup)  

  P   P  P  P  P  P  

Clinic/medical lab   P  P   P  P  P  P  P  

Clinic, animal (no 

outside runs)  
S   P   P  P  P  P  P  

Clinic, animal (with 

outside runs)  
S     S  P   P  P  

Commissary      S  S   S  S  

Contractor's shop 

with outside 

storage  

     P   P  P  

Contractor's shop 

inside only  
    P  P   P  P  

Custom personal 

service  
 P  P   P  P  P  P  P  



Day Service, Adult  S S  S S S S S 

Fairgrounds/exhibi

tion area  
 S    S  P   P  P  

Fortune 

teller/psychic  
     S   S  S  

Funeral 

home/crematoriu

m  

 S    S  S   S  S  

Funeral 

home/mortuary  
 S    P  P  P  P  P  

Gunsmith      P  P  P  P  P  

Gymnastics/dance 

studio/martial arts  
 P  P   P  P  P  P  P  

Health/fitness 

center  
 P    P  P  P  P  P  

Hotel, extended 

stay  
    S  S  S  S  S  

Hotel, full service      P  P  P  P  P  

Hotel, limited 

service  
    S  S  S  S  S  

Household 

appliance service 

and repair  

 S  P   P  P  P  P  P  

Incidental retail 

and service uses  
  P   P  P  P  P  P  

Kennel, no outside 

runs  
    P  P  P  P  P  



Kennel, with 

outside runs  
    S  S  S  S  S  

Laundry/dry 

cleaning, 

commercial  

     P   P  P  

Laundry/dry 

cleaning, pickup 

station  

  P   P  P  P  P  P  

Laundry/dry 

cleaning, self-

service  

    P  P   P  P  

Motel           

Office, 

professional and 

general 

administrative  

 P  P   P  P  P  P  P  

Personal service 

(other than listed)  
    P  P  P  P  P  

Print shop, minor 

retail shop  
    P  P  P  P  P  

Sexually oriented 

businesses  
       C  C  

Studio, 

photography, 

music, artistry  

 P  P   P  P  P  P  P  

Studio, media   P    P  P  P  P  P  

Automobile and Vehicular Uses 

Auto/boat repair,     S  S   S  S  



major  

Auto/boat repair, 

minor  
    S  S   S  S  

Auto/boat sales, 

accessories only  
    P  P  P  P  P  

Auto/boat 

sales/leasing, new, 

outdoor display  

    S  S   P  P  

Auto/boat sales, 

used, outdoor 

display  

     S   P  P  

Auto/boat/RV 

storage  
     S   P  P  

Auto parking, lot 

or garage  
 P    P  P  P  P  P  

Auto wash, 

automated  
    S  S   S  S  

Auto wash, full-

service  
    S  S   S  S  

Auto wash, self-

serve  
     S   S  S  

Gas pumps/fuel 

sales  
    S  S   S  S  

Manufactured/mo

bile home display 

and sales  

       S  P  

Motorcycle 

sales/service  
    P  P   P  P  



Truck, trailer, 

heavy equipment, 

RV, bus repair  

       P  P  

Truck, trailer, 

heavy equipment, 

RV and bus sales 

and leasing  

     P   P  P  

Truck terminal       P   P  P  

Industrial and Manufacturing Uses 

Concrete batch 

plant, permanent  
        S  

Concrete batch 

plant, temporary  
C  C  C   C  C   C  C  

Machine/welding 

shop  
       P  P  

Manufacturing or 

industrial uses, 

heavy  

        C  

Manufacturing or 

industrial uses, 

light  

       C  C  

Mini-

warehouse/self-

storage  

     S   S  S  

Office/showroom       P   P  P  

Print shop, 

industrial  
     P   P  P  

Research and dev't      P   P  P  



center  

Salvage yard, 

wrecking yard  
        S  

Warehouse/distrib

ution center  
       P  P  

Winery/brewery/di

stillery 

manufacturing  

    S  S  P  P  P  

  

(Ord. No. 1407, § 2, 8-15-2017)  



Sec. 106.05.02.2 - Permanent land uses (other than accessory uses).  

(a)  Airport/helipad/heliport.  

(1)  Application. Approval of an airport, landing field, or heliport requires a special use permit, 
subject to review and approval by town council.  

(2)  Definitions.  

a.  Airport/heliport. A place where aircraft and/or helicopters can land and take off, usually 
equipped with hangars, facilities for refueling and repair, and various accommodations for 
pilots and passengers.  

b.  Helipad. A place, typically on the roof of a hospital or a small ground area where 
helicopters may land and take off, but without any service or fueling capabilities.  

(3)  Regulations.  

a.  No such use shall be located within 400 feet of any residential structure, and no residential 
structure shall be located within 400 feet of any such use.  

b.  No such use shall be located within 400 feet of any area zoned residential by the town or 
shown as residential on the existing Comprehensive Land Use Plan of the town.  

c.  Such distances shall be measured as the shortest possible distance in a straight line from 
the closest point of the proposed use to the closest point of the residential structure or 
area.  

d.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, such uses may be located in closer proximity by specific 
use permit.  

(4)  Approval. Town council through the SUP process.  

(b)  Alternative energy sources—Solar panels/devices.  

(1)  Application. The application to allow a solar device or system requires the approval of a 
conditional use permit, issued at the discretion of the director.  

(2)  Definition. A solar panel or device is a structure that is intended to capture the light from the 
sun and transfer that energy to electricity for general use.  

(3)  Regulations for single-family residential use:  

a.  Is in compliance with state law and poses no threat to public health or safety;  

b.  Is located solely on private property;  

c.  Includes approval letter from the HOA with submittal for the CUP, if applicable.  

d.  Installation and maintenance in compliance with manufacturer's recommendations and 
warranties;  

e.  Roof mounted:  

1.  Panels shall be designed and installed in conformance with the International Fire 
Code, as amended;  

2.  Panels must conform to the slope of the roof, unless mounted on a roof slope that is 
not visible from the right-of-way; and  

3.  Roof mounted panels should be designed and installed to reduce excessive glare.  

f.  Ground mounted:  

1.  Prohibited in front yards.  

2.  Ground mounted devices shall follow the setbacks required for accessory structures 
within the specific zoning district.  



3.  Device shall not be visible from either the public right-of-way or the adjacent 
properties;  

4.  Device shall be screened by a wooden or masonry fence and no device shall extend 
above the fence line.  

5.  Where fences are not allowed within the residential subdivision, a solid evergreen 
hedge which shall be maintained at a minimum of six feet in height within 18 months 
of planting.  

(4)  Regulations for nonresidential structures:  

a.  Is in compliance with state law and poses no threat to public health or safety;  

b.  Is located solely on private property;  

c.  Installation and maintenance in compliance with manufacturer's recommendation and 
warranties;  

d.  Is located on the roof;  

e.  Panels located on a sloped roof may not extend beyond the roofline and must conform to 
the slope of the roof, unless mounted on a roof slope that is not visible from the public 
right-of-way.  

f.  Panels located on a flat roof must be screened from view from the adjacent roadways.  

g.  No ground mounted solar panels are permitted in nonresidential districts without the 
approval of a specific use permit, subject to the review and approval of the town council.  

(5)  Approval. Once the director has determined that the conditions listed in (3) above have been 
met, approval for the conditional use permit may be granted.  

(c)  Alternative energy sources—Wind energy conversion system (WECS).  

(1)  Application. The application to allow a WECS system requires the approval of a conditional use 
permit, issued at the discretion of the director.  

(2)  Definition. A WECS device is a structure that is intended to capture the wind and transfer that 
energy to electricity for general use.  

(3)  Regulations for single-family residential use:  

a.  Freestanding WECS are prohibited on residential lots less than one acre in size.  

b.  Shall not be allowed in the front yard.  

c.  The highest point of a roof-mounted WECS shall not project more than five feet above the 
roof line, excluding the highest point of the blade arc.  

d.  Freestanding WECS shall be of monopole design and shall not be located in any required 
setback.  

e.  Freestanding WECS shall abide by the height and setback regulations of the specific 
zoning district and be located at least a distance equal to the height of the pole away from 
any structure or property line.  

(4)  Regulations for other than single-family residential use:  

a.  WECS may exceed the height limits of the zoning district, up to a maximum of 80 feet, if 
located at least a distance from any residential district boundary line or residential dwelling 
equal to the height of the support structure. Height shall not include the highest point of the 
blade arc and shall refer to the highest point of the pole structure.  

b.  The minimum lot size required for a WECS is one acre. Only one low impact WECS shall 
be allowed per platted lot.  



c.  The WECS shall not be located within any required setback area for the front, side or rear 
yards.  

d.  The WECS' freestanding blade arc spheres shall have a minimum 30-foot clearance from 
any structure, tree or any other impediment.  

e.  All associated wiring shall be buried underground by means of a conduit system, or if 
ground-mounted equipment is required, then a minimum eight-foot-high masonry wall shall 
be constructed.  

f.  The WECS shall be constructed in a monopole design of tubular steel and shall be self-
supporting without the use of guy wires or other similar features.  

g.  The WECS shall be a neutral or earth tone color. The proposed paint type shall be a dull or 
matte finish so as to reduce the possibility of any glare or reflection and to minimize the 
visual obtrusiveness of the WECS.  

h.  All commercial signs, flags, lights and attachments shall be prohibited on the WECS, 
unless required for structural stability, or as required for flight visibility by the Federal 
Aviation Administration (FAA).  

i.  The WECS shall be equipped with both a manual and an automatic braking device capable 
of stopping the WECS' operation in high winds.  

j.  The WECS shall meet or exceed current standards and regulations of the FAA and any 
other agency of the state or federal government with the authority to regulate such 
systems.  

k.  The WECS shall not be grid-interconnected until and unless evidence has been provided to 
the town that the appropriate electric power provider has approved the customer's intent to 
install a grid-connected customer-owned WECS and that the customer's system meets the 
utility's approved specifications for interconnection.  

l.  The WECS shall be grounded and shielded to protect against natural lightning strikes and 
stray voltage, including the blades.  

m.  The WECS shall be adequately designed structurally, electrically, and in all other respects 
to accommodate the safety and general well-being of the public.  

n.  The WECS shall be maintained at all times according to the manufacturer's specifications.  

o.  The WECS shall be filtered, shielded or otherwise designed and constructed so as not to 
cause electrical, radio frequency, television and other communication signal interference.  

p.  The WECS shall be prohibited from including a tower climbing apparatus within 12 feet of 
the ground.  

q.  The WECS shall adhere to the performance standards of the zoning ordinance, in regard to 
maximum sound pressure levels. The noise levels measured at the property line of the 
property on which the conversion system has been installed shall not exceed 60 decibels 
and in no event shall the conversion system create a nuisance.  

r.  If the WECS is not in operation for a period of six months, it shall be deemed abandoned 
and shall be removed at the owner's expense.  

s.  With the approval of a specific use permit, in any district, any one or more of the above 
development standards may be excused, subject to review and approval by the town 
council.  

(5)  Approval. Once the director has determined that the conditions listed in (3) or (4) above, as 
applicable, have been, approval for the conditional use permit may be granted.  

(d)  Alternative financial services.  



(1)  Application. Approval of an alternate financial services facility requires a specific use permit, 
subject to review and approval by town council.  

(2)  Definition. A check cashing business, payday advance or loan business, money transfer 
business, car title loan business or pawn shop (see section 106.01.14, "land use definitions" for 
more detailed definitions of each type of alternative financial services).  

(3)  Regulations.  

a.  Alternative financial services shall be situated only within a freestanding building on a 
platted lot and shall not be co-located in the same structure as other uses.  

b.  A lot containing an alternative financial service shall be located at least 1,000 feet from any 
lot containing another alternative financial service, as measured in a straight line between 
the nearest points of one lot to the other lot.  

c.  A lot containing an alternative financial service shall be located at least 200 feet from any 
lot zoned or used for residential purposes, as measured in a straight line between the 
nearest points of one lot to the other lot.  

d.  No lot containing an alternative financial service shall be located within 500 feet of the 
rights-of-way of Eldorado Parkway, F.M. 720 or F.M. 423.  

e.  No alternative financial services shall be permitted within the Lakefront District.  

(4)  Approval. Town council through the SUP process.  

(e)  Bars/brewpubs (this classification also includes wine tasting bars, growlers, and other similar uses).  

(1)  Application. Approval of a bar or brewpub requires a specific use permit, subject to review and 
approval by town council, unless located within a zoning district or overlay district that allows 
these uses by right.  

(2)  Definition. An establishment principally for the sale and consumption of alcoholic beverages on 
the premises that derives 75 percent or more of its gross revenue on a quarterly (three-month) 
basis from the sale or service of alcoholic beverages, as defined in the Texas Alcoholic 
Beverage Code, for on-premises consumption.  

(3)  Regulations.  

a.  Prior to issuance of a certificate of occupancy, the business owner shall provide the town 
with a copy of its state permit to operate as a bar, brewpub, or similar use.  

b.  All alcohol-related activities must meet all standards found in chapter 10, alcoholic 
beverages, of the Little Elm Code of Ordinances.  

(4)  Approval. Town council through the SUP process, unless located within a zoning district that 
allows these uses by right.  

(f)  Bed and breakfast.  

(1)  Application. The application to allow a bed and breakfast within a private residence requires the 
approval of a conditional use permit, issued at the discretion of the director.  

(2)  Definition. A residential home, occupied by the owner or manager, where the owner or 
manager rents one or more bedrooms for remuneration and provides a breakfast meal to the 
guest(s).  

(3)  Regulations.  

a.  Guest parking must be provided on the residential lot and not on the street.  

b.  The owner or manager shall be responsible for any noise or disruption of the neighborhood 
caused by the guests.  



c.  The owner or manager shall register with the state to pay any applicable taxes and shall 
pay the hotel occupancy tax to the Town of Little Elm on an quarterly basis.  

(4)  Approval. Once the director has determined that the bed and breakfast is appropriate for the 
location requested and that the regulations listed in (3), above, have been met and will continue 
to be met, approval for the conditional use permit may be granted.  

(g)  Caretaker or guard residence.  

(1)  Application. Part of the site plan process.  

(2)  Definition. A residence located on a premises with a main nonresidential use and occupied only 
by a caretaker or guard, and his/her family, employed on the premises.  

(3)  Regulations—No specific regulations. Approval is subject to the director's discretion.  

(4)  Approval. A caretaker or guard residence shall be approved as part of the site plan process.  

(h)  Communication antennas.  

(1)  Application. Approval of an additional or substitute antennas on an existing communication 
tower requires a conditional use permit, issued at the discretion of the director.  

(2)  Definition. An antenna is an instrument or device consisting of wires, poles, rods, or reflecting 
discs, designed for transmitting or receiving any portion of the radio, microwave, or 
electromagnetic spectrum.  

(3)  Regulations.  

a.  A commercial antenna may be attached to a utility structure (elevated water tank, electric 
transmission pole, etc.) regardless of the height of said structure, provided that the antenna 
does not extend more than ten feet above the height of said structure.  

b.  A commercial antenna may be placed wholly within any building permitted in the zoning 
district. A commercial antenna may be mounted flush to the exterior of a building/structure 
if it is painted and/or disguised to integrate into the overall architectural design and is not 
readily visible/identifiable as an antenna from public roadways or neighboring residential 
properties.  

c.  All commercial signs, flags, lights and attachments shall be prohibited on any antenna or 
antenna support structure, unless required for communications operations, structural 
stability, or as required for flight visibility by the FCC and the Federal Aviation 
Administration (FAA).  

d.  No communication tower, antenna, antenna support structure, microwave 
reflector/antenna, or associated foundations or support wires or appurtenances shall be 
located within any required setback area for the front, side or rear yards.  

e.  At time of application, existing condition coverage maps of the vicinity shall be submitted 
showing current coverage and coverage after construction.  

6.  Collocation of antennas and antenna support structures shall be required.  

(4)  Approval. Once the director has determined that the location of the antenna or antennas is 
appropriate for the tower or location requested and that the regulations listed in (3), above, have 
been met and will continue to be met, approval for the conditional use permit may be granted.  

(i)  Communication support structure/tower.  

(1)  Application. Approval of a communication tower or support structure requires a special use 
permit, subject to review and approval by town council.  

(2)  Definitions.  

a.  Antenna support structure, commercial. An antenna and its support structure used for 
commercial broadcasting or telecommunication purposes. This definition shall also include 



a satellite dish exceeding 12 feet in diameter and a microwave-transmitting tower. All 
radiating equipment must comply with Federal Communications Commission (FCC), 
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), Occupational Health and Safety Administration 
(OSHA), and all other applicable state and federal regulatory agency requirements and 
guidelines for human safety, as they exist or may be amended. Definition includes ancillary 
ground equipment.  

b.  Antenna and/or antenna support structure, noncommercial. An instrument or device 
consisting of wires, poles, rods, or reflecting discs and its support structure not exceeding 
40 feet in height above the ground elevation at the base of the support structure, designed 
for transmitting or receiving any portion of the radio, microwave, or electromagnetic 
spectrum. This definition shall also include a satellite dish antenna not to exceed 12 feet in 
diameter.  

c.  Antenna, stealth. A stealth antenna is a commercial antenna that is designed to be non-
obtrusive, or virtually transparent or invisible to the surrounding neighborhood. Stealth 
antennas include, but are not limited to:  

1.  Antennas within a building's attic space,  

2.  Antennas on the roof of a minimum three-story building and not visible from the 
property line of the lot on which the antenna is located,  

3.  Antennas on a public utility structure, such as a water tower or high transmission line 
support tower, and painted to match the structure,  

4.  Antennas located within a structure such as a flagpole, church steeple, subdivision 
monument, clock tower, or similar architectural feature, and antennas located on an 
athletic field light pole.  

d.  Antenna support structure. Any tower, mast, pole, tripod, box frame, or other structure 
utilized for the purpose of transmission, retransmission, and/or reception of 
electromagnetic, radio, television, or microwave signals.  

(3)  Regulations.  

a.  Commercial towers may exceed the height limits of the zoning district, up to a maximum 
height of 125 feet, if located a distance from any residential district boundary line or 
residential dwelling at least equal to the height of the support structure.  

b.  Towers shall be of stealth, monopole design with no visible antennas, wires, racks or 
transmitters.  

c.  Tower sites shall be screened with a minimum eight-foot-high solid masonry wall with a 
solid metal gate.  

d.  Towers shall be designed structurally, electrically, and in all respects to accommodate both 
the applicant's antennas and comparable antennas for at least three additional users if the 
tower is 100 feet or greater in height, or for at least two additional users if the tower is over 
50 feet, but less than 100 feet in height.  

e.  Towers shall be a muted and dull shade of grey or blue to match the sky, or if applicable, 
shall match the background color of the landscape and terrain.  

f.  Towers shall be accessible by a 24-foot-wide concrete fire lane, subject to review and 
approval by the fire marshal.  

g.  There shall be a minimum of one concrete parking space that is not located in a fire lane.  

h.  A commercial antenna may be attached to a utility structure (elevated water tank, electric 
transmission pole, etc.) regardless of the height of said structure, provided that the antenna 
does not extend more than ten feet above the height of said structure.  



i.  A commercial antenna may be placed wholly within any building permitted in the zoning 
district. A commercial antenna may be mounted flush to the exterior of a building/structure 
if it is painted and/or disguised to integrate into the overall architectural design and is not 
readily visible/identifiable as an antenna from public roadways or neighboring residential 
properties.  

j.  All commercial signs, flags, lights and attachments shall be prohibited on any antenna or 
antenna support structure, unless required for communications operations, structural 
stability, or as required for flight visibility by the FCC and the Federal Aviation 
Administration (FAA).  

k.  No communication tower, antenna, antenna support structure, microwave 
reflector/antenna, or associated foundations or support wires or appurtenances shall be 
located within any required setback area for the front, side or rear yards.  

l.  At time of application, existing condition coverage maps of the vicinity shall be submitted 
showing current coverage and coverage after construction. Communication towers require 
site plan approval, prior to making application for a building permit.  

m.  Collocation of antennas and antenna support structures shall be required. No new towers 
shall be permitted unless the applicant demonstrates to the reasonable satisfaction of the 
town that no existing antenna support structure can accommodate the applicant's 
proposed antenna. Evidence submitted to demonstrate that no existing tower or structure 
can accommodate the applicant's proposed antenna may consist of any of the following:  

1.  No existing towers or structures are located within the geographic area which meet 
the applicant's engineering requirements;  

2.  Existing towers or structures are not of sufficient height to meet the applicant's 
engineering requirements;  

3.  Existing towers or structures do not have sufficient structural strength to support the 
applicant's proposed antenna and related equipment; or  

4.  The applicant demonstrates that there are other limiting factors that render existing 
towers and structures unsuitable.  

n.  A lot containing a communication tower shall be located at least 2,000 feet away from any 
lot containing another communication tower greater than 50 feet in height, as measured in 
a straight line between the nearest points of one lot to the other lot.  

o.  With the approval of a specific use permit, any one or more of the above development 
standards may be excused, subject to review and approval by the town council.  

(4)  Approval. Town council through the SUP process.  

(j)  Home child care.  

(1)  Application—None required from the town . Home child care facilities are regulated by the 
state.  

(2)  Definition. A home occupation that provides regular child care for compensation in their primary 
residence for less than 24 hours a day.  

(3)  Regulations. It is considered a violation of this section for a facility to provide care for a number 
of children that exceeds what is allowed per the classification shown on the state permit to be 
submitted with the town's home occupation registration. Uses must register with the town 
annually and show proof of state permit. This use is subject to regulation by the Texas 
Department of Family and Protective Services and all home occupation regulations of the Town 
of Little Elm Code of Ordinances.  

(4)  Approval. No approval is needed from the town.  

(k)  Home occupations.  



(1)  Application. None required unless if subsection (3) applies. Home occupations are conducted 
at the discretion of the property owner.  

(2)  Definition. A home occupation is defined as a business, occupation or profession which is an 
accessory use of a residential dwelling unit conducted by a resident thereof and which is clearly 
customary, incidental and a subordinate secondary use of the residential dwelling unit or 
residential premises by the resident thereof and which does not alter the exterior of the property 
or affect the residential character of the neighborhood. Home occupations may be permitted in 
accordance with the use chart in section 106.05.01(a), "schedule of uses - residential." A home-
based business is permitted as an incidental use and is secondary to the use of a dwelling. As 
such, the town council may at any time amend this subsection to terminate any or all home-
based business uses without creating nonconforming rights to the continuance of a home-based 
business.  

(3)  Certificate of occupancy (CO) required in specific cases. No resident shall be allowed to 
operate a home-based business that employs anyone other than the occupants of the residence 
unless and until the building official has issued an annual registration certificate and has 
conducted a certificate of occupancy inspection. The issuance of a certificate requires that a 
person operating a home occupation affirm knowledge of, and intent to comply with, all 
ordinances applicable to home occupations. The building official shall establish that the 
proposed use is allowable under the terms of this chapter. The issuance of a certificate of 
occupancy shall not authorize any violations of any ordinance, rule, code or regulation of the 
Town of Little Elm.  

(4)  Regulations. Home occupations are subject to the following conditions and requirements:  

a.  No signage associated with the home occupation and visible from outside of the dwelling 
shall be allowed on the premises, except as may be authorized or permitted by other 
applicable ordinances of the town.  

b.  Only occupants of the residence may be employed on-site at any time. This shall not 
include the coordination or supervision of employees who do not regularly visit the house 
or premises for purposes related to the business. If employees other than the residents of 
the house are present, then a certificate of occupancy must be obtained from the building 
official (see 3, above).  

c.  Outdoor activities are not allowed, unless the activities are screened from neighboring 
property and public rights-of-way.  

d.  Hours of operation shall be limited from 8:00 a.m. to 8:00 p.m. for outdoor activities.  

e.  There shall be no exterior storage of material, equipment, vehicles and/or supplies used in 
conjunction with the home occupation.  

f.  A home occupation shall not serve as an office or storage facility for a vehicle fleet 
operation in which fleet vehicles visit the site. A "fleet" is defined as three or more business 
vehicles.  

g.  The home occupation shall not produce offensive noises, vibrations, smoke, dust, odors, 
heat or glare that extend beyond the property lines.  

h.  No major alterations to the property or exterior of the dwelling unit shall be allowed that 
changes the residential character of the dwelling unit or premises. The occupation use 
must be clearly incidental and secondary to the residential use of the dwelling and may not 
alter the existing residential character of the principal dwelling or the garage/accessory 
building.  

i.  No repair or servicing of vehicles, internal combustion engines, large equipment or large 
appliances shall be allowed.  

j.  No storing of hazardous materials for business purposes shall be allowed on the premises 
either inside or outside the structures.  



k.  Merchandise, commodities, goods, wares, materials or products shall not be offered or 
displayed for sale on the premises, excluding fruits and vegetables grown on-premises. 
Sales incidental to a service shall be allowed; and orders previously made by telephone or 
at a sales party may be filled on the premises.  

l.  No traffic shall be generated by a home occupation in greater volumes than normally 
expected in a residential neighborhood or create unreasonable parking or traffic congestion 
for the abutting or adjoining neighbors or for the immediate neighborhood, and any need 
for parking must be accommodated within the off-street parking provided for the residence 
(i.e. the driveway or garage) and along the street frontage of the lot in question.  

m.  Homeowners/occupants who establish an occupation in their residence must adhere to all 
of the above conditions.  

(5)  Approval. No approval is needed unless the home based business meets the criteria listed in 
(3), above. In that case, the building official must determine that the home based business 
meets all the criteria listed in (4) above and issue a certificate of occupancy (CO) for a period of 
one year. This CO must be renewed each year.  

(l)  Hotel, extended stay.  

(1)  Application. The application to allow a residence or extended stay hotel requires the approval 
of a specific use permit, subject to review and approval by town council.  

(2)  Definition. A building or group of buildings used as a temporary dwelling place for individuals in 
exchange for financial consideration where customary hotel services such as linen, 
housekeeping service, and telephone are provided. Residence hotel room units are designed to 
be suitable for long term occupancy with financial consideration typically being calculated on a 
weekly or monthly basis. Typical residence hotel attributes include, but are not limited to, 
kitchen facilities and living spaces in addition to a sleeping area.  

(3)  Regulations. Residence or extended stay hotels shall include all of the following amenities:  

a.  A minimum of 80 guest rooms and/or suites;  

b.  Guest room access from an interior hallway;  

c.  Laundry facilities adequate to serve the residents at full capacity;  

d.  Playground equipment and open space as determined by the director; and  

e.  Minimum of 800 square feet of pool surface area;  

(4)  Approval. Following a recommendation from the planning and zoning commission, the town 
council has the discretion to approve or deny the SUP for an extended stay hotel based on if the 
regulations listed in (3), above, have been met and that the proposed location is in keeping with 
the Comprehensive Plan.  

(m)  Hotel, full service.  

(1)  Application. A full service hotel that meets all of the requirements listed in (3) below requires 
only site plan approval since they are allowed by right in those districts that allow hotels. Any 
failure to meet one or more of the listed regulations requires an application for a special use 
permit, which is subject to review and approval by the town council.  

(2)  Definition. A full service hotel is considered a top tier hotel in terms of amenities and service. It 
includes all of the amenities listed in (3) below and often exceeds these minimum standards.  

(3)  Regulations. Full service hotels shall include all of the following amenities:  

a.  A minimum of 80 guest rooms and/or suites;  

b.  A minimum of 4,000 square feet of meeting room space;  



c.  A minimum of one restaurant that provides three meals per day with on-site preparation 
and service provided by wait staff, hostesses, etc. and seating for a minimum of 30 
customers;  

d.  Guest room access from an interior hallway;  

e.  Minimum of 800 square feet of pool surface area; and  

f.  Attached covered drive-through area adjacent to the hotel lobby or reception area.  

(4)  Approval. Full service hotels that meet all of the amenities listed above may be approved by 
right in those districts that allow hotels. Any failure to meet one or more of the above list of 
amenities shall be considered by the town council through the SUP process.  

(n)  Hotel, limited service.  

(1)  Application. The application to allow a limited service hotel requires the approval of a special 
use permit, subject to review and approval by town council.  

(2)  Definition. A limited service hotel provides travelers an economical choice with fewer amenities 
than a full service hotel.  

(3)  Regulations. Limited service hotels shall include all of the following amenities:  

a.  A minimum of 700 square feet of meeting room space;  

b.  Limited food and beverage service, but including breakfast buffet service;  

c.  Guest room access from an interior hallway;  

d.  Minimum of 400 square feet of pool surface area; and  

e.  Attached covered drive-through area adjacent to the hotel lobby or reception area.  

(4)  Approval. Following a recommendation from the planning and zoning commission, the town 
council has the discretion to approve or deny the SUP for a limited service hotel based on if the 
regulations listed in (3), above, have been met and that the proposed location is in keeping with 
the comprehensive plan.  

(o)  Liquor stores.  

(1)  Application. The application to allow a liquor store requires the approval of a special use 
permit, subject to review and approval by town council.  

(2)  Definition. A retail establishment that offers for sale beer, wine and liquor and related 
accessory items. Subject to the review and approval by TABC.  

(3)  Regulations.  

a.  The lot containing a liquor store shall be located at least 1,000 feet from any lot containing 
another like use, as measured in a straight line between the nearest points of one lot to the 
other.  

b.  Prior to issuance of a certificate of occupancy, the business owner shall provide the town 
with a copy of its state permit to operate a liquor store.  

c.  All alcohol-related activities must meet all standards found in chapter 10, alcoholic 
beverages, of the Little Elm Code of Ordinances  

(4)  Approval . Town council through the SUP process.  

(p)  Manufactured home replacement.  

(1)  Application. The application to allow the one-time replacement of a manufactured home 
requires the approval of a conditional use permit, issued at the discretion of the director.  

(2)  Definition. The federal government allows a one-time replacement of a manufactured home 
under certain circumstances.  



(3)  Regulations.  

a.  In the event that a HUD-Code manufactured home occupies a lot within the town, the 
owner of the HUD-Code manufactured home may remove the HUD-Code manufactured 
home from its location and place another HUD-Code manufactured home on the same 
property, provided that the replacement is a newer HUD-Code manufactured home, and is 
at least as large in living space as the prior HUD-Code manufactured home. Except in the 
case of a fire or natural disaster, the owner of the HUD-Code manufactured home is limited 
to a single replacement of the HUD-Code manufactured home on the same property.  

b.  Property owners who have a HUD-Code manufactured home which has been placed on a 
lot in violation of the terms of this chapter shall not have the right to replace the illegal use. 
This subsection shall not be interpreted to legitimize an otherwise illegal use.  

c.  Except with regard to the above clause, the replacement provisions of this section shall not 
apply in the MH-1 and MH-2 zoning districts.  

(4)  Approval. Once the director has determined that the replacement of the manufactured home 
has met the regulations listed in (3), above, approval for the conditional use permit may be 
granted.  

(q)  Media studios (radio/television/cable).  

(1)  Application. The application to allow media studios requires the approval of a conditional use 
permit, issued at the discretion of the director.  

(2)  Definition. A facility where radio, television or similar uses are produced, edited, and broadcast.  

(3)  Regulations.  

a.  Internal noise shall not be audible from the outside of the building.  

b.  All activity must take place within an enclosed building.  

c.  Mass reproduction, duplication or storage of recorded material for distribution, sale or 
promotion is prohibited.  

d.  Parking requirements shall be the same as for a commercial use.  

(4)  Approval. Once the director has determined that the media studio is appropriate for the location 
requested and that the regulations listed in (3), above, have been met, approval for the 
conditional use permit may be granted.  

(r)  Mixed use building.  

(1)  Application. Where allowed by right, a site plan application is used for approval, 
administratively approved through a conditional use permit. When part of a planned 
development, the map amendment application is used for approval, subject to review and 
approval by town council.  

(2)  Regulations. Mixed use buildings shall follow the following regulations:  

a.  The ground floor entry must be located at the approximate elevation of the adjacent 
sidewalk and should be inset by at least four feet.  

b.  Retail uses at-grade adjacent to the sidewalk shall:  

1.  Be constructed to meet fire code separation from any other uses constructed on upper 
floors;  

2.  Have a minimum clear height of 16 feet between finished floor and the bottom of the 
structure above. Mezzanines within the retail space shall be allowed per building 
code;  



3.  Have an awning or canopy which extends at least six feet over the sidewalk for at 
least 75 percent of the frontage on any portion of a building. Such awning or canopy 
shall maintain a minimum eight foot clearance over the sidewalk; and  

4.  Have highly transparent glass windows for at least 60 percent, but no greater than 80 
percent, of the ground floor facade.  

c.  Two zones, between back of curb and the building line, shall be created and maintained:  

1.  Streetscape zone. A minimum five-foot-wide area adjacent to the back-of-curb for 
trees and street furniture, including a one-foot dismount strip. An urban tree in a tree 
well shall be provided for each 25 linear feet in the streetscape zone. For each three 
urban trees, a bike rack, trash receptacle, bench, lighted bollard, or other approved 
street furniture is required.  

2.  Sidewalk zone. A minimum ten-foot-wide sidewalk. The sidewalk zone may be 
encroached by a three-foot-high fenced patio area for dining, as long as a minimum 
clearance is maintained for pedestrian traffic.  

d.  Build-to line. At least 70 percent of the building face shall be constructed within a minimum 
of 15 feet from the back of curb and a maximum of 20 feet. The remainder of the building 
frontage may be setback further to allow such things as outdoor dining, plazas, entry 
courts, and pass-throughs to parking.  

(3)  Exceptions. Deviations from the above mixed use building regulations may be granted through 
the site plan process, subject to review and approval by the planning and zoning commission 
and town council in public hearings.  

(4)  Approval. Where mixed use buildings are allowed by right, the site plan may be administratively 
approved through a conditional use permit if all the regulations listed in (2) above are met. If an 
exception is required, or if the mixed use building is part of a planned development in a zoning 
district that does not allow a mixed use building by right, then the mixed use building approval 
will be approved by the town council through a zoning map amendment or the SUP process.  

(s)  Open storage, permanent or ongoing.  

(1)  Application. The application to allow permanent or ongoing open storage shall be considered 
through the special use permit process or a PD amendment, subject to review and approval by 
town council.  

(2)  Applicability. This only includes storage in zoning districts where outside storage of equipment, 
material, goods and supplies is allowed as an accessory use to a primary use on the same lot. 
The restriction on open storage does not apply to the display of goods for sale incidental to a 
retail use; plant nursery; sale and rental of motor vehicles, mobile homes, boats, or trailers and 
utility equipment. Retail use is defined as an establishment engaged in the selling of goods and 
merchandise to the general public for personal or household consumption and rendering 
services incidental to the sale of such goods.  

(3)  Definition. For the purposes of this subsection, the definition of open storage is the keeping of 
any goods, material, merchandise, vehicles, trailers, modular storage units, or equipment 
outside a building on a lot. Examples are home and garden supplies, bagged mulch and seed, 
and automobiles and other vehicles for sale.  

(4)  Prohibited. There shall be no outside storage of tires or readily flammable merchandise of any 
kind, either for display or storage purposes. Tires and readily flammable merchandise must be 
housed indoors at all times, on fire department approved storage racks to minimize the fire 
hazard.  

(5)  Regulations.  

a.  Open storage is only allowed in zoning districts as indicated in section 106.05.01(b), 
"schedule of uses - nonresidential," of the zoning ordinance.  



b.  The area designated as open storage in LC Light Commercial or related PD Planned 
Development zoning districts shall not exceed 15 percent of the total gross square foot of 
the building located on the same lot as the open storage. Permanent open storage shall 
not be permitted in any portion of the lot between a public street and a lines projected from 
the faces of the building lot lines, except as described in subsection (5)i, below.  

c.  The square footage of the area designated for open storage in HC Heavy Commercial, LI 
Light Industrial, HI Heavy Industrial, or related PD-Planned Development zoning districts is 
not restricted as long as it is located on the same lot.  

d.  The storage area must be attached to a wall of the principal building and enclosed by a 
solid masonry wall a minimum of eight feet in height abutting the principal building, when a 
principal building exists. Additional wall height may be constructed of screening material.  

e.  An exception to the location of open storage in subsection (5)(a) above shall be the 
location of shopping carts, which may utilize designated areas within the store's parking lot, 
so long as the shopping carts are gathered within steel corrals suitable for retaining carts 
and preventing carts from interfering with traffic flow or customer parking. (See section 
106.05.03(g), "open storage under eave display" for regulations)  

f.  Open storage may not be permanently located in any fire lane, maneuvering aisle, or 
customer pick-up lane.  

g.  Open storage may not be located in any required front, side, or rear setback.  

h.  Open storage may not be located in any parking space (except as described in (5)i below).  

i.  "Big box" stores (i.e. stores greater than 50,000 square feet in size) may display garden 
merchandise for sale within excess parking spaces on a temporary basis. Examples of 
appropriate merchandise for this type of parking lot storage include, but is not limited to, 
mulch or soil bags, bedding plants, saplings, and storage sheds. Approval of any parking 
lot open storage or display shall require a revised site plan showing the location of the 
open storage or display, indicating the number of parking spaces required to ensure that 
the storage or display is located in spaces in excess of those required, and the type of 
merchandise to be displayed or stored. The director shall approve or disapprove any 
parking lot storage or display.  

j.  Open storage may not obstruct visibility or interfere with pedestrian or vehicular circulation. 
If items are placed on a sidewalk or other pedestrian area, a six-foot-wide pedestrian path 
shall be maintained through or adjacent to the outside display area. The pedestrian path 
must be concrete or asphalt and may not be located within off-street parking areas, 
including parking spaces, fire lanes, maneuvering aisles, and customer pick-up lanes.  

k.  Nothing in this article shall prohibit temporary open storage of merchandise for display and 
sale during a sidewalk sale (considered "under eave" storage - See section 106.05.03(g), 
"open storage - under eave display" for regulations).  

l.  Special standards for businesses in operation prior to the adoption date of this ordinance 
[from which this chapter is derived] (date of ordinance):  

1.  Businesses existing prior to the adoption of this ordinance have until (one year from 
passage) to come into compliance with these standards.  

2.  If the facility's primary structure is a nonconforming structure in regard to the town's 
existing masonry requirements and has less than 75 percent masonry content, the 
owner may apply for administrative approval for a wooden screening fence built to the 
town standards with the following additional standard: When the storage is located 
adjacent to public streets, a minimum seven and one-half-foot and maximum eight-
foot tall wood privacy fence with masonry columns located at a minimum of every 40 
feet is required.  

(6)  Screening of open storage.  



a.  All open storage and outside display shall be screened from the view of adjacent streets 
and adjacent properties unless located in an LI Light Industrial or HI Heavy Industrial 
zoning district, where open storage is required to be screened only from the street right-of-
way.  

b.  Screening shall be a minimum of eight feet in height; and  

1.  Be of masonry construction; or  

2.  Be constructed of metal ornamental fencing in combination with a landscape screen; 
or  

3.  Be constructed of a solid, evergreen shrub landscape screen without a fence or wall.  

4.  Evergreen shrubs used for a landscape screen shall be placed so as to create at least 
a six foot tall solid screen within two years of their planting. All landscaping shall be 
irrigated with an automatic sprinkler system and maintained in a healthy and growing 
condition.  

c.  Screening may not be constructed of wood fencing or chain link with slats. No screening 
fence may exceed eight feet, six inches in height.  

d.  Open storage may not exceed the height of screening, unless evergreen shrubs used for a 
landscape screen are placed so as to create at least a six-foot tall solid screen within two 
years of their installation along the length of the stored material. The open storage of living 
plants and trees as inventory for freestanding garden center uses may exceed the height of 
screening, when the garden center is developed as the primary use of the lot.  

e.  No materials stored shall be stacked in such a manner as to be visible above the top of the 
screening device. Individual items that exceed the height of the screening device are 
permitted provided they are not stacked.  

f.  Vehicles kept overnight which are under or awaiting repair shall be screened from public 
view or stored inside the building.  

g.  All storage areas, including modular storage units, not screened by an intervening building 
shall be screened from view from any public street right-of-way and from residential uses 
or districts, unless located in a LI Light Industrial or HI Heavy Industrial zoning district.  

h.  Utilities or accessory facilities, such as storage tank towers that cannot feasibly be 
completely screened by a masonry wall shall be located and designed so as to "blend in" 
and to minimize visual impact from public rights-of-way and adjacent properties. 
Architectural design and landscaping materials shall be used in order to lessen any 
negative visual impact.  

i.  If the standards required for screening of open storage cannot be met due to site-specific 
issues the property owner or developer may petition the planning and zoning commission 
to approve alternative screening methods that meet the purpose and intent of the 
ordinance.  

j.  All screening shall be accomplished by an opaque screen built according to the standards 
outlined in section 106.06.31, "screening."  

(7)  Exceptions to screening requirements.  

a.  No screening is required for open storage and outside display of goods, materials, 
merchandise, or equipment as an accessory use if generally placed "under eaves." This 
area is defined as the area not more than ten feet from the front building face, as 
designated by the main entrance and not stacked to exceed four feet in height. (See 
section 106.05.03(g), "open storage, under eave display" for regulations)  

b.  Screening is not required for items placed adjacent to a gasoline pump island that do not 
exceed three feet in height, except for those items expressly prohibited in subsection (4) 
above.  



c.  Parked self-propelled vehicles or trailers shall not constitute open storage or outside 
display, except when staged, parked, or stored at collision, towing, auto storage, mini-
warehouse, auto repair, or wrecker service.  

d.  Temporary outdoor storage may be allowed under certain circumstances. Please see 
sections 106.05.03(f), "open storage, temporary" and 106.05.03(g), "open storage, under 
eave display" for regulations.  

e.  The town council may waive these requirements if no public purpose would be served by 
the construction of a required screen, or if natural features exist that sufficiently screen the 
open storage.  

(8)  Approval. Town council through the SUP or PD process.  

(t)  Private street developments/gated communities—Existing subdivisions.  

(1)  Application. Private street developments for existing residential tracts shall be considered 
through the specific use permit process, subject to review and approval by town council.  

(2)  Definition. To convert public streets to private streets, the ownership and maintenance of said 
streets shall be transferred to the homeowners association (HOA) and that association may be 
restrict public access on them to residents and emergency vehicles only.  

(3)  Regulations.  

a.  Thoroughfare plan. Private street developments are subject to provisions of the master 
thoroughfare plan and the subdivision ordinance, as it exists or may be amended. Private 
street developments may not cross an existing or proposed thoroughfare as shown on the 
town's adopted thoroughfare plan nor shall a private street development disrupt an existing 
or proposed hike and bike route.  

b.  Locations. Private street developments shall be located in an area that is surrounded on at 
least three sides, and in any event no less than approximately 75 percent of the perimeter, 
by natural barriers or similar physical barriers created by man. Examples of natural barriers 
would be creeks and floodplains. Examples of similar barriers created by man would be a 
golf course, school location, park, railroad tracks or a limited access roadway. Non-
qualifying manmade barriers include screening walls, local roadways, manmade drainage 
ditches, detention ponds, landscape buffers, earthen berms, utility easements and right-of-
way.  

c.  Connectivity. The comprehensive plan calls for all plans for development in the town to 
include a high degree of connectivity within developments and between one development 
and another. Any proposed private street development adjacent to an existing public street 
subdivision that can be reasonably connected, including by constructing a bridge or culvert, 
for example, should not be approved as a private street development. The two adjacent 
subdivisions should allow cross-connectivity using public streets. This is especially critical 
when one of the two adjacent subdivisions has a school site within one of the 
developments.  

d.  Established escrow account. Any private street development proposed for an existing 
subdivision must show that the home owners association has established an escrow 
account to be kept for the purposes of street repair and replacement.  

(4)  Considerations for approval. The planning and zoning commission and town council shall use 
the criteria listed within the subsection for approval for private streets within new subdivisions, 
when considering a private street development plus:  

a.  Submittal of a petition signed by 100 percent of the property owners in the existing 
subdivision requesting conversion to private streets;  

b.  Existence of a home owners association (HOA) that is financially able and willing be 
responsible for owning and maintaining the converted streets and rights-of-way;  



c.  Applicants must agree to contract with the town for the purchase of the installed 
infrastructure and rights-of-way from the town at fair market appraised value for cash in full 
payment, and agree to maintain the infrastructure and rights-of-way at town standards 
thereafter prior to the approval of the special use permit;  

d.  All documents are subject to the review and approval of the town attorney; and/or  

e.  Subsequent to the approval of the private street designation, the entire subdivision affected 
shall be replatted to reflect the ownership changes and remove the town's ownership and 
maintenance obligation from the streets and rights-of-way.  

(5)  Approval. Town council through the SUP or PD process.  

(u)  Private street developments/gated communities—New subdivisions.  

(1)  Application. Private street developments for new residential tracts shall be considered through 
the specific use permit process or through the approval of a planned development district, 
subject to review and approval by town council.  

(2)  Definition. Private streets are constructed and maintained by the (HOA) and may be restrict 
public access on them to residents and emergency vehicles only.  

(3)  Regulations.  

a.  Thoroughfare plan. Private street developments are subject to provisions of the master 
thoroughfare plan and the subdivision ordinance, as it exists or may be amended. Private 
street developments may not cross an existing or proposed thoroughfare as shown on the 
town's adopted thoroughfare plan nor shall a private street development disrupt an existing 
or proposed hike and bike route.  

b.  Locations. Private street developments shall be located in an area that is surrounded on at 
least three sides, and in any event no less than approximately 75 percent of the perimeter, 
by natural barriers or similar physical barriers created by man. Examples of natural barriers 
would be creeks and floodplains. Examples of similar barriers created by man would be a 
golf course, school location, park, railroad tracks or a limited access roadway. Non-
qualifying manmade barriers include screening walls, local roadways, manmade drainage 
ditches, detention ponds, landscape buffers, earthen berms, utility easements and right-of-
way.  

c.  Connectivity. The comprehensive plan calls for all plans for development in the town to 
include a high degree of connectivity within developments and between one development 
and another. Any proposed private street development adjacent to an existing public street 
subdivision that can be reasonably connected, including by constructing a bridge or culvert, 
for example, should not be approved as a private street development. The two adjacent 
subdivisions should allow cross-connectivity using public streets. This is especially critical 
when one of the two adjacent subdivisions has a school site within one of the 
developments.  

d.  Established escrow account. Any private street development proposed for a new 
subdivision must show that the home owners association has established an escrow 
account to be kept for the purposes of street repair and replacement.  

(4)  Considerations for approval.  

a.  No disruption of planned public roadways or facilities/projects (thoroughfares, parks, park 
trails, public pedestrian pathways, etc.);  

b.  No disruption to and from properties of future developments either on site or off site to the 
proposed subdivision;  

c.  No negative effect on traffic circulation on nearby public streets;  

d.  Not less than 100 feet of street frontage on which to locate the main entrance gate;  



e.  No more than two gated street entrances, subject to approval by the city engineer, may 
face a designated thoroughfare within a one-mile segment of that thoroughfare;  

f.  No impairment of access to and from public facilities including schools or public parks;  

g.  No impairment of the adequate and timely provision of essential municipal services 
(emergency services, water/sewer improvements or maintenance, etc.);  

h.  The main entrance to the private street development shall have adequate throat depth to 
provide for residents, their guests and any accidental access and have an escape aisle for 
those vehicles not admitted into the subdivision;  

i.  Existence of natural and/or qualifying manmade boundaries around 75 percent of the 
development;  

j.  Absence of a concentration of private street developments in the vicinity of the requested 
private street development; and  

k.  Developers who wish to develop as a private street/gated community shall agree to 
maintain the infrastructure and rights-of-way at town standards.  

(5)  Approval. Town council through the SUP or PD process.  

(v)  Sexually oriented businesses. Sexually oriented businesses are governed by chapter 82 of the Little 
Elm Code of Ordinances.  

(w)  Vending kiosk, commercial.  

(1)  Application. Approval of a commercial vending kiosk greater than 120 square feet in size 
requires a conditional use permit, issued at the discretion of the director.  

(2)  Definition. An unmanned structure that provides a product for remuneration. Examples are ice 
machines, video vending machines.  

(3)  Regulations.  

a.  A permanent structure with a permanent foundation is required.  

b.  The structure should have a primarily brick/stone veneer that matches adjacent 
development.  

c.  All utility service lines shall be buried.  

d.  No commercial kiosk 120 square feet or greater shall be installed within two miles of 
another such structure.  

e.  Site location should not provide a strong visual presence on a major thoroughfare, nor 
impede fire lanes or cause other traffic flow problems, subject to review and approval by 
staff.  

f.  Lighting and signage shall be minimal, per existing regulations.  

g.  Concrete parking shall be available, and a restroom agreement or other accommodation 
with a public store within 100 feet is required if manned.  

h.  Permits are required, as is property owner authorization, and installation shall abide by all 
applicable building, fire, health, subdivision, engineering design, and zoning codes.  

i.  The site location shall be a part of a platted lot.  

j.  Structures shall be removed with a valid demolition permit by the property owner if 
inoperable or abandoned for more than six months. Seasonal sales are not allowed per 
this use.  

k.  The planning and zoning commission has jurisdiction over any appeals to staff 
determination.  



l.  A development agreement between the town and the conditional use applicant regarding 
the commercial vending kiosk shall be required prior to issuance of a conditional use 
permit for the commercial vending kiosk. The development agreement shall contain, at a 
minimum, the conditions and standards required by the town for a commercial vending 
kiosk.  

(4)  Approval. Once the director has determined that the commercial vending kiosk is appropriate 
for the location requested and that the regulations listed in (3), above, have been met, approval 
for the conditional use permit may be granted.  

(x)  Vending kiosk, not-for-profit.  

(1)  Application. Approval of a not-for-profit vending kiosks requires a conditional use permit, issued 
at the discretion of the director.  

(2)  Definition. An unmanned structure that provides a product. The fee for such product may be 
reduced or waived.  

(3)  Regulations.  

a.  If the kiosk is greater than 120 square feet in size, a structure with a permanent foundation 
is required.  

b.  The structure should have a primarily brick/stone veneer that blends with adjacent 
development.  

c.  All utility service lines shall be buried.  

d.  Not-for-profit kiosks greater than 120 square feet in size shall not be installed within two 
miles of another such structure.  

e.  Site locations should not provide a visual distraction for drivers along major thoroughfares, 
nor impede fire lanes or cause other traffic flow problems, subject to review and approval 
by staff.  

f.  The site location should be a part of a platted lot and written permission for placement from 
the owner of the property shall be included in the permit application.  

g.  Lighting and signage shall be minimal, per existing regulations.  

h.  Structures shall be removed with a valid demolition permit by the property owner if 
inoperable or abandoned for more than six months.  

i.  The planning and zoning commission has jurisdiction over any appeals to staff 
determination.  

j.  A development agreement between the town and the applicant regarding not-for-profit 
vending kiosks shall be required prior to issuance of a conditional use permit for the not-
for-profit vending kiosk. The development agreement shall contain, at a minimum, the 
conditions and standards required by the town for a not-for-profit vending kiosk.  

(4)  Approval. Once the director has determined that the not-for-profit vending kiosk is appropriate 
for the location requested and that the regulations listed in (3), above, have been met, approval 
for the conditional use permit may be granted.  

(Ord. No. 1407, § 2, 8-15-2017; Ord. No. 1527, § 2, 10-15-2019)  



Sec. 106.06.01 - Limitations to development.  

(a)  Residential development.  

(1)  One unit per lot. Only one residential unit is allowed per lot in single-family residential districts, 
except SF-RE Single-Family Residential Estate, which may have one accessory dwelling unit 
(such as a mother-in-law unit).  

(2)  One meter per lot. Only one utility meter per lot is allowed.  

(3)  Conformance status of lots previously platted. Lots in a subdivision or shown on a plat legally 
approved and properly recorded in Denton County prior to the effective date of Ordinance No. 
427 which do not meet the minimum lot sizes and area requirements set forth in this chapter 
shall not be considered to be in violation of said requirements and, for purposes of this section, 
shall be deemed to conform to the requirements set forth in this section.  

(4)  Occupation of an RV prohibited. Occupying or otherwise residing in a recreational vehicle (RV), 
camp trailer, or other wheeled vehicles parked on a single-family lot or within the public right-of-
way is prohibited. This is waived for visitors occupying said vehicle for a period of seven days or 
less.  

(5)  Foundation requirements. All residential structures within the town, except for manufactured 
homes in the MH-2 District, shall be built upon engineered foundations, subject to review and 
approval by the building official.  

(b)  Senior living. Multiple-family dwelling, senior (senior apartment) means any building or portion 
thereof, which is designed, built, rented, leased or let to contain three or more dwelling units or 
apartments on a single lot, or which is occupied as a home or place of residence by three or more 
age-restricted (55 years of age or older) families living in independent dwelling units on a single lot. 
This use shall also be subject to the following requirements:  

(1)  Minimum number of seniors in residence. At least one person 55 years of age or older shall 
reside in at least 80 percent of the senior multifamily residential development's dwelling units;  

(2)  Deed restrictions and covenants. Prior to the issuance of a certificate of occupancy, each 
senior multifamily residential development shall adopt a series of deed restrictions and 
covenants, subject to review and approval by the town attorney, establishing the development's 
intent to operate as a senior multifamily residential development in accordance with the 
requirements established herein and any other applicable laws or regulations.  

(3)  Reporting. At least once every two years, each senior multifamily residential development shall 
provide to the town's development services department a certified affidavit demonstrating that 
the requirements established herein as well as the requirements of the Fair Housing Act 
continue to be satisfied.  

(4)  Revocation of CO. Failure to completely adhere to the requirements herein shall be deemed a 
violation of this chapter and may result in the revocation of the development's certificate of 
occupancy or other penalties as detailed in section 106.01.11, "penalties and enforcement" of 
this chapter.  

(Ord. No. 1407, § 2, 8-15-2017)  



Sec. 106.06.17 - Multifamily landscape requirements.  

(a)  Minimum open space. New multi-family developments shall use the following regulations:  

(1)  Open space per bedroom. Each lot or parcel of land used for multiple-family residences shall 
provide on the same lot or parcel of land usable open space, in accordance with the table 
below:  

ARTICLE VI, TABLE F  

MULTIFAMILY OPEN SPACE REQUIRED PER BEDROOM 

Number of Bedrooms 1  Open Space Required  

1  400 square feet  

Each additional bedroom over 1  Additional 300 square feet  

  

Note 1. Each manufactured home site in the MH-2 district will be calculated as a two-bedroom 
unit for the open space requirement.  

(2)  Minimum dimensions. Each open space area shall have a minimum dimension of not less than 
30 feet.  

(3)  Minimum overall percentage of open space. No less than 15 percent of the required open 
space shall be arranged or located as a contiguous mass. This contiguous mass must be 
located within the required open space.  

(4)  Credits for amenities. In meeting this requirements, a credit of three (3) square feet may be 
applied for each square foot utilized for:  

a.  Swimming pools and adjacent decks, patios or lounge areas within ten feet of a pool;  

b.  Developed and equipped children's play areas;  

c.  Usable portions of recreational buildings; and  

d.  Private balconies and enclosed patios with a minimum dimension of five square feet.  

Tennis courts are specifically excluded from this credit allowance.  

(5)  Credit for sloped areas. At the time of site plan approval, the Planning and Zoning Commission 
and Town Council may give full or partial credit for open areas that exceed the maximum slope, 
if it is determined that such areas are environmentally significant and that their preservation 
would enhance the development.  

(6)  Access to public parks. At the time of site plan approval, the planning and zoning commission 
and town council may allow a credit not to exceed ten percent of the total required usable open 
space for adjacent and immediately accessible public parks. The combined credit for areas 
calculated at a three to one (3:1) basis and for public parks shall not exceed 50 percent of the 
total usable open space for an individual lot or parcel of land.  

(7)  Minimum number of trees in open space. One large canopy tree shall be provided per 1,000 
square feet of required open space.  



(8)  Hardscape. All multi-family developments submitted after the adoption of this ordinance shall 
be required to include stained and stamped crosswalks from parking lots or structures to the 
main entrances of the buildings and other areas, as determined to be appropriate by the 
director.  

(9)  Stone, gravel and rock. If stone, gravel, decorative rock, crushed granite or other non-plant 
derived materials are used in a residential front yard, no more than 20 percent of the yard area 
may be made up of these materials. Non-plant derived materials should be used as an accent 
to the areas of the lawn made up of sod, living ground cover, low bushes or plants, or mulch 
and shall include vegetative plantings within the stone/rock beds. In no case shall stone, gravel, 
rock or other non-plant derived materials be installed so that an impermeable surface area is 
created.  

(10)  Mailboxes. When mailboxes are grouped or clustered, they may be located in the right-of-
way. The exterior of the mailbox structure shall be masonry to match the main buildings and the 
roof made of metal materials or materials that match the main buildings.  

(11)  Artificial or synthetic turf. Artificial or synthetic turf is prohibited.  

(12)  Entrances to multi-family developments. The landscape island at the main or secondary 
entrances to the multi-family development shall be within a platted lot to be owned and 
maintained by the management company. Landscaped entries shall be a minimum size of six 
feet by 30 feet and may include a monument entrance sign. Entry designs shall be subject to 
the approval of the director.  

(13)  Landscaping for corner lots and residential/mulitfamily driveways.  

a.  A minimum landscaped area of 900 square feet shall be located at the intersection corner 
of the lot, and commercial main entrance as shown on the landscape/site plan.  

b.  The landscaped area shall be provided within an area measured a minimum distance of 40 
feet from the projected corner of the intersection on both sides of the lot or main entrance 
area.  

(Ord. No. 1407, § 2, 10-20-2009; Ord. No. 1527, § 2, 10-15-2019)  



  

Town Council Meeting
 
Date: 01/05/2021
Agenda Item #: 7. D. 
Department: Development Services
Strategic Goal: Promote and expand Little Elm’s identity
Staff Contact: Skye Thibodeaux, Planning Manager

AGENDA ITEM:
Conduct a Public Hearing, Present, Discuss, and Consider Action to Approve Ordinance No. 1588,
a Request to Rezone Approximately 4.445 acres of land from Manufactured Home (MH-1) to
Duplex (D), Generally Located Approximately 225 feet to the South and West of the Misty Way
and Woodgrove Drive Intersection, within Little Elm’s Town Limits.
  

Staff Report:1.
Open Public Hearing:2.
Receive Public Comments:3.
Close Public Hearing:4.
Discuss and Take Action:5.

DESCRIPTION:
Location
The subject property is generally located approximately 225 feet to the south and west of the Misty
Way and Woodgrove Drive intersection, within Little Elm’s town limits.

Planning Analysis
This Town-initiated request is a result of a workshop discussion with Town Council and is for the
purpose of rezoning an area of land situated in the Castleridge Subdivision that should have been
included in Ordinance No. 1225 that was passed in 2014. This will also allow staff the opportunity to
clean up this area on the current zoning map.

In 1998, Ordinance No. 414 was passed to rezone the Castleridge area from Agricultural to Mobile
Home Residential to allow for a Mobile Home development. Moving forward, in 2014, Ordinance
No. 1225 was presented and passed to rezone the same Castleridge area from Duplex (D) and
Manufactured Home District (MH-1) to just Duplex (D) and remove Manufactured Home (MH-1)
completely.  However, the above-mentioned tract was excluded from this rezone for reasons that
are unknown to staff. Today, a large portion of the Castleridge Subdivision has been redeveloped to
duplex homes which began in 2002.  



duplex homes which began in 2002.  

With the understanding of Ordinance No. 1225 removing the Manufactured Home (MH-1) District
entirely, staff feels it is necessary to rezone the above-mentioned tract of land to reflect the Duplex
(D) zoning where it is part of the Castleridge Subdivision.

To note, staff spoke with the subject property owner regarding the proposed rezone and the owner
is amenable to this request.

BUDGET IMPACT:
There is no budget impact for this item.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
The Planning & Zoning Commission recommended approval of staff's request to rezone the subject
property.

Attachments
Ordinance 1588 - Castleridge Area Zoning 
Location Map - Castleridge Area Zoning 
Zoning Map - Castleridge Area Zoning 
Timeline - Castleridge Area Zoning 
Ordinance No. 414 - Castleridge Area Zoning 
Ordinance No. 1225 - Castleridge Area Zoning 



ORDINANCE NO. 1588 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF LITTLE ELM, TEXAS AMENDING 
THE COMPREHENSIVE ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF 
LITTLE ELM, TEXAS, HEREFORE AMENDED, BY REZONING 
APPROXIMATELY 4.45 ACRES OF LAND FROM MANUFACTURED 
HOME (MH-1) DISTRICT TO DUPLEX (D) DISTRICT, GENERALLY 
LOCATED APPROXIMATELY 225 FEET TO THE SOUTH AND WEST 
OF THE MISTY WAY AND WOODGROVE DRIVE INTERSECTION; 
CORRECTING THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP;  PROVIDING A 
SAVINGS CLAUSE, PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; 
PROVIDING A PENALTY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Town of Little Elm (“Town”) is a home rule municipal corporation 
organized and existing by virtue of the Constitution and laws of the State of Texas and 
by its Charter adopted on May 1, 2001; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Town possesses all the rights, powers, and authorities possessed by all 
home rule municipalities, including the authority to regulate land uses under Chapter 211 
of the Texas Local Government Code; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Town has initiated a request to rezone a piece of land more specifically 
described on the Location Map, attached hereto; and, 

 
WHEREAS, the Town Council and the Planning and Zoning Commission, in accordance 
with state law and the applicable ordinances of the Town, have given the required 
notices and held the required public hearings regarding the request to rezone the subject 
property contained in this Ordinance; and 

 
WHEREAS, and after due deliberations and consideration of the recommendation of the 
Planning and Zoning Commission and any other information and materials received at 
the public hearing, the Town Council of the Town of Little Elm, Texas, has determined 
that the requested zoning would be in the interest of public health, safety and welfare of 
the citizens of the Town of Little Elm. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE 
TOWN OF LITTLE ELM, TEXAS: 
 
SECTION 1. INCORPORATION OF PREMISES.  The above and foregoing premises 
are true and correct and are incorporated herein and made a part hereof for all 
purposes. 
 
SECTION 2. ZONING AMENDMENT.  The Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance of the 
Town, is hereby amended by providing for a Duplex (D) district on approximately 4.45 
acres of land, generally located approximately 225 feet to the south and west of the 
Misty Way and Woodgrove Drive intersection, a tract of land more particularly described 
on Location Map, attached hereto, subject to all of the terms and conditions set forth 
herein, and all other applicable ordinances, laws, rules, regulations, and standards.     

 



SECTION 3. SAVINGS. This Ordinance shall be cumulative of all other ordinances of 
the Town, and shall not repeal any of the provisions of those ordinances except in those 
instances where the provisions of those ordinances are in direct conflict with the 
provisions of this Ordinance; provided, however, that any complaint, notice, action, 
cause of action, or claim which prior to the effective date of this Ordinance has been 
initiated or has arisen under or pursuant to such other ordinance(s) shall continue to be 
governed by the provisions of that ordinance or those ordinances, and for that purpose 
that ordinance or those ordinances shall be deemed to remain and shall continue in full 
force and effect. 

SECTION 4. ZONING MAP.  The official zoning map of the Town shall be amended to 
reflect the change in zoning made by this ordinance. 

SECTION 5. PENALTY.  Any person, firm, or corporation violating any of the provision 
of this ordinance shall be punished by a penalty of a fine not to exceed the sum of Two 
Thousand Dollars ($2,000) for each offense and each and every day such offense shall 
continue shall be deemed to constitute a separate offense.  

SECTION 6. SEVERABILITY.  The sections, paragraphs, sentences, phrases, and 
words of this Ordinance are severable, and If any section or provision of this ordinance 
or the application of that section or provision to any person, firm, corporation, situation or 
circumstance is for any reason judged invalid or unconstitutional, the adjudication shall 
not affect any other section or provision of this ordinance or the application of any other 
section or provision to any person, firm, corporation, situation or circumstance, nor shall 
adjudication affect any other section or provision of the Comprehensive Zoning 
Ordinance of the Town of Little Elm, Texas, and the Town Council hereby declares that it 
would have adopted the valid portions and applications of the ordinance without the valid 
parts and to this end the provisions of this ordinance shall remain in full force and effect.   

SECTION 7. REPEALER.  That all ordinances of the Town of Little Elm in conflict with 
the provisions of this ordinance be and the same are hereby repealed to the extent of 
that conflict. 

SECTION 8.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  Upon adoption, this Ordinance shall take effect 
immediately upon its adoption and publication in accordance with and as provided by law 
and the Town Charter. 

PASSED AND APPROVED by the Town Council of the Town of Little Elm, Texas on the 
5th day of January, 2021. 

ATTEST: The Town of Little Elm, Texas 

_______________________  _____________________________ 
Caitlan Biggs, Interim Town Secretary David Hillock, Mayor 



Ro
llin

g R
idg

e D
r

Ca
stl

eri
dg

e D
r

Melody
Ln

Sh
ad

ab
ur

y D
r

Woodgrove Dr

E Eldorado Pkwy

Laurel Hall Ln

Knottingham Dr

Ridgecrest Dr

Misty Way

Esri, HERE, Garmin,
(c) OpenStreetMap

This map is the property of the Town of Little Elm,
and is not to be reproduced by any means, mechanical

or digital, without written consent of the Town.
This product is for informational purposes and may not have

been prepared for or be suitable for legal, engineering, or
surveying purposes.  It does not represent an on-the-ground
survey and represents only the approximate relative location

of property boundaries.

0 300 600150
Ft

Date: 11/3/2020
Town of Little Elm
Denton County, TxCastleridge Rezoning

A1312A A. VESTAL, TR 18C, 4.445 ACRES

Subject Property
Town Parcels

Do
cu

me
nt 

Pa
th:

 H
:\G

IS
Fo

rTo
wn

Em
plo

ye
es

\P
lan

nin
g\L

oc
ati

on
Ma

p_
Po

rtr
ait

.m
xd



 

Subject property proposed to be rezoned from MH-1 to D 



T O W N  O F  L I T T L E  E L M  
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

100 West Eldorado Parkway 
Little Elm, TX 75068 

 

214-975-0470  
developmentservices@littleelm.org  

www.littleelm.org 
 

 

1 

 

January 5, 2021 

 

 

Project Summary for Castleridge Area MH-1 Zoning 

 

As part of the Town-initiated rezoning for the subject property, staff has taken the time to review relative past 

Town Council meeting videos and minutes along with pulling all corresponding plans in order to provide the 

following timeline which outlines the series of rezoning requests associated with what’s being referred to as the 

MH-1-zoned “donut hole” tract within the Castleridge residential area.        

 

 

1. June 18, 1998:  The subject property, called out as “Lot 4” within Ordinance No. 414 was rezoned from 

Agricultural (AG) District to Mobile Home Residential (MH) to be compatible with the Castleridge 

mobile home area, which was zoned MH at the time.   

 

2. August 19, 2014:  As part of an initiative to rezone the Castleridge mobile home area from MH to 

Duplex (D) District, as shown in Ordinance No. 1225, for the purpose redevelopment, the subject 

property was not rezoned as a part of the request and it remained zoned MH.   
 

3. September 15, 2020:  Staff proposed changes to various sections of the Zoning Ordinance, which were 

recommended for approval by the Planning & Zoning Commission, where a portion of the overall 

proposed text amendments addressed language associated with manufactured homes.  Primarily for the 

purpose of “house cleaning”.  The subject property came up in the discussion.  Council asked that the 

item be removed from consideration and staff provide a comprehensive report regarding the purpose 

wrapped in a historical context of the relative proposed amendments.   
 

4. November 17, 2020:  Staff conducted a workshop discussion with Town Council to review the history 

of the manufacture home and mobile home park districts along with a review of the changes in zoning 

on and around the subject property.   
 

5. December 17, 2020:  The Planning & Zoning Commission recommended approval of the rezoning 

request.  
 

After the workshop discussion with Council at the November 17, 2020 Town Council Meeting, it was 

determined the most appropriate action would be to rezone the subject property to Duplex to be compatible with 

the surrounding Castleridge Duplex-zoned area.  The proposed rezoning is for the purpose of executing the 

direction to staff provided by Council. 

 

http://www.littleelm.org/


CITY OF LITTLE ELM 

ORDINANCE NO. 414 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
LITTLE ELM, TEXAS AMENDING THE COMPREHENSIVE 
ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF LITTLE ELM AS 
HEREFORE AMENDED SO AS TO PROVIDE FOR A MH 
MOBILE HOME DEVELOPMENT SINGLE FAMILY 
DISTRICT HEREINAFTER DESCRIBED CORRECTING 
OFFICIAL ZONING MAP; A PENALTY OF A FINE NOT 
TO EXCEED THE SUM OF TWO THOUSAND DOLLARS 
($2000) FOR EACH OFFENSE; PROVIDING FOR A 
SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING A REPEALER CLAUSE; 
AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, a change in the classification of a zoning district has been requested by 
HAROLDF OLDHAM on a piece of property more specifically described in Exhibit "A" 
legal description attached hereto and proposed plat Lot "4"; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council and the Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of 
Little Elm, in compliance with the laws of the State of Texas and the ordinances of the 
City of Little Elm, have given the requisite notices by publicition and otherwise, and 
have held public hearings and afforded a full and fair hearing to all property owners 
generally and to all persons interested in and situated in the affected area and in the 
vicinity thereof, the governing body in the exercise of its legislative discretion has 
concluded that the Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance of the City of Little Elm should be 
amended as follows: 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF LITTLE ELM, TEXAS; 

Section 1. That the Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance of the City of Little Elm, Texas as 
here fore amended, and the same is hereby amended by providing for a MH MOBILE 
HOME DEVELOPMENT SINGLE FAMILY DISTRICT Zoning on a tract of land 
currently zoned AGRICULTURAL , being more specifically described by the hereto 
attached Exhibit "A" legal description. With attachment Exhibit "B" Lot "4" proposed 
Plat Request. 

Section 2. That the property described in Exhibit "A" and Exhibit "B" shall only be 
used in the manner and for the purpose provided for in the Comprehensive Zoning 
Ordinance of the City of Little Elm as heretofore amended. 

Section 3. That the official zoning map of the City be corrected to reflect the changes in 
zoning described herein. 



Section 4. Any person, firm, or corporation violating any of the provisions of this 
Ordinance shall be punished by a penalty of a fine not to exceed the sum of Two 
Thousand Dollars ($2000) for each offense and each and every day such offense shall 
continue shall be deemed to constitute a separate offense. 

Section 5. If any section or provision of this ordinance or the application of that section 
or provision to any person, firm, corporation, situation or circumstance is for any reason 
judged invalid, the adjudication shall not affect any other section or provision of this 
ordinance or the application or any other section or provision to any person, firm, 
corporation, situation or circumstance, nor shall adjudication affect any other section or 
provision of the Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance of the Town of Little Elm, Texas, 
and the Town Council declares that it would have adopted the valid portions and 
applications of the ordinance without the valid parts and to this end the provisions of this 
ordinance shall remain in full force and effect. 

Section 6. That all ordinances of the Town of Little Elm in conflict with the provisions 
of this ordinance be and the same are hereby repealed to the extent of that conflict. 

Section 7. That this ordinance shall take effect immediately from and after its passage 
and the publication of the caption of said ordinance as the law in such case provides. 

DULY PASSED AND APPROVEP BY OF THE TOWN OF 
LITTLE ELM, TEXAS, t h i s d d a y  of , 1998. 



R u g  0 6  0 1  04:02p  SE": CORP 

Surveyors & Engineers 
of North Texas 
GREG EDWARDS. P.E WILLIAM COLEMAN. R P L S 

1021 Amanda Court Ponder. T o i s s  70259 
Ph: ( 8 4 0 )  482-2006 FAX:  (940) 482-0009 Toll-free: ( 8 7 7 )  481-SENT 
www.sentcorp .com 

PARCEL 4 
MH - MOBILE HOME RESIOENTIAL 

All that certain tract of land situated in the A Vestal Survey Abstract Number 1312. Town of M e  Elm, Denton 
County. Texas. and being a part of the called 18.9316 acre tract described in the dwd  from Team Bank to 
Harold E. Oldham Jr. et ux recorded in Volume 2967, Page 591 of the Real Property Remrds of Denton 
Counly, Texas: the subject tract being more particulariy described as follows: 

BEGINNING for the Southwest wrner of the Lract being desaibed herein, at a %inch iron md at che 
Northeast comer of e caned 3.21 1 m e  residential trad and the NwVleast corner of Lot 7A Block 1 of Castle 
Ridge, Phase 1 recorded in Cabinet E. Page 272 of the Plat Records of Denton County,  as on the West 
line of the Oldharn tract North 41 Degrees 12 Minutes 32 Seconds East a distance of 99.94 feel, North 03 
Degrees 10 Minutes 16 Seconds West a distance of 137.56 feet and Nodh 08 Degrees 09 Minutes 16 
Seconds West a distance of 402.10 feet from a concrete monument found at the Southwest comer thereof on 
the North line of FM 720; 

THENCE North 13 Degrees 53 Minutes 14 Seconds West with the West line of the Oldham tract and the East 
line of Block 1 a distance of 712.0 feet more or less to an angle point; 

THENCE North 68 Degrees 35 Minutes 13 Seconds continuing with the East line of Block 1 and theNorth line 
of the Oldham tract a distance of 166.9 feet more or less to an angie point; 

THENCE South 06 Degrees 06 Minutes 04 Seconds East with the East line of Me Oldham tract and the West 
line of Block 1 a distance of 559.8 feet more or less to an angie point: 

THENCE SwVl35 Degrees 08 Minutes 12 Seconds East with the East line of the Oldham lracl and the West 
line of Block 1 a distance of 159.9 feet more or less to the extended North line of the said 3.21 1 acre 
residenhal bact; 

THENCE South 82 Degrees 17 Minutes 14 Seconds West passing the Nwtheriy Northeast cwner of the 
3.21 1 acre tract and continuing with Me North line thereof, in all. a total distance of 482.2 feet more or less to 
the PLACE OF BEGINNING and endosing 4.5 acres of land. 



Rug 0 9  0 1  0 4 : l S p  SF"r CORP ( 9 4 0 1  7 4 8 2 - 0 0 0 9  P . 2  



. . , . . . .  
, .,c.r.-.:-.j: ,:;::! [ i : + j  5EL' I;;] 6'; :.; . FA:: .... f{.:, :::-k- .-. i... -- 

. . . 

'gdwn o C Lit t le  E l m  
,, Li t t l e  E l m ,  T+ro* ,subs 

-IT "A1' 

Legal.desc+iptfon of the wed of request  in ZONING CASE # 

A uaui of I;md sinwrd in th* C O L U I ~ ~  .&'~tntou St* of Texas, k ing  pact of lhc k Vista1 St~rvey (.4- I3 12). nnd bciug part of 
au 88.20 acre wad oChd  acquind by ikc Unilul Slalcr o f h n c a & w n M a l y  Emn~a IIaa  el  a& by Dn:l~aliou of'Faliia8 6 M 6  
Alrpust 1953 in Cond+xunstion b e e d h r p  (C%.il Nu. 95 1) in i k  D M  COIW allhcllnircd S W s  fm UIC Easm IMrict of T c w ,  
Sh~mlau Divkioo. and hcilrg &3ignarai as ~tk%'No. 11-717-1 6xLesvin;iUeDam. Cam-Little Eloll.:~kc. and ail ot'a 6.83 rcrc &au 
uf land acquid  by &c u:Ioitsd Statas dAmcr(ca from C h  F. blur. CI d. by dad dated 17 Ap1iIlY53 and record4 iu Vulumc 387 
31 Page 2 I 2  of tk L)lrd M of DCploo Cuunly. Te.<&. and bciug Ggwntcd as T m t  No. 11-712 b r  sad l~-wh. i lk  lhm, Gar* 
Link Elm lake, and k i n g  mnre p~~~ 43r~ibcd = foIbws: 

U E O I ~ O  at Civcnv~lmt markctX+. 7714, ginratcd ir ihs wrrhrighr-of-n.q linc for Stab FIi&wiiy ).a 720 fir mC 
muhcL%<t Wlna fw mid Tnc?Nu. F1-7 12; 

TIENCE along ihcnor& righr-ufv& Fni said S m  1Iighr.q No. 720, nonL 8P12'31" wvcsr, 829.22 feet to Ciunuwnt 
mark- No. 717-1; 

TIENCE along tLobuundPy lincfo;'s~idTna No. 11-717-1 asfub~vs: nonh41~4'31"ws, 30.XO fen (I- nonh 41'16 
L V ~ L  100 kcl) to CNV~~(MCW m u k u  No. 717:1-2; 

SrKNCE no& 03'12'.12'uet. 138.1R tat( (T)ocd =nonl103~1S' SCJI, 138.00 fa*) to Govrmmw n r h X o .  717-1-3; 
'I'JfFBCti no& W"G44' ubt, 402.81 Ccer (1- =north 08320' a&, 398.02 fwl) to Govunmcurmarkcr No. 717-1-4; 
TrENCE no& l.?aSO'll" cast. 7UO.14 Iuoc(Tk4 a n d  12"38' c~n.702.70fcaj to GOv~mDwu mdffNo. 717-1-5; 
T rmCF:  n o d  67916'04' &, 167.1?0 fay (Deal *nooh 66'57' eay 167.80 fsct] to Govrmn~em mark& No. 717-16; 
THENCE wu\h 07'2321' e m  S59.Q2 f d  (Dcd- mdh W04Y a a u ~  560.00 id) to Govcmucn~ rnafku No. 717-1-7; 
TI ENCF: south 3611'27" -ST. 307.72 0ee.f- I 2 4 W  cu*. 252.00 f ~ a j  to Gavcruuwt rnarkn  Nos. 717-1-8 

.ad H-7 12- 1 fur a aorcbcuc cumsr for said T ~ I  No. 11-717-1 and che aarLwc.R UJIRQ For said T K 1  No. 11-712: 
TEUNCE dqaiiiog &om the boruldar) linc for wid Tract No. H-717- I, akmg tbc bo~rnd?ry h for snid 'I'racr Nu. FI-7 12 = 

follo\r.s: soulh 83'18' 11' -st. 619.72 kcr. Dcl - soulh 83'17' cast, 650.0 feet) lo Govanmcht mark- Nu. 7 12-2; 
l'HE?Jcli ~ ~ ~ 1 1 t h  Oo"o0'14" =a<, 23.72 fen j M  = rai~tl~, 235.W fml) do GoGcmmenf marker No. 7 12-3; 
'I'In:NC'E roll& SGa07'2tl" w-. 45839 fx t  (Deod - s a ~ &  5S0W wc.* 475.00 fa;) ro ih point of lre~inning, conlainiug 

19.12 a m %  I~IUJC or I-. 

I cartitp that to the b e s t  ci jy knnwledge this I s  of 
property upon vf~fcfl I have roq:;esced a change in z 
fully z e s p m i b l e  for t h e  aecazacy of the legal d 

, 1. M . Dacz 
-s 



L o t  12 

TOTAL MIEA: 19 A W S  
EXISTING ZCNNG: AG - Agricultud 

v 
LOT 1 1378 aaod : LC - Ugh1 Commrcial 
LOT 2 13R acrad : m d u n g  
LOT 3 R28 awed : Al - Slngia-Family tbddentld 
LOT 4 14.49 awul MH - Mobilr Horm hhtW 
LOT 5 1501 acrnd : A10 - W F u r i l y  AshtLl 
LOT 8 R27 awed : LC - Light C ~ m d d  

nance No. 414 MH tbbile R m e  Dist. 

Ordi~nce  No. 412 

Ordinance No. 412 Light Camercial 





June 18,1998 

Via Pax: 972.292.3909 

Ms. Kathy Phillips 
Town Secretary 
To-wn of Little E l m  
P.O. Bcx 129 
Little E l m ,  Texas 

RE: Earold Oldham Property on Highway 720 
Proposed Zoning 

Dear Kathy: . , .  

As you know, our group has the 75 acres of residential land (presently 
being platted as Canterbury Green) which is located adjacent to Nr. 
Oldbarn's property. The angle of our existing mutual property line 
extending northeast from Highway 720 is not effl'eient for either of 
our developments. In order ta enable a more compatible and efficient 
relationship between our two planned developments, we have entered 
into a "Land Exchange Agreementw whereby we intend tc trade about 
0.5 acres each. (Sea attached Exhibit "A".) 

The benefits of this trade include: 

1) Provides access to the Oldham property from our internal 
collector street; 

2) Creates an attractive commercial corner for the Oldhan 
property; and 

3) Enables a more efficient grading and drainage relationship 
between our two developments. 

It is my understanding that Xr. Oldhm's zoning exhibit reflects 
this land exchange. The purpose of this letter is to acknowledge 
our agreercent an this matter. 

Should you have any question& on this matts=, plzase call me at 
972.221.1199. 

Sincerely, 

Tim House 
WODTO, Inc . 

cc: Harold Oldham 





NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

Notice is hereby given that the Little Elm Town Council and the 
Planning and Zoning Commission will conduct a Joint Public 
Hearing on Thursday, June 18, 1998, at 7:00 P.M. at the Little 
Elm Community Center, located at 107 Hardwicke Lane, Little Elm, 
Texas for the consideration on zoning change on the following 
parcel of property: 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE AREA OF REQUESTED ZONING FROM 
AGRICULTURAL TO: SINGLE FAMILY A -  (1.28 acres) MOBILE HOMES-MH 
(4.49 acres) MULTI-FAMILY A-10 (6.28 acres) LIGHT COMMERCIAL LC 
(3.78 acres) IS AS FOLLOWS: 

A Uact of land sinwftd in tbz ~ount~J ' .~mton .  Srnc of Texas. bcing pail of lhc A. Vktd S l u v  (A-1 3 12). and k i u g  pm of 
-au S%20 acre oT h d  .quind by r k  Untlul SIJILI a f h + c a  fitxu May Emma ILK t t  al. by blu3h'oa uf 'I'Jris~ &I 6 
AuguU 1955 in Condcn~nnionYNceahg (tk8i1 Nu. 951) in chcDisl& C o w  a f ibc lh i~sd  SWsfur  lhc h w  I X e h  oTTcxas, 
Sbunua Divkioo, d bciug S~igmral u ~ r ' k  Nn. 11-717-1 6xLtwiwilkDwn. Q1~1-1itLlc E h  1.a~ i d  ad ofa 6.83 rx mad 
uf lnnd a c q u i d  by chc lhi~airal Statas d A m a k a  from Ckn. F.Mur. a d, by &xd date4 17 4 d  1953 and n d u r a  hr Volume 387 
at Rgd 2 I2 of Ik ih Drpd~a;sdc of Dram c&ty. T- and bdvg bigmlbd as fncl No. 11-71 2 for I r a k L d k  T);rm. k m -  
I.itlkElm l.ake, and khg mnrop&tIa& &~'rihed as ToDows: 

UECiINNWG at Cvvcnmmt wkct Xa. 712-4. ainra~cd in rhs arrrh rightd-nay linc fw Sralu F1igha.r~ No. 720 fir I k  
wuIh~%qr r.*mr;r for suid Tnct Nu. FI-7 12; 

TtENCE along ttc north righr-ofa.< for Ford S u e  IIighwq No, 720, n o d  89912'34" w\.esf. 819.22 fcd b CRI'anun~nt 
uimrku No. 717-1; 

T1ENC.E along cLc k d a y  line ra'ilid Traa No. 11-717-1 asfoIlosvs: n d  $174'3 1' wrr, 39.XO fca (1- north 41'16 
LU* 100 feel) llD G u v c r ~ * s r  muka No. 717::-L; 

TimNCF: n o d  03'13'-11'n.cr~ 138.18 tau (T)ccd =nonh03'18' 138.00fai) llD G u v ~ n m e n I m d a  No. 717-1-3; 
'1'1 lENC1:' n o d  V8.1644' uc*, .&02.91 far (I- =north 08'20' am 398.02 hl) m C0vunmorrmul;a No. 7 17-1-4: 
TIENCF n o d  12'~11'cas?, 7U0.t.l IM (T)ced =nor& lt*38'ast.702.70 fsa) ro G o v ~ m n ~ n t  m d c r  No. 717-1-5: 
TTUJCE oorih 67'16'04'd. 157.C0 fee* (Darl a north 66'57'ea~ 1G7.80 fsct) to b u n m c n r  nurka No. 7 17-14, 
TfUNCE wulh 07'2323' c a q  559.3: feet (Deal - 07-43' MI. 560.00 T i )  to Govcrwnt rnalkci No. 717-1-7: 
TI ENCE soulh 36721'27" 307.72 :a* (Dad- r o d  24'00' c- 252.00 f d )  to ~ c f ~ l  m a r k  Nos. 717-1-8 

.~d H-7 12-1 Tor a a o d r u c  c- for srkl  TWI So. 11-717-1 a d  ~IC n d c n  wmcr for said Tmcf No. 167 12; 
THliNCE &parling h m  rhc boul&+ linc fm slid f raft No. H-717- I, alang h bo~mdnty lia- for MLI 'I'rasr Nu. FI-712 ar 

foUo\\.s: sou& 83'18'1 1' uu 649.71 f e g  meri - mu& 8 ~ 1 7 '  ~ u t ,  630.00 feet) lo Govemmcut m u k u  Nu. 7 11-2; 
I'HMCE sn~uh OowOZ.4" <.sf, 224.72 T e a  irZnd - so& 235.00 fax) to Gwcmment nlvker No. 7 12-3: 
'I'I LFNCE .SOII& 5G407'2fl" wen. 45859 f~rt (lkd - mrh 58'00' wed, 475.00 feel) 10 tk p i n 1  of be~inning, conhiniug 

19. It acn-s. lllvrc or Icsr. 



NDTICE OF 
JOINT PUBLIC CECIRING 
JOIHT WMU( GESSION 

J W  18, 199e 

Notice is hereby given of a JOINT PUBLIC HEMtINB CIND JOINT WORK 
SESSION of the Little Elm Toun Council and the Planning and 
Zoning Cummission to be held at 7:00 P.M., on Thursday June 18, 
1998, at the Little Elm Coamunity Center, located at 107 
Hardwicke Lane, tit* Elm, Texas, to address the following 
items: -- 

1. Call to Order Joint Public Hearing. 

(a) RE: Re-zoning f r ~ r  Agricultural to Single CI-1 (1.28 
acres) Mobile Haoe-Mi (4.49) Multi-farily (6.28) acres 
Light Cwrercial LC (3.78) acres as requested by Harold 
Oldham. 

2. Rdjourn Joint Public Hearing. 

3. Call to Order Joint b r k  Sersion. 

RE: Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance (adding of new 
districts) 

4. adjourn Joint York Session. 

Persons with disabilities who pan to attend this -tin9 and who 
may need auxiliary aides of services such as interpreters for 
persons uho are hearing impaired, readers, or large print are 
requested to contact the Secretary at (972) 294-1821 tra days 
prior to the meeting so that appropriate arrangerents can be 
made. m I L L E  IS NOT PROVIDED. 

City Secretary 

This is to certify that the above notice of meeting was posted at 
the Toun Hall and the Cocluunity Center prior to 5-00 P.M. on this 
the 12th day of June. 1998- 



ZONING DESCRIPTION 
TRACT A 

BEING A 0.490 ACRE TRACT OF LAND SITUATED IN THE ALLEN VESTAL SURVEY, 
ABSTRACT NO. 1312, DENTON COUNTY, TEXAS AND BEING A PORTION OF THAT 
TRACT OF LAND DESCRIBED IN DEED TO LAWRENCE A. BEYER AND ALLIED BANK OF 
DALLAS (BEYER TRACT), RECORDED IN VOLUME 2295, PAGE 630, OF THE DEED 
RECORDS OF DENTON COUNTY, TEXAS. SAlD 0.490 ACRE TRACT BEING MORE 
PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED BY METES AND BOUNDS AS FOLLOWS: 

BEGINNING AT A POINT FOR THE MOST SOUTHERLY SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAlD 
BEYER TRACT IN THE NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LlNE OF F.M. HWY. NO. 720; 

THENCE N 57"26'56 E, ALONG THE WEST LlNE OF SAlD BEYER TRACT, A DISTANCE 
OF 303.28 FEET TO A POINT FOR CORNER; 

THENCE DEPARTING SAID WEST LlNE OVER AND ACROSS SAlD BEYER TRACT WITH A 
CURVE TO THE LEFT HAVING A RADIUS OF 800.00 FEET, A DELTA ANGLE OF 4'35'35, 
A CHORD BEARING S 05"11'25" W 64.1 1 FEET, AND AN ARC LENGTH OF 64.13 FEET TO 
A POINT FOR CORNER; 

THENCE S 02"53'38" W OVER AND ACROSS SAlD BEYER TRACT, A DISTANCE OF 11 1.82 
FEET TO A POINT FOR CORNER IN THE SOUTH LlNE OF SAlD BEYER TRACT AND THE 
COMMON NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LlNE OF SAlD F.M. HWY. NO. 720; 

THENCE N 87'06'22 WALONG THE SOUTH LlNE OF SAlD BEYER TRACT AND THE 
COMMON NORTH RIGHT-OF-WAY LlNE OF SAlD F.M. HWY. NO. 720. A DISTANCE OF 
244.50 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, AND CONTAINING 0.490 ACRES OF LAND, 
MORE OR LESS. 

THIS DESCRIPTION AND OR EXHIBIT HEREIN IS NOT THE RESULT OF AN ON THE GROUND SURVEY BY 
"CARTER AND BURGESS". THE BEARINGS. DISTANCES AND ACREAGES SHOWN ARE DETERMINED BY 
RECORD DOCUMENTS. 

THESE DOCUMENTS ARE NOT INTENDED FOR USE AS DEFINED UNDER SECTION 2 OF THE 
PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYING PRACTICES ACT, ARTICLE 5282C V.T.C.S. (revised). 



ZONING DESCRIPTION 
TRACT B 

BEING A 0.523 ACRE TRACT OF LAND SITUATED IN THE ALLEN VESTAL SURVEY, 
ABSTRACT NO. 1312, DENTON COUNTY, TEXAS AND BEING A PORTION OF THAT 
TRACT OF LAND DESCRIBED IN DEED TO HAROLD E. OLDHAM, JR., RECORDED IN 
VOLUME 2967, PAGE 591, OF THE DEED RECORDS OF DENTON COUNTY, TEXAS. SAlD 
0.523 ACRE TRACT BEING MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED BY METES AND BOUNDS 
AS FOLLOWS: 

BEGINNING AT A POINT IN THE EAST LlNE OF SAlD OLDHAM TRACT, SAlD POINT BEING 
N 57'26'56" E, A DISTANCE OF 303.28 FEET FROM THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF SAID 
OLDHAM TRACT; 

THENCE DEPARTING SAlD EAST LINE. OVER AND ACROSS SAlD OLDHAM TRACT N T H  
A CURVE TO THE RIGHT HAVING A RADIUS OF 800.00 FEET, A DELTA ANGLE OF 
2434'48, A CHORD BEARING N 19"46'36" E 340.58 FEET, AND AN ARC LENGTH OF 
343.20 FEET TO A POINT FOR CORNER IN THE NORTH LlNE OF SAlD OLDHAM TRACT; 

THENCE S 81 "59'37" E, ALONG THE NORTH LlNE OF SAlD OLDHAM TRACT, A DISTANCE 
OF 21.25 FEET TO A POINT FOR THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID OLDHAM TRACT; 

THENCE S 01 "20'31" W, ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID OLDHAM TRACT, A DISTANCE 
OF 234.10 FEET TO A POINT FOR CORNER;; 

THENCE S 57"26'56" W, ALONG THE EAST LINE OF SAID OLDHAM TRACT, A DISTANCE 
OF 155.17 FEETTO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, AND CONTAINING 0.523ACRES OF 
LAND, MORE OR LESS. 

THIS DESCRIPTION AND OR EXHIBIT HEREIN IS NOT THE RESULT OF AN ON THE GROUND SURVEY BY 
"CARTER AND BURGESS'. THE BEARINGS. DISTANCES AND ACREAGES SHOWN ARE DETERMINED BY 
RECORD DOCUMENTS. 

THESE DOCUMENTS ARE NOT INTENDED FOR USE AS DEFINED UNDER SECTION 2 OF THE 
PROFESSIONAL LAND SURVEYING PRACTICES ACT. ARTICLE 5282C V.T.C.S. (revised). 



TEAM BANK 
T 0 

HAROLD E. OLDHAM. JR. 
WIFE VlRGlLYN OLDHAM 

VOL. 2967, PG. 591 
R.P.R.D.C.T. 

OWNERS PROPERTY 
TRADE AGREEMENT 

-- - - -_ ---- _ 
-.--- . -- 



TEAM BANK 
TO 

HAROLD E. OLDHAM, JR. 
WIFE VlRGlLYN OLDHAM 

VOL. 2967, PG. 591 
R.P.R.D.C.T. 



WODTO, INC. 

FACSIMILE TRANSMITTAL COVER SHEET 

T O :  Name 'd&y $)~J\?Q< 
conpanv 7 0 4 ~  L-we €1- 

Phone # 

Fats. w q72. 2 4 2 .  3 4 C 9  

FROM: ~ a m e  se 

Company Im. 
Location 1660 S. S t e m n s  Y280 

Lewisville, Texas 75067 

Phane # (972)221-1199 

F m .  # (972)221-1217 

DATE: 6 6  A8 /98 

NUMBER OF PAGES BEING SENT: 
(Including thls CdVer sheet) L 

. 

PROPERTY I PARTNERSHIP: L~I, , ,   la.!! 
(Please make $ure to note this!) , 



















  

Town Council Meeting
 
Date: 01/05/2021
Agenda Item #: 7. E. 
Department: Development Services
Strategic Goal: Promote and expand Little Elm’s identity
Staff Contact: Skye Thibodeaux, Planning Manager

AGENDA ITEM:
Conduct a Public Hearing, Present, Discuss, and Consider Action to Approve Ordinance No. 1589, a 
Request to Amend Planned Development Ordinance No.1283 on Approximately 35.0 acres of
land, Generally Located at the Northwest Corner of U.S. Highway 380 and FM 2931, within Little
Elm’s Town Limits.
  

Staff Report:1.
Open Public Hearing:2.
Receive Public Comments:3.
Close Public Hearing:4.
Discuss and Take Action:5.

DESCRIPTION:
Location
The subject property is generally located at the northwest corner of US 380 and FM 2931, within
Little Elm’s town limits.

Planning Analysis
The applicant is requesting an amendment to the existing Planned Development (PD) which was
approved on June 16, 2015, via PD Ordinance No. 1283 to allow for additional multifamily
development with modified standards.  The PD was initially set up with a somewhat optional set of
uses between commercial, single-family, and multi-family.  A concept plan was also adopted as
shown in the associated ordinance.    

In April 2015, prior to the creation of the PD, a development agreement was approved between the
Town and the applicant.  The agreement is also being proposed to be amended to address the
removal of sales tax and qualified expenditures.

The existing development within the subject property consists of The Landing apartment complex
located on the northern portion of the subject PD, along with a Brakes Plus and Valero gas station



located on the northern portion of the subject PD, along with a Brakes Plus and Valero gas station
located in the southeast portion.  The remaining property is undeveloped. The future land use
designation for the subject property is a mix of Commercial/Retail and High Density Residential. 
The requested amendment is compatible with the Future Land Use Plan.

Regarding the proposed multifamily, the applicant is proposing that the updated standards be
compatible with the existing multifamily development and associated relative standards in the
existing PD.  Additionally, the applicant is proposing that the third condition contained in the
existing general standards be considered and approved while removing all language and standards
incompatible with existing development.

Both staff and the applicant expect future amendments to the subject PD when the commercial
portion picks up development.  This proposed amendment is simply for the purpose of considering
additional multifamily while cleaning up previous language and standards that is either no longer
applicable or valid.

BUDGET IMPACT:
There is no budget impact for this item.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
The Planning & Zoning Commission recommended approval of the proposed stipulations with the
following additional conditions: 

A maximum of 10 acres be permitted for multifamily uses within the remaining undeveloped
portion of the subject PD; and,

1.

The future site plan for the additional multifamily development shall be considered and acted
upon by the Planning & Zoning Commission.  

2.

Attachments
Ordinance 1589 - Provident PD Amendment 
Location Map - Provident PD Amendment 
Timeline - Provident PD Amendment 
Conceptual Exhibit - Provident PD Amendment 
PD Stipulations - Provident PD Amendment 
Ordinance No. 1283 - Provident PD Amendment 



ORDINANCE NO. 1589 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF LITTLE ELM, TEXAS AMENDING 
THE COMPREHENSIVE ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF 
LITTLE ELM, TEXAS, HEREFORE AMENDED, BY AMENDING 
PLANNED DEVELOPMENT-LIGHT COMMERCIAL/MULTIFAMILY (PD-
LC/MF) ON APPROXIMATELY 35.0 ACRES OF LAND, GENERALLY 
LOCATED AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF US 380 AND FM 2931; 
CORRECTING THE OFFICIAL ZONING MAP; PROVIDING A SAVINGS 
CLAUSE, PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; PROVIDING A 
PENALTY; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, the Town of Little Elm (“Town”) is a home rule municipal corporation 
organized and existing by virtue of the Constitution and laws of the State of Texas and 
by its Charter adopted on May 1, 2001; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Town possesses all the rights, powers, and authorities possessed by all 
home rule municipalities, including the authority to regulate land uses under Chapter 211 
of the Texas Local Government Code; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Future Land Use Plan of the 2017 Comprehensive Plan designates the 
subject property as Retail/Commercial and High Density Residential; and 
 
WHEREAS, a request for a change in zoning has been initiated by 2931 Commercial 
GP, LLC to update the subject PD language and exhibits for approximately 35.0 acres of 
land more specifically described on the Location Map, attached hereto; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Town Council and the Planning and Zoning Commission of the Town of 
Little Elm, in compliance with the laws of the State of Texas and the ordinances of the 
Town of Little Elm, have given the required notices and held the required public hearings 
and afforded a full and fair hearing to all property owners generally and to all persons 
interested in and situated in the affected area and in the vicinity thereof regarding the 
requested rezoning described herein; and  
 
WHEREAS, after due deliberations and consideration of the recommendation of the 
Planning and Zoning Commission and any other information and materials received at 
the public hearing, the Town Council of the Town of Little Elm, Texas, has determined 
that the rezoning request would be in the interest of public health, safety and welfare of 
the citizens of the Town of Little Elm. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE 
TOWN OF LITTLE ELM, TEXAS: 
 
SECTION 1. INCORPORATION OF PREMISES.  The above and foregoing premises 
are true and correct and are incorporated herein and made a part hereof for all 
purposes. 

 
SECTION 2. ZONING AMENDMENT.  The Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance of the 
Town, is hereby amended by providing for a Planned Development district (PD) on 
approximately 35.0 acres of land to update the subject PD language and associated 



exhibits, generally located at the northwest corner of US 380 and FM 2931, a tract of 
land more particularly described on Location Map, attached hereto, subject to all of the 
terms and conditions set forth herein, and all other applicable ordinances, laws, rules, 
regulations, and standards. 
 
SECTION 3. CONDITIONS.  The following special ordinance provisions shall apply to 
the subject property: 
 

General Regulations 

1. All not redefined by this amendment shall default to the Little Elm Code of 

Ordinances as set forth at time of adoption, and as amended. 

2.  Allowed uses on the subject property shall include commercial and multi-

family uses. 

3. The following uses and activities are prohibited:  alternative financial services, 

sexually oriented businesses, body art facilities, smoke shops, vice 

paraphernalia, gaming or slot machines (excluding arcades), lewd merchandise 

sales, pawn shops, outdoor storage/display, and fireworks sales/storage.   

4. Landscape buffers, regardless of use, shall be 30’ along US 380 and a 

minimum 20’ along other thoroughfares. 

5. As developments are approved, the zoning map shall be revised so that the 

base zoning reflects the approved use. 

6. A maximum of 10 acres be permitted for multifamily uses within the remaining 

undeveloped portion of the PD area. 

7. The future site plan for the additional multifamily development shall be 

considered and acted upon by the Planning & Zoning Commission.   

8. Upon future submittal of building plans and elevations for the additional 

multifamily development, a development agreement shall be formed to be 

considered and acted upon by Town Council. 

Commercial Tracts   

The permitted uses and standards shall be in accordance with the Light Commercial 

(LC) zoning district, and other applicable site development standards as laid out in the 

Zoning Ordinance, unless otherwise specified herein: 

b) Parking stall size – 9 feet x 20 feet  

Multi-family Tracts 

The permitted uses and standards shall be in accordance with the Multifamily (MF) 

zoning district, and other applicable site development standards as laid out in the Zoning 

Ordinance, unless otherwise specified herein: 

a) The following area regulations shall apply: 

i. Maximum density per acre – 30 units 



ii. Maximum height – 35 feet and three stories.  Maximum height to be 

measured at the base plate. 

 

b) Parking 

i. Parking stall size – 9 feet x 20 feet 

ii. Parking ratio – 1.75 spaces per unit.  Non-gated public parking shall 

be 1 space for each 400 square feet of non-residential floor area.  

iii. Carports with flat metal roofs are permitted. 

 

c) Maximum amount of units – a maximum of 700 units are permitted within two 

developments and/or phases.  

SECTION 4. SAVINGS. This Ordinance shall be cumulative of all other ordinances of 
the Town, and shall not repeal any of the provisions of those ordinances except in those 
instances where the provisions of those ordinances are in direct conflict with the 
provisions of this Ordinance; provided, however, that any complaint, notice, action, 
cause of action, or claim which prior to the effective date of this Ordinance has been 
initiated or has arisen under or pursuant to such other ordinance(s) shall continue to be 
governed by the provisions of that ordinance or those ordinances, and for that purpose 
that ordinance or those ordinances shall be deemed to remain and shall continue in full 

force and effect.. 

SECTION 5. ZONING MAP.  The official zoning map of the Town shall be amended to 
reflect the change in zoning made by this ordinance. 
 
SECTION 6. PENALTY.  Any person, firm, or corporation violating any of the provision 
of this ordinance shall be punished by a penalty of a fine not to exceed the sum of Two 
Thousand Dollars ($2,000) for each offense and each and every day such offense shall 
continue shall be deemed to constitute a separate offense.  
 
SECTION 7. SEVERABILITY.  The sections, paragraphs, sentences, phrases, and 
words of this Ordinance are severable, and If any section or provision of this ordinance 
or the application of that section or provision to any person, firm, corporation, situation or 
circumstance is for any reason judged invalid or unconstitutional, the adjudication shall 
not affect any other section or provision of this ordinance or the application of any other 
section or provision to any person, firm, corporation, situation or circumstance, nor shall 
adjudication affect any other section or provision of the Comprehensive Zoning 
Ordinance of the Town of Little Elm, Texas, and the Town Council hereby declares that it 
would have adopted the valid portions and applications of the ordinance without the valid 
parts and to this end the provisions of this ordinance shall remain in full force and effect.   
 
SECTION 8. REPEALER.  That all ordinances of the Town of Little Elm in conflict with 
the provisions of this ordinance be and the same are hereby repealed to the extent of 
that conflict. 

SECTION 9.  EFFECTIVE DATE.  Upon adoption, this Ordinance shall take effect 
immediately upon its adoption and publication in accordance with and as provided by law 
and the Town Charter. 



PASSED AND APPROVED by the Town Council of the Town of Little Elm, Texas on the 
5th day of January, 2021. 

ATTEST: The Town of Little Elm, Texas 

_______________________  _____________________________ 
Caitlan Biggs, Interim Town Secretary David Hillock, Mayor 



Gahnite
Way

Hi
lls

ton
e

Po
int

e B
lvd

Ca
rn

eli
an

 R
d

Me
lan

ite
 R

oa
d

Ka
rh

old
 R

oa
d

Az
ur

ite
 R

oa
d

Iro
ns

to
ne

 R
d

As
hm

ar
k R

d

Copal Dr

Brightstone Dr

Astaper Dr

Es
so

nit
e R

d
Hi

dd
en

ite
 R

d

Dolostone Dr

Evening Stone Dr

Larimar Dr

To
pa

zo
lite

 R
d

Bl
ue

sto
ne

 R
d

Jasper Dr

Obsidian Dr
Opaline Dr

E University Dr

FM
 29

31

Subject PropertySubject Property

Town of Little Elm
Denton County, Tx 0 850425

Feet

Location Map

Date: 11/18/2020

º

Legend
Subject Property
Parcels
Town Limits

Providence Village Commercial
Planned Development

Sources: Esri, HERE, Garmin,
USGS, Intermap,

This map is the property of the Town of Little Elm,
and is not to be reproduced by any means, mechanical
or digital, without written consent of the Town.

This product is for informational purposes and may not have
been prepared for or be suitable for legal, engineering, or
surveying purposes.  It does not represent an on-the-ground
survey and represents only the approximate relative location
of property boundaries.

Source: Google Imagery Date 9/7/2019

º



T O W N  O F  L I T T L E  E L M  
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

100 West Eldorado Parkway 
Little Elm, TX 75068 

 

214-975-0470  
developmentservices@littleelm.org  

www.littleelm.org 
 

 

1 

 

January 5, 2021 

 

 

Project Summary for Provident PD Amendment 

 

As part of the requested PD amendment for the subject property, staff has taken the time to review relative past 

Town Council meeting videos and minutes along with pulling all corresponding plans in order to provide the 

following timeline which outlines the series of rezoning requests associated with the Provident Planned 

Development.        

 

 

1. December 16, 2014:  The subject property, along with a greater overall area, was annexed into the 

Town and was zoned Agricultural (AG).  To note, during this time, the Town and the “Developer” 

entered into a non-binding memorandum and understanding regarding the development of the subject 

property. 

 

2. April 21, 2015:  The Town entered into a Chapter 380 Economic Program and Performance Agreement, 

which had an attached zoning exhibit detailing the anticipated standards for a future Planned 

Development (PD) application.   
 

3. June 16, 2015:  A PD was approved for an approximate 54.7 acre tract of land that included the subject 

property as shown within PD Ordinance No. 1283 to allow for the development of commercial, single 

family, and multifamily uses with a fairly unique set of stipulations.  To note, a stipulation was adopted 

that placed a 5-year sunset date regarding the allowance of the existing firework sales and storage uses 

on the property.  The subject uses would be prohibited after May 5, 2020.   
 

4. Existing Developments Completed between 2016-2019:  Valero Gas Station, Brakes Plus, The 

Landing at Little Elm Apartments. 
 

5. June 2, 2020:  The agreement associated with the fireworks sales and storage uses was modified to 

allow for an additional period where the subject uses will be allowed to remain active on an annual 

basis.   
 

6. October 20, 2020:  The PD Amendment request was officially submitted by the applicant, 2931 

Commercial GP, LLC. 
 

http://www.littleelm.org/


T O W N  O F  L I T T L E  E L M  
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES DEPARTMENT 

 

100 West Eldorado Parkway 
Little Elm, TX 75068 

 

214-975-0470  
developmentservices@littleelm.org  

www.littleelm.org 
 

 

2 

 

7. December 17, 2020:  The Planning & Zoning Commission recommended approval of the amendment 

request per the proposed stipulations along with additional recommended stipulations placing a cap of 

10 acres for additional multifamily uses and future site plan consideration and action.  
 

As discussed in the planning analysis for this case, staff fully expects the subject PD to undergo future 

amendments as the commercial tract picks up development.  This proposed amendment is to consider additional 

multifamily along with cleaning up previous language and standards associated with PD Ordinance No. 1283 

that is no longer applicable or valid and is also associated with an amendment request to the associated 

development agreement for the subject property between the applicant and the Town’s EDC to address the 

removal of sales tax and qualified expenditures.   

 

http://www.littleelm.org/




General Regulations 

1. All not redefined by this amendment shall default to the Little Elm Code of Ordinances as set 

forth at time of adoption, and as amended. 

2.  Allowed uses on the subject property shall include commercial and multi-family uses. 

3. The following uses and activities are prohibited:  alternative financial services, sexually 

oriented businesses, body art facilities, smoke shops, vice paraphernalia, gaming or slot 

machines (excluding arcades), lewd merchandise sales, pawn shops, outdoor storage/display, 

and fireworks sales/storage.   

4. Landscape buffers, regardless of use, shall be 30’ along US 380 and a minimum 20’ along 

other thoroughfares. 

5. As developments are approved, the zoning map shall be revised so that the base zoning 

reflects the approved use. 

6. A maximum of 10 acres be permitted for multifamily uses within the remaining undeveloped 

portion of the PD area. 

7. The future site plan for the additional multifamily development shall be considered and acted 

upon by the Planning & Zoning Commission.   

8. Upon future submittal of building plans and elevations for the additional multifamily 

development, a development agreement shall be formed to be considered and acted upon by 

Town Council. 

Commercial Tracts   

The permitted uses and standards shall be in accordance with the Light Commercial (LC) zoning district, 

and other applicable site development standards as laid out in the Zoning Ordinance, unless otherwise 

specified herein: 

b) Parking stall size – 9 feet x 20 feet  

Multi-family Tracts 

The permitted uses and standards shall be in accordance with the Multifamily (MF) zoning district, and 

other applicable site development standards as laid out in the Zoning Ordinance, unless otherwise 

specified herein: 

a) The following area regulations shall apply: 

i. Maximum density per acre – 30 units 

ii. Maximum height – 35 feet and three stories.  Maximum height to be measured at 

the base plate. 

 

b) Parking 

i. Parking stall size – 9 feet x 20 feet 



ii. Parking ratio – 1.75 spaces per unit.  Non-gated public parking shall be 1 space for 

each 400 square feet of non-residential floor area.  

iii. Carports with flat metal roofs are permitted. 

 

c) Maximum amount of units – a maximum of 700 units are permitted within two 

developments and/or phases.  






















	Agenda
	3.A.__Charter Amendments
	       ATT_Presentation - 2019 Charter Review Committee Recommendations
	       ATT_Memo - Previous Charter Amendments
	3.B.__Lakeshore Plaza PD Workshop Discussion
	       ATT_Timeline Exhibits - Lakeshore Plaza
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	16-SUP-003 4th Council Packet.pdf
	Town Council Report 10.20.16
	Location Map
	Site Plan Ph 1
	Site Plan Ph 2
	LS Plan Ph 1
	LS Plan Ph 2
	Elevations - Color
	PD Regs
	P&Z Packet.pdf
	P&Z Report
	TOWN OF LITTLE ELM

	Location Map
	Reduced Size - Color Site Plan - getting updated for Council - use this one
	Page 1
	Page 1

	Amusement Park Presentation

	LE SUP Ordinance 1356 for Outdoor Amusement Park.pdf
	TOWN OF LITTLE ELM
	ORDINANCE NO. 1356
	NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF LITTLE ELM, TEXAS:
	SECTION 6. UPENALTY.U  Any person, firm, or corporation violating any of the provision of this Ordinance shall be punished by a penalty of a fine not to exceed the sum of Two Thousand Dollars ($2,000) for each offense and each and every day such offen...
	SECTION 7. USEVERABILITY.U  The sections, paragraphs, sentences, phrases, and words of this Ordinance are severable, and If any section or provision of this ordinance or the application of that section or provision to any person, firm, corporation, si...
	PASSED AND APPROVED the 1st day of November, 2016.
	The Town of Little Elm, Texas
	David Hillock, Mayor
	ATTEST:
	P&Z Packet.pdf
	P&Z Report
	TOWN OF LITTLE ELM

	Location Map
	Reduced Size - Color Site Plan - getting updated for Council - use this one
	Page 1
	Page 1

	Amusement Park Presentation


	16-SUP-003 3rd Council Report.pdf
	TOWN OF LITTLE ELM


	Blank Page
	Complete Council  Report - Lakefront on Eldorado (20170307).pdf
	TOWN OF LITTLE ELM
	ADPA4D3.tmp
	TOWN OF LITTLE ELM

	ADPCF64.tmp
	TOWN OF LITTLE ELM


	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page

	       ATT_Timeline Graphic - Lakeshore Plaza
	6.A.__12.15.2020 Minutes
	       ATT_Minutes - December 15, 2020 Regular Meeting
	6.B.__Discussion and action to approve agreement between the Town of LIttle Elm and Paul J. Liston
	       ATT_Contract - Little Elm Prosecutor Liston
	6.C.__2021 Strategic Plan
	       ATT_Draft 2021 Strategic Plan - Redline
	       ATT_Draft 2021 Strategic Plan - Final
	6.D.__Solid Waste rates for Commercial customers Ordinance No. 1586
	       ATT_Ordinance 1586 - Solid Waste Rates
	       ATT_CWD 12.2020 Cover Letter - Solid Waste Rates
	       ATT_Schedule A - Solid Waste Rates
	       ATT_Little Elm Adjustment Worksheet - Solid Waste Rates
	       ATT_CPI Supporting Documentation - Solid Waste Rates
	       ATT_Henry Hub Fuel Cost Supporting Documentation - Solid Waste Rates
	       ATT_Denton landfill letter - Solid Waste Rates
	6.E.__Grant - SWAT Night Vision Devices
	       ATT_Resolution 0105202101 - SWAT Night Vision Devices Grant
	6.F.__French Settlement Acceptance
	       ATT_Retainage Pay Application - French Settlement
	Page 1
	Page 2

	       ATT_Listing of Pay Item Overruns_Underruns - French Settlement
	6.G.__Bluewater Retaining Wall Acceptance
	       ATT_Retainage Pay Application - Bluewater
	6.H.__Dickson Lane Traffic Signal Acceptance
	       ATT_Retainage Pay Application - Dickson Lane
	6.I.__Canyon Lake Retaining Wall Acceptance
	       ATT_Retainage Pay Application - Canyon Lake
	6.J.__Award Swim Beach Sidewalk Project
	       ATT_Layout and Site Details - Little Elm Park Swim Beach Sidewalk
	       ATT_Cost Proposal - Little Elm Park Swim Beach Sidewalk
	       ATT_Standard Form of Agreement - Little Elm Park Swim Beach Sidewalk
	7.A.__Lakeshore Plaza PD
	       ATT_Ordinance 1581 - Lakeshore Plaza PD
	       ATT_Exhibits - Lakeshore Plaza PD
	7.B.__Lakeshore Plaza Development Agreement
	       ATT_Development Agreement - Lakeshore Plaza PD
	7.C.__Zoning Ordinance Text Amendments
	       ATT_Ordinance 1587 - Zoning Amendments (MH Districts)
	7.D.__Castleridge Area MH-1 to D Rezone
	       ATT_Ordinance 1588 - Castleridge Area Zoning
	       ATT_Location Map - Castleridge Area Zoning
	       ATT_Zoning Map - Castleridge Area Zoning
	       ATT_Timeline - Castleridge Area Zoning
	       ATT_Ordinance No. 414 - Castleridge Area Zoning
	       ATT_Ordinance No. 1225 - Castleridge Area Zoning
	7.E.__Provident PD Amendment
	       ATT_Ordinance 1589 - Provident PD Amendment
	       ATT_Location Map - Provident PD Amendment
	       ATT_Timeline - Provident PD Amendment
	       ATT_Conceptual Exhibit - Provident PD Amendment
	       ATT_PD Stipulations - Provident PD Amendment
	       ATT_Ordinance No. 1283 - Provident PD Amendment

